GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS AND EMISSIONS MITIGATION FROM AGRICULTURAL AND HORTICULTURAL PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

EDITED BY: Matthew Tom Harrison, Dietmar Schwarz and Nikolaos Katsoulas PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-760-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-760-3

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

## **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

## **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

## What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS AND EMISSIONS MITIGATION FROM AGRICULTURAL AND HORTICULTURAL PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

Topic Editors:

Matthew Tom Harrison, University of Tasmania, Australia Dietmar Schwarz, Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops, Germany Nikolaos Katsoulas, University of Thessaly, Greece

**Citation:** Harrison, M. T., Schwarz, D., Katsoulas, N., eds. (2022). Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Emissions Mitigation From Agricultural and Horticultural Production Systems. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-760-3

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Mitigation From Agricultural and Horticultural Systems

Dietmar Schwarz, Matthew Tom Harrison and Nikolaos Katsoulas

07 Acidification of Residual Manure in Liquid Dairy Manure Storages and Its Effect on Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Vera Sokolov, Andrew VanderZaag, Jemaneh Habtewold, Kari Dunfield, James T. Tambong, Claudia Wagner-Riddle, Jason J. Venkiteswaran and Robert Gordon

- 18 Climate-Based Suitability Assessment for Methane Mitigation by Water Saving Technology in Paddy Fields of the Central Plain of Thailand Punyaporn Prangbang, Kazuyuki Yagi, Jorrel Khalil S. Aunario, Bjoern Ole Sander, Reiner Wassmann, Thomas Jäkel, Chitnucha Buddaboon, Amnat Chidthaisong and Sirintornthep Towprayoon
- 35 Apparent Nitrogen Recovery in Milk and Early Dry Season Nitrous Oxide Emission Factors for Urine Deposited by Dual-Purpose Cattle on Different Soil Types

Sandra Guisela Durango Morales, Rolando Barahona, Diana M. Bolívar, Jacobo Arango, Louis Verchot and Ngonidzashe Chirinda

47 Field Application of Organic Fertilizers Triggers N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From the Soil N Pool as Indicated by <sup>15</sup>N-Labeled Digestates

Franziska Häfner, Reiner Ruser, Ingrid Claß-Mahler and Kurt Möller

- 63 N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From Residues of Oat and Grass Pea Cover Crops Cultivated in the US Southern Great Plains
   Hardeep Singh, Tanka P. Kandel, Prasanna H. Gowda, Brian K. Northup and Vijaya G. Kakani
- 75 Effects of Three Types of Organic Fertilizers on Greenhouse Gas Emissions in a Grassland on Andosol in Southern Hokkaido, Japan Ryosuke Kitamura, Chiho Sugiyama, Kaho Yasuda, Arata Nagatake, Yiran Yuan, Jing Du, Norikazu Yamaki, Katsuro Taira, Masahito Kawai and Ryusuke Hatano
- Effect of Nutritional Variation and LCA Methodology on the Carbon
   Footprint of Milk Production From Holstein Friesian Dairy Cows
   Margaret D. March, Paul R. Hargreaves, Alasdair J. Sykes and Robert M. Rees
- **106** Seasonal Nitrous Oxide Emissions From Hydroponic Tomato and Cucumber Cultivation in a Commercial Greenhouse Company Stefan Karlowsky, Markus Gläser, Klaus Henschel and Dietmar Schwarz
- CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From Cattle Excreta: A Review of Main Drivers and Mitigation Strategies in Grazing Systems
   Julián Esteban Rivera and Julian Chará

Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems





## Editorial: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Mitigation From Agricultural and Horticultural Systems

Dietmar Schwarz<sup>1</sup>, Matthew Tom Harrison<sup>2\*</sup> and Nikolaos Katsoulas<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops (IGZ), Großbeeren, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Agricultural Systems Centre, Tasmanian Institute of Agriculture, University of Tasmania, Hobart, TAS, Australia, <sup>3</sup> School of Agricultural Sciences, University of Thessaly, Volos, Greece

Keywords: avoidance, carbon dioxide removal, nitrous oxide -  $N_2O$ , methane -  $CH_4$ , soil carbon, fertilizer, displacement, net-zero emissions

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Greenhouse Gas Emissions Mitigation From Agricultural and Horticultural Systems

Global geopolitics were harmonized at COP26 when more than 150 countries pledged to the Glasgow Climate Pact, resulting in unified aspirations to constrain global average temperature rise to 1.5°C and well below 2°C by 2050 (UNFCCC, 2021). Achievement of this goal demands urgent, deep and sustained reductions in global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, with threshold targets of 45% by 2030 (relative to 2010) and net zero by mid-century (UNFCCC, 2021). With agriculture, forestry and other land use (AFOLU) contributing 24% of global GHG emissions each year, AFOLU represents the second largest contributor to global GHG emissions after the energy sector (IPCC, 2014).

## OPEN ACCESS

Edited and Reviewed by: Stephen Whitfield, University of Leeds, United Kingdom

\*Correspondence: Matthew Tom Harrison matthew.harrison@utas.edu.au orcid.org/0000-0001-7425-452X

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 24 December 2021 Accepted: 25 January 2022 Published: 03 March 2022

#### Citation:

Schwarz D, Harrison MT and Katsoulas N (2022) Editorial: Greenhouse Gas Emissions Mitigation From Agricultural and Horticultural Systems. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 6:842848. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2022.842848 Predominant GHG emissions from agri-food systems include methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) from livestock, savanna and crop residue burning, soil respiration and cultivation, fertilizer and lime application, burning of electricity and fuel (Harrison et al., 2016). Direct GHG emissions are generated from livestock enteric fermentation (48%) and excreta (22%), crop production systems with nitrogen (N) fertilizers (10%), and rice paddy cultivation (11.5%) (FAO, 2021). The magnitude of global AFOLU GHG emissions suggests that the development of skills, practices, and technologies for GHG emissions mitigation must be foremost priorities when proposing any systemic or transformational innovation for adaptation to the climate crisis (Ho et al., 2014; Alcock et al., 2015; Chang-Fung-Martel et al., 2017). The diversity of processes and GHGs *per se* from AFOLU does however provide significant latitude for GHG mitigation through manifold avenues, including carbon dioxide removal (CDR), enhanced reduction, avoidance, and/or displacement (Smith et al., 2008).

This Research Topic documents scientific advances in measurement protocols for field or greenhouse gas experimentation, together with improved modeling that allows upscaling and extrapolation of field measurements. Three papers focus on milk production in dairy systems (housed or grazing), five papers examine plant production systems, and one paper reviews the literature, synthesizing opportunities for strategic GHG emissions mitigation in grazing systems. For example, Häfner et al. fastidiously distinguish between organic-N and ammonium-N as potential N sources for denitrification in the field, while Prangbang et al. measure and model the regional applicability of alternate wetting and drying (AWD) of rice paddies as prospective pathways for methane mitigation. Sokolov et al. quantify the effects caused by acidifying manure inoculum on the  $CH_4$ , N<sub>2</sub>O, and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) emissions from stored dairy manure by targeting

Methyl Coenzyme M Reductase A genes, as well as bacterial abundance using real-time qPCR. Finally, March et al. compute the carbon footprints of milk production systems using Life Cycle Assessments (LCA). They demonstrate the importance of allocation method, livestock genetics and management in the attribution of GHG emissions. The same authors also examined the effects of nutritional quality on the carbon footprint of novel and conventional dairy systems. Differential allocation methods resulted in GHG emissions ranging from 0.95 to 3.79 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg fat and protein corrected milk, indicating the importance of quantifying footprints using multiple metrics, similar to work shown for cattle and sheep production systems elsewhere (Harrison et al., 2014; Alcock et al., 2015).

Durango Morales et al. demonstrate a clear need for development of site-specific  $N_2O$  emission factors (EF), as opposed to the more generic and granular Tier 1 EF used by the IPCC. They show that EFs can be reduced by decreasing urine deposits, by limiting N inputs to pastures. More strategic planning of nitrogenous fertilizer type (urea, green urea, slow release etc.), timing, rate and placement shown in other dairy studies (Christie et al., 2018, 2020) has similarly shown that improved use of N fertilizer reduces urea N in the milk.

Emissions of CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and NH<sub>3</sub> from liquid manure storages can be substantially reduced (>70%) by acidifying manure, however this usually comes with high financial costs (Sommer et al., 2017). Sokolov et al. propose acidification of only manure inoculum. To determine the feasibility of this idea, they elicit functional mechanisms by measuring methanogenic activity and abundance using Methyl Coenzyme M Reductase A (mcrA), a gene and transcript which encodes a subunit of the key enzyme that catalyzes the final step of methanogenesis. Sokolov et al. (2020) also used quantitative real-time PCR to quantify bacterial abundance using the 16S rRNA gene. They found that the 38-77% mitigation of CH4 was caused by disruption of the mcrA gene and transcript abundance, while NH3 and N2O emissions were reduced by 33-73% by acidyfing inoculum. The authors concluded that future studies should test lower acid rates and less frequent acidification to further lower financial costs in commercial settings.

In a review of  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  emissions from animal manure, Rivera and Chará converse that emissions depend on multiple factors and are highly variable, implying that "one size fits all" solutions are problematic at best, similar to observations by Durango Morales et al. Rivera and Chará found that promising options for reducing emissions from livestock manure include manipulation of livestock diet nutritional quality, [where practical] implementation of silvopastoral systems, use of nitrogen fixing plants, and management approaches for improving soil health, carbon storage and seasonal ground cover.

It is well-known that synthetic nitrogenous fertilizers in intensive agricultural and horticultural production systems are a key source of GHG emissions (Christie et al., 2018, 2020). Of the studies we are aware of, Karlowsky et al. is the first to measure how N fertilizers impact  $N_2O$  in hydroponic greenhouse production. They showed that  $N_2O$  emissions from tomato and cucumber account for 2.3 and 1.5 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, lower than previously measured in laboratory experiments (Daum and Schenk, 1996). Kitamura et al. show that organic

fertilizers (viz. manure and digestive fluid) had both positive effects on soil carbon stocks and caused greater reduction in N<sub>2</sub>O relative to synthetic N fertilizer. By using organic fertilizers from legume-based crops grown for green N and incorporating the material into the soil, Singh et al. report that (i) postcultivation N<sub>2</sub>O emissions can be greater from non-legume green N crops compared with legume green N crops due to greater biomass productivity of the former, and (ii) emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O could be mitigated by removing biomass of the green N crop for use as forage. Häfner et al. find that digestate application mainly resulted in N2O emissions derived from existing soil N stocks, rather than N applied. Collectively, these findings suggest that comprehensive consideration of all plant genetic, environmental and management factors is necessary to help guide the development of best management practices regarding fertilizer use.

Water management is another tactical tool allowing reduction of GHG emissions from irrigated cropping systems. Alternate wetting and drying (AWD) was proposed by Prangbang et al. as a management approach that would enable both water savings and methane mitigation from rice paddy fields. However, future studies of this type should also examine the implications of tradeoffs and co-benefits associated with GHG mitigation options (Harrison et al., 2011). Using AWD can result in greater rice biomass production and this requires greater N fertilization, ensuing increase in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Christie et al., 2014). Such N<sub>2</sub>O increases may well offset any mitigation caused by reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, underscoring the need to holistically explore multiple GHG emissions in a closed systems, using multiple metrics (Harrison et al., 2012, 2021).

This Research Topic provides several promising avenues for sustained—and in some cases, substantial—reduction of GHG emissions, in line with aspirations posed in the Glasgow Climate Pact. However, to achieve deep cuts in emissions without adversely impacting productivity or agricultural economic prosperity, we call for more studies that transcend disciplinary boundaries. Such studies should focus on not just GHG emissions, but multiple sustainability metrics (environmental, social, economic, institutional) and across scales (plot, field, region, continent, global) allowing more comprehensively evaluation of the wider co-benefits and trade-offs associated with GHG emissions mitigation (Harrison et al., 2021).

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DS and MH wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to editing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Meat and Livestock Australia (Project No. B.CCH.2121 Sustainable Pathways to CN30), the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture Germany (BMEL, project HydroN2O, ptBLE-FKz 28-1-B2.041-16), and the University of Tasmania for partially funding this research.

## REFERENCES

- Alcock, D. J., Harrison, M. T., Rawnsley, R. P., and Eckard, R. J. (2015). Can animal genetics and flock management be used to reduce greenhouse gas emissions but also maintain productivity of wool-producing enterprises? *Agric. Syst.* 132, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2014.06.007
- Chang-Fung-Martel, J., Harrison, M. T., Rawnsley, R., Smith, A. P., and Meinke, H. (2017). The impact of extreme climatic events on pasture-based dairy systems: A review. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 68, 1158-1169. doi: 10.1071/CP16394
- Christie, K. M., Rawnsley, R. P., Harrison, M. T., and Eckard, R. J. (2014). Using a modelling approach to evaluate two options for improving animal nitrogen use efficiency and reducing nitrous oxide emissions on dairy farms in southern Australia. Anim. Prod. Sci. 54, 1960–1970. doi: 10.1071/AN14436
- Christie, K. M., Smith, A. P., Rawnsley, R. P., Harrison, M. T., and Eckard, R. J. (2018). Simulated seasonal responses of grazed dairy pastures to nitrogen fertilizer in SE Australia: Pasture production. *Agric. Syst.* 166, 36–47. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2018.07.010
- Christie, K. M., Smith, A. P., Rawnsley, R. P., Harrison, M. T., and Eckard, R. J. (2020). Simulated seasonal responses of grazed dairy pastures to nitrogen fertilizer in SE Australia: N loss and recovery. *Agric. Syst.* 182, 102847. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2020.102847
- Daum, D., and Schenk, M. K. (1996). Gaseous nitrogen losses from a soilless culture system in the greenhouse. *Plant Soil* 183, 69–78. doi: 10.1007/BF02185566
- Harrison, M. T., Cullen, B. R., Mayberry, D. E., Cowie, A. L., Bilotto, F., Badgery,
  W. B., et al. (2021). Carbon myopia: the urgent need for integrated social, economic and environmental action in the livestock sector. *Global Change Biol.* 27, 5726–5761. doi: 10.1111/gcb.15816
- Harrison, M. T., Cullen, B. R., Tomkins, N. W., McSweeney, C., Cohn, P., and Eckard, R. J. (2016). The concordance between greenhouse gas emissions, livestock production and profitability of extensive beef farming systems. *Anim. Produc. Sci.* 56, 370–384. doi: 10.1071/AN15515
- Harrison, M. T., Evans, J. R., Dove, H., and Moore, A. D. (2011). Recovery dynamics of rainfed winter wheat after livestock grazing 2. light interception, radiation-use efficiency and dry-matter partitioning. *Crop Pasture Sci.* 62, 960–971. doi: 10.1071/CP11235
- Harrison, M. T., Evans, J. R., and Moore, A. D. (2012). Using a mathematical framework to examine physiological changes in winter wheat after livestock grazing: 1. model derivation and coefficient calibration. *Field Crops Res.* 136, 116–126. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2012.06.015
- Harrison, M. T., Jackson, T., Cullen, B. R., Rawnsley, R. P., Ho, C., Cummins, L., et al. (2014). Increasing ewe genetic fecundity improves whole-farm production and reduces greenhouse gas emissions intensities: 1. sheep production and emissions intensities. *Agric. Syst.* 131, 23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2014. 07.008

- Ho, C. K. M., Jackson, T., Harrison, M. T., and Eckard, R. J. (2014). Increasing ewe genetic fecundity improves whole-farm production and reduces greenhouse gas emissions intensities: 2. Economic performance. *Anim Prod. Sci.* 54, 1248-1253. doi: 10.1071/AN14309
- IPCC (2014). Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Edenhofer, O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel and J.C. Minx (eds.)]. Cambridge, New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., et al. (2008). Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. *Philos. Trans. R Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 363, 789–813. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2184
- Sokolov, V., VanderZaag, A., Habtewold, J., Dunfield, K., Tambong, J. T., Wagner-Riddle, C., et al. (2020). Acidification of residual manure in liquid dairy manure storages and its effect on greenhouse gas emissions. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 4:568648. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.568648
- Sommer, S. G., Clough, T. J., Balaine, N., Hafner, S. D., and Cameron, K. C. (2017). Transformation of organic matter and the emissions of methane and ammonia during storage of liquid manure as affected by acidification. *J. Environ. Q.* 46, 514–521. doi: 10.2134/jeq2016.10.0409
- UNFCCC (2021). United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. Decision -/CP.26 Glasgow Climate Pact. Available online at: https://unfccc. int/sites/default/files/resource/cop26\_auv\_2f\_cover\_decision.pdf (accessed December 24, 2021).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Schwarz, Harrison and Katsoulas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Acidification of Residual Manure in Liquid Dairy Manure Storages and Its Effect on Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Vera Sokolov<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Andrew VanderZaag<sup>2</sup>, Jemaneh Habtewold<sup>2</sup>, Kari Dunfield<sup>3</sup>, James T. Tambong<sup>2</sup>, Claudia Wagner-Riddle<sup>3</sup>, Jason J. Venkiteswaran<sup>1</sup> and Robert Gordon<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Geography and Environmental Studies, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> School of Environmental Science, University of Guelph, Guelph, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> School of the Environment, University of Windsor, Windsor, ON, Canada

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Dietmar Schwarz, Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops, Germany

## Reviewed by:

Jacobo Arango, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia Glaciela Kaschuk, Federal University of Paraná, Brazil

> \***Correspondence:** Vera Sokolov bosa4400@mylaurier.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 01 June 2020 Accepted: 03 September 2020 Published: 07 October 2020

#### Citation:

Sokolov V, VanderZaag A, Habtewold J, Dunfield K, Tambong JT, Wagner-Riddle C, Venkiteswaran JJ and Gordon R (2020) Acidification of Residual Manure in Liquid Dairy Manure Storages and Its Effect on Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 4:568648. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.568648 Liquid manure storages are an important source of greenhouse gases (GHG) on dairy farms. Methane ( $CH_4$ ) and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) are the predominant GHGs, while ammonia ( $NH_3$ ) is an indirect source of  $N_2O$ . Addition of acid to manure has shown promising emission reductions, however, cost of acidification may be unfeasible for farmers. Fully cleaning storages has also shown to reduce  $CH_4$ , due to removal of inoculating effects of residual manure ("inoculum") on fresh manure (FM). However, complete removal of inoculum is practically impossible on large farms, thus acidifying only the inoculum may reduce GHGs without requiring acidification of all FM. This study aimed to quantify the effect of acidified inoculum on CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and NH<sub>3</sub> emissions from stored manure and quantify the changes in methanogen abundance and activity. Emissions were measured from six 10.6 m<sup>3</sup> storages filled with 20% inoculum (1-year-old manure) and 80% FM. Inoculum was treated in three ways: untreated (control); previously acidified (1-year prior); and newly acidified with 70%  $H_2SO_4$  (1.1 L m<sup>-3</sup> manure). The CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were continuously measured from June-November using tunable diode trace gas analyzers coupled with venturi air flow systems. The NH<sub>3</sub> emissions were measured at 24-h intervals 3 × weekly using acid traps. The activity and abundance of methanogens were quantified by targeting the Methyl Coenzyme M Reductase A (mcrA) gene and transcript which encodes a subunit of the key enzyme that catalyzes the final step of methanogenesis. Bacterial abundance was quantified by targeting the bacterial 16S rRNA gene. Quantifications were performed using quantitative real-time PCR. CH<sub>4</sub> emissions were reduced by 77% using newly acidified inoculum and 38% using previously acidified inoculum, compared to the control with untreated inoculum (36.1 g CH<sub>4</sub> m<sup>-2</sup>). Significant treatment reductions in *mcrA* gene and transcript abundance suggest that CH<sub>4</sub> reductions were caused by disruption of methanogen activity. NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were reduced by 33 and 73% using acidified inoculum and 23 and 50% using previously acidified inoculum, respectively, compared to the control. Results suggest that lower acid rates and acidifying less frequently may still have good treatment effects while minimizing cost.

Keywords: manure management, methanogens, methane, inoculum, acidification

## INTRODUCTION

Liquid dairy manure is a substantial source of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and moderate source of nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), and ammonia (Le Riche et al., 2016; Sokolov et al., 2019). Both CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O are greenhouse gases (GHG) contributing to global warming and climate change, while ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) is an indirect source of N<sub>2</sub>O and is a toxic gas hazardous to human health (Jayasundara et al., 2016; Sokolov et al., 2019). Liquid manure is often stored on farms for >100 days prior to spreading onto fields. During this storage period considerable amounts of GHGs and NH<sub>3</sub> are emitted to the atmosphere (Jayasundara et al., 2016).

Dairy manure acidification (to pH 6-6.5) with sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) was found to decrease CH<sub>4</sub> (>87%) and NH<sub>3</sub> (>40%) emissions (Sokolov et al., 2019). Sommer et al. (2017) reported 68% reductions of CH4 and 62% of NH3 with H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> acidification (to pH 5.2-5.5). Kavanagh et al. (2019) reported 96% reductions of CH<sub>4</sub> and 85% of NH<sub>3</sub> with H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> acidification (to pH of 5.5). The mechanism of CH<sub>4</sub> reduction is still unclear, as H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and pH reduction can disrupt microbial communities throughout all the processes of organic matter degradation as well as methanogens directly (Habtewold et al., 2018). Habtewold et al. (2018) reported a methanogen reduction of 6% in abundance and 20% in activity between untreated and acidified dairy manure but observed no difference in the microbial communities. This suggests that H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> primarily disrupts methanogenesis rather than other microbial processes, however, more research is necessary to confirm these results. Petersen et al. (2012) reported substantial methanogen inhibitions (63-67%) from cattle slurry using potassium sulfate with no corresponding pH reduction. They suggest that sulfur transformations inhibit methanogenesis independent of any pH reduction. Therefore, lower rates of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> may reduce CH<sub>4</sub> production without necessarily aiming for a certain manure pH value. However, it is important to note that in the acid of acidification, decreasing NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization may still require lowering pH. Therefore, sulfate alone may not have the best overall treatment differences.

Due to the cost of acid, infrastructure and equipment, there is a need to make manure acidification more feasible. Treating only the inoculum (manure remaining in storage tanks after emptying) has been suggested to reduce the quantity and the frequency of acidification (Sokolov et al., 2020). As storages are difficult to completely empty, the residual manure becomes an inoculum for incoming fresh manure and increases subsequent CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 34-52% (Ngwabie et al., 2016). If the inoculation process can be disrupted, then reductions can be expected (Sokolov et al., 2020). Sokolov et al. (2020) measured CH<sub>4</sub> production from manure incubated with 6-month-old, previously acidified inoculum and with 6-month-old, newly acidified manure inoculum. They reported 82 and 63% CH<sub>4</sub> reductions, respectively, compared to the manure with untreated inoculum. They suggest that long-term effects of acidification could lower inoculation effect and reduce the frequency of acidification to every other tank emptying. These laboratory results are promising, however there is need to evaluate inoculum acidification on a large scale in outdoor manure storage tanks.

The objectives of this research were to: (a) quantify the effect of acidified aged manure as inoculum on  $CH_4$ ,  $NH_3$ , and  $N_2O$  emissions from dairy manure storages and (b) quantify changes in methanogen and bacterial abundance relative to  $CH_4$  reductions.

## METHODS

## **Meso-Scale Chambers**

The study was conducted at the Bio-Environmental Engineering Center (BEEC) at Dalhousie University's Agricultural Campus in Truro, Nova Scotia, Canada ( $45^{\circ}45'$  N,  $62^{\circ}50'$  W). The research site contained 6 in-ground, cement, meso-scale manure tanks (6.6 m<sup>2</sup> and 1.8 m deep). This site has been previously described by Wood et al. (2012) and Le Riche et al. (2016). Each tank was filled with 10.6 m<sup>3</sup> (160 cm depth) of liquid dairy manure, consisting of 20% inoculum (2.1 m<sup>3</sup>) and 80% fresh manure (FM; 8.5 m<sup>3</sup>). Manure was obtained from a local diary operation which housed 95 lactating cows in a free stall barn. The manure was gathered from an in-ground manure tank adjacent to the dairy barn and was a mixture of feces, urine, and sand bedding.

Two types of inoculum were used in this study: (i) 1-year-old untreated manure, and (ii) 1-year-old manure that was previously acidified (**Table 1**). This manure inoculum was obtained from the same farm in spring 2017 (12 months prior to the start of this trial). The previously acidified (PA) manure was acidified using sulphuric acid (70%  $H_2SO_4$ ; 2.4 L m<sup>-3</sup> manure) to pH 6. Both the PA manure and untreated manure inoculum remained in storage for 1-yr (Sokolov et al., 2019). Additional information about storage conditions of the inoculating manure prior to this study can be found in Sokolov et al. (2019).

The six manure tanks were assigned within two blocks, each containing two treatments and a control. Inoculum was prepared on May 15-16, 2018 by pumping out of old storages and distributing 2.1 m<sup>3</sup> to new storages using a pumping truck. The newly acidified (NA) inoculum treatment received 2.1 m<sup>3</sup> of 1yr-old untreated inoculum and was acidified on May 17, 2018 with  $1.1 \text{ Lm}^{-3}$  70% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (i.e., 12 L per 10.6 m<sup>3</sup> tank). The PA inoculum treatment received 2.1 m<sup>3</sup> of 1-yr-old inoculum which had been acidified the previous year (spring 2017) at 2.4 L  $m^{-3}$  (i.e., 5.04 L added to 2.1  $m^3$ ; Table 1). Lastly, the control received 2.1 m<sup>3</sup> of 1-year-old untreated manure inoculum. Fresh manure was added to each tank on May 28 and 29, 2018 using a pumping truck to transport manure from the farm to the research site. The NA inoculum treatment received  $1.1 \text{ Lm}^{-3} \text{ H}_2 \text{SO}_4$ , which is half as much as a previous meso-scale study (Sokolov et al., 2019) but considerably more than in the laboratory study where rates were only  $0.16 \text{ L} \text{ H}_2 \text{SO}_4 \text{ m}^{-3}$  of total manure (i.e., 0.03 mL of 98% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> in 180 mL of stored manure; Sokolov et al., 2020).

Sulfuric acid (industrial grade) was obtained from Bebbington Industries (Dartmouth, NS) and was pumped into the inoculum manure using acid resistant tubing and a peristaltic pump. The tubing was attached to an aluminum pole which was moved around the inoculum as the acid was being pumped.

**TABLE 1** | Volume (L) of 70% sulfuric acid ( $H_2SO_4$ ), inoculum, and manure added to the control, previously acidified inoculum treatment (PA), and newly acidified inoculum treatment (NA).

		Control	PA	NA
			Volume (L)	
Inoculum	12-month-old manure	2,120	2,120	2,120
	70% H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	0	25	12
Fresh manure		8,480	8,480	8,480
Acid addition		NA	12-month-ago	Following tank emptying

## **Flux Monitoring**

Emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O were monitored continuously from Jun 8 to Nov 10, 2018 (155 days). Each manure storage tank was covered by a flow-through, steady-state chamber ( $\sim$ 13 m<sup>3</sup> headspace) consisting of an aluminum frame and 0.15 mm greenhouse plastic. Air was pulled through the chamber through intake slits at the front of the chamber and out through an exhaust fan and outflow exhaust duct and the opposite end. The rate of air flow within each chamber was approximately two full air exchanges per minute ( $\sim 0.5 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ ). The airspeed was measured within each exhaust duct using cup anemometers recorded by a CR1000 data logger (Campbell Scientific, Edmonton, AB). The air temperature within each chamber was measured using copper-constantan thermocouples at 10 cm above the manure surface and along with manure temperature at 80 cm depth and 150 cm depth, recorded by the same CR1000 data logger (Campbell Scientific, Edmonton, AB). Ambient air temperature was obtained from the nearest Environment Canada climate station (Debert, NS, 45.42 N, 63.42 W; Climate ID: 8201380).

## Methane and Nitrous Oxide

Air samples were continuously pumped (RC0021, Busch Vacuum Pumps and Systems, Boisbriand, QC) from the exhaust duct of each tank and two ambient inflow locations, and carried through polyethylene tubing (3.2 mm i.d.; Rubberline Products Ltd., Kitchener, ON) to a  $8 \times 2$  manifold (Campbell Scientific In., Logan, UT) containing 12 V DC valves (The Lee Co., Essex, CT). The valves directed two samples every 30 s through highflow air dryers (Perma Pure LLC.; Toms River, NJ) and into one of two tunable diode trace gas analyzers (TDLTGA, Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT). Sample CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations were continuously recorded by a CR5000 data logger (Campbell Scientific Inc., Logan, UT) and an adjacent PC computer monitored the analyzer performance by running the TDLTGA software (Campbell Scientific, Logan, UT).

Concentrations were averaged hourly and used to calculate flux rates using to the following:

$$F = \frac{Q}{A}(C_o - C_i)$$

where F is the hourly flux (mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>), Q is the flowrate of air out of the chamber [m<sup>3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>; calculated using average hourly windspeed  $\times$  cross-sectional area of the exhaust duct (0.0645 m<sup>2</sup>)], A is the surface area of the manure surface (6.63 m<sup>2</sup>), and C is the concentration of gas (mg m<sup>-3</sup>) in the ambient inflow air (C<sub>i</sub>) and sample outlet air (C<sub>o</sub>).

Due to technical issues, block one had missing flux data Aug 21-Sep 2, and block two had missing data Jul 18-Sep 2. This resulted in missing the peak fluxes in block two tanks. Linear interpolation was used to estimate the missing data, although the values were likely underestimated. All values are presented as treatment average.

## Ammonia

Ammonia concentrations were determined using 125 mL 0.005 M H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> acid traps. Three times per week, air was pumped (Model 2107CA20B; Thomas Pumps and Compressors, Sheboygan, WI) from the exhaust of each tank and two ambient inflow locations and bubbled through acid traps (dispersion tubes id = 35 mm) at  $1.5 \text{ Lmin}^{-1}$ . Air was continually pumped through the traps for 24 h at each deployment. Airflow for each sample was measured using inline flow meters (Gallus 2000; Actaris Metering Systems, Greenwood, SC). Following deployment, evaporated liquid was replaced to 125 mL and a sample frozen until analysis. Samples were shipped to Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (Ottawa, ON) where they were analyzed for NH3-N using the QuikChem® Method 12-107-06-2-A modified for 0.005 mol L<sup>-1</sup> H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> matrix using a Lachat QuikChem FIA+ Q8500 Series. Daily gas concentrations were calculated using the following:

$$C_{NH_3 \ air} = rac{C_{NH_3 \ aq} imes V_{aq}}{V_{air}}$$

where  $C_{NH_3 air}$  is the daily NH<sub>3</sub>-N concentration (mg m<sup>-3</sup>),  $C_{NH_3 aq}$  is the NH<sub>3</sub>-N concentration in sample liquid (mg L<sup>-1</sup>),  $V_{aq}$  is the volume of liquid in the acid trap (L), and  $V_{air}$  is the volume of air pumped through the acid (m<sup>3</sup>) (Hofer, 2003).

Ammonia emissions on days that were not sampled were estimated using linear interpolation and daily total NH<sub>3</sub>-N losses were added together to find the entire monitoring period.

## Manure Sampling and Analysis

Six FM composite samples were taken during tank filling (May 29). Manure in each tank was sampled monthly throughout the study with one sample per tank made from a composite of 12 subsamples. Subsamples were taken from each tank in a grid at two depths and six locations. All samples were kept frozen until analyzed at the Nova Scotia Department of Agriculture's Provincial Soils Lab (Bible Hill, NS). Samples were analyzed for total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS) (American Public Health Association method 2540 B), total nitrogen (TN) (combustion method AOAC 990.03-2002), ammonium-N (TAN) (American Public Health Association method 4500-NH<sub>3</sub> B), and pH using an electrode (American Public Health Association method 4500-H<sup>+</sup>) (Clesceri et al., 1998). To verify pH, a FieldScout pH 400 meter (Spectrum Technologies, Aurora, IL, USA) was used to

measure pH in the manure at 10, 50, 100, and 150 cm across 6 locations in each tank (24 pH points) on May 26, Jul 1, and Jul 31, 2018. These are not reported in the paper but verify the results of lab analysis.

For microbial analysis, duplicate composite samples were taken during storage tank filling (May 29, 2018) of FM, untreated inoculum, and previously acidified inoculum. Throughout the study, monthly composite manure samples were collected in duplicate and kept frozen until nucleic acid extraction. For each sampling,  $\sim 2$  g of manure sample was stored in 5 mL of LifeGuard soil preservation solution (MoBio Laboratories Inc., Carlsbad, CA).

## Nucleic Acid Extraction and Quantitative Real-Time PCR

Based on the typical CH<sub>4</sub> emission curve, three sampling dates and starting FM and the two inoculums were chosen for analysis. The DNA or RNA PowerSoil total DNA/RNA isolation kit with RNA/DNA elution accessories (MoBio Laboratories, Inc., Carlsbad, CA) were used for DNA or RNA extraction. In triplicate, 8  $\mu$ L of each extracted RNA sample was reverse transcribed to cDNA using Maxima First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) following manufacturer's protocols.

Real-time qPCR was performed using an Applied Biosystems StepOnePlus real-time PCR system using clear 96-well PCR plates (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA). The total and active fraction of the methanogen populations were quantified by targeting methyl coenzyme A reductase (mcrA) genes and transcripts, respectively, using mlas-mod F and mcrA-rev-mod R primers (Habtewold et al., 2018). The total and active fraction of the methanogen populations were quantified by targeting methyl coenzyme A reductase (mcrA) genes and transcripts, respectively, using mlas-mod F and mcrA-rev-modR primers (Habtewold et al., 2018). Methyl Coenzyme M Reductase A gene is a fragment of DNA commonly found in methanogens that encodes the  $\alpha$ -subunit of methyl-coenzyme M reductase enzyme which catalyzes the final step in methanogenic pathway (i.e., releases CH<sub>4</sub>) (Evans et al., 2019). Although methanogens may involve one or more of the methanogenic pathways (i.e., hydrogenotrophic, acetoclastic, and methylotrophic), all pathways share the final step which requires methyl-coenzyme M reductase enzyme. Thus, the functional mcrA gene has been used extensively to effectively target all methanogens (Evans et al., 2019). Each reaction well-contained 10 µL of Ssofast EvaGreen supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.), 1 µL (10 pM) of each primer, 2 µL of DNA or cDNA, and 6 µL of PCRgrade water. Plasmid standard curves were prepared for mcrA from Methanosarcina mazei (ATCC 43340), and for 16S rRNA genes, plasmid with 16S rRNA gene insert from soil bacterium *Clostridium thermocellum* was used. Although primer sets used to target mcrA or 16S rRNA genes are specific to the respective gene fragments, target specificity of the primers were also confirmed by assessing the presence of a single district peak for melting curves (fluorescence vs. temperature) of each target gene. The *mcr*A gene standard curve had an efficiency of 101.6%,  $r^2$  of 0.99, and slope of -3.29. The highest diluted standard had a cycle of quantification of 30.2 and no-template controls of 31.4. The 16S rRNA gene standard curve had an efficiency of 100.1%, r<sup>2</sup> of 0.998, and slope of -3.32. The highest diluted standard had a cycle of quantification of 27.0 and no-template controls of 28.9. StepOne software v2.3 (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., Hercules, CA) was used to calculate sample copy numbers.

## Data Analysis

To compare treatments based on their global warming potential, GHG emissions were converted to 100-yr CO<sub>2</sub>-equivalent (CO<sub>2</sub>-eq) values and summed. Conversion values for the global warming potentials of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O were 34 and 298, respectively (IPCC, 2014). The contribution of indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization were calculated using the IPCC emission factor of 0.01 (Dong et al., 2006).

Given that PA inoculum could reduce the need for acidification following every other emptying event, to compare use of PA inoculum and NA inoculum it is necessary to compare estimated total emissions over two storage periods. The total PA inoculum over two storage periods was calculated using the following:

Total 
$$CH_4 = Acidified$$
 manure  $CH_4 + PA$  inoculum  $CH_4$ 

where Total  $CH_4$  is the total production over two storage periods, Acidified manure  $CH_4$  is the production from one storage period where all manure was acidified (reported by Sokolov et al., 2019), and PA inoculum  $CH_4$  is the total  $CH_4$  production from the PA inoculum treatment.

The NA inoculum for two storage periods was calculated by doubling the total  $CH_4$  production from the NA inoculum treatment. Lastly, the control for two storage periods was calculated by doubling the total  $CH_4$  production from the controls. Note that this assumes both storage periods to have the same temperatures. Therefore, the two storage periods do not represent spring/summer and fall/winter, as emissions would be dramatically different during cold weather storage.

For each treatment the methane conversion factors (MCF) was calculated following IPCC methods (Dong et al., 2006). The calculation used the average VS of FM (disregarding VS of the inoculum) and maximum potential CH<sub>4</sub> production ( $B_o$ ) of 0.24 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> VS. Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O and NH<sub>3</sub>-N emissions for each tank were scaled by TN and TAN in FM and then averaged for each treatment.

Treatment effects were assessed using repeated measures, mixed linear model analysis using PROC Mixed in SAS software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC) using the Kenward-Roger fixed effects method on total biweekly CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and NH<sub>3</sub> emissions. The CH<sub>4</sub> data was skewed and therefore log transformed to conform to normality. The spatial Gaussian covariance structure was chosen based on best fit statistics. Significance was considered when p < 0.05. Treatment effects on *mcrA* and 16S rRNA gene and transcript copy numbers over all dates were assessed using a general linear model using PROC GLM in SAS software, which uses ordinary least squares with Sidak adjustment to control familywise error. Effect size was calculated using partial eta<sup>2</sup>  $(\eta_p^2)$ . Significant results were followed up with a *post hoc* Sidak groupings comparison using a significance of p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

## **Manure Characteristics**

Average ambient air temperature during the study (Jun 1–Oct 31, 2018; 160 d) was 15.1°C (with an average relative humidity of 77%) as recorded by the closest Environment Canada climate station. The 30-years normal for this location, Jun–Oct, is  $14.7 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$ C (Mean  $\pm$  SD). The temperature inside the tank chambers (10 cm above the manure surface) was  $17.6 \pm 0.8^{\circ}$ C, which was, on average, 2.6°C warmer than the ambient air (**Figure 1**). The average manure temperature in the tanks was  $13.7 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C at 150 cm depth and 17.6  $\pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C at 80 cm depth. The manure temperature peaked at week 12 (d 68, Aug 14) at 80 cm (20.9°C) and week 15 (d 91, Sep 6) at 150 cm (15.6°C). The CH<sub>4</sub> production followed a similar pattern, peaking a week earlier (d 61, Aug 7). Following the peak, the 80 cm temperature quickly fell. By the end of the study the temperature at 80 and 150 cm were both on average 14.3°C (~122 days, Oct 7).

The manure pH had no clear treatment differences until days 85 into the study (**Figure 1**). The control was expected to have the highest pH, but was on average the lowest on Jun 15, 2 weeks after the start of the study. The pH dropped throughout storage until Sept when it increased. By Sept 8, the control tanks had the highest pH and the NA inoculum tanks had the lowest. This trend continued in Oct as well (**Figure 1**).

The TS, VS, and TN were all highest in the FM and fell markedly by Jun 15 (**Table 2**). This is most likely due to settling of solids which occurs rapidly following storage tank filling, and issues with unrepresentative sampling of the manure depth (Sokolov et al., 2019). The control had consistently the least VS, TS, and TN (**Table 2**). This may be due to faster degradation of organic matter and loss of TN to the atmosphere, although given the small differences, it may also be due to natural variability in manure (Sokolov et al., 2019).

## Greenhouse Gas Emissions Methane

Results of the mixed linear model show a significant CH<sub>4</sub> fixed effect due to treatment (p < 0.0001), time (p < 0.0001), and a combined effect of treatment and time (p < 0.0001). The average CH4 emissions were 36.1, 22.3, and  $\bar{8.2}\,g\,m^{-2}\,d^{-1}$  from the control (80% FM and 20% inoculum), PA inoculum (80% FM and 20% previously acidified inoculum), and NA (80% FM and 20% acidified inoculum) storages, respectively (Table 3). All treatments had similar lag phases of ~40 d, although even during this time the control produced 31% more CH<sub>4</sub> than the NA inoculum tanks and 27% more than the PA inoculum tanks (Figure 2). The rate of growth following the lag was much higher in the control storage tanks. In fact, between day 40 (Jul 17) and day 110 (Sep 25) the largest treatment differences were recorded. At this time, NA inoculum tanks produced 82% less CH<sub>4</sub>, while the PA inoculum tanks produced 47% less CH<sub>4</sub> compared to the control. After 110 d, fluxes were similar to the control and PA inoculum tanks (<25% difference). The NA inoculum tanks continued to produce less (56–80%) CH<sub>4</sub> than the control throughout the end of the study.

The total CH<sub>4</sub> production was 5.27, 3.26, and 1.20 kg m<sup>-2</sup> from control, PA inoculum, and NA inoculum tanks, respectively (**Table 3**). The PA inoculum (38%; p < 0.0001) and NA inoculum (77%; p < 0.0001) treatments produced significantly less CH<sub>4</sub> compared to the control treatment. The NA inoculum treatment produced significantly less CH<sub>4</sub> (63%; p < 0.0001) than the PA inoculum. These treatment differences were the same on a VS basis.

The MCF values were 0.33, 0.20, and 0.08 for control, PA inoculum, and NA inoculum tanks, respectively (**Table 3**). Given that the average temperature inside the chambers was 17.6°C, the IPCC default MCF would be 0.32–0.35, which aligns with our control results (Dong et al., 2006). The PA inoculum and NA inoculum were both markedly different than the IPCC value.

## Nitrous Oxide

Results of the mixed linear model show a significant N<sub>2</sub>O fixed effect due to treatment (p < 0.0001), time (p < 0.0001), and a combined effect of treatment and time (p = 0.0141). The daily average N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were 76.4, 38.4, and 22.3 mg m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> from control, PA inoculum, and NA inoculum, respectively (**Table 3**). After interpolation, the total N<sub>2</sub>O production was 11.2, 5.6, and 3.0 g m<sup>-2</sup> from control, PA inoculum, and NA inoculum, respectively (**Figure 2**). This represented a significant (p = 0.0015) 50% reduction using PA inoculum and a significant (p < 0.0001) 73% reduction using NA inoculum, compared to the control. The NA inoculum produced 47% as much N<sub>2</sub>O than the PA inoculum tanks (p = 0.1091). The treatment differences increased slightly (<10%) when scaled by TAN and TN in the manure.

## Ammonia

Results of the mixed linear model show a significant NH<sub>3</sub> fixed effect due to treatment (p < 0.0001), time (p < 0.0001), and a combined effect of treatment and time (p = 0.0351). The average NH<sub>3</sub> emissions were 3.53, 3.28, and 2.76 g m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> from control, PA inoculum, and NA inoculum, respectively (**Table 3**). The total NH<sub>3</sub> emissions over the entire study (160 days) were 540, 502, and 382 g m<sup>-2</sup> from control, PA inoculum, and NA inoculum, respectively (**Figure 2**). This represented a significant (p = 0.0001) 7% reduction using PA inoculum and a significant (p < 0.0001) 29% reduction using NA inoculum, compared to the control. The difference in NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization between PA and NA inoculums was 25% (p = 0.1326), which is likely due to the similar manure pH.

## CO<sub>2</sub>-Equivalent Emissions

On a  $CO_2$ -eq basis, the total GHGs were 94–97% comprised of  $CH_4$  emissions, due to the anaerobic conditions within the manure storages (**Table 4**). Clear treatment difference was observed, where PA inoculum reduced total GHGs by 38% and NA inoculum reduced total GHGs by 77%, compared to control. All sources of GHG were reduced due to PA and NA inoculums, although  $CH_4$  was the most important in reducing total GHGs.



**FIGURE 1** | Manure pH (top) in control ( $\bullet$ ), previously acidified (PA) inoculum ( $\circ$ ), and newly acidified (NA) inoculum treatments ( $\nabla$ ), samples from on May 29 from fresh manure and stored manure on June 15, July 27, Sept 8, and Oct 2018 (7, 49, 92, and 155 days). Weekly average temperature (bottom) averaged across all tanks, of chamber air 10 cm ( $\bullet$ ) above manure and of manure at 80 cm ( $\nabla$ ) and 150 cm ( $\Psi$ ) depth. Error bars denote standard deviation.

## Methanogens and Bacteria

The results of the 2-way ANOVA on copies of *mcrA*, *mcrA* transcript, 16S rRNA, and 16S rRNA transcript are shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. There were significant treatment effects on *mcrA* (p < 0.0001) and 16S rRNA (p < 0.0126) but not in *mcrA* or 16S rRNA transcript.

The FM had higher copies per gram of dry manure of *mcrA* transcript and bacterial 16S rRNA genes and transcript than untreated inoculum (30–45%; percentages are calculated on values prior to log transformations) sampled prior to the start of the study (**Table 5**). An exception was *mcrA* gene in untreated, control inoculum which had 64% more copies per gram of dry manure of than FM. These results differed from Habtewold et al. (2018) who reported more (11–458%) copies of genes and transcripts of both *mcrA* and bacterial 16S in inoculum compared to FM. At the start of the trial, previously acidified inoculum had lower *mcrA* copies of genes and transcript (88%) and lower 16S rRNA genes and transcripts (90%) compared to the untreated inoculum. Given that both inoculums were stored for 1-year under the same conditions, the difference in abundance are likely due to acidification with H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> 1-year prior.

Averaged over the entire study period, the control had significantly more *mcrA* gene copies compared to PA inoculum (39%) and NA inoculum tanks (65%, p < 0.05; **Table 5**). The PA inoculum tanks have significantly more *mcrA* gene copies than NA inoculum tanks (43%, p < 0.05).

The *mcrA* transcript copies were variable over time, although the most marked difference between treatments was Jul 27 (d 42) when the NA inoculum and PA inoculum were 95 and 85% less than the control copies, respectively. This corresponds with the initial increase in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. The average CH<sub>4</sub> emissions during the sampling week were 43.0, 7.70, and  $4.12 \text{ gm}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$  from control, NA inoculum, and PA inoculum treatments, respectively.

On Sept 8 (85 days) the NA inoculum treatment had the highest copies *mcrA* transcript, with the control and PA inoculum having 97 and 86% fewer copies, respectively (**Table 5**). This corresponds to CH<sub>4</sub> emissions during the sampling week of 43.4, 55.5, and  $21.4 \text{ gm}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$  from control, NA inoculum, and PA inoculum, respectively.

Lastly, on Oct 31 (108 days) the PA inoculum had the highest copies of *mcrA* transcript, with control and NA Inoculum

Acidification of Residual Manure

**TABLE 2** | Manure total solids (%), volatile solids (%), total nitrogen (%), and ammonium-nitrogen (%) sampled from fresh manure (FM) during tank filling (May 29, 2018), and stored manure on 7 days (Jun 15, 2018), and 155 days (Nov 11, 2018).

		Control	PA-Inoc	NA-Inoc
Total solids (%)	FM	17.6	17.6	17.6
	15-Jun	12.5	12.7	11.9
	31-Oct	14.2	14.9	14.4
Volatile solids (%)	FM	8.06	8.06	8.06
	15-Jun	6.02	6.10	5.99
	31-Oct	5.59	5.99	6.40
Total nitrogen (%)	FM	0.39	0.39	0.39
	15-Jun	0.26	0.26	0.30
	31-Oct	0.27	0.30	0.29
Ammonium-N (%)	FM	0.16	0.16	0.16
	15-Jun	0.05	0.06	0.09
	31-Oct	0.09	0.10	0.10

having 81 and 86% fewer copies, respectively (**Table 5**). This corresponds to  $CH_4$  emissions during the sampling week of 30.0, 34.2, and 11.0 g m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> from control, NA inoculum, and PA inoculum, respectively.

The 16S rRNA gene copies varied less over time and between treatments (**Table 5**). The 16S rRNA transcript copies in the control treatment increased and decreased following the same pattern as the *mcrA* transcript copies. This pattern was not observed in the NA and PA inoculum, suggesting that the methanogen and bacterial communities had differing influences.

## DISCUSSION

Storages with NA inoculum reduced total GHGs by 77%, while PA inoculum reduced emissions by 38%, compared to the control. Sokolov et al. (2019) acidified manure with no inoculum at rates of 1.4 and 2.4 L 70%  $H_2SO_4$  m<sup>-3</sup> and reported 85 and 88% reductions in total GHGs, respectively. Our results were slightly lower, which is likely due to the lower rate of acid and the presence of an inoculum. In a lab study, Sokolov et al. (2020) stored FM with previously acidified (2.4 L 70% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>  $m^{-3}$ ; 6-months old) inoculum and newly acidified inoculum at (0.17 L 98% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) 17, 20, and 23°C and reported average CH<sub>4</sub> reductions of 82 and 63%, respectively, across all temperatures. The PA inoculum in the lab study was more effective, with 82% reductions compared to the 38% reduction in this study. This difference may be due to the lab scale or age of the inoculum. The NA inoculum in the lab study had a much lower rate of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, (0.16 vs. 0.79 L pure  $H_2SO_4$  m<sup>-3</sup> total manure) which explains the lower (63%) reduction of  $CH_4$ .

All contributing GHGs were reduced using NA and PA inoculum. This is important to note, as often mitigating practices reduce one GHG in exchange for increasing another. Although there were clear GHG reduction treatment differences, the pH did not have corresponding differences. In fact, the pH was nearly identical among treatments until day 92 (Sept

**TABLE 3** | Total (g m<sup>-2</sup>; g m<sup>-3</sup>; kg; m<sup>3</sup>) and daily mean (g m<sup>-2</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O-N), and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>-N) for manure with untreated inoculum (control), previously acidified inoculum (PA-Inoc), and newly acidified inoculum (NA-Inoc) in each block for the entire study period Jun 8–Nov 11, 2019 (155 days).

	Control	PA-Inoc	NA-Inoc		
CH <sub>4</sub>					
g m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup>	$36.1\pm27.7$	$22.3\pm17.8$	$8.19\pm5.64$		
g m <sup>-2</sup>	5,266	3,258	1,196		
g m <sup>-3</sup>	3,291	2,036	748		
Kg	34.9	21.6	7.9		
m <sup>-3</sup>	53.2	32.9	12.1		
VS, kg	671	679	667		
$CH_4$ potential $B_0 \times VS$	161	163	160		
MCF	0.33	0.20	0.08		
N <sub>2</sub> O-N					
mg m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup>	$76.4\pm65.1$	$38.4\pm29.9$	$22.3\pm23.7$		
g m <sup>-2</sup>	11.2	5.61	3.00		
g m <sup>-3</sup>	6.97	3.51	1.88		
g kg <sup>-1</sup> TAN	13.3	5.93	2.23		
g kg <sup>-1</sup> TN	2.60	1.28	0.62		
NH <sub>3</sub> -N					
g m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup>	$3.53\pm2.28$	$3.28\pm2.00$	$2.76\pm1.52$		
g m <sup>-2</sup>	540	502	382		
g m <sup>-3</sup>	338	314	239		
g kg <sup>-1</sup> TAN	643	514	270		
g kg <sup>-1</sup> TN	126	115	77.6		

Cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> is also expressed as methane conversion factor (MCF), and maximum CH<sub>4</sub> production (B<sub>0</sub>) × volatile solids (VS). Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O-N and NH<sub>3</sub>-N are scaled by initial total nitrogen (TN) and initial total ammoniacal nitrogen (TAN).

7), thereafter the acidification treatments showed lower pH. Sokolov et al. (2019) also reported variable pH values in storage tanks following acidification, although the pH stabilized 35 days into the trial. Others have only observed increases in pH throughout storage due to natural processes re-establishing a neutral pH following acidification (Petersen et al., 2012; Shin et al., 2019). However, this might be due to better mixing of acid in initial short-term storage. The CH<sub>4</sub> reductions could be due to sulfide (derived from sulfuric acid) reactions inhibiting methanogenesis, rather than pH changes alone (Petersen et al., 2012). Previous research has suggested that sulfate reducing bacteria outcompete methanogens for substrate due to a higher affinity (lower Ks) for H2 and acetate (Kristjansson and Schonheit, 1983). Future research should examine the mechanism of methanogenesis inhibition by sulfide reactions at different pH levels, corresponding hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) production, and resulting total GHG emission reduction from liquid dairy manure.

The NA inoculum treatments reduced total GHGs and total CH<sub>4</sub> by 77%. Both the control and the NA inoculum received the same untreated inoculum and FM, although NA inoculum received 1.2 L 70% H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> m<sup>-3</sup> (total manure in storage) into the inoculum prior to FM addition. This is similar to Sokolov



**FIGURE 2** Cumulative methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) emissions summed every 14 days over the entire study period (Jun 8–Oct 31; 145 days), from manure with untreated inoculum (control,  $\bullet$ ), manure with previously acidified (PA,  $\Box$ ) inoculum, and manure with newly acidified (NA,  $\nabla$ ) inoculum. Vertical gray lines denote the end of a month, starting with June and ending with Nov. Error bars show standard deviation (note some error bars are too small to see).

et al. (2019) who reported an average 88% reduction of  $CH_4$  from acidifying FM using 1.4–2.4 mL 70%  $H_2SO_4 L^{-1}$  manure. Results of real-time qPCR suggest that the reduction is due to disruption in methanogen activity, which is expressed by lower *mcrA* transcript. On the sampling closest to peak emissions (Jul 27), the *mcrA* gene and transcript were lower in the NA inoculum tanks compared to the control. These reductions could be explained by the reduced activity of methanogens which was evidenced from the relatively lower abundance of *mcrA* genes and transcripts in the NA inoculum tanks compared to the control. A study by Habtewold et al. (2018) also found inhibition of methanogen abundance and activity following slurry acidification. The PA inoculum treatments reduced total GHG and total  $CH_4$  by 38% using no acid in this storage period and only inoculum that was acidified 1-year prior. Results of the real-time qPCR suggest that the reduction is due to reduced methanogen activity in the inoculum. The previously acidified inoculum had markedly lower *mcrA* gene and transcript compared to the untreated inoculum at the start of the trial. The same results are observed during the following sampling event on Jul 27, which was during the time of peak emissions (40–110 days). This suggests that the reduced methanogen activity, expressed as *mcrA* transcript, in the PA inoculum led to lower methanogen activity later in the storage. This was also suggested by Sokolov et al.

**TABLE 4** | Total greenhouse gas emissions presented on a  $CO_2$ -equivalent basis (kg m<sup>-2</sup>) for methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O), and indirect N<sub>2</sub>O from ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) over the entire 145-d monitoring period from the control, previously acidified (PA) inoculum, and newly acidified (NA) inoculum treatments.

	Control	PA	NA				
	$CO_2$ -equivalent (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )						
CH <sub>4</sub>	179	111	40.7				
N <sub>2</sub> O-direct	3.32	1.67	0.89				
N <sub>2</sub> O-indirect	2.26	1.73	1.52				
Total	185	114	43				

(2020), who reported that using PA inoculum had similar CH<sub>4</sub> production as FM with no inoculum in a laboratory incubation study. They reported similar CH<sub>4</sub> reductions of 49% using PA inoculum and 55% using no inoculum at 23°C. Ngwabie et al. (2016) similarly reported 36% reductions in CH<sub>4</sub> from manure with no inoculum compared to manure with 20% inoculum (163 days storage).

Given that PA inoculum can reduce the need for acidification to every other filling, it is important to compare estimated total GHG emissions from PA inoculum and NA inoculum over two storage periods. Acidifying all manure in the first storage period and using the PA inoculum in the second period reduced an estimated total GHG emissions by 62%, compared to the control. Using NA inoculum over two storage periods reduced total GHG emissions by 77%, compared to the control. The amount of acid using PA inoculum compared to NA inoculum was nearly identical in both treatments (1.1 vs. 1.2 L m<sup>-3</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>), although acidifying once accompanied a 38% decrease in GHG. Given that the cost of acid would be nearly the same, the best management practice would be to acidify each year. However, other factors are important to consider, such as the cost of the acidification process (acid delivery, equipment rental, labor, etc.) which is currently unclear and may be prohibitive to farmers. Additionally, removal of manure in the fall with PA inoculum accompanying winter storage may not reduce emissions further, as winter conditions cause very low GHGs regardless of inoculum and acid presence. However, spring emptying with PA inoculum accompanying summer storage could reduce the frequency of acidification and reduce GHG emissions by 62%. Additional research is necessary before we can conclusively state which is the most cost effective.

Manure pH appears to reach neutrality by the end of the storage period, therefore, it should not directly affect the soil pH following application. However, others have reported differences in nutrient composition in soil amended with acidified manure. Following soil application, delayed ammonium loss due to nitrification of ~20 days has been observed, suggesting more N availability to plants (Fangueiro et al., 2010, 2013, 2015). Petersen et al. (2013) reported higher P availability in soil with acidified manure, while Roboredo et al. (2012) reported an increase in inorganic P in the labile fraction (Roboredo et al., 2012; Petersen et al., 2013; Fangueiro et al., 2015). Lastly, Eriksen et al. (2008) found that H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> in pig slurry increased the S fertilizer value, reducing the need for additional mineral fertilizer for crops

**TABLE 5** | Copies (log<sub>10</sub>) of *mcr*A and 16S rRNA gene and transcript from fresh manure (FM) and inoculum sampled on tank filling day (May 29, 2018), and from composite samples of stored manure on Jul 27, Sept 8, and Oct 31, 2018 from control (FM), newly acidified inoculum (NA-Inoc), and previously acidified inoculum (PA-Inoc) treatments.

	Control PA-Inoc			
mcrA gene copie	es log <sub>10</sub>			
FM	$7.71 \pm 0.003$	$7.71 \pm 0.003$	$7.71 \pm 0.003$	
Inoculum	$8.16\pm0.005$	$7.13\pm0.011$	$8.16\pm0.005$	
27-Jul	$8.14\pm0.005$	$7.81 \pm 0.016$	$7.79 \pm 0.013$	
8-Sept	$8.46\pm0.008$	$8.27\pm0.009$	$8.02\pm0.011$	
31-Oct	$8.56\pm0.003$	$8.36\pm0.001$	$8.04\pm0.12$	
mcrA transcript	copies log <sub>10</sub>			
FM	$6.73\pm0.14$	$6.73\pm0.14$	$6.73\pm0.14$	
Inoculum	$6.51\pm0.07$	$5.68\pm0.13$	$6.51\pm0.07$	
27-Jul	$8.16\pm0.12$	$7.31\pm0.05$	$6.83\pm0.03$	
8-Sept	$5.99\pm0.16$	$6.71\pm0.04$	$7.56\pm0.04$	
31-Oct	$6.73\pm0.01$	$7.29\pm0.05$	$6.78\pm0.06$	
16S rRNA gene o	opies log <sub>10</sub>			
FM	$11.5\pm0.02$	$11.5\pm0.02$	$11.5\pm0.02$	
Inoculum	$11.2\pm0.005$	$10.4\pm0.02$	$11.2 \pm 0.005$	
27-Jul	$10.9\pm0.02$	$10.8\pm0.04$	$10.8\pm0.02$	
8-Sept	$10.9\pm0.01$	$10.9\pm0.01$	$10.9\pm0.02$	
31-Oct	$10.9\pm0.02$	$10.9\pm0.04$	$10.7\pm0.08$	
16S rRNA transc	ript copies log <sub>10</sub>			
FM	$13.4\pm0.14$	$13.4\pm0.14$	$13.4\pm0.14$	
Inoculum	$13.2\pm0.15$	$12.1\pm 6.98$	$13.2\pm0.15$	
27-Jul	$13.2\pm0.08$	$13.1\pm0.03$	$13.1\pm0.06$	
8-Sep	$10.5\pm0.04$	$11.6\pm3.82$	$13.1\pm3.66$	
31-Oct	$12.3\pm0.06$	$10.9\pm3.75$	$12.9\pm0.09$	

(Eriksen et al., 2008). Although the current research appears to be positive, more research is necessary to fully understand the effects of applying acidified manure onto crop lands. It is important to note that most research has utilized higher rates of acidification, therefore changes to dairy manure with our NA inoculum or PA inoculum acid rates may be much lower.

## CONCLUSION

Acidification of manure inoculum  $(1.1 \text{ L } 70\% \text{ H}_2\text{SO}_4 \text{ m}^{-3} \text{ total}$  manure in storage) markedly reduced GHG emissions (77%) compared to the control (FM and untreated inoculum). This suggested that acidifying only the inoculum provided a positive treatment effect, while reducing the need to continuously acidify FM. CH<sub>4</sub> reduction (77%) using NA inoculum was attributed to disruption of methanogen activity due to significant treatment effects on *mcrA* gene and transcript. Using PA inoculum had a moderate reduction on GHG emissions (38%) and somewhat larger when considered over 2 years (62%). This means that cost of acid and the acidification process can be reduced by acidifying every other storage period while still reducing GHGs. The CH<sub>4</sub> reductions (38%) using PA inoculum was attributed to disruption of methanogenesis in the inoculum, hence removing

the inoculating ability of the residual manure. Over two storage periods, the amount of  $H_2SO_4$  was nearly identical between PA and NA inoculum treatments, however PA inoculum allowed for fewer acidification events, while still retaining good GHG reductions. This may allow farmers to reduce expenses associated with acidification while still mitigating GHGs, although more research is needed to validate its applicability at the farm scale.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in the article may be requested by contacting bosa4400@mylaurier.ca or Robert.Gordon@uwindsor.ca.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

VS was the graduate student who is the primary author and project lead. AV was a co-supervisor contributing intellectually and financially to overall project, particularly for GHG emission aspects. JH helped create microbial analysis methods and assist with methanogen and bacterial quantification. KD contributed intellectually and financially to particularly to methanogen and

## REFERENCES

- Clesceri, L. S., Greenber, A. E., and Eaton, A. D. (1998). *Standard methods* for the examination of water and waste water. 20th ed. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association, American Water Works association, Water Environment Federation.
- Dong, H., Mangino, J., McAllister, T., Hatfield, J. L., Johnson, D., Lassey, K., et al. (2006). "Chapter 10 Emissions from livestock and manure management," in 2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories (IPCC), 10.1-10.87. Available online at: https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/ 2006gl/vol4.html
- Eriksen, J., Sørensen, P., and Elsgaard, L. (2008). The fate of sulfate in acidified pig slurry during storage and following application to cropped soil. J. Environ. Qual. 37, 280–286. doi: 10.2134/jeq2007.0317
- Evans, P. N., Boyd, J. A., Leu, A. O., Woodcroft, B. J., Parks, D. H., Hugenholtz, P., et al. (2019). An evolving view of methane metabolism in the Archaea. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 17, 219–232. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0136-7
- Fangueiro, D., Hjorth, M., and Gioelli, F. (2015). Acidification of animal slurry- a review. J. Environ. Manage. 149, 46–56. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2014. 10.001
- Fangueiro, D., Ribeiro, H., Coutinho, J., Cardenas, L., Trindade, H., Cunha-Queda, C., et al. (2010). Nitrogen mineralization and CO2 and N2O emissions in a sandy soil amended with original or acidified pig slurries or with the relative fractions. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 46, 383–391. doi: 10.1007/s00374-010-0444-1
- Fangueiro, D., Surgy, S., Coutinho, J., and Vasconcelos, E. (2013). Impact of cattle slurry acidification on carbon and nitrogen dynamics during storage and after soil incorporation. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 176, 540–550. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201200117
- Habtewold, J., Gordon, R., Sokolov, V., VanderZaag, A., Wagner-Riddle, C., and Dunfield, K. (2018). Reduction in methane emissions from acidified dairy slurry is related to inhibition of methanosarcina species. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:2806. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.02806
- Hofer, S. (2003). Determination of Ammonia (Salicylate) in 2M KCl Soil Extracts by Flow Injection Analysis. Loveland, Colorado: Lachat Instruments.

bacterial quantification. JT contributed intellectually, lab space and equipment for the methanogen and bacterial quantification. CW-R contributed intellectually and with manuscript editing, particularly with the GHG emissions aspects. JV contributed intellectually helping with statistical analysis and manuscript editing. Lastly, RG was the major funding holder for this project, graduate co-supervisor contributing intellectually and financially, particularly with the GHG emission aspects. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **FUNDING**

This research was supported by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (2495), Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, and Wilfrid Laurier University.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs. 2020.568648/full#supplementary-material

- IPCC (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Geneva: IPCC.
- Jayasundara, S., Ranga Niroshan Appuhamy, J. A. D., Kebreab, E., and Wagner-Riddle, C. (2016). Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from Canadian dairy farms and mitigation options: an updated review. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 96, 306–331. doi: 10.1139/cjas-2015-0111
- Kavanagh, I., Burchill, W., Healy, M. G., Fenton, O., Krol, D. J., and Lanigan, G. J. (2019). Mitigation of ammonia and greenhouse gas emissions from stored cattle slurry using acidifiers and chemical amendments. J. Clean. Prod. 237:117822. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019. 117822
- Kristjansson, J. K., and Schonheit, P. (1983). Why do sulfate-reducing bacteria outcompete methanogenic bacteria for substrates? *Oecologia* 60, 264–266. doi: 10.1007/BF00379530
- Le Riche, E. L., VanderZaag, A. C., Wood, J. D., Wagner-Riddle, C., Dunfield, K., Ngwabie, N. M., et al. (2016). Greenhouse gas emissions from stored dairy slurry from multiple farms. *J. Environ. Qual.* 45:1822. doi: 10.2134/jeq2016.04.0122
- Ngwabie, N. M., Gordon, R. J., VanderZaag, A., Dunfield, K., Sissoko, A., and Wagner-Riddle, C. (2016). The extent of manure removal from storages and its impact on gaseous emissions. *J. Environ. Qual.* 45, 2023–2029. doi: 10.2134/jeq2016.01.0004
- Petersen, J., Lemming, C., Rubæk, G. H., and Sørensen, P. (2013). Side-Band Injection of Acidified Cattle Slurry as Starter P-Fertilization for Maize Seedlings. RAMIRAN 2013 15th Int. Conf. Versailles Fr. 3-5 June 2013 Proc. Available online at: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20163006158 (accessed August 19, 2020).
- Petersen, S. O., Andersen, A. J., and Eriksen, J. (2012). Effects of cattle slurry acidification on ammonia and methane evolution during storage. J. Environ. Qual. 41:88. doi: 10.2134/jeq2011.0184
- Roboredo, M., Fangueiro, D., Lage, S., and Coutinho, J. (2012). Phosphorus dynamics in soils amended with acidified pig slurry and derived solid fraction. *Geoderma* 189–190, 328–333. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.06.030
- Shin, S.-R., Im, S., Mostafa, A., Lee, M.-K., Yun, Y.-M., Oh, S.-E., et al. (2019). Effects of pig slurry acidification on methane emissions during

storage and subsequent biogas production. *Water Res.* 152, 234–240. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2019.01.005

- Sokolov, V. K., VanderZaag, A., Habtewold, J., Dunfield, K., Wagner-Riddle, C., Venkiteswaran, J. J., et al. (2019). Greenhouse Gas Mitigation through Dairy Manure Acidification. *J. Environ. Q.* 48, 1435–1443. doi: 10.2134/jeq2018.10.0355
- Sokolov, V. K., VanderZaag, A., Habtewold, J., Dunfield, K., Wagner-Riddle, C., Venkiteswaran, J. J., et al. (2020). Dairy manure acidification reduces CH4 emissions over short and long-term. *Environ. Technol.* 27, 1–8. doi: 10.1080/09593330.2020.1714744
- Sommer, S. G., Clough, T. J., Balaine, N., Hafner, S. D., and Cameron, K. C. (2017). Transformation of organic matter and the emissions of methane and ammonia during storage of liquid manure as affected by acidification. *J. Environ. Q.* 46, 514–521. doi: 10.2134/jeq2016.10.0409
- Wood, J. D., Gordon, R. J., Wagner-Riddle, C., Dunfield, K. E., and Madani, A. (2012). Relationships between dairy slurry total solids, gas emissions, and surface crusts. *J. Environ. Qual.* 41:694. doi: 10.2134/jeq201 1.0333

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sokolov, Habtewold, Dunfield, Wagner-Riddle, Venkiteswaran, and Gordon. The following authors (VanderZaag and Tambong) carried out this work in the course of their employment with Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, therefore, copyright interest is owned by Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the Minister of Agriculture.





## Climate-Based Suitability Assessment for Methane Mitigation by Water Saving Technology in Paddy Fields of the Central Plain of Thailand

Punyaporn Prangbang<sup>1,2</sup>, Kazuyuki Yagi<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Jorrel Khalil S. Aunario<sup>3</sup>, Bjoern Ole Sander<sup>4</sup>, Reiner Wassmann<sup>3,5</sup>, Thomas Jäkel<sup>3,6,7</sup>, Chitnucha Buddaboon<sup>6</sup>, Amnat Chidthaisong<sup>1,2</sup> and Sirintornthep Towprayoon<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Joint Graduate School of Energy and Environment (JGSEE), King Mongkut's University of Technology Thonburi (KMUTT), Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>2</sup> Center of Excellence on Energy Technology and Environment (CEE), Postgraduate Education and Research Development Office (PERDO), Ministry of Higher Education, Science, Research and Innovation, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>3</sup> International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Los Baños, Philippines, <sup>4</sup> International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Hanoi, Vietnam, <sup>5</sup> Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Institute of Meteorology and Climate Research (IMK-IFU), Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Rice Department, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>7</sup> Centre for International Migration and Development (CIM), Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), Eschborn, Germany

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Matthew Tom Harrison, University of Tasmania, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Lijun Liu, Yangzhou University, China Sang Yoon Kim, Sunchon National University, South Korea

\*Correspondence: Kazuyuki Yagi yagihome@mail2.accsnet.ne.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 24 June 2020 Accepted: 25 August 2020 Published: 02 November 2020

#### Citation:

Prangbang P, Yagi K, Aunario JKS, Sander BO, Wassmann R, Jäkel T, Buddaboon C, Chidthaisong A and Towprayoon S (2020) Climate-Based Suitability Assessment for Methane Mitigation by Water Saving Technology in Paddy Fields of the Central Plain of Thailand. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 4:575823. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.575823 The alternate wetting and drying (AWD) water management technique has been identified as one of the most promising options for mitigating methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions from rice cultivation. By its nature, however, this option is limited only to paddy fields where farmers have sustained access to irrigation water. In addition, large amounts of rainfall often make it difficult to drain water from paddy fields. Therefore, it is necessary to understand the specific conditions and suitability of an area in which AWD is foreseen to be applied before its CH<sub>4</sub> mitigation potential can be assessed in view of planning regional and national mitigation actions. In this study, we applied a methodology developed for assessing the climatic suitability of AWD to paddy fields in the central plain of Thailand in order to determine the potential spatial and temporal boundaries given by climatic and soil parameters that could impact on the applicability of AWD. Related to this, we also assessed the CH<sub>4</sub> mitigation potential in the target provinces. Results showed that the entire area of the six target provinces was climatically suitable for AWD in both the major (wet) and second (dry) rice seasons. A sensitivity analysis accounting for uncertainties in soil percolation and suitability classification indicated that these settings did not affect the results of the suitability assessment, although they changed to some extent the distribution of moderate and high climatic suitability areas in the major rice season. Following the methodologies of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Guidelines, we estimated that the AWD scenario could reduce annual CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 32% compared with the emissions in the baseline (continuously flooded) scenario. The potential of AWD for annual CH<sub>4</sub> emission reduction was estimated to be 57,600 t CH<sub>4</sub> year<sup>-1</sup>, equivalent to 1.61 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>-eq year<sup>-1</sup>, in the target provinces. However,

we recognize the possibility that other parameters not included in our current approach may significantly influence the suitability of AWD and thus propose areas for further improvement derived from these limitations. All in all, our results will be instrumental in guiding practitioners at all levels involved in water management for rice cultivation.

Keywords: rice, methane emissions, GIS, alternate wetting and drying, mitigation measures, low-emission farming

## INTRODUCTION

Rice cultivation is one of the major sources of agricultural emissions of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) at a global scale. The contribution of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from rice cultivation to the national budgets of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions is significant in Southeast Asian countries, where rice cultivation is the dominant use of land. For example, in Thailand, rice cultivation occupies about 46% of the total agricultural land [OAE (Office of Agricultural Economics), 2018] and accounts for about 55% of the total GHG emissions in the agriculture sector, or 6.5% of the total national GHG emissions [ONREPP (Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning), 2017]. This highlights the fact that actions to reduce GHG emissions from rice cultivation in Southeast Asian countries could have a great potential in mitigating the impacts of climate change, both regionally and globally.

Considering agronomic management in practice, there exist a number of suggested technical options for mitigating CH4 emissions from paddy fields. These include specific management techniques for the water regime, rice planting methods, selection of rice cultivar, and application of organic matter, fertilizer, and other amendments (Wassmann et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2014; Romasanta et al., 2017; Yagi et al., 2020). At present, however, only a few of these options have a proven track record as promising mitigation tools. In particular, water management options have been identified as an effective approach to consistently reducing CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (Itoh et al., 2011; Sander et al., 2015; Jiang et al., 2019). This was shown by a metaanalysis of experimental data from Southeast Asia (Yagi et al., 2020): Various water management options, including a single and multiple round(s) of draining of paddy fields (e.g., mid-season drainage and alternate wetting and drying [AWD]), significantly reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 35% on average (95% confidence interval: 41-29%).

AWD is a water management practice that was developed and is currently promoted by the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) and its partners in many rice-producing countries, primarily in order to reduce the consumption of irrigation water (Lampayan et al., 2015). The principle of AWD is to switch from a continuously flooded rice field to a field that encompasses several dry phases during the growing season. Starting at about 2–3 weeks after transplanting (3–4 weeks after sowing) the field is left to dry out until the water table reaches a level of about 10–15 cm below the soil surface. Once the threshold is reached, irrigation water should be applied until 3–5 cm of standing water in the field is reached. A level of "–15 cm" has been identified as "safe" so that plants do not face drought stress and thus yields are not reduced (Bouman et al., 2007). Importantly, no significant effect of AWD on rice yield was reported by a meta-analysis of field data from Southeast Asia (Yagi et al., 2020).

Policy makers and rice value-chain operators all over the world are increasingly recognizing that alternative water management practices in rice cultivation could become a visible option for CH<sub>4</sub> reduction. Besides, the impact of climate change in the form of increased frequency of droughts already forces farmers to re-adjust their approach to water management. In view of this, all stakeholders involved may consider making lowemission rice farming as an important component of national and organizational commitments to tackle climate change and enhance the resilience and sustainability of the agriculture sector. In some of the major rice-producing countries, largescale changes in water management are already part of the proposed actions for reducing GHG emissions in compliance with the national commitments to the Paris Agreement. For example, AWD is listed as one of the low carbon technologies with regards to the nationally determined contributions of Vietnam. The mitigation potential of using water drainage in rice fields was estimated to reduce GHG emissions by 4.1 Mt CO2 from the South Central Coast and 21.9 Mt CO2 from the Red River Delta. In addition, the Vietnamese government plans to promote the "System of Rice Intensification (SRI)" program, an innovative rice cultivation technique in which AWD is the central management option (Thakur et al., 2016), within a 500,000 ha of rice cultivation area (Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment, 2017). Similarly, the Indonesian government has included SRI in the list of national mitigation actions and reported that the program has already been applied to up to 435,999 ha of paddy fields by 2014 (Republic of Indonesia, 2017).

However, the application of alternative water drainage regimes may be limited to paddy fields in which the irrigation/drainage system has been well-developed. In particular, control of water is generally difficult or impossible in rainfed paddy fields. This poses a problem in the implementation of water management options for GHG mitigation. In addition, large amounts of rainfall often make it difficult to drain water from paddy fields. In the paddy fields of Southeast Asia, the extension of irrigated paddy fields is limited to <30% among the continental countries, while this value ranges between 60 and 70% in island countries (Dobermann and Fairhurst, 2000; Redfern et al., 2012). Even paddy fields classified as irrigated are not always capable of controlling water, in particular during the rainy wet season. Farmers need guidance regarding the appropriate timing of irrigating their fields within the rice-growing period. Hence, it would be helpful to understand in which locations water management options are best applicable or suitable in order to achieve the best GHG mitigation results.

Responding to this need, Nelson et al. (2015) presented the first attempt of a spatial and temporal assessment of the climatic suitability for AWD at the province level in the Philippines. This study was based on a simple water balance model reflecting the possibility to drain or dry a rice field for a substantial duration during the rice-growing season. Later, Sander et al. (2017) extended this methodology to the entire rice area of the Philippines and developed country-scale climatic suitability maps for AWD for the wet and dry seasons. In addition, both studies illustrated how the assessment can be used to estimate the potential GHG emission mitigation. They estimated that a maximum of 60% of the rice area of the Philippines is climatically suited for AWD, reaching more than 90% in the dry and 34% in the wet season. The potential maximum annual reduction of CH4 emissions from lowland rice in the Philippines was estimated to be about 265,000 t  $CH_4$  year<sup>-1</sup> or around 15% of the country's annual emissions from the agriculture sector (Sander et al., 2017).

Here we apply the same methodology as described previously to the paddy fields in the central plain of Thailand. The six provinces selected for this study are located mostly in the irrigated area, which has a higher capacity of controlled irrigation compared to other areas in Thailand. Our work aimed at assessing the spatial and temporal boundaries of climatically suitable areas for application of AWD in the target provinces. At the same time, we estimated the potential for reducing  $CH_4$ emissions from rice cultivation. We hope that our results will be helpful to agricultural practitioners and can contribute to the development of national policies for climate change actions.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Area**

This study focused on six provinces: Ang Thong, Ayuthaya, Chai Nat, Pathum Thani, Sing Buri, and Suphan Buri which are all located in the central plain of Thailand (Figure 1). The total area of all six provinces covers 13,736 km<sup>2</sup>, between 13.92 and 15.42°N and between 99.28 and 100.95°E. All six provinces share boundaries, which provides for similar weather conditions in that area. The rainy season usually starts in May and lasts until the end of October. The period from November to January represents the cool and dry season, while the months from February to April represent the hot and dry period (Thai Meteorological Department, 2020). All six provinces are located in a plain, which includes major rivers, such as the Chao Phraya, Tha Chin, Pa Sak, and Lopburi. Most of the land use for agriculture in these six provinces is under irrigation, which is under the authority of the Regional Irrigation Offices. Therefore, water for rice cultivation is usually available in sufficient quantities, even during the dry season.

The average annual rainfall is around 1,150 mm, with most rain (960 mm) occurring during the rainy season from May to October. The average minimum and maximum temperature throughout the year is 23 and  $34^{\circ}$ C, respectively. In both major (wet) and second (dry) rice seasons, rice is cultivated under



rainfed (5.9 and 1.6% of the rice area, respectively) and irrigated (94.1 and 98.4%, respectively) conditions according to data from the crop year 2018 published by the Office of Agricultural Economics (OAE) (OAE (Office of Agricultural Economics), 2018). In the event of a prolonged drought, however, even irrigated land may be in short supply of water.

## **Outline of Suitability Assessment**

We conducted the AWD suitability assessment by following the methodology described by Nelson et al. (2015). The outline of the methodology is summarized in a flow chart as shown in **Figure 2**. This approach for assessing climatic suitability of AWD was applied to paddy fields in the central plain of Thailand



for determining the potential spatial and temporal boundaries given by climatic and soil parameters that could influence the applicability of AWD. Related to that, the potential of  $CH_4$  emission mitigation in the target provinces was estimated.

As shown in **Figure 2**, this study used the water balance model for climatic suitability assessment (Nelson et al., 2015). For running the model, six data sets were used as "input data," namely data set A: rice statistics, data set B: rice calendar, data set C: rice extent, data set D: temperature, data set E: rainfall, and data set F: soil texture. The water balance model is the central idea of the assessment: it takes into account the volumes of water entering and leaving the rice fields. The total amount of water

flux is related to meteorological factors (temperature and rainfall) and characteristics of the soil. The products of derived input data are termed "derived data," including data set G: potential evapotranspiration and data set H: potential percolation. Data sets A–H were used to assess climatic suitability for AWD by following the four steps of "spatial analysis" described below.

The climatic suitability of the rice area for implementing AWD was calculated for a period of 1 year, which was divided into intervals of 10 days, called "dekad." A total of 37 maps were scored by counting the deficit (DEF) water dekads according to the rice calendar. We accounted for potential uncertainties related to the input data or criteria of

parameters by conducting sensitivity analyses for soil percolation rate data and breakpoint setting for ranking suitability were conducted. Finally, we estimated the potential of  $CH_4$  mitigation by implementing AWD in the target provinces using the methodologies recommended in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Guidelines [IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2019].

## **Input Data**

## Data Set A: Rice Statistics

Rice statistics included area, production, and yield of rice, in each province of Thailand as reported annually in the Agricultural Statistics of Thailand published by OAE. The reports for the years 2010–2017 (November 2010–October 2017) were available to us. According to the latest report for 2017, the average annual area of total rice harvested in the six target provinces was 1,047,000 ha, of which 584,000 ha are planted in the major rice season and 464,000 ha in the second rice season (OAE (Office of Agricultural Economics), 2018; **Table 1**). According to the monthly rice harvested area reports, the major rice season started in May and ended in October; the second rice season started in November and ended in April in all the target provinces.

## Data Set B: Rice Calendar

The data used for feeding the "Rice calendar" were obtained from "RiceAtlas," a spatial database of global rice calendars and production (Laborte et al., 2017). The data in "RiceAtlas" are based on various published sources, such as global and regional datasets, international and national publications, online sources, and unpublished data sources like expert knowledge. The calendar summarizes the cultivation periods and provides the peak date of cultivation, which refers to the date when the majority of the crop is being planted or harvested.

According to "RiceAtlas," Thailand has five different rice calendars accounting for the double cropping of rice. Here, we have chosen the calendars of Supan Buri (type 1) and those of the five other provinces that share the same type (type 2). Rice calendars of both types and differentiated by season are listed in **Table 2**.

## Data Set C: Rice Extent

Rice extent, or the spatial distribution of rice, was based on the product from MOD09A1 8-day composite remote sensing data in 2000–2012, which was derived from rice extent maps of a 13-years time series of "Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectrometer (MODIS)" at a 500 m resolution (Xiao et al., 2006; Nelson and Gumma, 2015). The maximum rice extent data during these years were used as input data for representing rice extent in the target provinces.

## Data Set D: Temperature

Temperature data in degrees Celsius (°C) were obtained from daily minimum and maximum temperature records including the "Global Surface Summary of the Day (GSOD)" database [NOAA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration), 2019]. These daily minimum and maximum temperatures in raster were averaged as mean daily temperature per dekad in 2007–2017. Consecutively, dekadal temperature data were again averaged as an 11-year mean temperature per dekad. Additionally, the dekadal temperature data of each year were used to analyze inter-annual variations of the suitability for AWD.

## Data Set E: Rainfall

Rainfall data in mm day<sup>-1</sup> were taken from the rainfall estimates from rain gauge and satellite observations included in the quasi-global rainfall database termed "Climate Hazards Group InfraRed Precipitation with Station (CHIRPS)" that provides daily rainfall data in raster grid format with a 0.05-degree ( $\sim$ 5.6 km) resolution (Funk et al., 2015). They were summed up to daily rainfall per dekad in 2007–2017 and calculated as the average of all 11 years per dekad. **Figure 3** shows the spatial distribution of the 11-years mean rainfall per dekad. In addition, the dekadal rainfall data of each year were used to analyze inter-annual variations of the suitability for AWD.

## Data Set F: Soil Texture

We followed the definition of soil texture for each soil series in the soil database developed by the Land Development Department

TABLE 1 | Average size of the area of annually harvested rice in the target provinces for 7 years (2010–2017, except 2005) according to the Agricultural Statistics of Thailand [OAE (Office of Agricultural Economics), 2018].

Province	Province total area (km <sup>2</sup> )		Annua	I rice harvested area (1	l,000 ha)	
	(KIII )	Major se	eason	Second s	season	Total
		Average	Std.	Average	Std.	
Ang Thong	951	51	5	38	18	89
Ayutthaya	2,547	125	19	112	27	237
Chai Nat	2,466	119	8	81	34	200
Pathum Thani	1,515	49	5	47	13	96
Sing Buri	839	46	5	37	20	83
Suphan Buri	5,418	193	14	149	46	342
Total	13,736	584	56	464	158	1,047

Calendar Province		Major season		Second season			
	Planting	Harvesting	Duration (day)	Planting	Harvesting	Duration (day)	
Туре 1	Ang Thong Ayutthaya Chai Nat Pathum Thani Sing Buri	DOY 135 (dekad 14)	DOY 306 (dekad 31)	172	DOY 15 (dekad 2)	DOY 135 (dekad 14)	121
Type 2	Suphan Buri	DOY 218 (dekad 22)	DOY 356 (dekad 36)	139	DOY 356 (dekad 36)	DOY 99 (dekad 10)	109

DOY, day of year.

(LDD), Thailand (LDD, 2019). This database is also available as a geographic information system (GIS) shapefile that presents spatial and attribute records. The information in the database compiled various soil characteristics and properties, including soil texture, for about 300 soil series over the entire area of Thailand. With regard to our target area, soil texture data for 67 relevant soil series were used as input data.

## **Derived Data**

For the calculation of water balance, potential evapotranspiration (Pot\_ET) and potential percolation (Pot\_Pc) are required as inputs. Data sets G (Pot\_ET) and H (Pot\_Pc) were derived from data sets D (temperature) and F (soil texture), respectively, which are termed here "derived data."

## Data Set G: Potential Evapotranspiration (Pot\_ET)

One pathway of water loss from paddy fields is evapotranspiration. Here, Pot\_ET was obtained by using the Hargreaves method (Hargreaves and Samani, 1985) which uses temperature and extra-terrestrial radiation for the calculation (Equation 1).

$$Pot_ET = 0.0023Ra(Tmean + 17.8)TD^{0.5}$$
(1)

where 0.0023 is the Hargreaves coefficient, Ra is the extraterrestrial radiation (MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>), Tmean is the average temperature (°C), and TD is the daily temperature range (Tmax– Tmin in °C). Ra is computed using the approach of Allen et al. (1998) for each day of the year and for different latitudes (Equation 2).

$$Ra = 0.408 \frac{24(60)}{\pi} G_{sc} d_r [\omega_s \sin(\phi) \sin(\delta) + \cos(\phi) \cos(\delta) \sin(\omega_s)$$
(2)

where 0.408 is the inverse latent heat flux,  $G_{sc}$  is the solar constant,  $d_r$  is the inverse relative distance between the sun and the earth,  $\omega_S$  is the sunset hour angle,  $\phi$  is the latitude, and  $\delta$  is the solar declination.

Pot\_ET was measured for the period 2007–2017 and then displayed as data for spatial distribution for the 11-years mean Pot\_ET per dekad as shown in **Figure 4**. In addition, the dekadal Pot\_ET data of each year were used to analyze inter-annual variations of the suitability for AWD.

## Data Set H: Potential Percolation (Pot\_Pc)

Percolation rates are influenced by the range of characteristics pertaining to the physical and hydraulic properties of the soil. Nevertheless, the impact of texture is still observable by the higher percolation rate in sandy soils than that in clay soils. The basic setting of the value of Pot\_Pc rate for the individual soil series was assigned from the soil texture data (data set F) by following the method of Sander et al. (2017). In addition, for evaluating uncertainties resulting from the setting of the Pot\_Pc rates, two additional rates—lower (50% smaller than the basic setting) and upper (50% larger than the basic setting) settings were applied across all soil textures in the database, as shown in **Table 3**.

The spatial data of the soil series were rasterized and interpreted with the Pot\_Pc rate for each pixel in the target provinces. The Pot\_Pc rate of each pixel is the weighted average of the Pot\_Pc rates of its soil class composition. A total of 67 soil series were classified to 25 layers of Pot\_Pc. **Figure 5** shows the distribution of Pot\_Pc rates at the basic setting for the six target provinces.

## **Spatial Analysis**

The four-step spatial analysis was carried out according to Nelson et al. (2015) to get the suitability maps for AWD. Since this was a spatial work, the following items were checked before evaluating procedures:

- 1. All layers should be in the same projection. This study used the World Geodetic System 1984 (WGS84).
- 2. All layers should be resampled to a uniform resolution. Resolution of the results was 0.002 degrees (224 meters).

Step 1. The provincial rice area per dekad (data sets A and B) was distributed to the physical rice extent pixels (data set C) on an equal area basis, resulting in 37 dekadal maps at 0.02 degrees (224 meters) resolution showing where rice is grown during which dekads.

Step 2. Data sets D–H were used to get the "water balance maps per dekad." As mentioned, data sets G and H were derived from temperature and soil texture values, respectively. Pot\_ET, Pot\_Pc, and rainfall were displayed for analyzing in the same resolution at 0.02 degrees (224 m). This step compared the aggregate of Pot\_ET and Pot\_Pc with rainfall.





TABLE 3   Potential percolation rate (Pot_Pc) for rice soil related to soil to	exture.
--	---------

Soil texture		Pot_Pc (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )	
	Lower setting	Basic setting	Upper setting
Clay	1.5	3.0	4.5
Silty clay	1.5	3.0	4.5
Sandy clay	2.5	5.0	7.5
Clay loam	1.75	3.5	5.25
Silty clay loam	1.5	3.0	4.5
Sandy clay loam	3.5	7.0	10.5
Sand	6.0	12.0	18.0
Loamy sand	5.0	10.0	15.0
Sandy loam	4.5	9.0	13.5
Loam	2.0	4.0	6.0
Silty loam	2.0	4.0	6.0

Step 3. Scoring maps per dekad were provided according to the results from step 2. If the pixel had more Pot\_ET plus Pot\_Pc than the amount of rainfall (Rf), it was recognized as the pixel of deficit (DEF) water balance. Whereas, if the pixel had less Pot\_ET plus Pot\_Pc than Rf, it was recognized as the pixel of excess (EXC) water balance:

 $Rf < (Pot_ET + Pot_Pc) = Water balance deficit (DEF)$  $Rf \ge (Pot_ET + Pot_Pc) = Water balance excess (EXC)$ 

Step 4. After step 3, the 37 dekadal maps were obtained. The suitability map was determined from the proportion of the DEF scored per rice season. The index for scoring from such proportions was set at 0–1, where 0 means no dekad was DEF and 1 means that it was DEF for all dekads. Classification of areas that showed low suitability, moderate suitability, and high suitability were ranked by scoring according to the index shown in **Table 4**. A sensitivity analysis was carried out to evaluate the uncertainty related to the setting of different "breakpoints."

## **CH<sub>4</sub> Emission Calculation**

We estimated the potential of mitigating CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by following the IPCC guidelines, using Tier 1 and Tier 2 approaches [IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2019]. For calculating the adjusted daily emission factor for the baseline water management with continuous flooding  $(EF_{i-CF})$ , the default baseline emission factor for Southeast Asia (EFc: 1.22 kg  $CH_4$  ha<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) was applied. For the scaling factors for organic amendment (SF<sub>0</sub>), the value of 1 was applied in the calculation of EFi-CF, according to the methodology used in the Third National Communication (TNC) of Thailand [ONREPP (Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning), 2018] with reference to the expert who calculated GHG emission inventories for rice cultivation in the TNC (personal communication: Prof. Patthra Pengthamkeerati, Kasetsart University). For the scaling factors for water regime before the cultivation period (SF<sub>p</sub>), the aggregated default value (SF<sub>p</sub> =1.22) was applied. For calculating the adjusted daily emission factor for AWD water management (EF<sub>i-AWD</sub>), the scaling factors for multiple drainage water management in the wet season (SF<sub>w</sub> =0.76) and the dry season (0.59) were applied to the major and second rice seasons, respectively, based on the result of the meta-analysis by Yagi et al. (2020), while the value of 1 was applied for the baseline water management with continuous flooding. For the cultivated period of rice, 120 and 122 days were applied for the major and second rice seasons, respectively, according to the information contained in the OAE report for the average growth period of major rice varieties planted [OAE (Office of Agricultural Economics), 2018].

## **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## **Dekadal Scoring Maps for Water Balance**

Using data sets A-H and processing steps 1-3, we developed dekadal scoring maps, which showed spatial and temporal patterns of water balance in the target provinces throughout the year by averaging the data of each year between 2007 and 2017 as shown in Figure 6. A total of 37 maps for each dekad depicted the pixels of water balance either as DEF or EXC criteria throughout 1 year. The results showed that most of the pixels in the target provinces had a water balance of DEF throughout the year due to a lower amount of rainfall than the sum of Pot\_ET and Pot\_Pc, except for periods with a higher level of rainfall. The pixels under the EXC criterium appeared at dekads 16, 21, and 23 (at the end of August to the middle of September) in Pathum Thani province where higher rainfall (more than  $5 \text{ mm day}^{-1}$ , Figure 3) was recorded in the soil with relatively smaller Pot\_Pc  $(<3 \text{ mm day}^{-1}, \text{ Figure 5})$ . After that, EXC pixels extended to other provinces, in response to the increased rainfall until dekad 29 (mid of October). Then, water balance switched to DEF again in all six target provinces after dekad 30 (at the end of October). As a result, most of the pixels in the target provinces had the score of DEF for more than 30 dekads (300 days) per 1 year due to lower rainfall than the sum of Pot\_ET and Pot\_Pc.

## **Climatic Suitability Maps**

The climatic suitability maps for AWD in the major and second rice seasons with basic settings for the suitability breakpoint are shown in Figure 7. In the major rice season (wet season, Figure 7A), a large extent of the target provinces was assessed to be highly suitable for AWD, while the rest was moderately suitable. The area of high suitability was extended to the whole of Ang Thong, Ayuthaya, Chai Nat, and Sing Buri provinces, most of Pathum Thani, and about half of Suphan Buri. In all target provinces, the areas assessed to have high and moderate suitability accounted for 470,000 ha and 113,000 ha, respectively, corresponding to 80.5 and 19.5% of the total area of rice harvested, respectively. There was no pixel assessed to have low suitability in the target provinces. The difference between the rice calendars of Suphan Buri and the other provinces increased the proportion of EXC scored dekads per rice season, resulting in the appearance of pixels assessed to have moderate suitability in Suphan Buri. In addition, the spatial distribution of soil with relatively smaller Pot\_Pc (Figure 5) overlapped with pixels of moderate suitability pixels.



**TABLE 4** | Breakpoints for the DEF score index as used in the sensitivity analysis on low, moderate, and high suitability for AWD.

Breakpoints	Seasonal suitability for AWD based on DEF score							
	Low	Moderate	High					
1 (33–33–33, basic setting	) 0.0–0.33	0.34–0.66	0.67-1.00					
2 (20–60–20)	0.0–0.20	0.21-0.80	0.81-1.00					
3 (25–50–25)	0.0–0.25	0.26-0.75	0.76-1.00					
4 (30–40–30)	0.0–0.30	0.31-0.70	0.71-1.00					
5 (50–30–20)	0.0–0.50	0.51-0.80	0.81-1.00					

In contrast to the wet major rice season, the entire area of the target provinces was assessed to have high suitability for AWD in the second rice season (dry season, **Figure 7B**). This result was predominantly attributable to the relatively small amount of rainfall in the target areas during the season by the northeast monsoons.

According to the previous study for the Philippines (Sander et al., 2017), AWD suitability was mostly ranked as low for the wet season throughout the country; however some areas of moderate or high suitability were found on Mindanao island, the central Visayas, and in Bicol and Cagayan provinces in Luzon island. The authors explained those regional differences in suitability, particularly in the wet season, with differences in the amount of rainfall during the season. Here, in the target provinces of this study, most of the pixels had 11-years averaged dekadal rainfall of <15 mm day<sup>-1</sup>, even during the wet major rice season, except for only one dekad (dekad 26, **Figure 3**). This resulted in the dominance of DEF scores throughout the year and high AWD suitability for the whole target area.

## **Sensitivity Analysis**

The results of the sensitivity analysis on soil percolation rates are shown in Figure 8, where we applied the basic setting of breakpoint for scoring AWD suitability (Table 4). Differences in the suitability appeared during the major rice season. The area assessed to have high suitability increased as Pot\_Pc values increased. The sizes of areas of high suitability were 284,000, 470,000, and 582,000 ha for the lower, basic, and upper settings of Pot\_Pc values, corresponding to 48.6, 80.5, and 99.7% of the total area, respectively. All or most of the areas were classified as suitable for AWD (moderate and high suitability) and only a small area (<2.4% of the total area) was classified to have low suitability in the case of the lower Pot\_Pc rate setting. Hence, we conclude that a change in Pot\_Pc rate settings for each soil texture ( $\pm 50\%$  from the basic setting) did not affect the results of this suitability assessment in the target provinces. However, it changed the distribution of moderate and high suitability areas







to some extent. On the other hand, a change in Pot\_Pc rate settings did not affect the suitability area during the second rice season since the entire area was classified as highly suitable for implementing AWD.

The results of our sensitivity analysis on breakpoint settings for scoring AWD suitability are shown in **Table 5**. In the major rice season, the entire target area appeared to be suitable for AWD (moderate and high suitability). The area of high suitability decreased and that of moderate suitability increased once the breakpoint range of high suitability decreased and that of moderate suitability increased (breakpoints 1 4 3 2). The area of low suitability did not appear even with increasing the breakpoint range for low suitability up to 50% (breakpoint setting 5). The difference in the area of high suitability between breakpoints 1 and 2 was 306,000 ha, corresponding to 52.4% of the total rice area. Changing the breakpoint settings did not affect the suitability of the area during the second rice season since the entire area was classified to be highly suitable for implementing AWD.

## Inter-annual Variation of Suitability

The results of the AWD suitability assessment in the major rice season for each year between 2007 and 2017 are shown in **Figure 9**. **Table 6** summarizes the statistics of the inter-annual variation, showing the average, standard deviation, maximum, and minimum values. The results indicated that the areas of different suitability classes varied in response to inter-annual climatic variability in the major rice season, but not in the second rice season. In the major rice season, some pixels with low suitability appeared in 2010 and 2011. Those exceptional years were characterized by high rainfall during the season, while moderate suitability areas appeared to be linked to relatively low Pot\_Pc values. Larger extents of low and moderate suitability areas appeared in the years 2010 and 2017, while almost the entire

 TABLE 5 | Sensitivity analyses on the settings of breakpoints for the major and second seasons.

Break point settings			Major rice	season					Second rice	e season		
	Low		Modera	ate	High		Low		Modera	ate	High	h
	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)
1 (33–33–33, basic setting)	0	(0)	114	(19)	470	(81)	0	(0)	0	(0)	464	(100)
2 (20–60–20)	0	(0)	438	(75)	146	(25)	0	(0)	0	(0)	464	(100)
3 (25–50–25)	0	(0)	212	(36)	372	(64)	0	(0)	0	(0)	464	(100)
4 (30–40–30)	0	(0)	132	(23)	452	(77)	0	(O)	0	(0)	464	(100)
5 (50-30-20)	0	(0)	438	(75)	146	(25)	0	(0)	0	(0)	464	(100)

The basic setting for potential soil percolation rates (Pot\_Pc: Table 3) was used for the analysis.

target area was classified as high suitability in 2007 and 2015. The coefficients of variation (CVs) for the inter-annual variation were calculated to be 82.4% and 36.5% for the areas of moderate and high suitability, respectively.

## **CH**<sub>4</sub> Emission Mitigation

We calculate the potential for  $CH_4$  emission mitigation by assuming that all irrigated rice areas were continuously flooded (baseline scenario) and AWD was applied to areas of high and moderate suitability (AWD adoption scenario). Estimates for emissions of  $CH_4$  are given for the basic settings of soil percolation rates and breakpoint ranges in **Table 7**. The results showed that higher  $CH_4$  emissions during the major rice season were due to a larger rice area and higher seasonal EF.

Under the AWD adoption scenario,  $CH_4$  emissions were reduced by 24 and 41% in the major and second rice seasons, respectively, compared with those in the baseline scenario. Totally, annual emissions were reduced by 32%. As a result, the potential of seasonal  $CH_4$  emission reduction was estimated to be 34,000 and 23,600 t  $CH_4$  for the major and second rice seasons, respectively. Hence, we estimated that the six target provinces in the central plain of Thailand have the potential for reducing annual  $CH_4$  emissions by 57,600 t  $CH_4$  year<sup>-1</sup> if they implemented AWD water management in paddy fields. This emission reduction is equivalent to 1.61 Mt  $CO_2$ -eq year<sup>-1</sup>, assuming the global warming potential (GWP) of  $CH_4$  to be 28.

As a party to the Paris Agreement for mitigating climate change, Thailand has submitted its nationally appropriate mitigation actions (NAMA) in 2014 and the nationally determined contribution (NDC) in 2015, aiming ambitiously to reduce its GHG emissions by 20-25% from the projected business as usual level by 2030 [ONREPP (Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning), 2018]. To ensure the continuity in the mitigation actions from NAMA to NDC, Thailand approved the NDC roadmap on mitigation (2021-2030) in May 2017. One of the on-going activities in the roadmap is the Thai Rice NAMA project that aims at supporting farmers to switch to low-emission farming systems (including the implementation of AWD in the six target provinces included in this study) and estimates the potential emission reduction of 1.664 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>-eq cumulative over the 5-years lifespan of the project (NAMA Facility, 2020). The potential of CH<sub>4</sub> emission reduction estimated in this study supports the feasibility of the Thai Rice NAMA project.

## **Limitations and Outlook**

In line with the objectives described above, our study applies the methodology used for the Philippines to assess the climate-based suitability for AWD in paddy fields of Thailand. Therefore, the study may have inherent limitations and possible biases in its assessment results as discussed previously (Nelson et al., 2015; Sander et al., 2017).

One critical factor is the uncertainty in the water balance model resulting from the presence of a compacted "hard-pan" in the sub-surface layer of paddy soils caused by the longterm cultivation of crops. As the sensitivity analysis on Pot\_Pc values indicated,  $\pm 50$  percent changes in the values influenced the distribution of moderate and high suitability areas to some extent. It is necessary for reducing this uncertainty to compile and validate the monitoring data for soil percolation rates in the target area. Possible flood events are another influencing factor, particularly to the target areas in this study. According to the Office of Natural Calamity and Agricultural Risk Prevention of the LDD, Thailand, most of the target areas in this study had repeated flood events of more than three times during the year between 2009 and 2018 [LDD (Land Development Department), 2016]. Such flood events usually occur in the wet major rice season, but big ones such as the case in 2011 may prevent drainage of paddy fields even in the following second rice season.

Another important related aspect appears to be the structure of the irrigation system itself; in particular, the elevation of rice fields relative to the main irrigation canal or within the surrounding terrain. A previous study in Vietnam highlighted that higher-lying paddy fields tend to dry up earlier than lowerlying fields, influencing the suitability for AWD (Yamaguchi et al., 2017). Recent field observations by the Thai Rice NAMA Project in the target provinces of this study appear to confirm these observations: flooding of paddy fields during the wet season of 2019 could have been well-managed and AWD could have been applied if the rice field was located well above the level of the irrigation canal (Atthawit Watcharapongchai, personal observation). Preliminary analysis of  $CH_4$  emissions of demo and control plots in all target provinces suggested that AWD shows good potential for emission reduction in the wet season



#### TABLE 6 | Statistical summary of the inter-annual variation of AWD suitability assessment.

Year	Major rice season						Second rice season						
	Low		Moderate		High		Low		Moderate		High		
	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	1,000 ha	(%)	
Average	2	(0)	177	(30)	406	(69)	0	(0)	0	(0)	464	(100)	
Standard deviation	5	(1)	146	(25)	148	(25)	0	(O)	0	(O)	464	(100)	
Maximum	16	(3)	431	(74)	581	(99)	0	(O)	0	(O)	464	(100)	
Minimum	0	(O)	3	(1)	137	(23)	0	(O)	0	(O)	464	(100)	

Basic settings for soil percolation rates and breakpoint were used for the analysis.

**TABLE 7** | Estimated  $CH_4$  emissions in the baseline and AWD adoption scenarios.

Suitability	Estimated CH <sub>4</sub> emissions (1000t CH <sub>4</sub> )											
	Major rice season					Second ri	ce season	Total				
	Baseline	AWD	Reduction	(%)	Baseline	AWD	Reduction	(%)	Baseline	AWD	Reduction	(%)
High	79.2	60.2	19.0	(24)	82.9	48.9	37.9	(41)	162.1	109.1	53.0	(33)
Moderate	19.2	14.6	4.6	(24)	0.0	0.0	0.0	(0)	19.2	14.6	4.6	(24)
Low	0.0	0.0	0.0	(0)	0.0	0.0	0.0	(0)	0.0	0.0	0.0	(0)
Total	98.3	74.7	23.6	(24)	82.9	48.9	34.0	(41)	181.2	123.6	57.6	(32)

Basic settings for potential soil percolation rates (Pot\_Pc) and breakpoint were used for the analysis.

(T.J., unpublished results). In view of these observations, the information obtained by the climatic suitability assessment could be especially useful for water management practitioners and irrigation authorities and for the future improvement of the water management system.

Socioeconomic factors for the adoption of water management by farmers may influence the suitability for AWD significantly, as shown by this study which made the assessment based on natural factors that influence the water balance of paddy fields. Water management options by farmers within a wider irrigation system are characterized by the physical separation of adopter and benefiter as pointed out by Sander et al. (2015). Also, the option for AWD is not attractive for farmers who pay a fixed irrigation fee for each season. On the other hand, the result of the suitability assessment in this study can be used for changing rice cultivation management systems to promote effective AWD. As indicated, the number of dekads in the DEF and EXC criteria in a rice cultivation season affected the climatic suitability for AWD. Therefore, if farmers choose the period of rice planting to avoid the DEF periods, for example, earlier major rice planting in Suphan Buri province, they would have more chances to implement AWD in their rice fields. The water balance maps can help farmers to decide whether or not to implement AWD with the support of extension services and when and where to disseminate water-saving technologies.

Regarding the potential of GHG emission reduction, this study focused only on  $CH_4$ , because it is the dominant GHG that contributes to the net global warming potential (GWP) emitted from paddy fields. However, it is pointed out that the drainage of paddy fields may promote nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions. This increase, however, only offsets a small amount of the reduction in  $CH_4$  (Akiyama et al., 2005; Sander et al., 2015, 2020). Nevertheless, the change of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by applying AWD should be additionally considered for an overall assessment of GHG emission reduction, although its contribution to net GWP is much smaller and more variable than that of  $CH_4$  (Yagi et al., 2020).

It is also noted that AWD and other water management options can be combined with other GHG mitigation options for enhancing GHG emission reduction. As indicated by Yagi et al. (2020), some other options like the application of biochar and sulfate-containing fertilizer can reduce GHG emissions while increasing yield in some rice-growing areas in Southeast Asia. These options can be applied to rice cultivation in the target provinces together with AWD. Another effective option is soil drying in the fallow season (Sander et al., 2014) which would be promising by using the dekadal scoring maps for water balance (**Figure 6**) for the decision of the timing of soil drying before starting rice cultivation.

Because this study focused on six adjacent provinces in the central plain, spatial differences in the climatic suitability for AWD among the provinces were not much significant. However, the climatic suitability and resulting estimates for the potential of  $CH_4$  reduction may have a larger effect in other regions of Thailand due to the differences in climate and soil properties

among the regions. Therefore, it is encouraged to extend the assessment made by this study over the country to help in formulating national policies for climate change actions.

## CONCLUSIONS

This is the first GIS-based study on the mitigation potential of a technology that has been assessed and quantified with regards to GHG emissions in rice cultivation in Thailand. The results of this suitability assessment may guide future research into other aspects of AWD suitability or provide useful technical information for practitioners of water management. We hope to inform the dissemination process of AWD and other forms of water-saving techniques in the region in pursuit of switching to low-emission rice farming. Finally, the methodologies presented here could be applied to other regions of Thailand to help in formulating national policies for reducing  $CH_4$  emissions and other climate change actions.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KY, RW, AC, and ST designed the research. PP and JA conducted GIS analysis. PP, KY, JA, BS, RW, and CB interpreted GIS analysis. PP and KY had primary responsibility for writing the paper, with significant contributions to the Results and Discussion section from BS, RW, TJ, and AC. All authors reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

This study was funded by the Petchra Pra Jom Klao Research Scholarship from the King Mongkut's University of Technology Thonburi (KMUTT). The positions of JA, RW, and BS at IRRI were supported by the Climate and Clean Air Coalition (CCAC) [contract number: DTIE14-EN040], the Thai Rice NAMA project funded by the NAMA Facility through GIZ [contract number: 81239834], and the CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security which is carried out with support from CGIAR Trust Fund Donors and through bilateral funding agreements. For details please visit https://ccafs.cgiar. org/donors. The views expressed in this document cannot be taken to reflect the official opinions of these organizations.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Mr. Sanwit Iabchoon and Mr. Kanoksuk Chankon of the KMUTT Geospatial Engineering and Innovation Center (KGEO) team for supporting meteorological station data and others GIS database, and Prof. Patthra Pengthamkeerati of Kasetsart University for the advice on calculating  $CH_4$  emissions.

## Suitability Assessment for AWD in Thailand

## REFERENCES

- Akiyama, H., Yagi, K., and Yan., X. (2005). Direct N2O Emission from rice paddy fields: summary of available data. *Global Biogeochem. Cycles* 19:GB1005. doi: 10.1029/2004GB002378
- Allen, R., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., and Smith, M. (1998). Crop Evapotranspiration: Guidelines For Computing Crop Requirements. Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 56. Rome: FAO.
- Bouman, B. A., Lampayan, R. M., and Tuong, T. P. (2007). "Water management in irrigated rice: coping with water scarcity," in *International Rice Research Institute* (Los Banos, Philippines).
- Dobermann, A., and Fairhurst, T. H. (2000). *Rice: Nutrient Disorders & Nutrient Management, Handbook Series.* Potash & Phosphate Institute, Potash & Phosphate Institute of Canada, and International Rice Research Institute (Singapore: PPI), 191.
- Funk, C., Peterson, P., Landsfeld, M., Pedreros, D., Verdin, J., Shukla, S., et al. (2015). The climate hazards infrared precipitation with stations a new environmental record for monitoring extremes. *Sci. Data* 2:150066. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2015.66
- Hargreaves, G. H., and Samani, Z. A. (1985). Reference crop evapotranspiration from temperature. *Appl. Eng. Agric.* 1, 96–99. doi: 10.13031/2013. 26773
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2019). "2019 refinement to the 2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories," eds E. Calvo Buendia, K. Tanabe, A. Kranjc, J. Baasansuren, M. Fukuda, S. Ngarize (Switerland: IPCC).
- Itoh, M., Sudo, S., Mori, S., Saito, H., Yoshida, T., Shiratori, Y., et al. (2011). Mitigation of methane emissions from paddy fields by prolonging midseason drainage. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 141, 359–372. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011. 03.019
- Jiang, Y., Carrijo, D., Huang, S., Chen, J., Balaine, N., Zhang, W., et al. (2019). Water management to mitigate the global warming potential of rice systems: a global meta-analysis. *Field Crops Res.* 234, 47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2019. 02.010
- Laborte, A. G., Gutierrez, M. A., Balanza, J. G., Saito, K., Zwart, S. J., Boschetti, M., et al. (2017). RiceAtlas, a spatial database of global rice calendars and production. *Sci. Data* 4:170074. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2017.74
- Lampayan, R. M., Rejesus, R. M., Singleton, G. R., and Bouman, B. A. M. (2015). Adoption and economics of alternate wetting and drying water management for irrigated lowland rice. *Field Crop Res.* 170, 95–108. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2014.10.013
- LDD (Land Development Department) (2019). Characterization of Established Soil Series of Thailand Reclassified According to Soil Taxonomy 2003 (Bangkok, Thailand: LDD).
- LDD (Land Development Department) (2016). "The repeated flood areas in the central region," in *The Land Management Planning Group in Agricultural Risk Areas, Division of Land Policy and Planning.* (Bangkok, Thailand: LDD).
- Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment (2017). "The second biennial updated report of Viet Nam to the United Nations framework convention on climate change," in Viet Nam Publishing House of Natural Resources, Environment and Cartography (Hanoi, Vietnam), 150.
- NAMA Facility (2020). Available online at: https://www.nama-facility.org/ projects/thailand-thai-rice-nama/ (accessed June 24, 2020).
- Nelson, A., and Gumma, M. K. (2015). A Map of Lowland Rice Extent in the Major Rice Growing Countries of Asia. Available online at: http://irri.org/our-work/ research/policy-and-markets/mapping (accessed June 24, 2020).
- Nelson, A., Wassmann, R., Sander, B. O., and Palao, L. K. (2015). Climatedetermined suitability of the water saving technology "alternate wetting and drying" in rice systems: a scalable methodology demonstrated for a province in the Philippines. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0145268. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 45268
- NOAA (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration) (2019). EXPLORE. Global Surface Summary of the Day—GSOD. Available online at: https://data. nodc.noaa.gov/cgi-bin/iso?id=gov.noaa.ncdc:C00516 (accessed June 24, 2020).
- OAE (Office of Agricultural Economics) (2018). "Agricultural statistics of Thailand," in Office of Agricultural Economics, Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives (Bangkok, Thailand), 186.

- ONREPP (Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning) (2017). "Second biennial update report of Thailand," in *Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment* (Bangkok, Thailand), 73.
- ONREPP (Office of Natural Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning) (2018). "Thailand's Third National Communication (TNC) to the United Nations framework convention on climate change," in *Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment* (Bangkok, Thailand), 162.
- Redfern, S. K., Azzu, N., and Binamira, J. S. (2012). "Rice in Southeast Asia: facing risks and vulnerabilities to respond to climate change," in *Building Resilience* for Adaptation to Climate Change in the Agriculture Sector, eds A. Meybeck, J. Lankoski, S. Redfern, N. Azzu, and V. Gitz (Rome: FAO), 295–341.
- Republic of Indonesia (2017). "Indonesia Third National communication under the United Nations framework convention on climate change," in Directorate General of Climate Change, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Republic of Indonesia (Jakarta, Indonesia), 219.
- Romasanta, R., Gaihre, Y., Wassman, R., Quilty, J., Nguyen, V. H., Castalone, A. G., et al. (2017). How does burning of rice straw affect CH4 and N2O emissions? A comparative experiment of different on-field straw management practices. Agric. Ecosyst Environ. 239, 143–153. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.12.042
- Sander, B. O., Samson, M., and Buresh, R. J. (2014). Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from flooded rice fields as affected by water and straw management between rice crops. *Geoderma* 235: 355–362. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2014.07.020
- Sander, B. O., Schneider, P., Romasanta, R. R., Samoy-Pascual, K., Sibayan, E. B., Asis, C. A., et al. (2020). Potential of alternate wetting and drying irrigation practices for the mitigation of GHG emissions from rice fields: two cases in Central Luzon (Philippines). Agriculture 10:350. doi: 10.3390/agriculture100 80350
- Sander, B. O., Wassmann, R., Palao, L. K., and Nelson, A. (2017). Climate-based suitability assessment for alternate wetting and drying water management in the Philippines: a novel approach for mapping methane mitigation potential in rice production. *Carbon Manag.* 8, 331–342. doi: 10.1080/17583004.2017.13 62945
- Sander, B. O., Wassmann, R., and Siopongco, J. D. L. C. (2015). "Mitigating greenhouse gas emissions from rice production through water-saving techniques: potential, adoption and empirical evidence," in *Climate Change and Agricultural Water Management in Developing Countries*, ed. C. T. Hoanh, V. Smakhtin, and T. Johnston (Wallingford, CT: CABI Climate Change Series, CABI Publishing), 193–207. doi: 10.1079/978178064366 3.0193
- Smith, P., Bustamante, M., Ahammad, H., Clark, H., Dong, H., Elsiddig, E. A., et al. (2014). "Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU)," in *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, and J. C. Minx (Cambridge, UK; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- Thai Meteorological Department (2020). *The Climate of Thailand*. Available online at: https://www.tmd.go.th/en/archive/thailand\_climate.pdf (accessed May 23, 2020).
- Thakur, A. K., Uphoff, N. T., and Stoop, W. A. (2016). Scientific underpinnings of the System of Rice Intensification (SRI): what is known so far? *Adv. Agron.* 135, 147–179. doi: 10.1016/bs.agron.2015.09.004
- Wassmann, R., Lantin, R. S., Neue, H. U., Buendia, L. V., Corton, T. M., and Lu, Y. (2000). Characterization of methane emissions from rice fields in Asia. *III. mitigation options and future research needs. Nutr. Cyc. Agroecosys.* 58, 23–36. doi: 10.1023/A:1009874014903
- Xiao, X., Boles, S., Frolking, S., Li, C., Babu, J. Y., Salas, W., et al. (2006). Mapping paddy rice agriculture in South and Southeast Asia using multi-temporal MODIS images. *Remote Sens Environ.* 100, 95–113. doi: 10.1016/j.rse.2005.10.004
- Yagi, K., Sriphirom, P., Cha-un, N., Fusuwankaya, K., Chidthaisong, A., Damen, B., et al. (2020). Potential and promisingness of technical options for mitigating greenhouse gas emissions from rice cultivation in Southeast Asian countries. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 66, 37–49. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2019.16 83890

Yamaguchi, T., Luu, M. T., Minamikawa, K., and Yokoyama, S. (2017). Compatibility of alternate wetting and drying irrigation with local agriculture in an Giang Province, Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *Trop. Agr. Develop.* 61, 117–127. doi: 10.11248/jsta.61.117

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Prangbang, Yagi, Aunario, Sander, Wassmann, Jäkel, Buddaboon, Chidthaisong and Towprayoon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Apparent Nitrogen Recovery in Milk and Early Dry Season Nitrous Oxide Emission Factors for Urine Deposited by Dual-Purpose Cattle on Different Soil Types

Sandra Guisela Durango Morales<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Rolando Barahona<sup>1</sup>, Diana M. Bolívar<sup>1</sup>, Jacobo Arango<sup>2</sup>, Louis Verchot<sup>2</sup> and Ngonidzashe Chirinda<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias, Departamento de Producción Animal, Universidad Nacional de Colombia, Medellín, Colombia, <sup>2</sup> International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Cali, Colombia, <sup>3</sup> Mohammed VI Polytechnic University (UM6P), AgroBioSciences (AgBS), Agricultural Innovations and Technology Transfer Center (AITTC), Benguerir, Morocco

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Dietmar Schwarz, Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Kamal Prasad Adhikari, Manaaki Whenua Landcare Research, New Zealand David Kanter, New York University, United States João Gabriel Rossini Almeida, University of West of Santa Catarina, Brazil

#### \*Correspondence:

Sandra Guisela Durango Morales s.durango@cgiar.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 03 September 2020 Accepted: 09 December 2020 Published: 18 January 2021

#### Citation:

Durango Morales SG, Barahona R, Bolívar DM, Arango J, Verchot L and Chirinda N (2021) Apparent Nitrogen Recovery in Milk and Early Dry Season Nitrous Oxide Emission Factors for Urine Deposited by Dual-Purpose Cattle on Different Soil Types. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 4:602657. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.602657

Pasture conditions influence the nutrients use efficiency and nitrogen (N) losses from deposited excreta. Part of the N is lost as nitrous oxide (N2O), a potent greenhouse gas. The objective of this study was to characterize apparent N recovery in milk of dual-purpose cattle and to quantify  $N_2O$  emissions from the urine they deposit following grazing on Megathyrsus maximus cv. Mombasa. The N content in the grass and the milk produced by the cattle and the milk urea N (MUN) content were quantified in two contrasting regions of Colombia (Casanare and Atlántico). Dry matter intake (DMI) by the cattle was estimated using the Cornell Net Carbohydrate and Protein System. We used a closed static chamber technique to measure N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soils in areas with and without urine patches (21 days in Atlántico and 35 Days in Casanare). Estimated DMI values were 11.5 and 11.6 kg DM day<sup>-1</sup>, milk production was 6.5 and 5.9 L day<sup>-1</sup>, apparent N recovery in milk was 24 and 23%, and the MUN content was 4.4 and 17.2 mg N dl<sup>-1</sup> in Casanare and Atlántico, respectively. N applied to soil in the form of urine corresponded at rates of 20 and 64 g N m<sup>-2</sup> and net cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were 350 and 20 mg N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> in Casanare and Atlántico, respectively. Despite low digestibility of offered diet, N recovery in milk was above the values reported at dairy cattle in tropical conditions. High urine-N inputs at Atlántico site did not result in high N<sub>2</sub>O emissions suggesting that the default Tier 1 emission factor (EF) which is based on N inputs would have overestimated urine-based N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in Atlántico. Comparing previous studies conducted in Colombia, we observed inter-regional differences by urine-based  $N_2O$ emissions. This observation suggests that to increase certainty in estimating urine-based N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, Colombia needs to move toward more region-specific Tier 2 EF and reduce its dependence on the default IPCC Tier 1 EF. In addition, the adoption of Tier 2 EF in the cattle sector will facilitate accounting for the effect of animal diets on N<sub>2</sub>O inventories.

Keywords: cattle systems, milk urea nitrogen, cattle urine-based nitrogen, megathyrsus maximus, greenhous gases
## INTRODUCTION

Cattle production occupies 37 million ha and represents a major land-use option, which is a source of income and livelihood for small- to large-scale farmers in Colombia (FEDEGAN, 2018). In the case of Colombia's national greenhouse gas (GHG) inventories, total emissions are estimated to be 214 M tons CO<sub>2</sub>eq of which the AFOLU sector is the main emitter that is responsible for 55% of these GHG emissions (IDEAM, 2018). Despite the significant contribution of the cattle sector to Colombia's national GHG emissions, the country still relies on the IPCC's global Tier 1 emission factors (EF) to estimate nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions from excreta deposited on pastures during cattle grazing.

Colombia's national cattle herd is estimated at 27 million animals (ICA, 2019), 41.4% dedicated to breeding, 37.3% to the dual-purpose (beef and milk) production, 21.2% to solely beef production, and 0.1% to milk production only (FEDEGAN, 2018). The cattle production systems are mainly extensively grazed systems based on native and naturalized pastures that are characterized by drastically low biomass production during the dry season (Mahecha et al., 2002). Extensive grazing systems are associated with low rates of live-weight gain and low milk outputs, which translate to lower profitability for livestock farmers (FAO, 2013). Since pasture management is generally absent in extensively grazed pastures, overgrazing, and signs of pasture degradation are common occurrences (Murgueitio and Ibrahim, 2001; Bacab et al., 2013). Animal excreta (i.e., urine) are randomly deposited in extensively grazed pastures, resulting in the formation of patches where N turnover and potential losses are high.

The loss of N from urine patches as NH<sub>3</sub> or N<sub>2</sub>O depends on the pasture type, which influences N uptake, the urine composition, especially the amounts of excreted N (Voglmeier et al., 2018), which depends on efficiencies in the use of dietary N (Lessa et al., 2014; Rivera et al., 2019a). Part of the dietary N is retained in milk and other part is excreted in urine and dung. The amounts on N retained in milk depend on N intake; in systems characterized by high N intake the percentage of retained N in milk relative to the total consumed is low (Correa et al., 2012). Therefore, inefficiencies in apparent N recovery in milk will result in higher amounts of N being lost in urine and dung (Dijkstra et al., 2011). According to the IPCC (2019), N losses from excreta are between 40 and 70 kg of N head $^{-1}$  year $^{-1}$  for cattle, and the N<sub>2</sub>O-N EF for excreted N is correspondingly 0.2 and 0.6% under dry (<1000 mm rainfall) and wet (>1000 mm rainfall) climates. Cattle urine is a source highly soluble N, that stimulates nitrification processes and their subsequent transformation into  $N_2O$  (Sordi et al., 2014). At the same time, it is also a volatile source of N depending on the ambient temperature and soil texture (Oenema et al., 2005). Several previous studies conducted in Latin America show considerable variations in N2O emissions from urine patches ranging between 0.7 and 1.16% (Kelliher et al., 2014; Lessa et al., 2014; Byrnes et al., 2017; Chirinda et al., 2019). However, in most of these studies, the peak emissions were reported to occur within the first 10-20 days after urine application and the emissions usually extend up to 30 days posturine application. The pattern of urine-based N2O emissions is mainly regulated by microbial activity, mineral N, and oxygen dynamics (Rubol et al., 2013; García et al., 2014). Soil moisture is also a determining factor in the activity of soil nitrifying microorganisms (Oenema et al., 2005; Du et al., 2008; Laudone et al., 2011; Laville et al., 2011; Alves et al., 2012; Li et al., 2015; Marsden et al., 2016). In a study conducted under temperate conditions, Bell et al. (2015) reported that high soil moisture resulted in increased denitrification rates, and elevated N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from deposited animal excreta.

Globally, the general aims of the current forage genetic improvement programmes are to increase the quantity and quality of forage production and, consequently, increase cattle productivity in different agro-ecological regions. An example is Megathyrsus maximus (M. maximus), which produces between 20 and 30 t of DM ha<sup>-1</sup> per year, has a protein level that fluctuates between 10 and 14% and a digestibility level between 60 and 70% (Arango et al., 2016). M. maximus has the potential to adapt to climate change, as it is a versatile pasture that adapts to intensive grazing and can be subjected to forage conservation processes in times of intense rainfall or prolonged periods of drought. However, information on greenhouse gas emissions in urine patches and bovine manure associated with this pasture is scant. Several studies have demonstrated the potential of M. maximus to increase dry matter consumption and increase animal productivity (Mahecha et al., 2007; Suárez et al., 2011; Gaviria et al., 2012; Rivera et al., 2019b). However, M. maximus is produced optimally under rotational compared to continuous grazing as, under the latter, the levels of insoluble fiber (lignin) can dramatically increase. An increase in the fiber content of grass reduces its digestibility and increases the amounts of excreted N in urine and manure (Barahona and Sanchez, 2005). A recent study (Villegas et al., 2020) showed that M. maximus has the potential to reduce nitrification rates by 50% compared to bare soil under controlled conditions. This finding suggests that M. maximus has the potential to increase cattle productivity and reduce the environmental impact of waste from animal production.

Due to the lack of data to generate local EF, Colombia relies on the IPCC's Tier 1 N<sub>2</sub>O-N EF to quantify emissions in this key emissions category. Regional differences in offered diets, plant N uptake rates, edaphic factors, and climatic conditions (Bell et al., 2015) generate variations in the primary drivers of soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The determination of national N<sub>2</sub>O-N EF is required to advance toward the Tier 2 method of N<sub>2</sub>O emission estimation. We hypothesized that urine deposited on grazed pastures in the wetter Casanare region will have higher cattle urine-based N<sub>2</sub>O emissions compared to urine deposited on pastures in the drier Atlántico region. We also hypothesized that the low quality of the diet offered in dual-purpose production systems results in low concentrations of N in the urine of grazing cattle.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Sites**

This study was conducted on two farms located in the Casanare  $(5^{\circ}12'43''N-72^{\circ}20'19.6''W 350 \text{ m} \text{ altitude})$  and Atlántico  $(10^{\circ}45'04.95''N-74^{\circ}55'06.96''W 123 \text{ m} \text{ altitude})$  regions of

Colombia. According to the Köppen and Geiger classification (Kottek et al., 2006), the Atlántico and Casanare localities, correspondingly have Aw-Equatorial climate with dry winter and Am-tropical monsoon climatic conditions (Climatedata.org., 2008a). These regions are two of the most important cattle-producing regions of Colombia. The Atlántico has an average relative humidity of 78%, a mean air temperature of 27.4°C and a mean annual precipitation of 1,074 mm (Climatedata.org., 2008a). While, the Casanare region has an average relative humidity of 66%, a mean air temperature of 26.3°C, and a mean annual precipitation of 3,009 mm (Climate-data.org., 2008b). In 2015, when the current study was conducted, the Atlántico region experienced a severe drought attributed to the "El Niño" climate phenomenon (IDEAM, 2016), (IDEAM. Code: 29040020-Montebello Baranoa-Atlántico). During the measurement period, rainfall data was obtained from direct measurements conducted at the sites or from weather stations of the IDEAM Institute of Hydrology (Taluma site: code 35010010-Puerto López; Patía site: 21050220-San Luis).

#### **Soil Properties**

According to Gardi et al. (2014), the soils corresponding to the study sites are classified as Cambisols. Specifically, soils at the Atlántico site are classified as Vertic-Cambisols (CMVr) and those at Casanare are classified as Ferralic-Cambisols (CMFI).

At both sites, soil samples were collected at 0–20 cm depths and characterized for soil pH in 1:1 soil: water solutions, bulk density using a ring of known volume (5cm high  $\times$  5cm diameter), total carbon (C) and N using dry a combustion technique, and soil texture using the hydrometer method (Bouyoucos, 1962) at the analytical laboratory in CIAT. The water-filled pore space (WFPS) was calculated using the gravimetric water content, the soil bulk density, and a particle density of 2.65 Mg m<sup>-3</sup>.

### **Characteristics of Animals**

In each region, 10 dual-purpose cows with commercial Zebu crosses were selected to be sources of the urine and milk used in the current study. These cows which were not permanently with their calves were in the second phase of lactation (100–200 days post-calving), with an average body weight of  $475 \pm 7.2$  and  $445 \pm 4.6$  kg in Casanare and Atlántico sites, respectively.

### **Dry Matter Intake**

Dry matter intake of the cows in each region was estimated using the Cornell Net Protein and Carbohydrate System-CNCPS( $\mathbb{R}$ ) version 6.0 model (Tylutki et al., 2008), which estimates beef and dairy cattle requirements and nutrient supply for different animal types under specific environmental conditions (i.e., climatic factors), management, and feeding regimes, through the computational engine. Cattle in Casanare were fed with tropical grass *M. maximus* cv. Mombasa (CIAT 6962), and those at the Atlántico site also fed on *M. maximus* cv. Mombasa (CIAT 6962) and a supplement that was based on barley, wheat, and corn grains and palm kernel cake. The supplement that was used at the Atlántico site was offered at a rate of  $1 \text{ kg animal}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1}$ .

# Chemical Composition and Digestibility of Pastures

For the collection of forage samples, the methodology described by Haydock and Shaw (1975) was used. In this method three reference points were established within the grassland. The first point corresponded to an area (0.5 m<sup>2</sup> quadrats) where there was the lowest level of forage (quantity and height), point two was an area with intermediate forage production and point three was an area with the highest amount of forage. The grass samples were collected at the beginning of the experiment, before the animals accessed the grassland. Samples from the three reference points were mixed and the homogeneous sample was taken to the laboratory for the characterization of its chemical composition. The M. maximus pasture was harvested at 55 and 45 days of regrowth at the Casanare and Atlántico site, respectively. This regrowth age corresponds to the rest period of the pasture determined by the farmers in each study region, based on local experience with variables such as soil fertility, cattle stocking rate, and environmental parameters such as precipitation and temperature. At the Casanare and Atlántico sites, the pastures had an average height of 107 and 93 cm, respectively. To simulate grazing events pastures were cut at height of 30 cm from the ground.

For collected grasses were characterized for different nutritional quality parameters. Specifically, N content was quantified using the Kjeldahl method [Kjeldahl AN 3001 FOSS Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 1990: method 984.14)] and the amount of N obtained from this analysis was converted to crude protein (CP) content, using the following equation:  $CP = N \times 6.25$ ; neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and acid detergent fiber (ADF) were determined as proposed by Van Soest et al. (1991) adapted to an Ankom Fiber Analyzer AN 3805 (Ankom® Technology Corp USA). Forage digestibility was determined as described by Goering and Van Soest (1970). The insoluble protein in neutral and acid detergent was determined through the N content in the residue of the NDF and ADF as described by Goering et al. (1972). Dry matter was determined through the thermogravimetric method by drying at 60°C for 72 h in a forced ventilation oven. These analyses were conducted at the Forage Quality and Animal Nutrition Laboratory of the International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT).

## **Chemical Composition of Milk**

At both study sites, we collected 50 ml milk samples from each of the 10 cows once every 8 days, for a period of 35 days. The milk was characterized for N content using the Kjeldahl method, CP was calculated using the following equation:  $CP = N \times 6.38$ , and milk urea nitrogen (MUN) content was determined using Infrared Spectrometry (MilkoScan, ISO-9622 standard method) (Milk I. S. O., 2013) . Apparent nitrogen recovery in milk was estimated from the efficiency of incorporation of consumed N in

milk using the relationship described by Van Horn et al. (1994) which we expressed follow (Equation 1).

Apparent nitrogen recovery in milk (%) = 
$$\frac{Amount of N in milk}{Total N intake} x 100$$
 (1)

#### Experimental Set-Up for Soil N<sub>2</sub>O Measurements

At both sites, a representative area of 160 m<sup>2</sup> was selected to conduct GHG measurements. In line with common farmer practice, no fertilizer was applied to the selected areas in recent years. To simulate grazing, grass in each plot was cut to  $\sim$ 30 cm sward height, seven days before the initial collection of gas and soil samples. In both regions, urine samples were collected through stimulation of the vulva zone from 10 dualpurpose cows. The samples obtained from each cow were immediately mixed to obtain a homogeneous sample. Urine sub-samples (500 mL) were immediately applied uniformly into the respective chambers (isolated area 0.5 m<sup>2</sup>). Cylindrical PVC static chamber bases with a 26-cm internal diameter and 10 cm height demarcated the area and the insertion depth was 5 cm. The urine-N application rates were 20 and  $64 \text{ g N m}^{-2}$  at the Casanare and Atlántico, respectively. These rates correspond to the N concentrations in urine resulting from different diets consumed at the two sites. At both study sites eight bases were used. Four bases with urine and four bases without urine as control treatments, therefore eight bases were installed in the soil at each site. The chamber bases were distributed in a completely randomized design with four replicates that were established on land with a slope  $\sim 2\%$ .

On the different gas sampling dates, chamber tops with a 25-cm height were connected to the chamber bases and sealed with a thick custom-made rubber band to prevent gas leakage during the sampling period (Alves et al., 2012). Gas samples were collected from 9:00 to 10:00 am as described by Byrnes et al. (2017). The first gas sample was taken immediately after connecting the chamber top and the chamber base, subsequent samples were taken every 15 min resulting in sampling times of 0, 15, 30, and 45 min after chamber closure. Based on dynamic of urine-based N<sub>2</sub>O emissions reported by several studies carried out in Latin America (Kelliher et al., 2014; Lessa et al., 2014; Byrnes et al., 2017; Chirinda et al., 2019), in our study, the gas samples were collected on five consecutive days following urine application followed by 3-4 additional sampling campaigns within the 35-day monitoring period. Due to logistical challenges we were unable to conduct the gas monitoring during the planned 35 day period at the Atlántico site. We were only able to conduct measurements over 21 days.

The  $N_2O$  concentrations were analyzed by gas chromatography (GC-Shimadzu 2014). The daily gas fluxes were calculated by regressing  $N_2O$  concentrations with the corresponding sampling times and correcting for temperature and pressure. All flux data were checked for linearity by visual inspection during data analysis. Cumulative fluxes were calculated from mean  $N_2O$  emissions by interpolation between measurement days (Dobbie et al., 1999). Specifically, we determined the mean  $N_2O$  emissions between two consecutive sampling days and them the sum of the calculated averages for the monitoring period. The cumulative  $N_2O$ -N EF for the Atlántico and Casanare sites were correspondingly calculated for periods of 21 and 35 days, using the following Equation:

$$EF (\%) = \frac{(N2O - Nemitted from urine treatment) - (N2O - Ncontrol)}{N \ applied} \times 100 \ (2)$$

At each site, a sub-sample of urine (50 mL) was acidified with 0.5 mL of 1 M sulphuric acid and frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C to avoid N loss before analysis. Total N in the urine was quantified using the Kjeldahl method [Kjeldahl AN 3001 FOSS; Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 1990: method 984.14)]. Urine N contents were used in the calculation of N<sub>2</sub>O EF (Equation 2).

#### **Statistical Analyses**

A completely randomized design was used, with four repetitions, where the experimental unit corresponded to the static chamber, where there were two treatments equivalent to soil with urine and without urine. Statistical analyses were conducted using generalized linear model (GLM) procedure of the statistical Software Statistical Analysis Systems (SAS (R), version 9,4) (SAS Institute, 2012). In the GLM model the response of cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions to urine application was tested. Relationships between N<sub>2</sub>O emission and percentage of water-filled pore space (WFPS) as well as N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and rainfall were explored. The PROC REG procedure was used for regression analyses. The figures were constructed with python 2.7.14, Numpy 1.18.1, Scipy 1.4.1, and Motplotlib 3.2.1.

#### RESULTS

# Expected Dry Matter Intake and Feed Quality

Similar levels of dry matter intake were estimated for animals at the Casanare (11.5 kg DM d<sup>-1</sup>) and Atlántico site (11.6 kg DM d<sup>-1</sup>). The estimated energy balance from the CNCPS model was 2.44 and 3.34 Mcal in Casanare and Atlántico sites, respectively. The CP content of the *M. maximus* at Casanare and Atlántico site was similar (8%). However, due to the drought experienced at the Atlántico site, the animals received a supplement that had a high CP content (21%) (**Table 1**), which increased the amount of N intake around 20% by the animals at this site (**Table 2**). At both study sites, pasture digestibility was low (<50%) and NDF was high (>70%).

### Apparent Nitrogen Recovery in Milk and N Content in Urine

The 8-day average of N content measured in milk was similar at the Casanare and Atlántico sites. The relationship between milk N/ intake N showed that both regions had optimal apparent N recovery in milk values. The MUN concentrations of animals at the Atlántico site was above the range suggested by Peña (2002) and Cerón et al. (2014) (>16–18 mg dl<sup>-1</sup>). While at the Casanare

 TABLE 1 | Chemical composition of pastures and feed supplements collected in Casanare and Atlántico localities.

Parameter	Casanare	Atlántico	Atlántico
	Megathyrs	Feed supplement	
IVDMD (%)	42.8	47.7	83
Protein (%)	8.00	8.12	21.0
NDF (%)	76.6	71.7	14.9
ADF (%)	48.3	37.1	28.7
Crude fat (%)	1.4	1.6	2.0
Ash (%)	10.0	9.1	9.8
Moisture (%)	84.5	85.0	10.3
Lignin (%)	3.2	5.0	-
ADIP (%)	-	<1.4	-
NIDP (%)	2.75	4.1	-

NDF, Neutral detergent fiber; ADF, Acid detergent fiber; ADIP, Acid detergent indigestible protein; NIDP, Neutral detergent indigestible protein; ME, metabolizable energy; IVDMD, In vitro digestibility of dry matter.

**TABLE 2** | Nitrogen intake, apparent nitrogen recovery in milk, and nitrogen content in urine and dung in dual-purpose cows in Casanare and Atlántico regions of Colombia.

Parameter	Casanare	Atlántico
Nutrient intake		
Predicted DMI (kg $cow^{-1} d^{-1}$ )	$11.5\pm0.08$	$11.6^{*} \pm 0.11$
N intake (g N d <sup>-1</sup> )	$147 \pm 1.0$	$171 \pm 1.44$
Diet energy contents		
Predicted ME (Mcal kg DM <sup>-1</sup> )	2.07	1.93
Balance ME (Mcal d <sup>-1</sup> )	$2.44 \pm 0.13$	$3.34\pm0.16$
Nitrogen output and retention		
Milk production (L $d^{-1}$ )	$5.9 \pm 0.1$	$6.5\pm0.1$
Milk CP (g d <sup>-1</sup> )	$226 \pm 1.7$	$246\pm1.5$
MUN (mg N dl <sup>-1</sup> )	$4.37 \pm 3.4$	$17.16\pm2.4$
Milk N (g N d <sup>-1</sup> )	$35.4 \pm 0.26$	$39\pm0.23$
Apparent N recovery in milk (%)	24	23
Total urine N output (g L <sup>-1</sup> )	$2.1 \pm 0.1$	$6.8\pm0.3$
Total dung N output (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$22\pm2.1$	±1.3

\*The dry matter intake in the Caribe site corresponds to the sum of the dry matter intake predicted by the CNCPS and the amount of supplement offered to the cows. ME = predicted metabolizable energy. Values are means  $\pm$  S.E n = 10.

site, the mean MUN concentration of animals was below the threshold values ( $<12 \text{ mg dl}^{-1}$ ). The N content in urine at the Atlántico site was over three-fold higher than values reported at the Casanare site (**Table 2**).

### **Soil Properties**

Soil pH was 5.2 and 6.7, bulk density was 1.3 and  $1.4 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{cm}^{-3}$ , and soil texture was clayey and loamy in the Casanare and Atlántico sites, respectively. Total N and total C content were similar at both sites (0.11 and 1.1%, respectively).

#### Nitrous Oxide Emissions

At both study sites, the N<sub>2</sub>O emission peaks were observed 3 days after the urine application, which also coincided with precipitation events (**Figure 1**). The application of urine in both regions generated an increase in the cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes compared to soil without urine (389 mg N<sub>2</sub>O m<sup>-2</sup>, p < 0.0001 and 27.6 mg N<sub>2</sub>O m<sup>-2</sup>, p < 0.0002 for Casanare and Atlántico sites, respectively) (**Figure 1**). A positive exponential relationship between N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes and %WFPS was found in the Casanare site ( $p = 0.027 R^2 = 0.45$ ). While in the Atlántico site this relationship was not significant ( $p = 0.176 R^2 = 0.19$ ).

## N<sub>2</sub>O-N Emitted From Urine Treatment

Overall, the different EF calculated in the present study and those from other studies conducted in Colombia showed variations in EF under different rainfall conditions (**Table 3**). Taking into account the results of this study and additional data available for Colombia (**Table 3**), we find evidence for a positive, non-linear relationship between rainfall and EF (p < 0.0001;  $R^2 = 0.95$ ) (**Figure 2**).

### DISCUSSION

It is important to note that this study was conducted in an El niño year which was characterized by low rainfall. The unique climatic conditions associated with the El niño phenomenon influenced feed availability resulting in a need to supplement the grazing systems in the drier Atlántico region. Despite the fact that the El niño phenomenon was experienced across the country, differences in feed composition and rainfall intensities observed at the two study sites appear to have influenced the observed N2O emission patterns. The N concentration in applied urine would certainly influence N2O emissions, but calculating emission factor enabled us to normalize for N content. Another factor that may have affected our cumulative N2O emissions is the fact that due to logistical challenges we were unable to conduct N<sub>2</sub>O monitoring for the same period at the two study sites. However, since most of the peak emissions in the current and previous studies were reported to occur within the first 10-20 days (Kelliher et al., 2014; Lessa et al., 2014; Byrnes et al., 2017; Chirinda et al., 2019), our monitoring period allowed us to gain important insights on N<sub>2</sub>O emission patterns during this short-term monitoring period.

### Expected Dry Matter Intake and N Intake

At both Casanare and Atlántico, the DM intake was similar. The similarity in DM intake may have been due to the similar NDF contents in the diet, a major determinant of intake in grazing cattle (Barahona and Sanchez, 2005). The digestibility values suggest that DM intake reported in this study is high, which may be due to a selectivity response of the animals, given the height of the forage that in both regions was >90 cm and the cutting height of the forage for the chemical composition analysis was 30 cm. The estimated N intake by cattle at both study sites (147 and 171 g N day<sup>-1</sup> at the Casanare and Atlántico, respectively) were within the range frequently observed for open-grazing tropical cattle (40–170 g N day<sup>-1</sup>) (Cole and Todd, 2008; Nha et al., 2008).



**FIGURE 1** | Soil nitrous oxide emission following urine application and percent water-filled pore space saturation (WFPS) (**A**-Casanare and **B**-Atlántico), and Rainfall and temperature (**C**-Casanare and **D**-Atlántico). Solid arrows indicate time of urine application. Vertical bars in (**A**) and (**B**) show the standard error (n = 4).

Region	Forage type	Nitrogen in applied urine (g N m <sup>-2</sup> )	EF (%)	Rainfall (mm)	Reference
Atlántico	Megathyrsus maximus + feed supplement	69.3	0.03	48.4	Current study
Casanare	Megathyrsus maximus	21.4	1.76	248.3	Current study
Meta	Brachiaria humidicola	46.3	0.02	36	Durango (unpublished
Meta	Brachiaria humidicola + Arachis pintoi	40	0.05	127.4	Durango (unpublished
Valle del Cauca	Brachiaria hybrid cv Cayman	65.3	0.05	41	Durango (unpublished
Valle del Cauca	Brachiaria hybrid cv Cayman + Leucaena Ieucocephala	128.5	0.17	41	Durango unpublished)
Valle del Cauca	Brachiaria hybrid cv. Mulato	123	0.07	4.6	Byrnes et al., 2017
Valle del Cauca	Brachiaria humidicola cv.Tully	123	0.00002	4.6	Byrnes et al., 2017
Patía	Brachiaria hybrid Mulato II, Brachiaria brizantha and Megathyrsus maximus	78.9	0.28 0.24	83 83	Chirinda et al., 2019 Chirinda et al., 2019
Patía	Canavalia brasiliensis and Dichanthium aristatum	78.9	0.164	31	Chirinda et al., 2019
Meta	Brachiaria humidicola	11.2	0.02	7	Chirinda et al., 2019
Meta	Brachiaria humidicola	11.2	0.01	7	Chirinda et al., 2019

Higher N intakes  $(>300 \text{ g } \text{ d}^{-1})$  have been reported by other authors in cattle fed on fertilized pastures and feed supplements (Correa et al., 2012; Dickhoefer et al., 2018; Castro et al.,

2019). Pastures in the tropics are typically characterized by low digestible protein and high fiber content (Mahecha and Rosales, 2005), partly due to poor agronomic management (Pelster et al.,



2016), and this may be corrected through the use of protein supplementation. However, the low dry matter digestibility of pastures can exacerbate nutritional imbalance resulting in greater excretion of nutrients (Broderick, 2003; Barahona and Sanchez, 2005). Under the pasture conditions in our study, moderate N intake can be considered an advantage over excess protein in relation to the available energy that commonly occurs in tropical diets and can have a positive impact on N inputs to the soil, since according to Dijkstra et al. (2013), lowering intakes of CP is a strategy effective in reducing total and especially urinary N excretion.

#### **Apparent Nitrogen Recovery in Milk**

The MUN results reported for the Casanare site  $(4.37 \text{ mg dl}^{-1})$ suggest that there was an inadequate amount of degradable protein ingested and that soluble carbohydrates may not have been balanced in the rumen. As MUN is the result of the diffusion of urea from the blood serum in the secretory cells of the mammary gland, MUN values are indicative of excess or deficiency of rumen available soluble carbohydrates, relative to dietary N (Peña, 2002). Conversely, at the Atlántico site, where cows received supplementation with a protein source, MUN values were above the range frequently observed in lactating cows under tropical conditions (Acosta and Delucchi, 2002; Peña, 2002). However, the MUN value reported for Atlántico does not suggest an excess of protein in the diet in comparison to the 10 and 19 mg dl-1 range reported by Hess et al. (1999), for dual-purpose cows in Colombia. Further research is required to understand the metabolic processes associated with the increased MUN observed at the Atlántico site. At both sites, the pastures contributed low amounts of N to the animal diets, which probably led to the inadequate synthesis of microbial protein, which in turn is the main metabolizable protein source for the animal (Agricultural Food Research Council, 1992; Ma et al., 2010).

Based on the average milk protein content observed in the current study, The amount of N retained from the total N ingested in the diet is on average 24 and 23% for at the Casanare and Atlántico, respectively, while 76 and 77% is excreted by feces and urine. This is consistent with the values reported by Colmenero and Broderick (2006) using multiparous cows 120 days post-calving, receiving low N diets. Correa et al. (2012) in a study carried out in Colombia with dairy cows, reported an apparent recovery of N in milk of 20% under following N intake of  $389 \text{ g} \text{ d}^{-1}$ . According to Steinshamn et al. (2006), the higher the N intake in the diet, the greater the excretion of N through the urine and the lower the percentage retained. León et al. (2008), reported N retention percentages in milk of 15.6% with respect to N intake of 667 g  $d^{-1}$ . The N intake at both study sites was much lower than was reported by other authors. Consequently, we have found a higher percentage of N retained. Based on this information, the results found in this study suggest that the moderate protein intake of typical tropical diets such as M. maximus, can favor N retention in milk for cows in dual-purpose systems. However, other variables could have influenced the apparent N recovery in milk observed in the current study, such as the number of days since calving and the low level of milk production. In both regions, the cows had passed their peak lactation period, which has a higher energy requirement for milk synthesis. According to Lapierre and Lobley (2001), the recycling of urea N synthesized in the liver can substantially contribute to N availability in the intestines which mainly occurs when sufficient metabolizable energy is available in the diet. Kennedy and Milligan (1980) also indicated that urea transfer to the rumen is inversely proportional to the ammonium concentration in the rumen. It is likely that under these circumstances, the activation of urea N recycling mechanisms toward the rumen was stimulated, which may explain the high apparent nitrogen recovery in milk observed for both regions. In the same sense, the excretion of N in urine in both groups of animals did not exceed the range reported by Bolan et al.  $(2004) (1-20 \text{ g L}^{-1})$ .

Our results suggest that during this physiological stage ( $\sim$ 100-200 days in lactation), the use of protein supplementation, which farmers consider as an important practice, may not have been necessary. This is in agreement with previous reports in the tropics, where energy availability can be a more limiting dietary factor for adequate animal productivity than CP availability (Barahona and Sanchez, 2005). Perhaps nutritional strategies such as reducing the levels of structural carbohydrates (e.g., ADF) in the diet (Table 1) through improved grazing management, (e.g., reducing grazing periods in rotational grazing systems) could increase feed digestibility as reported by previous studies evaluating pasture quality at different regrowth stages (Chacón and Vargas, 2009; Valles de la Mora et al., 2016). This would also contribute to an increase of milk yield as well as its compositional quality (Rabelo et al., 2003). These results suggest that with the diets offered in these milk production systems, and with cows in the second stage of lactation, urinary excretions of N were low. This implies a reduction in the substrate for soil nitrifying and denitrifying microorganisms.

#### N<sub>2</sub>O Fluxes Emissions

The cumulative net N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and the transformation rate of urinary N into N2O-N was very different at the Casanare  $(350 \text{ mg m}^{-2}; 1.76\% \text{ EF})$  and Atlántico  $(20 \text{ mg m}^{-2}, 0.03\% \text{ EF})$ sites. This supports the proposal that region-specific EF could greatly improve the accuracy of national GHG inventories. In addition, data generated during the different sampling campaigns aimed at developing region-specific EF could also be used to validate and improve Tier 3 models that are capable of integrating different factors regulating N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from urine patches such as the pasture type, climatic and soil conditions (Saggar et al., 2004; Mazzetto et al., 2014). At the Atlántico site, the cumulative N2O fluxes were lower compared to those reported in other previous studies conducted in the Latin America region [Sordi et al., 2014, (3,198 µg N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, 1,934 g N m<sup>-2</sup>); Simon et al., 2018 (3,700  $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, 256 g N m<sup>-2</sup>); Chirinda et al., 2019 (1,125  $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, 78.9 g N m<sup>-2</sup>)]. Several factors could have led to the lower N2O peaks including the low N application rate in the urine patched (Table 3), low precipitation regime and the low amounts of total carbon and N in the soil.

The peak N<sub>2</sub>O emissions observed at the Casanare site  $(3,745 \ \mu g \ N_2O-N \ m^{-2} \ h^{-1})$  (Figure 1A) were lower than those reported by Byrnes et al. (2017) (25,000  $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup>  $h^{-1}$ ) under similar tropical conditions. Rivera et al. (2019a) reported a higher peak N2O emissions value (9,450 µg N2O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) for intensively managed pastures that received external N inputs through chemical fertilization in the Andean region of Colombia. According to Anger et al. (2003), the activity of nitrifying and denitrifying microorganisms is much greater in soils with high N inputs compared to those where N availability is low; the latter was the case in the regions evaluated in the present study where the pastures did not receive N fertilizers prior the study. On the other hand, the high values of bulk density ( $\geq$ 1.3 g cm-3, Jaramillo et al., 2002), suggest lower aeration conditions, which according to Klefoth et al. (2014) reduce the diffusivity of N2O and increase the probability of its transformation to molecular N or dinitrogen  $(N_2)$  possibly explaining the observed low  $N_2O$  emission values. Skiba and Ball (2002), reported high N2O emissions in clay soils that were characterized by poor aeration (high %WFPS) and high bulk densities, conditions similar to those at the Casanare site.

Villegas et al. (2020) reported that the accession M. maximus cv. Mombasa can reduce nitrification rates by 50% when compared to a bare-soil control. They suggest that this reduction in nitrification rates is facilitated through the release of enzymatic complexes that inhibit the activity of bacterial nitrifiers. Brachiaria humidicola is another forage pasture species that has been reported to reduce soil nitrification by 60% (Subbarao et al., 2009). The ability of forage species to inhibit nitrification represents a potential N<sub>2</sub>O reduction mechanism. Megathyrsus' ability to inhibit nitrification, could have influenced the low cumulative fluxes observed in the current study.

Although in both regions the evaluation period corresponded to the end of the rainy season, in the Casanare site, a higher rainfall regime was experienced compared to the Atlántico region (Figures 1C,D). Consequently, soils at the Atlántico site had low vegetation cover. According to Oenema et al. (2005), between 3 and 15% of N in urine is lost as NH<sub>3</sub> by volatilization, under conditions of high soil compaction, high temperatures, and low moisture; as prevalent at the Atlántico site. Additionally, Voglmeier et al. (2018), found a greater loss of N from urine as NH<sub>3</sub> when the urine-N concentration was higher. These alternative N loss pathways probably resulted in lower amounts of N being available for nitrification and denitrification processes. On the other hand, according to Porre et al. (2016), the connectivity between pores and the size of the pore influence the N<sub>2</sub>O diffusivity and ultimate emission to the atmosphere. In our study, the soil texture was different between the sites. Specifically, whereas the Casanare soil had a clay texture, the soil at the Atlántico site was a loam. A clay texture supposes a combination of medium pores and micropores, which favors the water retention in the soil and inhibits the diffusion of O<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere, creating anaerobic microsites in the soil profile (Porre et al., 2016). While a loam soil would have higher macroporosity, with less moisture retention capacity due to higher sand and silt content and more aerobic conditions. Thus, the more clayey soil and frequent rainfall events at the Casanare site probably resulted in long periods with optimum moisture conditions for microbe-mediated N transformation processes in the deposited urine (Bateman and Baggs, 2005; Laudone et al., 2011; Dijkstra et al., 2013) and induced the higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions observed at this site. This is consistent with the study by Adhikari et al. (2020), who reported less N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in soils with coarse (sandy) textures and in soils with free drainage compared to clay soils that were characterized by high bulk densities/compaction and subsequent elevated water-filled pore space. The positive relationship between the  $N_2O$  emissions and % WFPS at the Casanare site (P = 0.027 $R^2 = 0.45$ ) further provides evidence for the influence of water in driving the high N2O emissions observed at the Casanare site (Figure 1A). previous studies (Oenema et al., 2005; Laudone et al., 2011; Marsden et al., 2016) also reported the influence of %WFPS on denitrification processes. Specifically, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions associated with denitrifier activity are typically highest at values between 60 and 80% WFPS (Sey et al., 2008; Klefoth et al., 2014) with higher moisture contents leading to complete denitrification that produced dinitrogen as the end product.

There was no relationship between % WFPS and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions at the Atlántico site ( $P = 0.176 R^2 = 0.19$ ). The coarse-textured soil at the Atlántico site was more compacted which probably reduced water infiltration and moisture retention. This low infiltration and water retention rates probably explain the poor relationship between N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and % WFPS at the Atlántico site. These findings corroborate with Sordi et al. (2014) who suggested that the % WFPS, does not closely reflect the rain pattern, because the moisture in the

soil depends on the evapotranspiration and the drainage between the rain event and the moment of taking the soil sample.

Based on the information from previous studies [Byrnes et al., 2017; Chirinda et al., 2019; Durango (unpublished)], as well as findings in the current study under tropical conditions, the rate of transformation of N in urine patches to N2O was found to be mainly influenced by soil moisture, associated with precipitation events (Figure 2). The loss N as N<sub>2</sub>O is affected by several factors, however, as has been previously discussed, these results suggest that under Colombian tropical condition, higher losses of N, in the form of N<sub>2</sub>O, appear to occur during the wet season. This result is consistent with studies where higher emissions have been found following high precipitation events (Bolan et al., 2004). In contrast, Sordi et al. (2014) obtained lower EF during the wet season, which they attributed to the lower temperatures recorded during the study period  $(13.9^{\circ}C)$ . However, in the evaluated regions, the average temperatures recorded are above ( $\geq 23^{\circ}$ ) those reported by Sordi et al. (2014).

The N<sub>2</sub>O-N EF obtained in the current study, corroborate with those reported in other studies developed under tropical conditions in unfertilized grasslands in Colombia [0.0002–0.471% EF Chirinda et al., 2019) and Brazil (0.2% EF. Barneze et al., 2014); 0.1–1.93% EF Lessa et al., 2014)]. The N<sub>2</sub>O-N EF obtained in the Atlántico region (0.03%) was lower than Tier1 EF given by the IPCC (2019) for these climatic regions (0.6% of N in bovine excreta).

### CONCLUSIONS

The apparent nitrogen recovery in milk was similar at both sites and despite the low digestibility and high fiber content of the offered diets, the recovery of N in milk was above the values reported at dairy cattle under tropical conditions. The N concentrations in the applied urine were low compared to those reported in previous studies. This suggests that local cattle production systems may be characterized by low urine-N inputs which may imply potential low environmental impacts. On the other hand, the transformation rate of urinary N into N<sub>2</sub>O-N differed at the two locations although the same *M. maximus* grass cover was used. Our study provides further evidence on the need to determine site-specific EF as N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are affected by multiple biotic and abiotic factors.

## REFERENCES

- Acosta, Y., and Delucchi, I. (2002). *Determinación de urea en leche*. Montevideo: Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria.
- Adhikari, K. P., Saggar, S., Luo, J., Giltrap, D., Berben, P., Palmada, T., et al. (2020). "Nitrous oxide emissions and emission factors from urine-deposited 'hot-spots' in dairy pastures—winter trials," in *Nutrient Management in Farmed Landscapes*, eds C. L. Christensen, D. J. Horne, and R. Singh (Palmerston North: Farmed Landscapes Research Centre, Massey University), 9 pages. Occasional Report No. 33. https://www.massey.ac.nz/\$\sim\$flrc/workshops/ 20/Manuscripts/Paper\_Adhikari\_2020.pdf

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

Ethical review and approval was not required for the animal study because the study did not require approval by the ethics committee because the animals were not directly intervened, diets were not changed and only external samples such as milk, urine, and dung were taken. None of the activities compromised their animal health and welfare. The measurements carried out can be considered routine and qualified personnel were always present to take samples.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SD conceived and designed the experiments, conducted laboratory analyses, and led the writing of the manuscript. SD, NC, RB, DB, JA, and LV, analyzed the data. All authors provided editorial advice and revised manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was implemented as part of the CGIAR Research Program (CRP) on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS), and the Livestock CRP which are carried out with support from CGIAR Fund Donors and through bilateral funding agreements. For details, please visit https://ccafs. cgiar.org/donors. We also acknowledge the financial assistance of BBSRC grant *Advancing sustainable forage-based livestock production systems in Colombia (CoForLife)* (BB/S01893X/1) and *GROW Colombia* from the UK Research and Innovation (UKRI) Global Challenges Research Fund (GCRF) (BB/P028098/1).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all donors that globally support the work of the program through their contributions to the CGIAR system. We would like to thank Arvey Alvarez and Aracelly Vidal for their technical assistance as well as Sandra Loaiza and Jonathan Nuñez for scientific support in performing this research.

Agricultural Food Research Council (1992). Nutritive requirements of ruminant animal: protein. *Nutr. Abstracts Rev.* 62, 787–835.

- Alves, B. J. R., Smith, K. A., Flores, R. A., Cardoso, A. S., Oliveira, W. R. D., Jantalia, C. P., et al. (2012). Selection of the most suitable sampling time for static chambers for the estimation of daily mean N<sub>2</sub>O flux from soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 46, 129–135. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.11.022
- Anger, M., Hoffman, C., and Kühbauch, W. (2003). Nitrous oxide emissions from artificial urine patches applied to different N-fertilized swards and estimated annual  $N_2O$  emissions for differently fertilized pastures in an upland location in Germany. *Soil Use Manag.* 19, 104–111. doi: 10.1079/SUM20 03175

- Arango, J., Gutiérrez, J. F., Mazabel, J., Pardo, P., Enciso, K., Burkart, S., et al. (2016). Estrategias tecnológicas para mejorar la productividad y competitividad de la actividad ganadera: herramientas para enfrentar el cambio climático. Cali, CO: Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical (CIAT), 58. Retrieved from: www.ciat.cgiar.org (accessed March 11, 2021).
- Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) (1990). Protein (crude) Determination in Animal Feed: Copper Catalyst Kjeldahl Method. (984.13), 15th Edn. Gaithersburg, MD: Official Methods of Analysis.
- Bacab, H. M., Madera, N. B., Solorio, F. J., Vera, F., and Marrufo, D. F. (2013). Los sistemas silvopastoriles intensivos con Leucaena leucocephala: una opción para la ganadería tropical. Avances Invest. Agro. 17, 67–81. Retrieved from: https:// www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=83728497006
- Barahona, R., and Sanchez, S. (2005). Limitaciones fisicas y quimicas de la digestibilidad de pastos tropicales. *Rev. Corpoica* 6, 69–82. doi: 10.21930/rcta.vol6\_num1\_art:39
- Barneze, A. S., Mazzetto, A. M., Zani, C. F., Misselbrook, T., and Cerri, C. C. (2014). Nitrous oxide emissions from soil due to urine deposition by grazing cattle in Brazil. *Atmos. Environ.* 92, 394–397. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014. 04.046
- Bateman, E. J., and Baggs, E. M. (2005). Contributions of nitrification and denitrification to  $N_2O$  emissions from soils at different water-filled pore space. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 4, 379–388. doi: 10.1007/s00374-005-0858-3
- Bell, M. J., Rees, R. M., Cloy, J. M., Topp, C. F. E., Bagnall, A., Chadwick, D. R., et al. (2015). Nitrous oxide emissions from cattle excrete applied to a Scottish Grassland: Effects of soil and climatic conditions and a nitrification inhibitor. *Sci. Total Environ.* 508, 343–353. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.12.008
- Bolan, N. S., Saggar, S., Luo, J. F., Bhandral, R., and Singh, J. (2004). Gaseous emissions of nitrogen from grazed pastures: processes, measurements and modelling, environmental implications, and mitigation. *Adv. Agron.* 84, 37–120. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2113(04)84002-1
- Bouyoucos, G. J. (1962). Hydrometer method improved for making particle size analyses of soils 1. *Agron. J.* 54, 464–465. doi: 10.2134/agronj1962.00021962005400050028x
- Broderick, G.A. (2003). Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86, 1370–1381. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73721-7
- Byrnes, R. C., Nùñez, J., Arenas, L., Rao, I., Trujillo, C., Alvarez, C., et al. (2017). Biological nitrification inhibition by brachiaria grasses mitigates soil nitrous oxide emissions from bovine urine patches. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 107, 156–163. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.12.029
- Castro, M., Gownipuram, J. R., Mendoza, M., Solano, N., López, F., Dickhöfer, U., and Corea, E. E. (2019). Effects of feeding tropical forage legumes on nutrients digestibility, nitrogen partitioning, and performance of crossbred milking cows. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 247, 32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2018. 10.017
- Cerón, F. M., Henao, A. V., Múnera, O., Herrera, A. R., Giraldo, A. D., Parra, A. M., et al. (2014). Concentración de Nitrógeno Ureico En Leche Interpretación y Aplicación Práctica. Medellín: Fondo Editorial Biogénesis.
- Chacón, H. P. A., and Vargas, R. C. (2009). Digestibilidad y calidad del *pennisetum purpureum* cv. king grass a tres edades de rebrote. *Agron. Mesoam.* 20, 399–408. doi: 10.15517/am.v20i2.4956
- Chirinda, N., Loaiza, S., Arenas, L., Ruiz, V., Faverín, C., Alvarez, C., et al. (2019). Adequate Vegetative cover decreases nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine deposited in grazed pastures under rainy season conditions. *Sci. Rep.* 9:908. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-37453-2
- Climate-data.org. (2008a). Clima Baranoa: Temperatura, Climograma y Tabla climática para Baranoa Climate-Data.org. Retrieved from: https://es.climate-data.org/america-del-sur/colombia/atlantico/baranoa-50360/#climate-graph
- Climate-data.org. (2008b). Clima Casanare: Climograma, Temperatura y Tabla climática para Casanare Climate-Data.org. Retrieved from: https://es.climate-data.org/america-del-sur/colombia/casanare-97/
- Cole, N. A., and Todd, R. W. (2008). Opportunities to enhance performance and efficiency through nutrient synchrony in concentrate-fed ruminants1,2,3. *J. Anim. Sci.* 86(Suppl. 14), E318–E333. doi: 10.2527/jas.2007-0444
- Colmenero, J. J. O., and Broderick, G. (2006). Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on milk production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 1704–1712. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06) 72238-X

- Correa, H. J., Rodríguez, Y. G., Pabón, Y. G., and Carulla, J. E. (2012). Efecto de la oferta de pasto kikuyo (*Pennisetum clandestinum*) sobre la producción, la calidad de la leche y el balance de nitrógeno en vacas Holstein. *Livest. Res. Rural Dev.* 24:204. Retrieved from: http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd24/11/cont2411.htm
- Dickhoefer, U., Glowacki, S., Gómez, C. A., and Castro, J. M., (2018). Forage and protein use efficiency in dairy cows grazing a mixed grass-legume pasture and supplemented with different levels of protein and starch. *Livest. Sci.* 216, 109–118. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2018.08.004
- Dijkstra, J., Oenema, O., and Bannink, A. (2011). Dietary strategies to reducing n excretion from cattle: implications for methane emissions. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustainab.* 3, 414–422. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2011.07.008
- Dijkstra, J., Oenema, O., Groenigen, J. W., Spek, J. W., van Vuuren, A. M., and Bannink, A. (2013). Diet effects on urine composition of cattle and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. *Animal* 7, 292–302. doi: 10.1017/S1751731113000578
- Dobbie, K. E., Mctaggart, I. P., and Smith, K. A. (1999). Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: variations between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. *J. Geophy. Res.* 104, 26891–26899. doi: 10.1029/1999JD900378
- Du, Y., Cui, Y., Xu, X., Liang, D., Long, R., and Cao, G. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions from two alpine meadows in the Qinghai–Tibetan Plateau. *Plant Soil* 311, 245–254. doi: 10.1007/s,11104-008-9727-9
- FAO, Programa de las Naciones Unidas para la Alimentación y la Agricultura (2013). El Estado Mundial De La Agricultura Y La Alimentación. Available online at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i3300s.pdf (Retrieved May 11, 2021).
- Federación Colombiana de Ganaderos (FEDEGAN) (2018). Cifras de Referencia del Sector Ganadero Colombiano. Available online at: https://www.fedegan.org. co/estadisticas/ (accessed Agosto 27, 2019).
- García, M. S., Ravella, S. R., Chadwick, D., Vallejo, A., Gregory, A. S., and Cárdenas, L. M. (2014). Ranking factors affecting emissions of GHG from incubated agricultural soils. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 65, 573–583. doi: 10.1111/ejss.12143
- Gardi, C., Angelini, M., Barceló, S., Comerma, J., Cruz Gaistardo, C., Encina Rojas, A., et al. (2014). Atlas de Suelos de América Latina y El Caribe. Comisión Europea - Oficina de Publicaciones de La Unión Europea. Vol. 17630. Luxemburgo: Comisión Europea - Oficina de Publicaciones de la Unión Europea. doi: 10.2788/37334
- Gaviria, U. X., Sossa, C. P., Montoya, C., Chará, J., Lopera, J. J., Córdoba, C. P., and Barahona, R. R. (2012). Producción de Carne Bovina En Sistemas Silvopastoriles Intensivos En El Trópico Bajo Colombiano. Belén: VII Congreso Latinoamericano de Sistemas Agroforestales Para La Producción Animal Sostenible. 1–5.
- Goering, H. K., Gordon, C. H., Hemken, R. W., Waldo, D. R., Van Soest, P. J., and Smith, L. W. (1972). Analytical estimates of nitrogen digestibility in heat damaged forages. *J. Dairy Sci.* 55, 1275–1280. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(72)85661-3
- Goering, H. K., and Van Soest, P. J. (1970). Forage Fiber Analyses: Apparatus, Reagents, Procedures, and Some Applications. No. 379. Washington, DC: Agricultural Research Service, US Department of Agriculture.
- Haydock, K. P., and Shaw, N. H. (1975). The comparative yield method for estimating dry matter yield of pasture. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. Anim. Husb. 15, 663–670. doi: 10.1071/EA9750663c
- Hess, H. D., Florez, H., Lascano, C. E., Becerra, A., and Ramos, J. (1999). Fuentes de variación en la composición de la leche y niveles de urea en sangre y leche de vacas en sistemas de doble propósito en el trópico bajo de Colombia. *Pasturas Tropicales* 21. Retrieved from: http://ciat-library.ciat. cgiar.org/Articulos\_CIAT/Vol21\_hess.pdf (accessed October 21, 2021).
- IDEAM (2016). IMPACTO DEL FENÓMENO "EL NIÑO" 2015-2016 EN LOS NEVADOS Y ALTA MONTAÑA EN COLOMBIA. Bogotá: Subdirección de Ecosistemas e Información Ambiental Grupo de suelos y tierras. Retreived from: http://www.ideam.gov.co/documents/11769/132669/Impacto+de+El+Ni %C3%B10+en+la+alta+monta%C3%B1a+colombiana.pdf/
- IDEAM, UNAL (2018). La Variabilidad Climática y El Cambio Climático En Colombia. Bogotá: IDEAM. Available online at: http://www.andi.com.co/ Uploads/variabilidad.pdf
- Instituto Colombiano Agropecuario (ICA) (2019). Censo Pecuario Nacional. Retrieved from: https://www.ica.gov.co/areas/pecuaria/servicios/ epidemiologia-veterinaria/censos-2016/censo-2018 (accessed March 22, 2020).
- IPCC, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2019). Chapter 11: N2O Emissions From Managed Soils, and Co2 Emissions From Lime and Urea

Application. 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories.

- Jaramillo, D., Rodriguez, E., and Diaz, K. (2002). Introducción a La Ciencia Del Suelo. Bogotá: Universidad Nacional de Colombia. Facultade de Ciencias, 1–30.
- Kelliher, F. M., Cox, N., Van Der Weerden, T. J., De Klein, C. A. M., Luo, J., Cameron, K. C., et al. (2014). Statistical analysis of nitrous oxide emission factors from pastoral agriculture field trials conducted in New Zealand. *Environ. Pollut.* 186, 63–66. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.11.025
- Kennedy, P. M., and Milligan, L. P. (1980). The degradation and utilization of endogenous urea in the gastrointestinal tract of ruminants: a review. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 60, 205–221. doi: 10.4141/cjas80-030
- Klefoth, R. R., Clough, T. J., Oenema, O., and Van Groenigen, J. W. (2014). Soil bulk density and moisture content influence relative gas diffusivity and the reduction of nitrogen-15 nitrous oxide. *Vadose Zone J.* 13:vzj2014.07.0089. doi: 10.2136/vzj2014.07.0089
- Kottek, M., Grieser, J., Beck, C., Rudolf, B., and Rubel, F. (2006). World map of the Köppen-Geiger climate classification updated. *Meteorol. Zeitschr.* 15, 259-263. doi: 10.1127/0941-2948/2006/0130
- Lapierre, H., and Lobley, G. E. (2001). Nitrogen recycling in the ruminant: a review. J. Dairy Sci. 84, E223–E236. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)70222-6
- Laudone, G. M., Matthews, G. P., Bird, N. R. A., Whalley, W. R., Cardenas, L. M., and Gregory, A. S. (2011). A model to predict the effects of soil structure on denitrification and N<sub>2</sub>O emission. *J. Hydrol.* 409, 283–290. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.08.026
- Laville, P., Lehuger, S., Loubet, B., Chaumartin, F., and Cellier, P. (2011). Effect of management, climate, and soil conditions on N<sub>2</sub>O and NO emissions from an arable crop rotation using high temporal resolution measurements. *Agric. Meteorol.* 15, 1228–12240. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2010.10.008
- León, J. M., Mojica, J. E., Castro, E., Cárdenas, E. A., Pabón, M. L., and Carulla, J. E. (2008). Balance de Nitrógeno y Fosforo de vacas lecheras en pastoreo con diferentes ofertas de kikuyo (*Pennisetum clandestinum*) suplementadas con ensilaje de avena (Avena sativa). *Rev. Colomb. Cienc. Pecu.* 21, 559–570. Retrieved from: https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=295023543004
- Lessa, A. R., Madari, B. E., Paredes, D. P., Boddey, R. M., Urquiaga, S., Jantalia, C. P., et al. (2014). Bovine urine and dung deposited on Brazilian savannah pastures contribute differently to direct and indirect soil nitrous oxide emissions. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 190, 104–111. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2014.01.010
- Li, Y. Y., Dong, S. K., Liu, S., Zhou, H., Gao, Q., Cao, G., et al. (2015). Seasonal changes of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes in different types of alpine grassland in the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau of China. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 80, 306–314. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.10.026
- Ma, H., Zhang, W., Zhu, X., Song, W., Liu, J., and Zhihai, J. (2010). Effects of rumen-protected tryptophan on growth performance, fibre characteristics, Nutrient utilization and plasma essential amino acids in cashmere goats during the cashmere slow growth period. *Livest. Sci.* 131, 227–233. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2010.04.005
- Mahecha, L., Gallego, L. A., and Peláez, F. J. (2002). Situación Actual de La Ganadería de Carne En Colombia y Alternativas Para Impulsar Su Competitividad y Sostenibilidad. *Rev. Colomb. Cienc. Pecu.* 2, 213–225. Retrieved from: https://dialnet.unirioja.es/servlet/articulo?codigo=3242901
- Mahecha, L., Monsalve, M. A., and Arroyave, J. F. (2007). Evaluación del silvopastoreo de novillos Cebú en un sistema de Eucalyptus tereticornis y Panicum maximum, en la reforestadora San Sebastián. *Livest. Res. Rural Dev.* 19:94. Retrieved from: http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd19/7/mahe19094.htm
- Mahecha, L., and Rosales, M. (2005). Valor nutricional del follaje de botón de oro tithonia diversifolia (Hemsl.) gray, en la producción animal en el trópico. *Livest. Res. Rural Dev.* 17:100. Retrieved from: http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd17/9/ mahe17100.htm
- Marsden, K. A., Jones, D. L., and Chadwick, D. R. (2016). The urine patch diffusional area: an important N<sub>2</sub>O source? *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 92, 161–170. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.10.011
- Mazzetto, A. M., Barneze, A. S., Feigl, B. J., Van Groenigen, J. W., Oenema, O., and Cerri, C. C. (2014). Temperature and moisture affect methane and nitrous oxide emission from bovine manure patches in tropical conditions. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 76, 242–248. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2014. 05.026
- Milk I. S. O. (2013). *Liquid Milk Products—Guidelines for the Application of Mid-Infrared Spectrometry (ISO: 9622-2013)*. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization.

- Murgueitio, E., and Ibrahim, M. (2001). Agroforestería pecuaria para la reconversión de la ganadería en Latinoamérica. *Livestock Res. Rural Dev.* 13:26.
- Nha, P. T., Thu, N. V., and Preston, T. R. (2008). Effects of different levels and sources of crude protein supplementation on feed intake, digestibility and nitrogen retention in swamp buffaloes compared to local cattle. *Livest. Res. Rural Dev.* 20(Suppl.). Retrieved from: http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd20/supplement/ nha2.htm
- Oenema, O., Wrage, N., Velthof, G. L., Van Groenigen, J. W., Dolfing, J., and Kuikman, P. J. (2005). Trends in global nitrous oxide emissions from animal production systems. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 72, 51–65. doi: 10.1007/s10705-004-7354-2
- Pelster, D. E., Gisore, B., Goopy, J., Korir, D., Koske, J. K., Rufino, M. C., et al., (2016). Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from cattle excreta on an East African Grassland. J. Environ. Qual. 45, 1531–1539. doi: 10.2134/jeq2016.02.0050
- Peña, C. F. (2002). Importancia del nitrógeno uréico de la leche como índice para evaluar la eficiencia productiva y reproductiva de las vacas lecheras. *Revista Acovez.* 27, 3–9. Retrieved from: http://www.acovez.org/index.php/ component/search/?searchword=volumen%2027&searchphrase=all&start=20
- Porre, R. J., van Groenigen, J. W., De Deyn, G. D., de Goede, R. G. M., and Lubbers, I. M. (2016). Exploring the relationship between soil mesofauna, soil structure, and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 96, 55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.01.018
- Rabelo, E., Rezende, R. L., Bertics, S. J., and Grummer, R. R. (2003). Effects of Transition diets varying in dietary energy density on lactation performance and ruminal parameters of dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* 86, 916–925. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73674-1
- Rivera, J. E., Chará, J., and Barahona, R. R. (2019a). CH4, CO<sub>2</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions from grasslands and bovine Excreta in two intensive tropical dairy production systems. *Agrofor. Syst.* 93, 915–928. doi: 10.1007/s10457-018-0187-9
- Rivera, J. E., Chará, J., Murgueitio, E., Molina, J. J., and Barahona, R. R. (2019b). Feeding Leucaena to dairy cows in intensive silvopastoral systems in Colombia and Mexico. *Trop. Grassl. Forrajes Trop.* 7, 370–374. doi: 10.17138/tgft(7)370-374
- Rubol, S., Manzoni, S., Bellin, A., and Porporato, A. (2013). Modeling soil moisture and oxygen effects on soil biogeochemical cycles including Dissimilatory Nitrate Reduction to Ammonium (DNRA). *Adv. Water Resour.* 62, 106–124. doi: 10.1016/j.advwatres,2013.09.016
- Saggar, S., Bolan, N. S., Bhandral, R., Hedley, C. B., and Luo, J. (2004). A review of emissions of methane, ammonia, and nitrous oxide from animal excreta deposition and farm effluent application in grazed pastures. *New Zeal. J. Agric. Res.* 47, 513–544. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2004. 9513618
- SAS Institute (2012). User's Guide: Statistics Version 9.4. Cary, NC: SAS Inst. Inc.
- Sey, B. K., Manceur, A. M., Whalen, J. K., Gregorich, E. G., and Rochette, P. (2008). Small-scale heterogeneity in carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, and methane production from aggregates of a cultivated sandy-loam soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 40, 2468–2473. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2008. 05.012
- Simon, P. L., Dieckow, J., De Klein, C. A. M., Zanatta, J. A., Van Der Weerden, T. J., Ramalho, B., et al. (2018). Nitrous oxide emission factors from cattle urine and dung, and dicyandiamide (DCD) as a Mitigation Strategy in Subtropical Pastures. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 267, 74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2018. 08.013
- Skiba, U., and Ball, B. (2002). Integrated control of strawberry. *Soil Use Manag.* 3, 56–60. doi: 10.1079/SUM2002101
- Sordi, A., Dieckow, J., Bayer, C., Alburquerque, M. A., Piva, J. T., Zanatta, J. A., et al. (2014). Nitrous oxide emission factors for urine and dung patches in a subtropical Brazilian pastureland. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 190, 94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.09.004
- Steinshamn, H., Hoglind, M., Garmo, T. H., Thuen, E., and Brenøe, U.T. (2006). Feed nitrogen conversion in lactating dairy cows on pasture as affected by concentrate supplementation. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 131, 25–41. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2006.02.004
- Suárez, E., Reza, S., García, F, Pastrana, I., and Díaz, E. (2011). Comportamiento ingestivo diurno de bovinos de ceba en praderas del pasto Guinea (*Panicum* maximum cv. Mombasa). Corp. Cienc. Tecnol. Agropecu. 12, 167–174. doi: 10.21930/rcta.vol12\_num2\_art:228
- Subbarao, G. V., Nakahara, K., Hurtado, M. P., Ono, H., Moreta, D. E., Salcedo, A. F., et al. (2009). Evidence for biological nitrification inhibition

in brachiaria pastures. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A. 106, 17302–17307. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903694106

- Tylutki, T. P., Fox, D. G., Durbal, V. M., Tedeschi, L. O., Russel, J. B., Van Amburgh, M. E., et al. (2008). Cornell net carbohydrate and protein system: a model for precision feeding of dairy cattle. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 143, 74–202. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.05.010
- Valles de la Mora, B., Castillo, G. E., and Bernal, B. H. (2016). Rendimiento y degradabilidad ruminal de materia seca y energía de diez pastos tropicales cosechados a cuatro edades. *Rev. Mex. Cienc. Pecu.* 7, 141–158. doi: 10.22319/rmcp.v7i2.4170
- Van Horn, H. H., Wilkie, A. C., Powers, W. J., and Nordstedt, R. A. (1994). Components of dairy manure management systems. J. Dairy Sci. 77, 2008–2030. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77147-2
- Van Soest, P. J., Robertson, J. B., and Lewis, B.A. (1991). Methods for Dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583–3597. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78551-2
- Villegas, D., Arevalo, A., Nuñez, J., Mazabel, J., Subbarao, G., Rao, I., et al. (2020). Biological Nitrification Inhibition (BNI): phenotyping of a core

germplasm collection of the tropical forage grass *megathyrsus maximus* under greenhouse conditions. *Front. Plant Sci.* 11:820. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2020. 00820

Voglmeier, K., Markus, J., Christoph, H., and Christof, A. (2018). Ammonia emission measurements of an intensively grazed pasture. *Biogeosciences* 15, 12–19. doi: 10.5194/bg-15-4593-2018

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Durango Morales, Barahona, Bolívar, Arango, Verchot and Chirinda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Field Application of Organic Fertilizers Triggers N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From the Soil N Pool as Indicated by <sup>15</sup>N-Labeled Digestates

Franziska Häfner<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Reiner Ruser<sup>1</sup>, Ingrid Claß-Mahler<sup>1,3</sup> and Kurt Möller<sup>1,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Fertilization and Soil Matter Dynamics, Institute of Crop Science, University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Programme Area Next-Generation Horticultural Systems, Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops (IGZ), Großbeeren, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Department of Farm Management, Institute of Farm Management, University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Center for Agricultural Technology Augustenberg (LTZ), Institute of Applied Crop Science, Rheinstetten-Forchheim, Germany

#### OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Matthew Tom Harrison, University of Tasmania, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

David Pelster, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Canada Ana Meijide, University of Göttingen, Germany

\*Correspondence:

Franziska Häfner haefner.franziska@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 05 October 2020 Accepted: 14 December 2020 Published: 20 January 2021

#### Citation:

 Häfner F, Ruser R, Claß-Mahler I and Möller K (2021) Field Application of Organic Fertilizers Triggers N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From the Soil N Pool as Indicated by <sup>15</sup>N-Labeled Digestates.
 Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 4:614349. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.614349 Anaerobic digestion (AD) can generate biogas while simultaneously producing digestate which can be used as fertilizer. Feedstocks used for AD influence digestate composition, which in turn may affect carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) turn-over in soils and subsequently influence nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions after soil application. Assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from digestates can help to evaluate the overall sustainability of an agricultural production system. The objective of this study was therefore to evaluate and understand the effect of differences in digestate composition on in situ N<sub>2</sub>O emissions within the 1st weeks after application of seven digestates. The digestates were derived from different feedstocks and <sup>15</sup>N-labeled, either in total N or only in ammonium-N. Therefore, the experimental design enabled us to differentiate between potential N<sub>2</sub>O-N sources (i.e., digestate N or soil N). Furthermore, it allowed to distinguish to some extent between organic-N and ammonium-N as potential N sources for denitrification. Digestates were homogeneously incorporated into the upper 5 cm of microplots in an arable Haplic Luvisol in South Germany at a rate of 170 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. After application,  $N_2O$  fluxes were measured for ~60 days (May-July) using the closed chamber method in 2 experimental years. Mainly due to higher precipitations in the 1st year, cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were higher (312–1,580 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup>) compared to the emissions  $(133-690 \text{ g N}_2\text{O-N ha}^{-1})$  in the 2nd year. Between 16-33% (1st year) and 17-38% (2nd year) of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions originated from digestate N, indicating that digestate application triggered N<sub>2</sub>O production and release mainly from soil N. This effect was strongest immediately after digestate application. It was concluded that the first (short term) peak in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions after digestate application is largely related to denitrification of soil-N. However, the experimental setup does not allow to differentiate between the different denitrification pathways. Weather conditions showed a substantial effect on N2O emissions, where the correlation between N2O and CO2 flux rates hinted on denitrification as main N<sub>2</sub>O source. The effect of digestate composition, particularly organic N from the digestate, on soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions seems to be of minor relevance.

Keywords: anaerobic digestion, biogas slurry, organic fertilizer, greenhouse gas emissions, stable isotope, field experiment

## INTRODUCTION

In the EU, about 180 million tons of anaerobic digestate are estimated to be produced per year, most of which is used as organic fertilizer (Corden et al., 2019). Digestates have been shown to have the potential to substitute mineral fertilizers and contribute to a sustainable soil management (Gutser et al., 2005; Cavalli et al., 2016; Verdi et al., 2019). However, application of organic as well as mineral nitrogen (N) fertilizers is also known to increase greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from soils. Globally, agriculture contributes up to 20% to carbon dioxide equivalents ( $CO_2$ -eq.) from all human activities (2010–2017), with nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) and methane ( $CH_4$ ) as main GHGs (FAO, 2020). About 60% of anthropogenic  $N_2O$  emissions are emitted by agricultural soils (Ciais et al., 2013), thus it is of high relevance to assess  $N_2O$  in relation to fertilizer application.

Studies have shown that digestates might lead to a higher risk of N<sub>2</sub>O formation than manures, which is related to the higher share of ammonium (NH4-N) after AD (Möller and Stinner, 2009). Ammonium is quickly nitrified to nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$ , which can further be denitrified to dinitrogen gas (N<sub>2</sub>). Both processes, as well as nitrifier denitrification, bear the risk of producing N<sub>2</sub>O and are considered as main N<sub>2</sub>O source from soils (Granli and Bøckman, 1994; Bremner, 1997; Koola et al., 2010). Application of liquid manures like slurry or digestates provides available N and carbon (C), which in turn promotes heterotrophic activity (oxidation of C, N, S, etc.), depleting oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) availability in soil, and thus favors creation of anaerobic microsites that ultimately trigger N2O production and release via denitrification (Chadwick et al., 2000; Petersen et al., 2003). Hence, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions largely depend on the availability of labile organic C (Corg), mineral N, O2 and water in the soil and their subsequent effect on soil microbial processes (Flessa and Beese, 2000; Ruser et al., 2001). However, AD has also been reported to reduce the N2O potential compared to the initial feedstock e.g., by decreasing slurry viscosity or increasing the recalcitrance of organic matter (OM) (Petersen, 1999; Möller, 2015).

The different organic substrates that are used as feedstock for anaerobic digestion (AD) affect the physico-chemical characteristics of the digestate (Fouda et al., 2013; Zirkler et al., 2014). For example, comparing food wastes and maize silage, food wastes are already processed goods with a high degradability and high protein content. Thereby, food waste-based digestates tend to have a higher OM degradability and a higher share of  $NH_4^+$ -N than maize silage, that could enhance soil microbial activity (Möller and Müller, 2012; Guilayn et al., 2020).

Based on compositional differences, such as N content, C/N ratio and OM degradability  $[C_{org}/organic N (N_{org})]$ , it can be assumed that digestates from different feedstocks will show differences in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions after field application. However, a differentiated consideration of the GHG emission potential for digestates from different feedstocks is currently scarce, and therefore will be the main research focus of this study.

The largest share of  $N_2O$  release during the growing season usually occurs shortly after field application, with further peaks correlated to rainfall-events (Guzman-Bustamante et al., 2019; Herr et al., 2019) or freeze-thaw periods (Flessa et al., 1995; Rochette et al., 2008). For this reason, the following experiment was conducted to evaluate digestates regarding short-term  $N_2O$ emissions on fallow land. To calculate the amount of  $N_2O$  derived from the digestate, <sup>15</sup>N-stable isotope labeling was used. The following hypotheses were tested:

- Digestates with varying physical and chemical properties will show different temporal N<sub>2</sub>O and <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O flux patterns.
- (2) Application of these digestates will also result in different cumulative  $N_2O$  emissions and  $N_2O$  emission factors.
- (3) The amount of N<sub>2</sub>O-N directly derived from the digestate will differ among the digestate types.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### <sup>15</sup>N Labeling and Digestate Production

Labeled anaerobic digestates were prepared by cultivation of <sup>15</sup>N-enriched plants in a comparable approach as applied by Schouten et al. (2012). Maize (Zea mays L. cv. Ronaldinio), ryegrass (Lolium perenne L. cv. Kentaur), and sugar beet (Beta vulgaris subsp. vulgaris, Altissima Group) were <sup>15</sup>N labeled, by addition of <sup>15</sup>N ammonium sulfate ((NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) as fertilizing solution. Ryegrass was cultivated in sand culture in 12 kg boxes of 10 cm height. For fertilization, 96.2 mg N kg  $^{-1}$  as (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (30 atom% <sup>15</sup>N) solution was applied before sowing ryegrass. We cut the ryegrass three times in 30-days intervals. Sugar beet was grown in Mitscherlich pots with 12 kg sand. After pregrowing sugar beet seedlings in peat, two plants were set for each pot. Four rates of (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (50 atom% <sup>15</sup>N) solution were applied during growth (in total 1.5 g N per pot). Maize was grown in a hydroponic system with two plants per 10liter pot. Nutrient solution adapted after Engels (1999) with modified N concentration was exchanged twice a week. Within the first 5 weeks of growth,  $NH_4^+$ -N concentration was gradually increased, while NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N supply was decreased to acclimate maize plants to primary NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N nutrition. After this adaption phase for the plants, the N concentration was kept stable at 0.5 mM  $NO_3^-$ -N and 3 mM NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, in the form of calcium nitrate and ammonium sulfate. For <sup>15</sup>N labeling, four additions of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N were substituted by 50 atom% <sup>15</sup>N- NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and applied at BBCH stages: 16-19, 30-33, 51-55, and 71. As commonly done for maize, as energy crop, it was harvested at the dough-ripe stage. After harvest, ryegrass, maize sugar beet, as well as sugar beet leaves were immediately cut and homogenized by short blending (Thermomix TM31, Wuppertal, Gemany). The <sup>15</sup>N enrichment of crops and harvest residues was determined by IRMS with previous freeze-drying, leading to 19.3 atom% <sup>15</sup>N in maize, 26.1 atom% in ryegrass, 43.8 atom% in sugar beet, and 45.3 atom% in sugar beet leaves. After weighing the <sup>15</sup>N-plant biomass into small portions, they were frozen at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until anaerobic digestion in a batch reactor as previously described by Brulé (2014), Mönch-Tegeder et al. (2014).

Anaerobic digestion of the <sup>15</sup>N-labeled plants and plant residues was carried out at the State Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Bioenergy, at the University of Hohenheim. Before, digestates from maize, grass silage and sugar beet were

TABLE 1   Physico-chemical	digestate properties,	<sup>15</sup> N-labeling and <sup>15</sup> N abundance.
----------------------------	-----------------------	---

	DM (%)	pH (water)	EC (μS cm <sup>-1</sup> )	C <sub>t</sub> (% DM)	C <sub>org</sub> (% DM)	<sup>15</sup> N labeling	<sup>15</sup> N (atom%)	N <sub>t</sub> (g kg <sup>-1</sup> FM)	NH <sub>4</sub> +-N/N <sub>t</sub> (%)	C/N	C <sub>org</sub> /N <sub>org</sub>
Maize (M)	6.7	8.3	4,370	37.8	37.1	Nt	7.4	6.77	67.9	3.7	11.3
Grass (G)	8.2	9.1	4,250	28.0	27.3	Nt	11.7	4.41	58.8	5.2	12.4
Sugar beet (SB)	3.9	8.5	1,380	16.9	15.9	Nt	6.3	2.03	63.6	3.3	8.5
Sugar beet leaves (SBL)	4.8	8.8	1,640	18.5	17.2	Nt	12.2	1.97	65.8	4.5	12.2
Organic waste (OW)	13.7	7.7	3,100	31.2	30.0	NH <sub>4</sub> +-N	5.36	6.33	56.9	6.8	15.1
Food waste (FW)	4.3	8.1	3,650	36.7	36.3	NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N	5.36	6.79	67.6	2.3	7.1
Cattle slurry (CS)	9.3	7.9	3,380	38.3	37.9	$NH_4^+-N$	5.36	4.06	56.7	8.8	20.1

TABLE 2 | Soil characteristic at the beginning of the experiment spring 2016 (1st year) and 2017 (2nd year), mean mineral N (N<sub>min</sub>) (± standard deviation (n = 2).

	pH (CaCl <sub>2</sub> )	Total C (%)	Total N (%)	C/N	NH <sub>4</sub> +-N (kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )	NO <sub>3</sub> <sup></sup> N (kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )	N <sub>min</sub> (kg N ha <sup>−1</sup> )
1st year	7.0	1.25	0.14	8.9	$3.52 \pm 1.70$	$27.5 \pm 3.4$	$31.0 \pm 5.1$
2nd year	6.8	1.13	0.13	9.0	$1.84\pm0.41$	$30.2 \pm 1.4$	$32.1\pm1.8$

collected from biogas plants in southern Germany to be used as inoculum for AD of the <sup>15</sup>N-feedstocks (maize, ryegrass, sugar beet, and leaves). Digestates were "starved" for 10 days according to the German standard VDI 4630 guideline (2016) to minimize residual gas production. During this starvation phase, the vessels were kept open and stirred to volatilize ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) from the inoculum. By decreasing  $NH_4^+$ -N in the digestate, hence total N concentration, a high <sup>15</sup>N-signature could be assured, with only marginal N dilution of the added <sup>15</sup>N-feedstock. Prior to AD, the inoculum was sieved to produce a homogeneous slurry. <sup>15</sup>N-labeled ryegrass, maize, sugar beet, and sugar beet leaves were separately added to the substrate-specific inoculum in a ratio of 1:2.5 organic total solids (oTS) (VDI 4630, 2016). Anaerobic digestion was carried out in 2 liter fed-batch systems under mesophilic temperature at  $37.5 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C for 60 days. During digestion, three feeding portions of <sup>15</sup>N enriched plant substrates were added: at the start of the experiment, after 20, and after 40 days, respectively. Due to the amount of oTS added by the digestates, the <sup>15</sup>N amount of the feedstocks was diluted by N contained in the inoculum, leading to a lower labeling of the <sup>15</sup>N-digestates compared to the initial plant feedstock (**Table 1**).

Additionally, digestates from existing biogas plants were included and the mineral  $NH_4^+$ -N fraction was labeled: organic waste digestate, food waste digestate, and cattle slurry digestate. The digestates were analyzed for total N and  $NH_4^+$ -N. Each digestate was filled into a glass beaker and put into a rotating water bath for 12 h at 37°C, to volatilize a small amount of NH<sub>3</sub>. Afterwards the digestates were analyzed again for total N and  $NH_4^+$ -N to assess the amount of N that was emitted. The lost N was substituted by addition of <sup>15</sup>N-enriched (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> solution to 5 atom% <sup>15</sup>N excess. If more N was lost than resupplied by <sup>15</sup>N-NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, ammonium chloride solution was added.

### **Experimental Design**

The experiment was performed at the research station "Heidfeldhof" at the University of Hohenheim, 13 km south of Stuttgart, in South-Germany. The research station has a mean

annual precipitation of 686 mm and a mean annual temperature of 8.8°C, monitored by a local meteorological station. The soil type of the arable field was a Haplic Luvisol (IUSS Working Group, 2015) with a silty loam soil texture (2% sand, 68% silt, and 30% clay), a bulk density of 1.24 g cm<sup>-3</sup> in the upper 30 cm. Soil analytical results are presented in **Table 2**. The micro-plot field experiment (1 × 1 m plot size) was conducted as randomized block design with four replicates per treatment in 2 years 2016 (1st) and 2017 (2nd year) from May to July. The treatments consisted of one unfertilized control and seven <sup>15</sup>N-labeled digestates based on maize (M), grass (G), sugar beet (SB), sugar beet leaves (SBL), organic waste (OW), food waste (FW), and cattle slurry (CS) (**Table 1**).

#### **Gas Measurements and Analysis**

The closed chamber system was used to monitor N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub>, and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) soil fluxes (Hutchinson and Mosier, 1981). The system consisted of a polyvinyl chloride (PVC) base ring (30 cm inner diameter) and a corresponding chamber (Pfab et al., 2011). Within the center of the 1 m<sup>2</sup> micro plot, the PVC base ring was embedded 10 cm deep in the soil. The <sup>15</sup>N-labeled digestates (Table 1) were applied at a rate of  $170 \text{ kg N} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ , meaning 1.2 gN per base ring and quickly incorporated into the upper 5-10 cm of the soil. In order to do so, a 10 cm deep furrow was dug across the ring, using a spade. Digestate was filled into the furrow, covered by soil and mixed. The same procedure was done for the unfertilized control using water. The amount of water (290 ml) corresponded to the average volume of digestate application. Directly after application, the first gas measurement was performed. For gas sampling between 8.00 and 12.00 am, the base ring was covered with the dark, vented PVC chamber, sealed by a rubber ring to collect the trace gas. The chambers were closed for 45-60 min. The first gas sample was directly taken after closure, followed by additional sampling every 15-20 min using a syringe and transferred into evacuated 20 ml gas vials. At the same time, two additional gas samples were collected into 100 ml vials at the start and end of each measurement for

<sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O determination. Soil and chamber temperature were recorded within each block from two random plots at beginning and end of sampling. Within the 1st month, gas samples were taken 3–4 times a week. Afterwards the sampling frequency was reduced to once or twice per week, with additional samplings after strong rainfall events. In both years 20 gas samplings were performed and measured for N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub>, and CH<sub>4</sub>, whereas 13– 15 out of 20 <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O gas samples could be measured due to cost and time reasons in the 1st and 2nd year, respectively.

Gas samples were measured with a gas chromatograph (GC 450 Greenhouse Gas Analyzer, Bruker Daltonic, Bremen, Germany) equipped with electron capture detector (ECD) and flame ionization detector (FID) and an automatic sampler (GX-281, Gilson, Limburg, Germany). During GC measurements, concentrations of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> were analyzed with a <sup>63</sup>Ni ECD and CH<sub>4</sub> concentrations were determined with the FID. Fluxes of N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub>, and CH<sub>4</sub> were calculated by an extended version of the R (R Core Team, 2016) package "gasfluxes" (Fuß and Asger, 2014).

#### Analysis of Digestate and Soil

Digestates were dried at 105°C for dry matter (DM) analysis. Total C (C<sub>t</sub>) was measured by Dumas combustion via elemental analysis (Elementar vario MAX CN, Analysensysteme GmbH, Hanau, Germany). Carbonate content was determined volumetrically using the Scheibler method according to DIN 10693 (2014). Thus, organic C can be calculated as the difference between C<sub>t</sub> and Carbonate-C. Total N (N<sub>t</sub>) and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> of fresh matter (FM) digestate sample was determined by Kjeldahl method. Organic N was derived by the difference of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> from N<sub>t</sub>. The pH value was measured in FM digestate using 0.01 mol L<sup>-1</sup> calcium chloride solution (1:10 w/w).

Soil mineral N ( $N_{min}$ )was determined by extraction with 0.5 M potassium sulfate solution (1:4) and measured colorimetrically with a photometer (Flow-injection-analyzer 3 QUAAtro, SEAL Analytical, UK). Bulk density of the top soil was determined using 100 ml stainless steel cylinders in the field.

Total N and C, and <sup>15</sup>N-signature of <sup>15</sup>N-labeled plant substrates, soil and digestate was measured with a CN-elemental analyzer (EuroVector, HEKAtech, Wegberg, Germany) with Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (IRMS) (Delta plus Advantage, Thermo Finnigan, Bremen, Germany). For the determination of the <sup>15</sup>N abundance in N<sub>2</sub>O we used an IRMS delta plus (Finnigan MAT, Bremen, Germany) coupled with an automated PreCon-Interface (Brand, 1995).

#### **Statistics and Calculations**

Trapezoidal linear interpolation of daily gas fluxes (N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub>) was used to calculate total cumulative emissions for the 55– 58 days of the experiment in the 1st and 2nd year, respectively. The percentage of N<sub>2</sub>O-N originating from digestate N (Nd) was calculated by equation (1), with digestate *i* at sampling time *t*. Atom%<sup>15</sup>N excess was calculated by subtraction of the natural abundance of N<sub>2</sub>O in the atmosphere (0.369 atom%) from the measured <sup>15</sup>N. The daily N<sub>2</sub>O flux rate ( $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) was multiplied with *Nd* in equation (2) to determine the amount of N<sub>2</sub>O derived from digestate (<sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O) as reported by Senbayram et al. (2009). We calculated the recovery (%) of  $^{15}$ N applied by summing up  $^{15}$ N content of the soil at the end of the experiment and cumulative  $^{15}$ N-N<sub>2</sub>O loss. This sum was then divided by the amount of  $^{15}$ N applied by the digestate as described by Pfab (2011).

$$Nd_{i,t} (\%) = \frac{atom\%^{15}N \ excess \ digestate_i}{atom\%^{15}N \ excess \ N_2O_{i,t}}$$
(1)

$${}^{15}N - N_2 O_{i,t} \left( \mu g N_2 O - N \ m^{-2} \ h^{-1} \right) = N d_{i,t} \ (\%) \ * N_2 O \ flux_{i,t}$$
(2)

Digestate derived fluxes ( $^{15}$ N-N<sub>2</sub>O) were also linearly interpolated to calculate cumulative (cum)  $^{15}$ N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The total share of N derived from digestate (total Nd) in cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O was calculated by Equation (3). As suggested by Schleusner et al. (2018), the amount of primed N<sub>2</sub>O-N lost by fertilizer application was calculated by a simplified approach accounting for cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O-N emissions of the unfertilized control treatment (Equation 4), without considering other gaseous losses *via* NH<sub>3</sub> or N<sub>2</sub>.

$$total Nd_i (\%) = \frac{cum^{15}N - N_2O_i (g N_2O ha^{-1})}{cum N_2O_i (g N_2O ha^{-1})} * 100$$
(3)

Primed N<sub>2</sub>O<sub>i</sub> (g N<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup>) = 
$$(cum N_2O_i - cum {}^{15}N_2O_i)$$
  
-cum N<sub>2</sub>O control (4)

$$EF_{i} (\%) = \frac{(cum N_{2}O_{i} - cum N_{2}O \ control) \ g \ N_{2}O \ ha^{-1}}{170 \ kg \ ha^{-1} * 1000} * 100$$
(5)

N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors (EFs) were calculated according to the IPCC guidelines for direct emissions (Equation 5), meaning total cumulative N2O-N emissions accounted for the control, per applied N (IPCC, 2019). The disaggregated IPCC N<sub>2</sub>O EF for "other N inputs in wet climates" with the default value of 0.6% was applied for comparison, where other N inputs refer to organic amendments such as digestates. Field conditions of the experimental site showed a positive water balance and fit with IPCC conditions for wet climates (IPCC, 2019). Greenhouse gas emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> were transformed to CO<sub>2</sub>-eq. to assess the total global warming potential (GWP) of each digestate. The default values of 296 g  $g^{-1}$  CO<sub>2</sub> for N<sub>2</sub>O and  $24 \text{ g g}^{-1} \text{ CO}_2$  for CH<sub>4</sub> were applied to the measured emissions. Ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) volatilization within the first 72 h was derived from the ALFAM2 model to calculate potential indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Hafner et al., 2019). The model is used to predict NH3-N losses within the first 72 h from animal slurry and therefore holds a higher uncertainty for digestates. Digestate NH3-N losses mainly served as an indicator for the amount of indirect N2O emissions. Indirect emissions from NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching were not

accounted for. According to IPCC (2019) 1% of NH<sub>3</sub>-N losses was assumed to be re-deposited as N<sub>2</sub>O-N. Soil organic C stocks were presumed to be stable over the experimental period, thus,  $CO_2$  fluxes were not considered for the calculation of total GWP (Herr et al., 2020).

Water filled pore space (WFPS) was calculated by Equation (6) using the measured volumetric water content ( $WC_{vol}$ ) and porosity (P),

$$WFPS (\%) = \frac{WC_{vol}}{P} * 100 \tag{6}$$

where *P* is depicted as soil bulk density ( $\rho$ d) and solid particle density ( $\rho$ s) (Equation 7). For  $\rho$ s the density of quartz (2.65 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) was assumed.

$$P(\%) = \left(1 - \frac{\rho d}{\rho s}\right) * 100 \tag{7}$$

For each year, a regression analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes was calculated, using a stepwise forward selection in a multiple linear regression approach. Air temperature (2 m height), WFPS and CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes were included as independent variables within the model (8). Only significant variables remained in the model ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) and the square root of the partial  $R^2$  was determined. Same regression procedure was applied for cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O and <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions within each year separately. For this approach the

effect of digestate composition was determined, using  $NH_4^+$ -N share, and the ratios C/N and  $C_{org}/N_{org}$  in model (9).

$$y_{it} = \mu + \beta_1 temp_t + \beta_2 WFPS_{it} + \beta_3 CO_{2it} + b_{it} + e_{it} \quad (8)$$

$$y_i = \mu + \beta_1 C N_i + \beta_2 C_{org} N_{org_i} + \beta_3 N H_{4i} + b_i + e_i$$
 (9)

where  $y_i$  is the observation of the *i*<sup>th</sup> digestate treatment,  $\mu$  represents the average response,  $\beta_n$  are the parameters of fixed effects,  $b_i$  is the complete block effect and  $e_i$  is the error of  $y_i$ .

Significant differences among treatments for cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, as well as <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O and total Nd (%) were determined by the Proc MIXED procedure and the Tukey test ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ). The MIXED procedure can fit various mixed linear models to data and produces the appropriate statistics (SAS Institute Inc, 2015). All statistical analyses were performed with SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary NC, USA). Graphics were produced with SigmaPlot 11.0 (Systat Software GmbH, Erkrath, Germany).

#### RESULTS

#### **Meteorological Conditions**

Weather conditions showed distinct differences in precipitation between the 2 experimental years. Over the 1st and 2nd year, 183 and 178 mm of precipitation were measured during the 55 and 58 days when the experiment lasted, respectively (**Figure 1**). Within





**TABLE 3** | Output of (stepwise forward) regression analysis for N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes in the 1st and 2nd year, testing for the inclusion of parameters  $CO_2$  flux, water filled pore space (WFPS), and soil temperature into the model (model 8).

Year	Partial R <sup>2</sup>			$R^2$	Model R <sup>2</sup>	F-value	p-value
	WFPS	Soil temp	CO <sub>2</sub>	Σ			
1st year	0.2064			0.281	0.207	160	<0.001
			0.0693		0.277	58.7	< 0.001
		0.0048			0.282	4.08	0.0438
2nd year	0.1574			0.209	0.166	117	< 0.001
		0.0459			0.213	36.1	< 0.001
			0.0053		0.218	4.22	0.0404

the first 30 days of measurements the rainfall pattern differed, showing 155 mm in the 1st compared to 86.2 mm precipitation in the 2nd year. In the 1st year, two strong rainfall events occurred on day 12 (33.2 mm) and day 22 (39.5 mm). In contrast, the 2nd year showed lower rainfall events on day 6 and 27 with 18.8–22.2 mm, and two stronger events at the end of the experiment on day 51 and 52 (32.2–27.4 mm). The mean air temperature over the experimental period was 17.1°C in the 1st and 18.0°C in the 2nd year.

#### Temporal N<sub>2</sub>O Fluxes

Nitrous oxide fluxes measured in the 2 experimental years showed distinct differences in peak number and flux magnitude. In both years N<sub>2</sub>O pulses occurred directly after digestate fertilization and after strong rainfall events (Figure 1). Three major peaks were detected in the 1st year: one directly after digestate application, the second and third peak after 13 and 24 days, and a minor peak after 1 week, following strong rainfall events on day 12 and 23. Highest N<sub>2</sub>O flux rate in the 1st year was measured with the SBL treatment on day 13 (1,260  $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). In the 2nd year, the N<sub>2</sub>O pulse developing directly after N fertilization did not reach the same magnitude as in the 1st year and appeared 1 day later. Highest N2O flux in the 2nd year followed a rainfall event 1 week after digestate application reaching up to 424  $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> with SB (**Figure 1**). The peak decreased sharply in case of SB, and gradually until day 14 for the other digestates. After another strong rainfall event on day 22 (2nd year), only FW showed a slight  $N_2O$  rise (38  $\mu$ g  $N_2O$ -N  $m^{-2} h^{-1}$ ). Approaching the end of the experiment, 50 days after digestate application, a small peak (5.22–21.9  $\mu$ g N<sub>2</sub>O N m<sup>-2</sup>  $h^{-1}$ ) was noted within 4 days of continuous rainfall (Figure 1).

In both years, WFPS showed a significant positive linear correlation with N<sub>2</sub>O flux rates, r = 0.400 (p < 0.001) and r = 0.454 (p < 0.001) in the 1st and 2nd year, respectively. Similarly, CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes correlated with N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes, exhibiting r = 0.233 (p < 0.001) in the 1st year, and a weaker coefficient of correlation in the 2nd year (r = 0.144, p < 0.001). Soil temperature showed a negative correlation with N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (r = -0.340; p < 0.001) in the 2nd year, but no significant correlation in the 1st year. All parameters (WFPS, soil temperature and CO<sub>2</sub>) combined in a linear regression model (model 8) could account

for 28.1 to 20.9 % of the prediction of  $N_2O$  fluxes in the 1st and 2nd year, respectively (**Table 3**).

#### Temporal <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O Fluxes

Total N<sub>2</sub>O and digestate derived  $^{15}\rm N-N_2O$  fluxes in the 1st year are shown in Figure 2 and the 2nd year data are shown in Figure 3. A comparable trend was observed for both  $^{15}\rm N_{t^-}$  and  $^{15}\rm NH_4^+$ -N-labeled digestates in each year, with variations in flux magnitude of  $^{15}\rm N-N_2O$  among digestates (Supplementary Tables 2, 3).

In the 1st year, the emerging peak directly after digestate application showed a low <sup>15</sup>N signature, indicating that 92.4-96.5% of N2O was derived from soil internal N sources (Supplementary Table 2). Within the first 10 days after digestate application, <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes showed no significant differences among treatments (Supplementary Table 2). Only on day 7, a small peak in <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O (13-87 µg <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) appeared, and SB showed significantly higher emissions than M, OW, FW, and CS. On that day,  $\sim 18-30\%$  of N<sub>2</sub>O-N was derived from digestates (Figure 2 and Supplementary Table 2). During the highest peak on day 13, a significant proportion of digestate-based N<sub>2</sub>O-N (31-59%) was emitted. Highest <sup>15</sup>N- $N_2O$  among digestates was measured with SBL (539 µg  $^{15}N_{-}$ N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>), not significantly different from G (338  $\mu$ g  $^{15}$ N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). Following the two peaks on day 7 as well as on day 13, lower total N2O and <sup>15</sup>N-N2O fluxes were measured, but the share of digestate-derived N was still relatively high (Supplementary Table 2). The last major peak appeared on day 24 (10–114  $\mu$ g <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>), with 10-27% N<sub>2</sub>O-N originating from digestates. Flux rates peaking on day 24 were comparable among most treatments, and only OW exhibited significantly higher flux rates than SB. Prior to peaks of day 24, OW already indicated a rising flux rate on day 20, being significantly higher than all digestates, except G and FW. The flux rate further increased on day 22, where OW significantly exceeded all other treatments (Figure 2 and Supplementary Table 2). Within the first 3 weeks of measurements, flux pattern of CS digestate significantly differed from the other treatments, where <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O gradually increased after 7 days and reached its maximum on 13 (Figure 2). At both peaks, on day 13 and 24,  ${}^{15}N-N_2O$ flux rates of CS were in a comparable range (48-40 µg  $^{15}$ N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). The 2nd year showed a similar temporal pattern in <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O abundance over the duration of the experiment. The first pulse after digestate application was observed 2 days after application with more than 80% soilborne N2O-N. Only CS showed lower soil-borne N2O-N, thus highest digestate derived N<sub>2</sub>O-N (45%) among digestates (Supplementary Table 3). The major peak in total N<sub>2</sub>O and <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O appeared after 1 week (Figure 3), with highest <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O flux measured in G (189  $\mu$ g <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) showing 67% digestate-derived N. In contrast, 28-36% of N2O-N was emitted from the other digestate treatments on that day (Supplementary Table 3). From day 7 to day 18, <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O gradually decreased for all digestates to 0.3-20 µg <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $m^{-2} h^{-1}$ , except for M being significantly higher (66.1  $\mu$ g <sup>15</sup>N- $N_2O-N m^{-2} h^{-1}$  on day 18). From day 18 through 29, the M



**FIGURE 2** Mean daily N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (total) and digestate-derived <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (<sup>15</sup>N) within the 1st year Digestates from maize (M), grass (G) sugar beet (SB), and sugar beet leaves (SBL) were <sup>15</sup>N<sub>1</sub>-labeled (mineral and organic N) and digestates based on cattle slurry (CS), organic waste (OW), and food waste (FW), were <sup>15</sup>N-labeled only in the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N pool. Error bars indicate the standard error (n = 4).



**FIGURE 3** | Mean daily N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (total) and digestate-derived <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (<sup>15</sup>N) within the 2nd year Digestates from maize (M), grass (G) sugar beet (SB), and sugar beet leaves (SBL) were <sup>15</sup>N-labeled (mineral and organic N) and digestates based on cattle slurry (CS), organic waste (OW), and food waste (FW), were <sup>15</sup>N-labeled only in the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N pool. Error bars indicate the standard error (n = 4).



**FIGURE 4** | Total cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O-N emissions derived from digestate ( $^{15}N-N_2O$ ) 55 (1st year) and 58 days (2nd year) after digestate application. In both years, measurements were conducted from May to July. Unfertilized soil served as control. Digestates from cattle slurry (CS), organic waste (OW), food waste (FW) were  $^{15}N$ -labeled only in NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>-N; digestates based on grass (G), maize (M), grass (G), sugar beet (SB), and sugar beet leaves (SBL) were  $^{15}N_t$ -labeled (mineral and organic N). Error bars show standard error (n = 4). Different letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 (Tukey Test); Capital letters refer to total N<sub>2</sub>O and small letters to  $^{15}N-N_2O$ .

Year	Total cumulative N <sub>2</sub> O-N		Cumulative	<sup>15</sup> N-N <sub>2</sub> O-N	Primed N <sub>2</sub> O-N		
	1st	2nd	1st	2nd	1st	2nd	
			g N	ha <sup>-1</sup>			
Control	$312\pm54\mathrm{c}$	$133\pm28~\mathrm{b}$					
Nt -labeled digest	ates						
Maize	$1,166 \pm 137 \text{ ab}$	$690\pm68\mathrm{a}$	$250\pm73~abc^{\$}$	$203\pm29a\text{AB}$	$604\pm82~\mathrm{ab}$	$354\pm48~\mathrm{ns}$	
Grass	$1,293 \pm 167 \text{ ab}$	$676\pm88\mathrm{a}$	$434\pm102~ab^{\$}$	$255\pm33aA$	$547\pm119~\mathrm{ab}$	$289\pm56~\mathrm{ns}$	
Sugar beet	$1,201 \pm 308 \text{ ab}$	643±114a	$251 \pm 99 \text{ abc}^{\$}$	$116\pm38$ b B	$638\pm209~\mathrm{ab}$	$394\pm78~\mathrm{ns}$	
Sb-leaves	$1,580 \pm 211  a$	$602\pm65\mathrm{a}$	$465\pm92~a^{\$}$	$127\pm13\mathrm{b}\mathrm{B}$	$804 \pm 121  a$	$343\pm55\mathrm{ns}$	
NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N -labeled di	igestates						
Organic waste	$1,244 \pm 142 \text{ ab}$	$697\pm105\mathrm{a}$	$315\pm79~abc^{\$\$}$	$118 \pm 42  b^{\S\S}$	$617\pm77~\mathrm{ab}$	$446\pm84~\mathrm{ns}$	
Food waste	$1,060 \pm 129 \mathrm{b}$	$545\pm97\mathrm{a}$	$221\pm63~bc^{\$\$}$	$94.2 \pm 27.8 \ b^{\$\$}$	$528\pm95~\mathrm{ab}$	$318\pm121~\mathrm{ns}$	
Cattle slurry	$822 \pm 81 \text{ b}$	$496 \pm 74  a$	$133 \pm 30 \text{ c}^{\$\$}$	106 ± 17 b <sup>§§</sup>	$376\pm57$ b	$257\pm60~\mathrm{ns}$	

TABLE 4 | Total cumulative N2O-N, <sup>15</sup>N-N2O-N emissions, and primed N2O-N emissions after 55 (1st) and 58 days (2nd year).

Unfertilized soil as control and application of Nt -labeled or NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N -labeled digestates. Mean values  $\pm$  standard error (n = 4). Different letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 (Tukey Test), ns = no significant differences. Small letters represent statistical differences among all treatments. For cumulative <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O-N, large letters refer to significant differences only among N<sub>t</sub>-labeled or NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N-labeled digestates.

 $^{\$}$ no significant differences among N<sub>t</sub> -labeled labeled digestates, when excluding NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>-N-labeled digestates.

\$ no significant differences among NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>-N-labeled digestates, when excluding  $N_t$ -labeled digestates.

treatment continued to show higher  $^{15}N$  fluxes compared with the other digestates, even though these emission rates were quite low (from 1.1 to 2.7  $\mu g$   $^{15}N\text{-}N_2\text{O-}N$  m $^{-2}$  h $^{-1}$ ).

# Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O and <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O Evolution and Emission Factors

Total cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in the 1st year  $(302-1,345 \text{ g} \text{ N}_2\text{O}-\text{N} \text{ ha}^{-1})$  were more than twice as high as in the 2nd year  $(124-613 \text{ g} \text{ N}_2\text{O} \text{ ha}^{-1})$  (Figure 4 and Table 4). In both years,

digestates lead to significantly higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions than the unfertilized control. Differences among digestates were observed only in the 1st year, with significantly higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions for SBL compared to CS and FW (**Figure 4**). Compared to total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, digestate-based <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions indicated larger differences between the different treatments in both years (**Figure 4**). In the 1st year, G and SBL emitted significantly more <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O than CS, while all other treatments did not differ significantly. In the 2nd year, highest <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emission was

Year	Tota	al Nd	N <sub>2</sub> O emis	sion factor
	1st	2nd	1st	2nd
		%	, 0	
N <sub>t</sub> -labeled digestates				
Maize	$20.3\pm4.2~{ m bc}~{ m B}$	$29.3\pm2.6~\text{ab}~\text{B}$	$0.50\pm0.08~\mathrm{ab}$	$0.33\pm0.05~\text{ns}$
Grass	$32.9\pm5.5aA$	$37.8\pm1.1aA$	$0.58 \pm 0.10 \text{ ab}$	$0.32\pm0.05~\text{ns}$
Sugar beet	$18.2\pm3.8~{ m bc}~{ m B}$	$16.8\pm2.8~{ m bc}~{ m C}$	$0.52 \pm 0.18 \text{ ab}$	$0.30\pm0.07~\text{ns}$
Sb-leaves	$28.8\pm1.8~\text{ab}~\text{B}$	$21.2\pm1.3cC$	$0.75 \pm 0.12  a$	$0.29\pm0.04~\text{ns}$
NH <sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> -N -labeled digesta	ites			
Organic waste	$24.2 \pm 4.1 \text{ abc}^{\$}$	$16.5 \pm 4.8  \mathrm{c^{\$}}$	$0.55 \pm 0.08 \text{ ab}$	$0.33\pm0.06~\text{ns}$
Food waste	$20.1 \pm 4.1 \text{ bc}^{\$}$	$20.7\pm7.0~\text{bc}^{\$}$	$0.44 \pm 0.08 \text{ ab}$	$0.24\pm0.06~\text{ns}$
Cattle slurry	$15.7 \pm 2.4 \text{ c}^{\$}$	$21.6 \pm 1.9 \text{ bc}^{\$}$	$0.30 \pm 0.05$ b	$0.21 \pm 0.04 \ {\rm ns}$

TABLE 5 | Share of digestate derived N<sub>2</sub>O-N on total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Total Nd) and N<sub>2</sub>O-N emission factors after 55 (1st) and 58 days (2nd year).

Mean values  $\pm$  standard error (n = 4). Different letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 (Tukey Test), ns = no significant differences. Small letters represent statistical differences among all treatments For total Nd, large letters refer to significant differences only among N<sub>t</sub>-labeled or NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>-N-labeled digestates.

 $^{\$}$ no significant differences among NH $^{+}_{4}$ -N-labeled digestates, when excluding N<sub>t</sub> -labeled digestates.

measured with G and M, while all  $NH_4^+$ -N-labeled digestates OW, FW and CS, as well as SB and SBL were comparable. Calculated amounts of primed N<sub>2</sub>O-N showed that significant higher N<sub>2</sub>O-N losses were induced by SBL compared with CS in the 1st year (**Table 4**). In the 2nd year, there were no significant differences among digestates. Total Nd emitted by the digestates was 16–33% in the 1st, and 17–38% in the 2nd year (**Table 5**). Grass digestate tended to show the highest share of digestate derived Nd in both years.

There was no correlation of digestate properties (C/N,  $C_{org}/N_{org}$ ,  $NH_4^+$ -N/N<sub>t</sub>) with N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The respective digestate characteristics did not help to predict cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O or <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in a multiple (stepwise forward) linear regression model (model 9).

According to IPCC guidelines, ~0.6% of the annual amount of total N of organic amendments applied as fertilizer is lost as N<sub>2</sub>O-N in wet climates (IPCC, 2019). In the 1st year, most digestates approached this IPCC EF within only 55 days and SBL even exceeded it with 0.75% (**Table 5**). Only FW and CS indicated lower EFs than the IPCC default value in the 1st year, with 0.44 and 0.30%, respectively. Related to the overall lower cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions of the 2nd year, mean N<sub>2</sub>O EFs were below 0.33% and in a comparable range for all digestates.

Total <sup>15</sup>N recovery within cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O and soil N at the end of the experiment was 10–57% and 27–64% in the 1st and 2nd year, respectively (**Supplementary Table 4**). The largest share of digestate <sup>15</sup>N remained in the soil.

#### **Total Global Warming Potential**

Cumulative CH<sub>4</sub>-C emissions were significantly higher in the 1st year compared to the 2nd. In both years, unfertilized soil served as CH<sub>4</sub> sink (-147 to -184 g CH<sub>4</sub>-C ha<sup>-1</sup>) (**Table 5**). Within the 1st year, emissions among digestates ranged between 0.26 and 1.82 kg CH<sub>4</sub>-C ha<sup>-1</sup> and decreased in the following order SBL  $\geq$  CS  $\geq$  FW, OW, SB  $\geq$  M, G  $\geq$  control. In the 2nd year, digestates as well as unfertilized soil were comparable

**TABLE 6** | Modeled NH<sub>3</sub>-N losses over the first 72 h after application (ALFAM2 model) and total cumulative  $CH_4$  fluxes of digestates and unfertilized soil (control) after 55 (1st) and 58 days (2nd year).

	NH <sub>3</sub> -N		Total cumulative CH <sub>4</sub>			
	1st year	2nd year	1st year	2nd year		
	kg NH₃-N ha <sup>−1</sup>		kg CH₄-C ha <sup>−1</sup>			
Control			$-0.184 \pm 0.202 \ d$	$-0.147 \pm 0.106^{\text{ns}}$		
Maize	6.2	0.5	$0.360 \pm 0.231  \text{cd}$	$-0.0369\pm 0.044^{\text{ns}}$		
Grass	5.3	0.4	$0.257\pm0.133\text{cd}$	$0.0171 \pm 0.122^{\text{ns}}$		
Sugar beet	2.8	0.5	$0.848\pm0.068~\text{bc}$	$-0.0608 \pm 0.067^{\text{ns}}$		
Sugar beet leaves	3.2	0.5	$1.82 \pm 0.394  a$	$0.0778 \pm 0.129^{\text{ns}}$		
Organic waste	3.9	0.4	$0.767\pm0.142~\text{bc}$	$-0.0518 \pm 0.075^{\text{ns}}$		
Food waste	4.8	0.5	$0.671 \pm 0.106 \ \text{bc}$	$-0.0876 \pm 0.057^{\text{ns}}$		
Cattle slurry	5.1	0.4	$1.29\pm0.369~\text{ab}$	$0.0550 \pm 0.079^{\text{ns}}$		

For CH<sub>4</sub>, mean values  $\pm$  standard error (n = 4). Different letters indicate significant differences in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions at p < 0.05 (Tukey Test); ns = no significant differences.

and digestates indicated  $CH_4$ -C emissions close to zero (Table 6).

In both years, the release of  $CO_2$ -eq after digestate application was significantly higher than in the control (**Table 7**). Significant differences among digestates were only noted in the 1st year, where SBL caused significantly higher total  $CO_2$ -eq. than M, FW, and CS. In both years, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions made up the largest share in total GHG emissions, based on  $CO_2$ -eq, above 85.6% in the 1st and almost 100% in the 2nd year.

#### DISCUSSION

#### Temporal N<sub>2</sub>O and <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O Fluxes

The high temporal variability of  $N_2O$  fluxes in this study, with increased flux rates after application of crop residues or organic fertilizers and after rainfall events, was similarly documented in

**TABLE 7** Carbon dioxide equivalents (CO<sub>2</sub>-eq.) of unfertilized soil (control) and soil after application of different digestates, originating from maize, grass, sugar beet, sugar beet leaves, organic waste, food waste, and cattle slurry, based on cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) after 55 (1st) and 58 days (2nd year); and indirect N<sub>2</sub>O emission as NH<sub>3</sub>-N volatilization over 72 h after application.

Year	Treatment	Share	Share of total CO <sub>2</sub> -eq.				
		$N_2O$ direct $N_2O$ indirect <sup>§</sup> C		CH <sub>4</sub>			
			%		kg ha <sup>−1</sup>		
1st	Control	103	-	-3.45	139 c		
	Maize	92.9	5.17	1.91	583 b		
	Grass	94.7	4.13	1.16	634 ab		
	Sugar beet	91.9	2.60	5.48	599 ab		
	Sugar beet leaves	90.7	1.92	7.34	808 a		
	Organic waste	93.5	3.06	3.42	618 ab		
	Food waste	91.1	4.32	4.62	540 b		
	Cattle slurry	85.6	5.51	8.87	447 b		
2nd	Control	104	-	-3.88	62.3 b		
	Maize	100	0.746	-0.55	322 a		
	Grass	101	0.632	-1.44	314 a		
	Sugar beet	98.6	0.831	0.56	303 a		
	Sugar beet leaves	101	0.867	-1.59	278 a		
	Organic waste	100	0.606	-0.14	325 a		
	Food waste	98.3	0.981	0.76	258 a		
	Cattle slurry	101	0.877	-1.49	231 a		

Different letters indicate significant differences at p < 0.05 (Tukey Test).

§indirect emissions only based on NH<sub>3</sub> loss, nitrate leaching was not accounted for.

other experiments (Pfab et al., 2012; Herr et al., 2019). Ultimately, N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes leveled off 30 days after digestate application in both years with drying of the soil during warm periods with low rainfall. Dry conditions with low WFPS have often been reported to result in low N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from arable soils even if these soils were well-provided with microbial easily degradable C and available N (Möller and Stinner, 2009; Pezzolla et al., 2012). However, in the 2nd year strong rainfall events were recorded 50 days after digestate application and only caused a minor increase in N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (**Figure 1**). Hence, digestate-related effects were short-term and had the highest impact on N<sub>2</sub>O release within the first 30 days after application.

#### First Peak After Digestate Application

Peaks evolving shortly after organic N fertilizer application, such as digestates or manures, have been reported by several studies (Wulf et al., 2002; Johansen et al., 2013; Holly et al., 2017). As indicated by <sup>15</sup>N measurements in both years, the first N<sub>2</sub>O peak after digestate application showed a low <sup>15</sup>N abundance, demonstrating that more than 90% of N<sub>2</sub>O-N was derived from soil N (**Figures 2, 3**). However, the experimental setup does not allow for a differentiation between nitrification and denitrification. Therefore, we can only conclude that the first N<sub>2</sub>O peak was mainly derived from soil N. The high share of soil-borne N suggests that the addition of OM positively affected microbial activity which further enhanced the turnover of native soil-N, as also stated by Schleusner et al. (2018).

Furthermore, digestate or slurry application moistened the soil close to the applied fertilizer, another factor that has been shown to promote denitrification of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N (Comfort et al., 1990). Moreover, CO<sub>2</sub> flux rates were elevated directly after digestate fertilization (Supplementary Figure 1), supporting the assumption of increased microbial activity which further stimulated denitrification of NO<sub>3</sub> by O<sub>2</sub> depletion (Buchen-Tschiskale et al., 2020). However, these are only speculations, as soil N<sub>min</sub> and its <sup>15</sup>N-signature was not measured during the experiment. It should also be considered that digestates contain carbonate-C (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup>): the higher the total N content, the higher the carbonate-C content (Georgacakis et al., 1982). Carbonate-C in the digestates can also contribute to soil CO2 release within the 1st days after application (Chen et al., 2011). For example, carbonate-C release from digestates can occur after application to acidic soils (Chen et al., 2011), which is not the case in present study, or due to microbial turnover processes (Tamir et al., 2013). Therefore, the immediate effects of digestate application on soil microbial activity and the related CO<sub>2</sub> release might be masked by decomposition of carbonate-C to CO<sub>2</sub>. In order to elucidate the driving processes related to the N turnover processes in the soil shortly after digestate application, a more detailed measurement of the pathways of the different fractions of soil and digestate N (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, N<sub>org</sub>), as well as digestate C (C<sub>org</sub>, carbonate-C), is necessary.

#### **Rainfall-Induced Peaks**

The emission pattern found in present study strongly coincided with the precipitation pattern, providing a major indication that the environmental conditions are the main driving factor for soil  $N_2O$  fluxes. Also the unfertilized control showed a significant increase in  $N_2O$  flux rates after rainfall, whereas almost no fluxes were observed in dry periods. The occurrence of increased  $N_2O$ fluxes in conjunction with heavy rainfall events, hence a high soil WFPS, is typical for arable fields and has extensively been described in the literature (Pfab et al., 2011; Senbayram et al., 2014; Ruser et al., 2017).

# Contribution of Digestate N and Soil N Pool to N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions

The largest rainfall-induced N<sub>2</sub>O peaks in both years, had also the highest <sup>15</sup>N abundance, with up to 56–66% of N<sub>2</sub>O-N derived from the digestate (Figures 3, 4 and Supplementary Tables 2, 3). Although it was shown that even at a high soil moisture of 70% WFPS nitrification may also contribute to the N<sub>2</sub>O-release from soils (Ruser et al., 2006), the positive correlations between  $N_2O$ flux rates and CO<sub>2</sub> flux rates as well as between N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes and soil moisture (Table 3) indicate that denitrification is the driving process releasing N<sub>2</sub>O after rainfall. The contribution of denitrification to the N2O release generally increases with increasing soil moisture (Davidson, 1991). When compared to soil air, the  $\sim 10^{-4}$  lower diffusion coefficient for atmospheric O2 in soil water (Heincke and Kaupenjohann, 1999) restricts O<sub>2</sub> delivery, the creation of anaerobic conditions is favored. Similarly, the turn-over of fresh OM, as indicated by the increased CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes, further depletes O<sub>2</sub> availability and thus fuels anaerobiosis (Flessa and Beese, 1995).

The largest peaks evolved 13 (1st year) and 7 days (2nd year) after digestate application, where presumably digestate NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>-N was already nitrified (Johansen et al., 2013) and available for denitrification, thus, explaining the high share of digestate-based N<sub>2</sub>O-N. Senbayram et al. (2009) observed that nitrification of <sup>15</sup>N-labeled digestate rapidly increased 1 week after application in a pot experiment initiating a rise in N2O flux rates, as also noted in our study. It cannot be excluded that beside denitrification also nitrification contributed a share of the measured N<sub>2</sub>O. Yet, Köster et al. (2011) measured the intramolecular <sup>15</sup>N distribution in N<sub>2</sub>O within a 43-days incubation experiment, showing that bacterial denitrification was the main process emitting N2O after application of food waste digestate, driven by C availability. This is in line with other studies, reporting that the largest N<sub>2</sub>O-N contribution of digestates was caused by denitrification, even at 65% WHC (Senbayram et al., 2009). Later N2O peaks (1st year, day 24) showed lower <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes, hence indicating an increasing share of N<sub>2</sub>O from soil-internal N. This shift in <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O abundance over the measuring period indicates increased effects of the soil microbial processes, affecting N availability and N2O emissions, and might result from mineralization of digestate <sup>15</sup>Norg-N and subsequent processes. A comparable shift was observed by Senbayram et al. (2014).

For both,  $NH_4^+$ -N or  $N_t$ -labeled digestates, the low shares of fertilizer-derived  $N_2O$ -N supported the notion that the largest source of  $N_2O$  was native soil N (> 62%, **Table 5**). The open hypothesis of an "enhanced soil-derived  $N_2O$ " stated by Senbayram et al. (2014), regarding the low share of emitted digestate-N, can therefore be confirmed. This triggering effect on  $N_2O$  emissions due to digestate application was accounted for by a simplified calculation via equation 4. The amount of triggered  $N_2O$ -N reflects the high share of soil-derived  $N_2O$ , and was approximately half of total cumulative  $N_2O$  emissions (**Table 4**). Significant differences in primed  $N_2O$ -N among digestates followed the same trend as  $N_2O$  emissions. For  $NH_4^+$ -N-labeled digestates,  $N_2O$ -N losses which might originate from digestate  $N_{org}$ , were not accounted for. Therefore, the amount of primed  $N_2O$ -N might be overestimated.

In general, the rather comparable share of total digestatederived N<sub>2</sub>O-N losses among the digestates with different labeling approaches indicates that digestate-Norg plays only a minor role in short-term N<sub>2</sub>O formation. Senbayram et al. (2014) labeled only the mineral N fraction of a digestate and found 31% of N2O-N was derived from the digestate mineral fraction. The share of digestate-derived N<sub>2</sub>O-N losses among NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub>-N-labeled digestates FW, OW and CS ranged from 15.7 to 24.2% over the 2 years. For these digestates as well as for the digestates in the study of Senbayram et al. (2014) it cannot be excluded that nonlabeled organic N was mineralized and emitted as N2O. However, the Nt-labeled digestates, M, G, SB, and SBL showed a rather comparable range with 18.2-37.8% digestate-N being emitted as  $N_2O$  over the 2 years. Similar to our findings, also other studies reported a higher share of N2O-N originating from the soil N pool than from fertilizer N. For instance, only 22% of N2O-N was derived from <sup>15</sup>N-labeled manure after 22 days (Ingold et al., 2018) or 40.4% from <sup>15</sup>N-urea after 35 days (Roman-Perez and Hernandez-Ramirez, 2020) in incubation experiments. In

a field study,  $NH_4^+$ -N-labeled cattle slurry was applied, which produced higher fertilizer-derived N<sub>2</sub>O emissions within the first 10 days, but higher soil-derived N<sub>2</sub>O 11–22 days after application (Dittert et al., 2001). However, the study was carried out on grassland and using the injection technique (Dittert et al., 2001), which has been reported to increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions compared to trail hose application with immediate incorporation (Herr et al., 2019).

#### N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions Affected by Fertilizer Type

As previously described,  $N_2O$  fluxes were shaped and influenced by weather conditions and soil microbial processes. Environmental conditions and soil type may play a more important role than the fertilizer type, as previously suggested by Senbayram et al. (2014): the authors noted no significant differences in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions between mineral and organic N fertilization. However, in both years, significant differences among digestates were noted on several sampling dates, for N<sub>2</sub>O as well as <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (e.g., flux rates from M digestate vs. fluxes from SB digestate in **Figure 2** and **Supplementary Tables 1–3**), indicating that digestate composition affects N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. This supports hypothesis (1), that digestates from different feedstocks will differ in N<sub>2</sub>O flux rates.

However, regarding cumulative effects, there was no clear indication that the digestate type influenced total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. This was supported by the lack of a significant correlation between digestate composition (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/N, C/N, C<sub>org</sub>/N<sub>org</sub>) and cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O or <sup>15</sup>N<sub>2</sub>O. Only measurements of the 1st year showed significant differences among digestates. Therefore, hypothesis (2) had to be rejected for the 2nd year and could be partly accepted for the 1st year. Yet, when separating cumulative <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O data into N<sub>t</sub>-labeled and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N-labeled digestates, there was a significant effect of C/N ratio in the 1st year, predicting 22.1% of <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions of <sup>15</sup>N<sub>t</sub>-labeled digestates ( $R^2 = 0.36$ , *F*-value = 3.81, *p*-value = 0.077). For the 2nd year,  $C_{org}/N_{org}$  accounted for 39.2% ( $R^2 = 0.56$ , F-value = 9.85, p-value = 0.0094) of <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions among <sup>15</sup>N<sub>t</sub>digestates (M, G, SB, and SBL). Also Abubaker et al. (2013) noted significantly different cumulative N2O emissions after 24 days between two types of urban waste digestates, which were low or high organic C. For  $NH_4^+$ -N-labeled digestates, there was no significant relation of digestate properties to <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Hence, the correlation between digestate properties and N2O emissions seems more strongly related to the total N and Norg content of digestates, than NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N. Regarding the total share of digestate-derived N2O-N (Nd), significant differences among digestates (Table 5) could support hypothesis (3).

Ultimately, the results of the present study suggest that the different digestate types influenced cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O, flux rates and digestate derived N<sub>2</sub>O-N only marginally. Hence, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were more strongly affected by environmental conditions (**Table 3**). The effect of digestate properties on total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions was overlaid to some extent by the high amount of N<sub>2</sub>O from the native soil N pool. Abubaker et al. (2013) incubated two digestates in three soil textures and noted considerable differences regarding emission peaks and cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O-N emissions among digestates, particularly in the sandy soil. In loam, digestates showed comparable total N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Abubaker et al., 2013). Therefore, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions discussed in this study might differ on soils with different soil textures or amendment history (Rosace et al., 2020). In this context, soil texture, soil amendment history and fertility status, especially OM content, plays a crucial role, exceeding the effect of digestate properties.

# Digestate Emission Factors and Practical Consequences

Digestate EFs determined in this study (0.21-0.75%) were all within the range of the IPCC default value, except for SBL in the 1st year (Table 5). However, these EFs will not cover the whole year and might underestimate the total EF of the digestates. Shang et al. (2020) determined 10-30% lower EFs when only the growing season and not the whole year N2O emissions were considered. Moreover, the authors found that the differences between EFs of the whole year and growing season were higher with higher precipitation (Shang et al., 2020). The experimental design of the present study used bare soil, hence there were no crops removing the applied digestate N. Crop N uptake could have decreased available N from the soil as well as soil moisture, which could have lowered digestate-derived N2O emissions and EFs. Thorman et al. (2020) determined annual N2O EFs from different organic amendments, topdressed to a cereal crop (0.15-0.73% in 2011 and 0.27-0.51% in 2012), which were in a comparable range with our EFs. Most digestate EFs did not show significant differences, except SBL compared with CS in the 1st year, thus hypothesis (2) cannot be fully confirmed.

Soil derived N<sub>2</sub>O-N contributed to a large extent to digestate EFs. As a consequence of the high share of N<sub>2</sub>O-N from the native soil pool within the first 30 days after digestate application, crop cultivation should be synchronized with available soil N. In particular, mineral N from the soil pool should be taken up by the crops, before digestates are applied. Thereby, the triggering effect of short-term soil-enhanced N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by digestates could be decreased. For example, N<sub>min</sub> supply in the present study would be sufficient for maize cultivation in the early growth stage. Digestates could then be top-dressed ~1 month after emergence when most of soil M was already taken up by the crop. Also de Neve (2017) emphasized that in ideal cropping systems fertilizer availability and soil mineral N should be synchronized with crop demand, which could mitigate potential N losses.

#### **Experimental Limitations**

Determination of N<sub>2</sub>O isotopomers in the present study, including the  $\delta^{18}$ O and site preference of  $^{15}$ N in the N<sub>2</sub>O molecule, could have helped to understand the underlying soil microbial processes, differentiating between denitrification and nitrification (Köster et al., 2015). Yet, distinguishing nitrifier denitrification from nitrification is not possible using site preference (Köster et al., 2011). A dual isotope labeling approach of  $^{15}$ N and  $^{18}$ O-labeled water would be required

(Koola et al., 2010), which is not feasible in field studies (Baggs, 2008). Also the N<sub>2</sub>O/N<sub>2</sub>O+ N<sub>2</sub> product ratio could have provided a better indication of denitrification in the study (Buchen-Tschiskale et al., 2020). However, measuring N<sub>2</sub> in the field is rather difficult due to the high N<sub>2</sub> background level in the atmosphere, as well as its spatial and temporal heterogeneity (Groffman et al., 2009). Instead N<sub>2</sub> is often studied in incubation experiments using an artificial helium–oxygen atmosphere (Scholefield et al., 1997). Regular soil N<sub>min</sub> and <sup>15</sup>N<sub>min</sub> analysis at the sampling dates could have given a hint for respective microbial processes, but would not have completely identified them. Thus, allocating the specific N<sub>2</sub>O pathways after digestate application in the field is still challenging and needs further research and suitable methods to provide accurate measurements (Well et al., 2019).

## CONCLUSION

The major finding of this study was the large share of N<sub>2</sub>O-N from the soil pool, showing that digestate application triggers "enhanced soil-derived N2O." The major driving forces of the emission pattern are the weather conditions, the specific chemical composition of digestates do have only minor effects on the denitrification. The different <sup>15</sup>N-labeling approaches of the digestates indicate that contribution of the organic fraction seems to be of very low significance for short-term N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The <sup>15</sup>N labeling approach helped to determine the source of N2O emissions, but not the underlying processes (nitrifier denitrification or heterotrophic denitrification). Analysis of isotopomers and N2 is needed to further identify the N<sub>2</sub>O-releasing microbial processes in the soil. Emission factors were comparable for most digestates, but reached and even exceeded the default IPPC EF (0.6%) within only 60 days in the 1st year.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Materials**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FH prepared original draft, including statistical analysis, and graph production. RR supported calculation of global warming potential, provided guidance, and new input for determination of indirect  $N_2O$  emissions. The basis for the experimental idea was based on KM, with further contribution by RR regarding design of the field experiment, sampling frequency, and measurement technique. IC-M supported calculation of  $^{15}N$  abundance in  $N_2O$  from IRMS data. FH and IC-M conducted the experiment. All authors reviewed and proofread the whole manuscript and gave critical feed-back to all sections.

## FUNDING

The experiment was conducted with financial support of the BMEL and the Fachangentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe (FNR) e.V. within the project FNR Gärresteigenschaft.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The anaerobic batch digestion of <sup>15</sup>N-labeled plant substrates was performed by the State Institute of Agricultural Engineering and Bioenergy at the University of Hohenheim with the support of the director Dr. Oechsner and the scientist Natalie Böttcher. Analysis of substrates and soil *via* IRMS, was done by Elke Dachtler, and <sup>15</sup>N-gas measurements with support by Wolfgang

### REFERENCES

- Abubaker, J., Odlare, M., and Pell, M. (2013). Nitrous oxide production from soils amended with biogas residues and cattle slurry. J. Environ. Qual. 42, 1046–1058. doi: 10.2134/jeq2012.0247
- Baggs, E. M. (2008). A review of stable isotope techniques for N2O source partitioning in soils: recent progress, remaining challenges and future considerations y. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 22, 1664–1672. doi: 10.1002/rcm.3456
- Brand, W. A. (1995). Precon: a fully automated interface for the PRE-GC concentration of trace gases in air for isotopic analysis. *Isotopes Environ. Health Stud.* 31, 277–284. doi: 10.1080/10256019508036271
- Bremner, J. M. (1997). Sources of nitrous oxide in soils. *Nutr. Cycle Agroecosyst.* 49, 7–16. doi: 10.1023/A:1009798022569
- Brulé, M. (2014). The Effect of Enzyme Additives on the Anaerobic Digestion of Energy Crops. (Dissertation), University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany.
- Buchen-Tschiskale, C., Hagemann, U., and Augustin, J. (2020). Soil incubation study showed biogas digestate to cause higher and more variable short-term N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub> fluxes than mineral-N. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 183, 208–219. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201900075
- Cavalli, D., Cabassi, G., Borrelli, L., Geromel, G., Bechini, L., Degano, L., et al. (2016). Nitrogen fertilizer replacement value of undigested liquid cattle manure and digestates. *Eur. J. Agron.* 73, 34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2015.10.007
- Chadwick, D. R., Pain, B. F., and Brookman, S. K. E. (2000). Nitrous oxide and methane emissions following application of animal manures to grassland. J. Environ. Qual. 29, 277–287. doi: 10.2134/jeq2000.00472425002900010035x
- Chen, R., Senbayram, M., Lin, X., and Dittert, K. (2011). Origin of positive 813C of emitted CO2 from soils after application of biogas residues. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 43, 2194–2199. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.07.003
- Ciais, P., Sabine, C., Bala, G., Bopp, L., Brovkin, V., Canadell, J., et al. (2013). "Carbon and other biochemical cycles," in *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change*, eds T. F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P. M. Midgley (Cambridge; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- Comfort, S. D., Kelling, K. A., Keeney, D. R., and Converse, J. C. (1990). Nitrous oxide production from injected liquid dairy manure. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 54, 421–427. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1990.03615995005400020021x
- Corden, C., Bougas, K., Cunningham, E., Tyrer, D., Kreißig, J., Zetti, E., et al. (2019). Digestate and Compost as Fertilisers: Risk Assessment and Risk Management Options. 121,128, B2, D13. Available online at: https://ec. europa.eu/environment/chemicals/reach/pdf/40039%20Digestate%20and %20Compost%20RMOA%20-%20Final%20report%20i2\_20190208.pdf (accessed December 21, 2020).
- Davidson, E. A. (1991). "Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosystems," in Microbial Production and Consumption of Greenhouse Gases: Methane, Nitrogen Oxides and Halomethanes, eds J. E. Rogers, and W. B. Whitman (Washington, DC: American Society of Microbiology), 219–335.

Armbruster and IC-M. Gas sampling in the field was supported by IC-M, Regina Roth, and student assistants. We are grateful for the help with flux calculation by Christina Herr and RR, as well as the experimental support by Heidi Zimmermann and the working group 340i. Our gratitude to Hans Buegger, from Helmholtz Zentrum Muenich for providing <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O standards for IRMS gas measurements, and supporting calculation of <sup>15</sup>N-N<sub>2</sub>O.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs. 2020.614349/full#supplementary-material

- de Neve, S. (2017). "Organic matter mineralization as a source of nitrogen BT advances in research on fertilization management of vegetable crops," in, eds *F. Tei, S. Nicola, and P. Benincasa (Cham: Springer International Publishing),* 65–83. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-53626-2\_3
- DIN 10693 (2014). Soil quality Determination of carbonate content Volumetric method (ISO 10693:1995). German version EN ISO 10693:2014.
- Dittert, K., Bol, R., King, R., Chadwick, D., and Hatch, D. (2001). Use of a novel nitrification inhibitor to reduce nitrous oxide emission from 15N-labelled dairy slurry injected into soil. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 15, 1291–1296. doi: 10.1002/rcm.335
- Engels, C. (1999). Regulation of xylem transport of calcium from roots to shoot of maize by growth-related demand. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 162, 287–294.
- FAO (2020). FAOSTAT Emissions Shares. Available online at: www.fao.org/faostat/ en/#data/REM (accessed August 20, 2020).
- Flessa, H., and Beese, F. (1995). Effects of sugarbeet residues on soil redox potential and nitrous oxide emission. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 59, 1044–1051. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1995.03615995005900040013x
- Flessa, H., and Beese, F. (2000). Laboratory estimates of trace gas emissions following surface application and injection of cattle slurry. J. Environ. Qual. 29, 262–268. doi: 10.2134/jeq2000.00472425002900010033x
- Flessa, H., Dörsch, P., and Beese, F. (1995). Seasonal variation of N2O and CH4 fluxes in differently managed arable soils in southern Germany. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 100, 23115–23124. doi: 10.1029/95JD02270
- Fouda, S., Von Tucher, S., Lichti, F., and Schmidhalter, U. (2013). Nitrogen availability of various biogas residues applied to ryegrass. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 176, 572–584. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201100233
- Fuß, R., and Asger, R. P. (2014). Greenhouse Gas Flux Calculation From Chamber Measurements. R Packag. Version 0.1. Available online at: https://bitbucket.org/ ecoRoland/gasfluxes/src/master/ (accessed August 8, 2016).
- Georgacakis, D., Sievers, D. M., and Iannotti, E. L. (1982). Buffer stability in manure digesters. *Agric. Wastes* 4, 427–441. doi: 10.1016/0141-4607(82)90038-5
- Granli, T., and Bøckman, O. C. (1994). Nitrous oxide from agriculture. Nor. J. Agric. Sci. Suppl. 12, 1–128.
- Groffman, P. M., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Fulweiler, R. W., Gold, A. J., Morse, J. L., Stander, E. K., et al. (2009). Challenges to incorporating spatially and temporally explicit phenomena (hotspots and hot moments) in denitrification models. *Biogeochemistry* 93, 49–77. doi: 10.1007/s10533-008-9277-5
- Guilayn, F., Rouez, M., Crest, M., Patureau, D., and Jimenez, J. (2020). Valorization of digestates from urban or centralized biogas plants: a critical review. *Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol.* 19, 419–462. doi: 10.1007/s11157-020-0 9531-3
- Gutser, R., Ebertseder, T., Weber, A., Schraml, M., and Schmidhalter, U. (2005). Short-term and residual availability of nitrogen after long-term application of organic fertilizers on arable land. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 168, 439–446. doi: 10.1002/jpln.200520510
- Guzman-Bustamante, I., Winkler, T., Schulz, R., Müller, T., Mannheim, T., Laso Bayas, J. C., et al. (2019). N2O emissions from a loamy soil cropped with winter

wheat as affected by N-fertilizer amount and nitrification inhibitor. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosystems* 114, 173–191. doi: 10.1007/s10705-019-10000-9

- Hafner, S. D., Pacholski, A., Bittman, S., Carozzi, M., Chantigny, M., Génermont, S., et al. (2019). A flexible semi-empirical model for estimating ammonia volatilization from field-applied slurry. *Atmos. Environ.* 199, 474–484. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2018.11.034
- Heincke, M., and Kaupenjohann, M. (1999). Effects of soil solution on the dynamics of  $N_2O$  emissions: a review. *Nutr. Cycle Agroecosyst.* 55, 133–157. doi: 10.1023/A:1009842011599
- Herr, C., Mannheim, T., Müller, T., and Ruser, R. (2019). Effect of cattle slurry application techniques on N<sub>2</sub>O and NH3 emissions from a loamy soil. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 182, 964–979. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201800376
- Herr, C., Mannheim, T., Müller, T., and Ruser, R. (2020). Effect of nitrification on N<sub>2</sub>O effect of nitrification inhibitors on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions after cattle slurry application. *Agron. J.* 40, 876–884. doi: 10.3390/agronomy100 81174
- Holly, M. A., Larson, R. A., Powell, J. M., Ruark, M. D., and Aguirre-Villegas, H. (2017). Greenhouse gas and ammonia emissions from digested and separated dairy manure during storage and after land application. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 239, 410–419. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.02.007
- Hutchinson, G. L., and Mosier, A. R. (1981). Improved soil cover method for field measurement of nitrous oxide fluxes. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 45, 311–316. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1981.03615995004500020017x
- Ingold, M., Khanal, G., Dyckmans, J., Wachendorf, C., and Buerkert, A. (2018). NH<sub>3</sub> volatilization, N<sub>2</sub>O emission and microbial biomass turnover from 15Nlabeled manure under laboratory conditions. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 49, 537–551. doi: 10.1080/00103624.2018.1431271
- IPCC (2019). 2019 Refinement To the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. eds S. Calvo Buendia, E. Tanabe, K. Kranjc, A. Baasansuren, J. Fukuda, M. Ngarize, et al. (Switzerland: IPCC).
- IUSS Working Group (2015). World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014, Update 2015. International Soil Classification System for Naming Soils and Creating Legends for Soil Maps. World Soil Resources Reports No. 106. Rome: FAO.
- Johansen, A., Carter, M. S., Jensen, E. S., Hauggard-Nielsen, H., and Ambus, P. (2013). Effects of digestate from anaerobically digested cattle slurry and plant materials on soil microbial community and emission of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 63, 36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2012.09.003
- Koola, D. M., Wragec, N., Zechmeister-Boltensternd, S., Pfefferd, M., Brusa, D., van Groenigen, J. W., et al. (2010). Special issue article Nitrifier denitrification can be a source of N<sup>2</sup>O from soil: a revised approach to the dual-isotope labelling method. *Eur. J. Soil Sci.* 61, 759–772. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2389.2010.01270.x
- Köster, J. R., Cárdenas, L., Senbayram, M., Bol, R., Well, R., Butler, M., et al. (2011). Rapid shift from denitrification to nitrification in soil after biogas residue application as indicated by nitrous oxide isotopomers. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 43, 1671–1677. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.04.004
- Köster, J. R., Cárdenas, L. M., Bol, R., Lewicka-Szczebak, D., Senbayram, M., Well, R., et al. (2015). Anaerobic digestates lower  $N_2O$  emissions compared to cattle slurry by affecting rate and product stoichiometry of denitrification—An  $N^2O$  isotopomer case study. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 84, 65–74. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.01.021
- Möller, K. (2015). Effects of anaerobic digestion on soil carbon and nitrogen turnover, N emissions, and soil biological activity. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 35, 1021–1041. doi: 10.1007/s13593-015-0284-3
- Möller, K., and Müller, T. (2012). Effects of anaerobic digestion on digestate nutrient availability and crop growth: a review. *Eng. Life Sci.* 12, 242–257. doi: 10.1002/elsc.201100085
- Möller, K., and Stinner, W. (2009). Effects of different manuring systems with and without biogas digestion on soil mineral nitrogen content and on gaseous nitrogen losses (ammonia, nitrous oxides). *Eur. J. Agron.* 30, 1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.eja.2008.06.003
- Mönch-Tegeder, M., Lemmer, A., Jungbluth, T., and Oechsner, H. (2014). Effects of full-scale substrate pretreatment with a cross-flow grinder on biogas production. Agric. Eng. Int. CIGR J. 16, 138–147.
- Petersen, S. O. (1999). Nitrous oxide emissions from manure and inorganic fertilizers applied to spring barley. *J. Environ. Qual.* 28, 1610–1618. doi: 10.2134/jeq1999.0047242500280005 0027x

- Petersen, S. O., Nissen, H. H., Lund, I., and Ambus, P. (2003). Redistribution of slurry components as influenced by injection method, soil, and slurry properties. J. Environ. Qual. 32, 2399–2409. doi: 10.2134/jeq2003.2399
- Pezzolla, D., Bol, R., Gigliotti, G., Sawamoto, T., López, A. L., Cardenas, L., et al. (2012). Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from soils amended with digestate derived from anaerobic treatment of food waste. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 26, 2422–2430. doi: 10.1002/rcm.6362
- Pfab, H. (2011). Nitrous oxide emission and mitigation strategies—measurements on an intensively fertilized vegetable cropped loamy soil. (Dissertation). University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany.
- Pfab, H., Palmer, I., Buegger, F., Fiedler, S., Müller, T., and Ruser, R. (2011). N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from a Haplic Luvisol under intensive production of lettuce and cauliflower as affected by different N-fertilization strategies. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.* 174, 545–553. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201000123
- Pfab, H., Palmer, I., Buegger, F., Fiedler, S., Müller, T., and Ruser, R. (2012). Influence of a nitrification inhibitor and of placed N-fertilization on N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from a vegetable cropped loamy soil. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 150, 91–101. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.01.001
- R Core Team (2016). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rochette, P., Angers, D. A., Chantigny, M. H., Gagnon, B., and Bertrand, N. (2008). N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes in soils of contrasting textures fertilized with liquid and solid dairy cattle manures. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 88, 175–187. doi: 10.4141/CJSS06016
- Roman-Perez, C. C., and Hernandez-Ramirez, G. (2020). Sources and priming of N<sub>2</sub>O production across a range of moisture contents in a soil with high organic matter. J. Environ. Qual. doi: 10.1002/jeq2.20172. [Epub ahead of print].
- Rosace, M. C., Veronesi, F., Briggs, S., Cardenas, L. M., and Jeffery, S. (2020). Legacy effects override soil properties for CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O but not CH<sub>4</sub> emissions following digestate application to soil. *GCB Bioenergy* 12, 445–457. doi: 10.1111/gcbb.12688
- Ruser, R., Flessa, H., Russow, R., Schmidt, G., Buegger, F., and Munch, J. C. (2006). Emission of N<sub>2</sub>O, N<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> from soil fertilized with nitrate: effect of compaction, soil moisture and rewetting. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 38, 263–274. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2005.05.005
- Ruser, R., Flessa, H., Schilling, R., Beese, F., and Munch, J. C. (2001). Effect of crop-specific field management and N fertilization on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from a fine-loamy soil. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 59, 177–191. doi: 10.1023/A:1017512205888
- Ruser, R., Fuß, R., Andres, M., Hegewald, H., Kesenheimer, K., Köbke, S., et al. (2017). Nitrous oxide emissions from winter oilseed rape cultivation. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 249, 57–69. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.07.039
- SAS Institute Inc (2015). SAS/STAT® 14.1 User's Guide. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Schleusner, P., Lammirato, C., Tierling, J., Lebender, U., and Rütting, T. (2018). Primed N2O emission from native soil nitrogen: a 15N-tracing laboratory experiment. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 181, 621–627. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201700312
- Scholefield, D., Hawkins, J. M. B., and Jackson, S. M. (1997). Development of a helium atmosphere soil incubation technique for direct measurement of nitrous oxide and dinitrogen fluxes during denitrification. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 29, 1345–1352. doi: 10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00021-7
- Schouten, S., van Groenigen, J. W., Oenema, O., and Cayuela, M. L. (2012). Bioenergy from cattle manure? *Implications of anaerobic digestion and* subsequent pyrolysis for carbon and nitrogen dynamics in soil. GCB Bioenergy 4, 751–760. doi: 10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01163.x
- Senbayram, M., Chen, R., Mühling, K. H., and Dittert, K. (2009). Contribution of nitrification and denitrification to nitrous oxide emissions from soils after application of biogas waste and other fertilizers. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.* 23, 2489–2498. doi: 10.1002/rcm.4067
- Senbayram, M., Chen, R., Wienforth, B., Herrmann, A., Kage, H., Mühling, K. H., et al. (2014). Emission of N<sub>2</sub>O from biogas crop production systems in Northern Germany. *Bioenergy Res.* 7, 1223–1236. doi: 10.1007/s12155-014-9456-2
- Shang, Z., Abdalla, M., Kuhnert, M., Albanito, F., Zhou, F., Xia, L., et al. (2020). Measurement of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions over the whole year is necessary for estimating reliable emission factors. *Environ. Pollut.* 259:113864. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113864
- Tamir, G., Shenker, M., Heller, H., Bloom, P. R., Fine, P., and Bar-Tal, A. (2013). Organic N mineralization and transformations in soils treated with

animal waste in relation to carbonate dissolution and precipitation. *Geoderma* 209-210, 50-56. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2013.05.028

- Thorman, R. E., Nicholson, F. A., Topp, C. F. E., Bell, M. J., Cardenas, L. M., Chadwick, D. R., et al. (2020). Towards country-specific nitrous oxide emission factors for manures applied to arable and grassland soils in the UK. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 4:62. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.00062
- VDI 4630 (2016). Fermentation of Organic Materials—Characterisation of the Substrate, Sampling, Collection of Material Data, Fermentation Tests. Berlin: The Association of German Engineers (VDI).
- Verdi, L., Kuikman, P. J., Orlandini, S., Mancini, M., Napoli, M., and Dalla Marta, A. (2019). Does the use of digestate to replace mineral fertilizers have less emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and NH<sub>3</sub>? *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 269–270, 112–118. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.02.004
- Well, R., Maier, M., Lewicka-Szczebak, D., Köster, J. R., and Ruoss, N. (2019). Underestimation of denitrification rates from field application of the 15N gas flux method and its correction by gas diffusion modelling. *Biogeosciences* 16, 2233–2246. doi: 10.5194/bg-16-2233-2019

- Wulf, S., Maeting, M., and Clemens, J. (2002). Application technique and slurry cofermentation effects on ammonia, nitrous oxide, and methane emissions after spreading, J. Environ. Qual. 31, 1795. doi: 10.2134/jeq2002.1795
- Zirkler, D., Peters, A., and Kaupenjohann, M. (2014). Elemental composition of biogas residues: variability and alteration during anaerobic digestion. *Biomass Bioenergy* 67, 89–98. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.04.021

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Häfner, Ruser, Claß-Mahler and Möller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From Residues of Oat and Grass Pea Cover Crops Cultivated in the US Southern Great Plains

Hardeep Singh<sup>1\*</sup>, Tanka P. Kandel<sup>2</sup>, Prasanna H. Gowda<sup>3</sup>, Brian K. Northup<sup>4</sup> and Vijaya G. Kakani<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Plant and Soil Sciences, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK, United States, <sup>2</sup> Noble Research Institute, LLC, Ardmore, OK, United States, <sup>3</sup> United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service Southeast Area, Stoneville, MS, United States, <sup>4</sup> United States Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service Grazinglands Research Laboratory, El Reno, OK, United States

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Dietmar Schwarz, Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Jacobo Arango, International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT), Colombia Pauline Chivenge, International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), Philippines

> \*Correspondence: Hardeep Singh hardeep.singh@okstate.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 10 September 2020 Accepted: 31 December 2020 Published: 10 February 2021

#### Citation:

Singh H, Kandel TP, Gowda PH, Northup BK and Kakani VG (2021) N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From Residues of Oat and Grass Pea Cover Crops Cultivated in the US Southern Great Plains. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 4:604934. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.604934

Grass pea (Lathyrus sphaericus) and oat (Avena sativa) are potential cover crops for spring periods of summer crop systems in the US Southern Great Plains (SGP). The main objective of this study was to compare nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions from residues of grass pea and oat grown as green nitrogen (N) crops. The comparisons included responses from plots cultivated with oat, grass pea, and control (spring-fallowed) plots. Two management options were applied to grass pea: residues retained and aboveground biomass removed for forage. Crabgrass (Digitaria sanguinalis) was cultivated as a main summer crop immediately after termination of the cover crops. Fluxes of N<sub>2</sub>O were measured by closed chamber connected to a portable gas analyzer on 23 dates during a 3 month growing period for crabgrass. At termination, oat produced more aboveground biomass than grass pea (2.17 vs. 3.56 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), but total N in biomass was similar (102–104 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) due to greater N concentrations in grass pea than oat (4.80% vs. 2.86% of dry mass). Three month cumulative emissions of N2O from grass pea-incorporated plots (0.76  $\pm$  0.11 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup>; mean  $\pm$  standard error, n = 3) were significantly lower than from oat-incorporated plots (1.26  $\pm$  0.14 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup>). Emissions from grass pea plots with harvested biomass (0.48  $\pm$  0.04 kg  $N_2O-N$  ha<sup>-1</sup>) were significantly lower than those from grass pea-incorporated plots. Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from control plots were significantly greater than those from grass pea-harvested plots but were similar to the emissions from grass pea-incorporated plots. Yields produced by crabgrass were similar from all cover crop treatments (8.65-10.46 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), but yield responses to the control (18.53 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) were significantly larger. Nitrogen concentrations in crabgrass were greater in response to oat- and grass pea-incorporated plots (2.86-2.87%) than in grass pea-harvested (1.93%) and control (1.44%) plots. In conclusion, the results indicated that (i) post-incorporation emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O can be greater from a non-legume green N crop than a legume green N crop due to greater biomass productivity of the cereal, and (ii) emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O could be mitigated by removing biomass of the green N crop for use as forage.

Keywords: nitrogen mineralization, crabgrass, biomass decomposition, forage, cover crop, residue

# INTRODUCTION

Interest in including cover crops in production systems used in the US Southern Great Plains (SGP) has been increasing. Cover crops are seen to provide a number of environmental services, including reducing soil erosion, improving soil aggregation and infiltration, suppressing weeds, increasing the pool of nitrogen (N) in soils, reducing leaching and runoff, and increasing soil organic matter (Snapp et al., 2005; Foster et al., 2017). The predominant cropping systems used by producers in the SGP are different forms of winter wheat-summer fallow rotations and are generally applied in continuous rotations (Decker et al., 2009). However, warm-season crop-winter fallow rotations are also utilized in some years to increase income (Decker et al., 2009; Aiken et al., 2013). The warm-season-winter fallow systems can be used to cultivate cool-season legumes or grasses with short growing seasons (generally spanning March-May) as cover crops or green N sources to support a summer cash crop (Biederbeck et al., 1993; Singh et al., 2019a).

A major issue with growing green N crops to support subsequent cash crops is depletion of available soil moisture by the green N crops (Nielsen et al., 2015). Precipitation in the SGP is extremely erratic in terms of timing and amounts received (Singh et al., 2019b). Further, irrigation is limited to a small amount of the total land area of the SGP. Therefore, the selected N crop should not excessively deplete soil moisture, as this water use could reduce yield of following cash crops, such as corn (Zea mays), sorghum (Sorghum bicolor), or annual forage grasses (Singh et al., 2019b). Given the limitations of available water in rainfed systems, spring-planted crops with short growing seasons have potential as cover or green N crops within summer cropping systems of the SGP. Among the candidates are grass pea (Lathyrus sphaericus), a grain legume, and oat (Avena sativa), a cereal grass. Rao et al. (2005, 2007) reported grass pea as an adaptable crop suited to the dry conditions in the SGP. Legumebased cover crops can fix atmospheric N and serve as a N sources for following summer crops. However, both legume and nonlegume species can contribute to increased N in soil pools by reducing losses through leaching, runoff, and gaseous emissions (White et al., 2017).

One key aspect for the success of cover crops grown as nutrient sources for following crops is the synchronization between nutrient mineralization from decomposing residues and the demand for nutrients by the following recipient crops (Myers et al., 1994; Kandel et al., 2019a,b). Due to short growing seasons, spring-planted cover crops have low carbon (C)/N ratios at termination as compared to fall-planted cover crops with long growing seasons. These low C/N ratios may result in rapid biomass decomposition and N mineralization after termination (Kandel et al., 2019b). However, rapid decomposition and N mineralization from residues of cover crops prior to establishment of the following crop may contribute to large losses of N as emissions of nitrous oxide (N2O), a highly potent greenhouse gas (Huang et al., 2004; Basche et al., 2014; Kandel et al., 2018). Heavy or frequent rainfall events are common during the late spring in the US SGP, which is also the termination period of spring-planted cover crops. Such simultaneous increases in soil concentrations of mineral N and moisture after termination of cover crops could be conducive for denitrification, a major microbial pathway for N<sub>2</sub>O production (Kandel et al., 2018). Therefore, a better understanding of how interactions between types of cover crops and their management, combined with patterns of precipitation during spring, impact N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from decomposing biomass of cover crops is important to defining N losses to the atmosphere (Hoorman et al., 2009).

Nitrogen mineralization from decomposing biomass and resulting soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions can be influenced by the type of the cover crop (Basche et al., 2014). Legume cover crops in general contribute greater N<sub>2</sub>O emissions compared to nonlegumes due to increased pools of N from biological fixation (Baggs et al., 2000). Additionally, legume biomass generally has low C/N ratios, decompose rapidly, and deplete soil O<sub>2</sub> concentrations during decomposition, a condition conducive to denitrification (Aulakh et al., 1991; Thilakarathna et al., 2016). However, since spring-planted cereals used as cover crops are generally terminated before flowering, and C/N ratios and lignin concentrations can be low enough for rapid decomposition, thereby resulting in high N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

One potential strategy recommended for limiting N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from residues of cover crops is removal of aboveground biomass as forage, instead of incorporating into the soil as N sources (Li et al., 2015; Kandel et al., 2019a). Beef cattle are a major agricultural commodity in the US SGP, so harvesting biomass for forage could be profitable by lowering risks of forage shortages in dry years, which are common in the region (Holman et al., 2018). However, biomass removal will also result in the removal of the major portion of biomass (Biederbeck et al., 1993; Kandel et al., 2019b). Therefore, biomass removal of cover crops may impact the growth of following crops due to reduced N supply, if N is not supplied from external sources (Kandel et al., 2019a).

Although interest in cover crops is increasing in the US SGP, there is limited information on influences of the residues of type of cover crops on N2O fluxes after termination of the cover crops. Additionally, although large fluxes of N2O after termination of legume-based cover crops have been reported (Kandel et al., 2018), there is limited information on how to mitigate post-incorporation soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from residues of cover crops through management strategies. Therefore, we tested influences of type of cover crop (legume vs. cereal) and a management strategy (incorporation vs. harvest) for legume residues on post-incorporation fluxes of N2O. The objective of this study was to compare post-incorporation emissions of soil N<sub>2</sub>O from residues of spring-grown legume (grass pea) and non-legume (oat) cover crops within a summer-based system of forage production in the US SGP. We hypothesized that (i) emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O would be lower from decomposing oat residue than grass pea residue, and (ii) emissions of N2O could be mitigated by harvesting legume biomass for forage, compared to incorporating the biomass to supply N to following forage grass.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Experimental Site and Soil Properties**

This field study was conducted at the USDA-ARS Grazinglands Research Laboratory near El Reno, OK, USA  $(35^{\circ}34'21'' \text{ N}, 98^{\circ}02'12'' \text{ W}; 411 \text{ m}$  elevation). The study was conducted during the March–August time period of 2018 and included growth periods of both spring green N and recipient summer hay crops. The study site was situated on an upper terrace of the bottomland area of the North Canadian River drainage basin (Goodman, 1977). The soils for the site were classified as Brewer silty clay loams (fine, mixed, superactive, thermic Udertic Argiustolls). The top soils had average pH of 6.9 and bulk density of 1.35 Mg m<sup>-3</sup>. Brewer series are among the most fertile soils in the Canadian River basin. Average soil organic C and N contents of the sites were 1.31 and 0.10%, respectively (USDA-NRCS, 1999). The topsoil (0–0.15 m) had particle fractions of 18% sand, 52% silt, and 30% clay.

# Experimental Design and Crop Management

The experiment consisted of 12 plots  $(4 \text{ m} \times 3 \text{ m})$  arranged in a completely randomized design. Grass pea was planted on six plots, and oat was planted on three plots on March 10, while three plots were left fallow during spring as a control treatment. Three oat and grass pea plots were terminated by tillage (disked once to ~10 cm depth and roto-tilled once) on May 18 to incorporate biomass of green N crops. Grass pea biomass from the remaining three plots was harvested manually on the same day. Grass pea in these plots was harvested to 1.0 cm aboveground, and only the roots were incorporated. Crabgrass was then planted on all plots at a rate of 5 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> at 0.03-m-spaced rows on May 19.

A long dry spell (>1 month) started 7 days after crabgrass was sown. This dry period restricted the growth of crabgrass, and plants showed severe symptoms of water shortage. Therefore, the plots were irrigated with 30-mm water on days 23 and 64 after termination of cover crops. The entire area of the plots, except that covered by collars placed to measure N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (described in the following section), was irrigated with a sprinkler system. Irrigation inside collars was subsequently applied using a watering can for application of precise amounts of water.

# Measurements of Yield and Quality of Cover Crop Biomass

Total aboveground biomass of grass pea was determined by harvesting all biomass from the 12 m<sup>2</sup> areas of plots (n = 3)assigned to harvest treatments. Biomass produced by oat was determined by harvesting biomass from 1 m<sup>2</sup> areas of each plot (n = 3). Samples of root biomass of oat and grass pea were collected by shovel to a depth of 15 cm from the sampled areas of plots, and the soil was cleaned manually by washing samples through a 2.0 mm sieve under running water. Biomass samples (roots and shoots) from both green manures were oven-dried at 60°C to constant weight in a forced draft oven to determine the amount of dry matter. The major portion of dried biomass (except small subsamples retained for chemical analysis) was returned to the same 1 m<sup>2</sup> sampled areas after determination of biomass productivity. The  $1 \text{ m}^2$  areas where biomass was sampled for productivity and quality were not used for measurement of gas fluxes, soil properties, or biomass productivity of the following summer crop. Samples used in chemical analysis were ground through a 1-mm screen by Wiley mill for analyses.

Biomass samples were analyzed for total C, N, and cell wall components (cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin). Concentrations of C and N were assayed by flash combustion (900°C for 10 min) method (Model VarioMacro, Elementar Americas, Inc., Mt. Laurel, NJ, USA). Neutral detergent fiber (NDF), acid detergent fiber (ADF), and acid detergent lignin (ADL) were determined by the Van Soest and Wine (1967) method. Concentrations of cellulose were calculated as the difference between ADF and ADL and hemicellulose as the difference between NDF and ADF. The ADL fraction was presented as lignin concentration.

#### **Gas Flux Measurements**

N<sub>2</sub>O and carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) fluxes were measured on 23 dates at irregular intervals using a closed chamber system during May 19 to August 16, 2018. Fluxes were measured frequently (often daily) after rainfall (>5 mm) and irrigation events to capture N<sub>2</sub>O emission peaks observed after moisture inputs but less frequently during dry periods (longest interval 15 days) when conditions conducive to N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were not present, and emissions remained close to zero. In each plot (total n = 12), a white painted steel collar (0.65 m × 0.65 m = 0.42 m<sup>2</sup>) was inserted to a 0.10 m depth immediately after tillage operations and planting of crabgrass. These collars had a 0.04 m-wide outer flange to support the top chamber used for flux measurements. During flux measurements, a white-colored PVC chamber (0.70 m × 0.70 m × 0.21 m) was placed on the permanently installed collars.

During chamber enclosure, air in the chamber headspace was mixed using two small battery-driven fans. Air in the chamber headspace was circulated through 3.0 mm inlet and outlet tubing to a portable Fourier transform infrared-based gas analyzer (DX4040; Gasmet Technology Oy, Helsinki, Finland). The concentrations of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> were recorded at 20-s intervals, resulting in 18–24 data points during 6–8 min enclosures for each measurement period. All fluxes were measured between 10:00 and 12:00 on days of measurement (Kandel et al., 2018).

Fluxes were calculated by linear regression using the routine developed by Kutzbach et al. (2007). Based on visual inspection of the  $CO_2$  flux curve, the first few records after chamber enclosure were discarded as dead-band. Total cumulative emissions of  $N_2O$  during the measurement period were calculated using linear interpolation of measured fluxes between the measurement dates.

### **Measurements of Environmental Variables**

Soil temperatures were recorded continuously at 1-h intervals in one of the control plots using TMC-6 soil sensors (Onset Computer Corporation, Bourne, USA). Three soil sensors were placed at 0.05-, 0.10, and 0.15 m soil depths, and the average temperature of the three depths is presented. Air temperature and precipitation data for the study period were obtained from a weather station (Oklahoma Mesonet, Oklahoma Climatological Survey) located roughly 1.0 km from the study site. Volumetric water content (VWC) was continuously recorded at hourly intervals in the same control plot where soil temperature was recorded using soil moisture sensors (model EC-10; Meter Environment, Pullman, WA). Three sensors were inserted at soil depths of 0–0.05, 0.05–0.10, and 0.10–0.15 m, and an average of three sensors is presented. The VWC was presented as water-filled pore space (WFPS) calculated as relative VWC at saturation. Although some influence of applied treatments on the magnitude of soil moisture and temperature was expected, the dynamics of these variables were mostly expected to be similar. Therefore, temperature and moisture measurements at the control plot were presented to show the dynamics of these variables at the study site.

### **Analyses of Soil Samples**

To determine the concentrations of nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) in soils, samples were collected from all plots at the 0–0.15 m depth on all 23 dates of flux measurements. Two soil cores (diameter, 0.02 m) were taken within 0.10-m distance from opposite sides of the collars and pooled to form a composite sample for analyses. Aliquots of samples were extracted in 1.0 M KCl, and the flow injection method (Timberline Instruments, Boulder, CO, USA) was used to determine the concentrations of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>.

# Measurements of Plant Growth, Yield, and Quality of Crabgrass

Canopy reflectance was measured periodically inside the collars using a portable spectro-radiometer (PSR-3500; Spectral Evolution, Lawrence, USA) to monitor the growth of crabgrass non-destructively. Ratio vegetation index (RVI) was calculated as a ratio of canopy reflectance at red and near-infrared (656 and 779 nm, respectively) wavelengths.

All biomass of crabgrass inside the collars was harvested manually on August 16, 2018. The biomass was oven-dried at  $60^{\circ}$ C to constant weight, and the dried biomass was milled to pass through a 1-mm sieve. Concentration of N in biomass of crabgrass was determined by flash combustion (900°C for 10 min) method. The amount of N uptake per hectare in crabgrass biomass was calculated as a product of biomass yield and N concentration.

### **Statistical Analysis**

The data are presented as averages and standard errors of three plots from a treatment. The differences of measured fluxes among the treatments were determined using a mixed model in SAS 9.4 (SAS Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The normality of data was tested using Shapiro–Wilk test, and homogeneity of variances was tested using Levene's test. The effect of sampling dates was included in the model and treated as repeated measurements for the measured dynamic variables. Effects of applied treatments on dynamics of measured N<sub>2</sub>O were analyzed by the model:

$$Y_{tdb} = \mu + \alpha_t + \beta_d + (\alpha\beta)_{td} + C_b + E_{tdb}$$

where  $Y_{tdb}$  is the dependent variable for treatment t, day d, and block b;  $\mu$  is the overall mean response;  $\alpha_t$ ,  $\beta_d$ , and  $(\alpha\beta)_{td}$  are

the fixed effect of treatment, measurement date, and interaction between day and treatment. The terms  $C_b$  and  $E_{tdb}$  are the random effects of block and residuals, respectively. For the variables without measured dynamics (cumulative emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and biomass yield, N concentrations, and N uptake by crabgrass), the effects of applied treatments were analyzed using a similar model without measurement date. Contrasts were used for pairwise comparisons at the 5% level.

Pearson correlation coefficients (*R*) were applied to test for relationships between accumulated  $CO_2$  and  $N_2O$  emissions 7 days (prior to emergence of crabgrass) after cover crop incorporation and to test for correlations of  $N_2O$  emissions and soil variables (soil moisture, concentrations of  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$ ). Averages of the soil variables and  $N_2O$  emissions across treatments at 23 measurement dates were used for the test.

## RESULTS

## **Cover Crop Yield and Biomass Properties**

Grass pea produced 2.17 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> aboveground biomass with N concentrations of 4.81%, resulting in 104.37 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (**Table 1**). Additionally, grass pea produced 0.30 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> root biomass containing 7.86 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. Oat produced 1.6 times greater (P < 0.05) amounts of aboveground biomass (3.56 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) than grass pea but had 1.6 times lower N concentration (2.86%), which resulted in similar (P > 0.05) amounts of N in aboveground biomass (101.81 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>). Yield of root biomass (0.40 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) and its N content (1.81%) in oat were similar to amounts noted for grass pea. The amount of N in root biomass represented <7% of N in total biomass for both species. Cellulose concentrations were similar (P > 0.05) in both crops, but hemicellulose concentrations were significantly greater (P < 0.05) in oat biomass, and lignin concentrations were significantly (P < 0.05) greater in grass pea.

### **Environmental Conditions**

Average daily air temperatures during the 90 day period of flux measurement ranged between 18 and  $33^{\circ}$ C, while average daily soil temperatures ranged between 21 and  $35^{\circ}$ C (**Figure 1A**). The average air temperatures for the months of May and June at the study site were 23.2 and 26.2°C, respectively, which was 2.8 and 1.1°C, respectively, higher than long-term (1977–2019) averages for both months (**Supplementary Figure 1a**). In contrast, the average air temperatures of July (27.4°C) and August (25.9°C) were 0.7 and 1.7°C lower than the long-term averages for those months.

A 15-mm rainfall was recorded within the first 2 days after soil incorporation of cover crops, followed by a prolonged period without precipitation (**Figure 1B**). Thereafter,  $\sim$ 87 mm of rainfall was recorded in mid-June, while a long dry period occurred during the month of July, with  $\sim$ 33 mm of rainfall received toward the end of the month. The remaining precipitation events were recorded toward the end of the study period in mid-August.

Due to the heavy rainfall event that occurred at the beginning of the study, WFPS was higher for the first few days but decreased

Properties	Grass pea			Oat		
	Shoot	Root	Total	Shoot	Root	Total
Biomass yield (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	2.17	0.30	2.20b <sup>x</sup>	3.56	0.40	3.60 <sup>a</sup>
N concentrations (% of DM)	4.81	2.62	3.71ª	2.86	1.81	2.33 <sup>b</sup>
C concentrations (% of DM)	46.32	49.44	47.88 <sup>b</sup>	53.67	57.06	55.36ª
C/N	9.62	18.87	12.90 <sup>b</sup>	18.76	31.52	23.75 <sup>a</sup>
Total N in biomass (kg ha <sup>-1</sup> )	104.37	7.86	112.23ª	101.81	7.24	109.05 <sup>a</sup>
Cellulose (% of DM)	22.63	20.81	21.72ª	23.01	21.15	22.08ª
Hemicellulose (% of DM)	8.11	7.82	7.96 <sup>b</sup>	19.46	16.90	18.18 <sup>a</sup>
Lignin (% of DM)	8.71	14.01	11.36ª	5.73	10.41	8.07 <sup>b</sup>

**TABLE 1** | Average (n = 3) yield and chemical composition of grass pea and oat grown as green N crops.

<sup>x</sup> different letters within a row are statistically different (P < 0.05).

C, carbon; DM, dry matter; N, nitrogen.

thereafter due to a long drought. Amounts of soil moisture increased significantly after all major rainfall or irrigation events.

Total precipitation during the months of May, June, and July was 50, 93, and 33 mm, respectively, which was 93, 27, and 34 mm lower than the long-term (1977–2019) average precipitation for those months [143 ( $\pm$  88), 120 ( $\pm$  63), and 67 ( $\pm$  45) mm for May, June, and July, respectively] (**Supplementary Figure 1b**). However, total precipitation in August (109 mm) was 30 mm greater than long-term average [79 ( $\pm$ 149) mm]. In total, ~230 mm of rainfall was recorded at the study sites when flux measurements were recorded during May through August compared to 409 ( $\pm$ 63) mm for the long-term average. Therefore, this study was undertaken during a drought-affected summer (56% of long-term precipitation). However, the 60 mm of supplemental irrigation reduced some of this rainfall deficit.

#### Dynamics of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions

 $CO_2$  emissions were greater from the oat- and grass peaincorporated plots than the control or grass pea-harvested plots during the first week after incorporation (**Figure 1C**). The emission rates declined subsequently with declining WFPS but increased slightly after the first irrigation event. Greater  $CO_2$ fluxes were recorded from control plots than the plots cultivated with cover crops during days 35–72 after biomass incorporation, as crabgrass grew better in response to the control treatment during the drought period.

Amounts of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were greater from plots with residue incorporated compared to emissions from the control and grass pea-harvested plots, indicating that the decomposing residues of green N crops contributed to N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (**Figure 1D**). The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from control and grass pea-harvested plots approximated zero until 22 days after soil incorporation, but few rainfall-induced peaks were recorded thereafter. Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O were observed after rainfall or irrigation events until 85 days after soil incorporation, but emissions did not increase during the last measurement date, which occurred after two successive rainfall events that provided >25-mm moisture. Average emissions from oat-incorporated plots (14.02 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) were significantly greater (*P* < 0.05) than average emissions from the grass pea-incorporated

plots (8.52 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>). Likewise, average N<sub>2</sub>O emissions across measurement dates from grass pea-incorporated plots were significantly greater than the average emissions from grass pea-harvested plots (5.36 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>).

#### **Dynamics of Soil Mineral N**

Soil  $NH_4^+$  concentrations remained low and stable in response to all treatments during the first 20 days of the study but increased after the first irrigation event on day 23 (**Figure 1E**). Effects of sampling dates on soil  $NH_4^+$  concentrations were significant, while there were no significant differences between applied treatments except three sampling dates (days 12, 19, and 27). Soil  $NH_4^+$  concentrations were significantly greater in oatand grass pea-incorporated plots compared to concentrations in control and grass pea-harvested plots on days 12 and 19 after soil incorporation. On day 27 after soil incorporation, soil  $NH_4^+$ concentrations were significantly greater in oatincorporated plots than that in response to the other treatments.

There were decreases in soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations on days 66 and 84 after soil incorporation (**Figure 1F**). Average soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations across sampling dates remained statistically similar among the treatments, ranging between 10.84 and 13.38 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil. Additionally, the average of weekly NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations and amount of soil moisture were significantly (P < 0.05) correlated with average weekly N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, with Pearson's correlation coefficient (R) of 0.28, 0.24, and 0.33, respectively (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

#### Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions

The cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from the oat-incorporated plots were significantly greater (P < 0.05) than emissions from other treatments (**Figure 2**). Additionally, cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from grass pea-incorporated and control plots were 58–66% greater (P < 0.05) than cumulative emissions from grass peaharvested plots (**Figure 2**). There was no significant difference between cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from grass pea-incorporated and control plots. The recorded CO<sub>2</sub> emissions during the first 7 days of the study primarily represented heterotrophic respiration due to the absence of green plants. Cumulative emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from individual collars at this time correlated (R







= 0.97; P < 0.0001) strongly with each other, indicating rapid contribution of decomposing biomass of cover crops to N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes (**Figure 3**).

## Biomass Growth, Yield, and N Concentrations and Uptake of Crabgrass

Biomass growth of crabgrass measured as RVI was significantly greater (P < 0.05) from the control plots on days 41 and 46 after incorporation of cover crops compared to the other treatments and remained nominally greater thereafter (**Figure 4**). Crabgrass germination occurred in all plots 7 days after planting, but growth by crabgrass on plots assigned to spring cover crops was severely affected by drought. Crabgrass expressed classic symptoms of drought stress, including dark bluish-green rolled leaves and small plant size. A rapid increase in RVI was observed on control plots after irrigation on day 23, while such increases were observed in response to the other treatments after a rainfall on day 45.

The biomass yield of crabgrass in response to the control was roughly twice (P < 0.05) the yields generated by crabgrass in response to cover crops (**Figure 5A**). The N concentrations of crabgrass biomass produced on grass pea- and oat-incorporated plots were significantly greater than concentrations in crabgrass biomass produced by the control and grass pea-harvest treatments (**Figure 5B**). However, there were no significant differences among treatments for total N accumulated in crabgrass biomass (Figure 5C).

### DISCUSSION

Our hypothesis of lower  $N_2O$  emissions from decomposing oat residue than the grass pea residue was rejected, as results showed the opposite. In particular, emissions from oat-cultivated plots were greater than from grass pea-cultivated plots during the first 2 weeks after soil incorporation. Generally, greater amounts of  $N_2O$  emissions are expected from decomposing legume residues, as N in low C/N ratio legume residues mineralizes rapidly after soil incorporation, increasing amounts of  $NO_3^-$  in soil pools, which serves as a substrate for denitrification (Baggs et al., 2000; Huang et al., 2004; Gomes et al., 2009; Basche et al., 2014). However, this response was not observed in the current study.

A possible reason for the greater level of  $N_2O$  emissions from the oat treatment could be the greater amounts of C provided by oat biomass at termination, which increased the amounts of mineralizable C for denitrification as indicated by greater  $CO_2$ fluxes (Cameron et al., 2013). Additionally, since the amount of N in oat biomass was comparable to that in biomass of grass pea, oats scavenged available soil N that was released by denitrification after termination. Therefore, greater denitrification rates due to greater availability of mineralizable C, combined with the large



amounts of N noted in oat biomass, may have contributed to the greater  $N_2O$  emissions from oat-incorporated plots.

This study noted that the cumulative  $N_2O$  emissions from control plots were not significantly different from the  $N_2O$ emissions generated by the grass pea-incorporated plots. A possible explanation for this similarity might be greater accumulation of N by grass pea (through N fixation and scavenging N from soil) during growth than was actively mineralized from biomass after soil incorporation. This assumption was supported by generally greater nitrate availability in control plots during the initial stages of the experiments.

Previous studies have reported that residues of cover crops could enhance  $N_2O$  emissions from agricultural soils after incorporation, though mitigation is possible by management of the residues of cover crops (Sanz-Cobena et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2017; Kandel et al., 2019a; Singh et al., 2020). Residues of cover crops that are incorporated into soil generally increase mineralizable C and  $NO_3^-$  contents in soils, which are conducive

for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Mitchell et al., 2013). In the current study, the increase in mineralizable C in residues within the incorporation treatments was evidenced by greater CO<sub>2</sub> emissions compared to control and grass pea-harvested treatments during the first 7 days of the study (before germination of crabgrass), though average concentrations of soil  $NO_3^-$  remained similar among the treatments. Thereby, it can be deduced in the current study that increased soil-mineralizable C provided by residues of incorporated cover crops had possibly stronger influences on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions than N mineralized from soil-incorporated residues.

Poor responses of growth and yield of crabgrass in response to biomass removal of grass pea might be due to low fertilizer values for the remaining residues, since soil in this study is considered highly fertile. In a nearby site with less fertile soil, biomass removal of hairy vetch (*Vicia villosa*) grown as a green N crop resulted in poor growth and yield of crabgrass in the same season as the current study (Kandel et al., 2019a).



These results from two contrasting sites within the same year indicate management applied to green N crops, such as biomass removal, should be based on soil types and their fertility status.

Yields generated by crabgrass in response to the control treatment were significantly greater than yields generated by treatments that included cover crops. This response was likely due to depletion of available soil moisture by the cover crops. The total precipitation received during the growing period of the cover crops, and the following summer crop, was lower than the long-term average precipitation, although supplemental irrigation was applied to help alleviate some of the deficit. This response indicated that replacing a period of spring fallow with a spring-grown cover crop can negatively affect yields by the following summer crop, particularly during dry years. Such depletion of the limited pools of available soil moisture is a common phenomenon in double-cropped systems throughout the drought-prone US Great Plains (Nielsen et al., 2002; Rao and Northup, 2009; Aiken et al., 2013).

Crabgrass biomass produced on grass pea-incorporated plots contained ~40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> more N than crabgrass produced on grass pea-harvested plots, though these responses were not significantly different. This response indicated that ~39% of N in aboveground biomass of grass pea was transferred to

crabgrass. These transfers indicate some degree of function for soil-incorporated residues of cover crops to serve as organic forms of N fertilizer. However, these levels of transfer are well below levels reported for applied inorganic N. Northup and Rao (2016) reported wheat biomass grown in rotation with summer legume-based green N crops contained 32% ( $\pm 6\%$ ) of the amount of N in hay crops than was recorded in response to the recommended amount of N fertilizer (80 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>). Similar differences were recorded in N accumulated in wheat grain in response to green and inorganic N sources (Kandel et al., 2019b).

The effectiveness of the cover crops as source of N to following crops mainly depends on the amount of N in their biomass (Kaye et al., 2019; Singh et al., 2020). Additionally, the chemical properties of biomass, particularly cell wall fractions that govern decomposition and mineralization, are also important for the transfer of nutrients from residues of cover crops to recipient crops since the amounts of such properties in biomass govern the speed of decomposition by soil microbes (White et al., 2014; Singh et al., 2020). Although we expected better N fertilizer value from grass pea due to biological N fixation and higher N content in biomass, crabgrass performed at similar levels under both grass pea and oat cover crops. This might be due to a greater amount of uptake of soil N and recycling of N to soil by oat than grass pea




since the total amount of N in both crops was similar. Also, oat biomass was terminated at an earlier growth stage ( $\sim$ 60 days after emergence) than full maturity, so the less-mature biomass would decompose rapidly, as noted in the larger CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes compared to responses to grass pea.

## CONCLUSIONS

This study showed that the use of short-duration spring crops that are grown as sources of green N is not a straightforward process, with responses driven by interactions among the chosen crop and its productivity, growing conditions, and availability of soil moisture. We observed that post-incorporation N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were greater from oat crops that were incorporated compared to an incorporated legume-based crop grown for green N. Although greater amounts of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were expected from grass pea, the higher amounts of oat biomass, which provided similar amounts of N per unit area, resulted in greater amounts of mineralizable C that contributed to greater levels of N<sub>2</sub>O production.

We also noted that the form of management applied to the biomass produced by crops has the potential to mitigate the production of greenhouse gases for decomposing residues, though some forms will limit the availability of N for following crops. The 90 day cumulative emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O from the grass pea plots that were harvested generated half the emissions noted from plots where grass pea biomass was incorporated. This response showed that incorporated aboveground biomass of green N crops have the capacity to act as major sources of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and the potential to mitigate these emissions by harvesting biomass for forage.

Results also recorded that yields of crabgrass in response to spring-grown green N crops or as hay, can be negatively affected during years where drought periods occur during spring through summer. Plots receiving spring-planted crops generated half the production of the control plots, which included spring fallowing. This response indicated that replacing spring periods of fallow with short-duration crops grown for green N or hay can severely affect the yield of following summer forages during dry years.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HS and TK contributed to the conceptualization, methodology, and investigation. HS contributed to the formal analysis and writing of the original draft preparation. PG and BN contributed to the resources. TK, PG, BN, and VK contributed to the writing, review, and editing. TK contributed to the supervision. BN and PG contributed to the project administration. PG contributed to the funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This research was partially supported by funds from the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture project 2019-68012-29888.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors would like to recognize ARS technicians Kory Bollinger, Jeff Weik, and Cindy Coy for their assistance in managing experimental sites and collecting, processing, and analyzing samples.

### REFERENCES

- Aiken, R. M., O'Brien, D. M., Olson, B. L., and Murray, L. (2013). Replacing fallow with continuous cropping reduced crop water productivity of semiarid wheat. *Agron. J.* 105, 199–207. doi: 10.2134/agronj2012.0165
- Aulakh, M. S., Doran, J. W., Walters, D. T., and Power, J. F. (1991). Legume residue and soil water effects on denitrification in soils of different textures. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 23, 1161–1167. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(91)90029-J
- Baggs, E. M., Rees, R. M., Smith, K. A., and Vinten, A. J. A. (2000). Nitrous oxide emission from soils after incorporating crop residues. *Soil Use Manage*. 16, 82–87. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2000.tb00179.x
- Basche, A. D., Miguez, F. E., Kaspar, T. C., and Castellano, M. J. (2014). Do cover crops increase or decrease nitrous oxide emissions? A meta-analysis. J. Soil Water Conserv. 69, 471–482. doi: 10.2489/jswc.69.6.471
- Biederbeck, V. O., Bouman, O. T., Looman, J., Slinkard, A. E., Bailey, L. D., Rice, W. A., et al. (1993). Productivity of four annual legumes as green manure in dryland cropping systems. *Agron. J.* 85, 1035–1043. doi: 10.2134/agronj1993.00021962008500050015x
- Cameron, K. C., Di, H. J., and Moir, J. L. (2013). Nitrogen losses from the soil/plant system: a review. *Ann. Appl. Biol.* 162, 145–173. doi: 10.1111/aab.12014
- Decker, J. E., Epplin, F. M., Morley, D. L., and Peeper, T. F. (2009). Economics of five wheat production systems with no-till and conventional tillage. *Agron. J.* 101, 364–372. doi: 10.2134/agronj2008.0159
- Foster, J. L., Muir, J. P., Bow, J. R., and Valencia, E. (2017). Biomass and nitrogen content of fifteen annual warm-season legumes grown in a semi-arid environment. *Biomass Bioenergy* 106, 38–42. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2017.08.016
- Gomes, J., Bayer, C., de Souza Costa, F., de Cássia Piccolo, M., Zanatta, J. A., Vieira, F. C. B., et al. (2009). Soil nitrous oxide emissions in long-term cover crops-based rotations under subtropical climate. *Soil Tillage Res.* 106, 36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2009.10.001
- Goodman, J. M. (1977). "Physical environments of Oklahoma," in *Geography* of Oklahoma, ed J. W. Morris (Oklahoma City, OK: Oklahoma Historical Society), 9–25.
- Holman, J. D., Arnet, K., Dille, J., Maxwell, S., Obour, A., Roberts, T., et al. (2018). Can cover or forage crops replace fallow in the semiarid Central Great Plains? *Crop Sci.* 58, 932–944. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2017.05.0324
- Hoorman, J. J., Islam, R., Sundermeier, A., and Reeder, R. (2009). Using cover crops to convert to no-till. *Crops Soils* 42, 9–13. Available online at: https://ohioline.osu.edu/factsheet/SAG-11
- Huang, Y., Zou, J., Zheng, X., Wang, Y., and Xu, X. (2004). Nitrous oxide emissions as influenced by amendment of plant residues with different C: N ratios. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 973–981. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.02.009
- Kandel, T. P., Gowda, P. H., Northup, B. K., and Rocateli, A. C. (2019a). Incorporation and harvest management of hairy vetch-based green manure influence nitrous oxide emissions. *Renew. Agric. Food Syst.* 35, 1–10. doi: 10.1017/S174217051900019X
- Kandel, T. P., Gowda, P. H., Northup, B. K., and Rocateli, A. C. (2019b). Winter wheat yield and nitrous oxide emissions in response to cowpeabased green manure and nitrogen fertilization. *Exp. Agric.* 56, 239–254. doi: 10.1017/S0014479719000334

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs. 2020.604934/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | (a) Average long-term and study year air temperature for the months of May, June, July, and August. (b) Average long-term and study year precipitation for the months of May, June, July, and August.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Correlation matrices with Pearson's correlation coefficients (R) of nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ) emissions and soil variables on 25 measurement dates during the study period. EC, electrical conductivity.

- Kandel, T. P., Gowda, P. H., Somenahally, A., Northup, B. K., DuPont, J., and Rocateli, A. C. (2018). Nitrous oxide emissions as influenced by legume cover crops and nitrogen fertilization. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 112, 119–131. doi: 10.1007/s10705-018-9936-4
- Kaye, J., Finney, D., White, C., Bradley, B., Schipanski, M., Alonso-Ayuso, M., et al. (2019). Managing nitrogen through cover crop species selection in the US mid-Atlantic. *PloS ONE* 14:e0215448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215448
- Kim, G. W., Das, S., Hwang, H. Y., and Kim, P. J. (2017). Nitrous oxide emissions from soils amended by cover-crops and under plastic film mulching: fluxes, emission factors and yield-scaled emissions. *Atmos. Environ.* 152, 377–388. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2017.01.007
- Kutzbach, L., Schneider, J., Sachs, T., Giebels, M., Nykänen, H., Shurpali, N. J., et al. (2007). CO<sub>2</sub> flux determination by closed-chamber methods can be seriously biased by inappropriate application of linear regression. *Biogeosci. Discuss* 4, 2279–2328. doi: 10.5194/bgd-4-2279-2007
- Li, X., Petersen, S. O., Sørensen, P., and Olesen, J. E. (2015). Effects of contrasting catch crops on nitrogen availability and nitrous oxide emissions in an organic cropping system. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 199, 382–393. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2014.10.016
- Mitchell, D. C., Castellano, M. J., Sawyer, J. E., and Pantoja, J. (2013). Cover crop effects on nitrous oxide emissions: role of mineralizable carbon. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 77, 1765–1773. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2013.02.0074
- Myers, R. J. K., Palm, C. A., Cuevas, E., Gunatilleke, I. U. N., and Brossard, M. (1994). "The synchronisation of nutrient mineralisation and plant nutrient demand," in *The Biological Management of Tropical Soil Fertility*, eds P. L. Woomer and M. J. Swift (Chichester: John Wiley), 81–116.
- Nielsen, D. C., Lyon, D. J., Hergert, G. W., Higgins, R. K., and Holman, J. D. (2015). Cover crop biomass production and water use in the Central Great Plains. *Agron. J.* 107, 2047–2058. doi: 10.2134/agronj15.0186
- Nielsen, D. C., Vigil, M. F., Anderson, R. L., Bowman, R. A., Benjamin, J. G., and Halverson, A. D. (2002). Cropping systems influence on planting water content and yield of winter wheat. Agron. J. 94, 962–967. doi: 10.2134/agronj2002.0962
- Northup, B. K., and Rao, S. C. (2016). Effects of legume green manures on forage produced in continuous wheat systems. *Agron. J.* 108, 101–108. doi: 10.2134/agronj15.0031
- Rao, S. C., and Northup, B. K. (2009). Water use by five warm-season legumes in the southern Great Plains. *Crop Sci.* 49, 2317–2324. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2009.03.0134
- Rao, S. C., Northup, B. K., and Mayeux, H. S. (2005). Candidate cool-season legumes for filling forage deficit periods in the southern Great Plains. *Crop Sci.* 45, 2068–2074. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2005.0019
- Rao, S. C., Northup, B. K., Phillips, W. A., and Mayeux, H. S. (2007). Interseeding novel cool-season annual legumes to improve bermudagrass paddocks. *Crop Sci.* 47, 168–173. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2006. 02.0088
- Sanz-Cobena, A., García-Marco, S., Quemada, M., Gabriel, J. L., Almendros, P., and Vallejo, A. (2014). Do cover crops enhance N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub> or CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from soil in Mediterranean arable systems? *Sci. Total Environ.* 466, 164–174. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.07.023
- Singh, H., Kandel, T. P., Gowda, P. H., Northup, B. K., Kakani, V. G., and Baath, G. S. (2020). Soil  $N_2O$  emissions following termination of grass pea and oat cover

crop residues with different maturity levels. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 183, 734–744. doi: 10.1002/jpln.202000239

- Singh, H., Kandel, T. P., Gowda, P. H., Somenahally, A., Northup, B. K., and Kakani, V. G. (2019b). Influence of contrasting soil moisture conditions on carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide emissions from terminated green manures. *Agrosyst. Geosci. Environ.* 2, 1–8. doi: 10.2134/age2019.03.0012
- Singh, H., Northup, B. K., Baath, G. S., Gowda, P. P., and Kakani, V. G. (2019a). Greenhouse gas mitigation strategies for agronomic and grazing lands of the US Southern Great Plains. *Mitig. Adapt. Strat. Glob. Change* 25, 819–853. doi: 10.1007/s11027-019-09902-4
- Snapp, S. S., Swinton, S. M., Labarta, R., Mutch, D., Black, J. R., Leep, R., et al. (2005). Evaluating cover crops for benefits, costs and performance within cropping system niches. *Agron. J.* 97, 322–332. doi: 10.2134/agronj2005.0322a
- Thilakarathna, M. S., McElroy, M. S., Chapagain, T., Papadopoulos, Y. A., and Raizada, M. N. (2016). Belowground nitrogen transfer from legumes to nonlegumes under managed herbaceous cropping systems. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 36:58. doi: 10.1007/s13593-016-0396-4
- USDA-NRCS (1999). Soil Survey of Canadian County, Oklahoma; Supplement Manuscript; USDA-NRCS and Oklahoma Agric. Stillwater, MT: Exp. Stn.
- Van Soest, P., and Wine, R. (1967). Use of detergents in the analysis of fibrous feeds. *J. Anim. Sci.* 26, 119–128.
- White, C. M., DuPont, S. T., Hautau, M., Hartman, D., Finney, D. M., Bradley, B., et al. (2017). Managing the trade-off between nitrogen supply and

retention with cover crop mixtures. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 237, 121–133. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.12.016

White, C. M., Kemanian, A. R., and Kaye, J. P. (2014). Implications of carbon saturation model structures for simulated nitrogen mineralization dynamics. *Biogeosciences* 11:6725. doi: 10.5194/bg-11-6725-2014

**Disclaimer:** Mention of trademarks, proprietary products, or vendors does not constitute guarantee or warranty of products by USDA and does not imply its approval to the exclusion of other products that may be suitable. All programs and services of the USDA are offered on a nondiscriminatory basis, without regard to race, color, national origin, religion, sex, age, marital status, or handicap.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Singh, Kandel, Gowda, Northup and Kakani. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Effects of Three Types of Organic Fertilizers on Greenhouse Gas Emissions in a Grassland on Andosol in Southern Hokkaido, Japan

Ryosuke Kitamura<sup>1</sup>, Chiho Sugiyama<sup>1</sup>, Kaho Yasuda<sup>1</sup>, Arata Nagatake<sup>1</sup>, Yiran Yuan<sup>1</sup>, Jing Du<sup>1</sup>, Norikazu Yamaki<sup>2</sup>, Katsuro Taira<sup>2</sup>, Masahito Kawai<sup>3</sup> and Ryusuke Hatano<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Graduate School of Agriculture, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Experiment Farm, Feld Science Center for Northern Biosphere, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Shizunai Livestock Farm, Field Science Center for Northern Biosphere, Hokkaido University, Shinhidaka, Japan

Reduction of chemical fertilizers and effective use of livestock excrement are required for the realization of sustainable agriculture and reduction of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The purpose of this study was to estimate the reduction rate of GHG emissions represented by comparing global warming potential (GWP) using organic fertilizers instead of chemical fertilizers. The study was conducted in a managed grassland on Andosol in southern Hokkaido for 3 years from May 2017 to April 2020. There were five treatment plots: no fertilizer, chemical fertilizer, manure, slurry, and digestive fluid. Organic fertilizers were applied such that the amount of NPK did not exceed the recommended application rate, and the shortage was supplemented with chemical fertilizers. Fluxes in CO<sub>2</sub> caused by heterotrophic respiration (RH),  $CH_4$ , and  $N_2O$  were measured using the closed chamber method. Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) was obtained as net primary production + organic fertilizer application-RH-harvest. The GWP was estimated by CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent NECB and CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in each treatment. Chemical fertilizer nitrogen application rates in the organic fertilizer treatments were reduced by 10% for manure, 19.7% for slurry and 29.7% for digestive fluid compared to chemical fertilizer only, but the grass yields were not significantly different among the fertilizer treatments. The 3-year NECB showed significantly smallest carbon loss in manure treatment, and smaller carbon loss in the organic fertilizer treatments than in the chemical fertilizer only. The reduction rate in the GWP with use of organic fertilizers relative to that of chemical fertilizer was 16.5% for slurry, 27.0% for digestive fluid, and 36.2% for manure. The NECB accounted for more than 90% of the GWP in all treatments.  $CH_4$  emissions were < 0.1% of the GWP. On the other hand, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions accounted for more than 5% of the GWP, and was larger in the order of slurry > chemical fertilizer only > digestive fluid > manure. As a conclusion, these organic fertilizers can be used without no reduction of crop yield instead of chemical fertilizer, however, manure is the best way to increase soil carbon and to decrease GWP, followed by digestive fluid.

Keywords:  $CH_4$ , global warming potential, manure, methane fermentation digestive fluid, slurry,  $N_2O$ , soil carbon sequestration

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Nikolaos Katsoulas, University of Thessaly, Greece

#### Reviewed by:

Marta Andrea Alfaro, Institute of Agricultural Research, Chile Lutz Merbold, Agroscope, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Ryusuke Hatano hatano@chem.agr.hokudai.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 05 January 2021 Accepted: 12 March 2021 Published: 08 April 2021

#### Citation:

Kitamura R, Sugiyama C, Yasuda K, Nagatake A, Yuan Y, Du J, Yamaki N, Taira K, Kawai M and Hatano R (2021) Effects of Three Types of Organic Fertilizers on Greenhouse Gas Emissions in a Grassland on Andosol in Southern Hokkaido, Japan. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5:649613. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2021.649613

## INTRODUCTION

The anthropogenic impact on the climatic system has increased annually, and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in 2018 reached a record high of 55.3 Gt  $CO_2$  eq yr<sup>-1</sup> (UNEP, 2019). Approximately 24% of the GHG emissions come from agriculture, forestry and other land use (AFOLU) (IPCC, 2014). Mitigation in the AFOLU sector is urgently needed.

Soil is the largest carbon storage pool, approximately twice the amount of carbon in the atmosphere and three times the amount in terrestrial biomass (Schlesinger and Jeffrey, 2000). However, agricultural soil looses soil carbon because of organic matter decomposition and erosion, and its recovery is required (Lal, 2020). Furthermore, agriculture is the largest source of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O (Blandford and Hassapoyannes, 2018). Therefore, improvement of carbon storage in farmland and reduction of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from farmland are important as climate change mitigation measures in agriculture.

Grasslands are a very important ecosystem for the production of herbivorous livestock (Soussana et al., 2007). Because grasslands are not tilled for several years to several decades, the organic matter content in the surface soil increases because of plant residues, livestock excreta, or organic matter derived from applied manure (Ciais et al., 2013). A 3-year study in valley inland and coastal grasslands in California showed that manure application increased soil carbon by 26 and 37%, respectively (Ryals et al., 2014). These show the soil carbon sequestration reducing the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere (Paustian et al., 1997). Therefore, when organic matter application and no-tillage are adapted continuously, grasslands are expected to exhibit climate change mitigation effects as a carbon storage in agricultural soil.

Evaluation of carbon storage in agricultural land includes carbon output from the harvest system and carbon input into the system by the application of organic matter in addition to carbon cycling in the ecosystem through the atmosphere, plants, and soil (Shimizu et al., 2009). Studies on the net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) and GHG balance caused by manure application in southern Hokkaido, Japan showed that although CO<sub>2</sub> emissions increased because of manure application, there were no differences in CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, and the carbon input from manure application reduced the global warming potential (GWP) (Mukumbuta et al., 2017a). However, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in the manure and chemical fertilizer combinedly applied grasslands tended to be higher than the chemical fertilizer only applied grasslands (Shimizu et al., 2013). A study comparing the difference in CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from soil with manure or slurry application in grasslands in northern Tochigi Prefecture, Japan, showed no significant difference between the two organic fertilizers (Mori and Hojito, 2015). Research on the environmental factors controlling CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes has shown that CO<sub>2</sub> flux has a significant relationship with soil temperature (Shimizu et al., 2009), N2O flux increased from 60% water-filled pore space (WFPS) peaking at 80% WFPS (Katayanagi et al., 2008), and CH<sub>4</sub> was normally absorbed by soil but the CH<sub>4</sub> uptake decreased with nitrogen application (Hu et al., 2002), and  $CH_4$  emitted from poorly drained soil (Shimizu et al., 2013).

In recent years, the use of livestock manure for methane fermentation has increased from the perspective of treating livestock excrement (Holm-Nielsen et al., 2009). Biogas energy can be obtained by fermenting livestock manure. Utilizing the methane fermentation digestive fluid, which is the fermentation residue, as liquid fertilizer not only prevents the outflow of pollutants into rivers, but also provides a supply of nutrients to farmlands and resource-recycling for livestock farming. Despite being fermented, the methane fermentation digestive fluid can be used as a liquid fertilizer with the same components as the raw slurry material (Matsunaka et al., 2003) and has no foul odor as compared with the slurry (Immovilli et al., 2008).

Different organic fertilizers show different physicochemical properties (Harada et al., 1993; Mori and Hojito, 2015). In particular, methane fermentation digestive fluid tends to have a higher pH and a higher ammonium nitrogen concentration than slurries (Yuyama et al., 2007). Therefore, application of digestive fluid makes soil nutrient status and can reduces the application of chemical fertilizer. Furthermore, increase of soil pH decreased N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Mukumbuta et al., 2018). However, digestive fluid had lower C/N ratio than raw slurry (Holly et al., 2017), which can increase N<sub>2</sub>O emission (Toma and Hatano, 2007). On the other hand, a study in Wisconsin showed there was no significant difference of N<sub>2</sub>O production between digestive fluid and raw slurry applications (Holly et al., 2017).

Effect of organic fertilizers on soil moisture is also an important factor. Digestive fluid has a high water content and increases soil moisture just after the application. Soil moisture is a significant factor influencing nitrogen mineralization, nitrification and denitrification, which strongly influence N<sub>2</sub>O production in soil (Linn and Doran, 1984). Also increase of soil moisture may increase  $CH_4$  in upland fields, and the  $CH_4$  emission remaining in the digestive fluid during the fermentation reaction can occur after application to upland fields (Nakamura et al., 2008).

Since organic fertilizers do not always contain NPK in the best balance for crop growth, it is necessary for farmers to properly manage nutrients for the application of organic fertilizer. For this, for example in Hokkaido, the local government suggests an upper limit of the application rate of organic fertilizer to prevent excessive nutrients being applied and recommends that insufficient nutrients induced by this is supplemented using chemical fertilizers (Hokkaido Government Agricultural Department, 2015). Therefore, NPK composition of organic fertilizers influence the application rate of organic fertilizer and reduction rate of chemical fertilizer, which influence NECB and GHG balance.

Therefore, in this study, influences of three organic fertilizers (manure, slurry and digestive fluid) treatments on NECB and GHG balance in grassland are compared with chemical fertilizer only and control (no fertilizer) treatments. The GHG emissions from grassland soil, crop growth and harvest and organic matter application with the five treatments for 3 years in a grassland southern Hokkaido, Japan were measured. The emission factor of  $N_2O$  in managed upland soil which is used in the IPCC

guideline for the National GHG Inventory Report (IPCC, 2006) was also calculated.

In this study, following results were expected: (1) The three types of organic fertilizers have the similar effect of fertilization and can reduce the amount of chemical fertilizer application rate; (2) N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are lower in organic fertilizer treatments than in chemical fertilizer only treatment due to the reduction in chemical fertilizer nitrogen application rate; (3) The contribution of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions to total GHG emissions is small; (4) NECB becomes manure > slurry > digestive fluid treatments, which is significantly larger than that in chemical fertilizer only treatment.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Study Site**

This study was conducted in a grassland cultivating reed canary grass in the Shizunai Experimental Livestock Farm, Field Science Center for the Northern Biosphere of Hokkaido University in Southern Hokkaido, Japan (Shizunai)  $(42^{\circ}26'05.4''N, 142^{\circ}28'52.1'' E)$  from May 2017 to April 2020. The study site has a humid continental climate, with cold winters and cool summers. The average temperature over the past 10 years (2007–2016) was 8.4°C, annual rainfall was 1,273 mm, deepest monthly snow was 1 to 22 cm, and snowfall of 10 cm or more was observed from December to March.

The soil was derived from Tarumae (b) volcanic ash, and the mottled upper end of the layer appears within the 0-50 cm soil horizon, and consequently was classified as Wet Andosols (The Fifth Committee for Soil Classification and Nomenclature of the Japanese Society of Pedology, 2017). The soil properties of the 0-7 cm surface layer (Ap1) were pH (H<sub>2</sub>O) 5.64  $\pm$  0.04, total carbon 36.7 $\pm$  1.74 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, total nitrogen 2.7 $\pm$  0.05 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, and C/N ratio 13.4. Before 2017, when this research began, the study site had been used as a grassland since 2009, and fertilization with chemical fertilizer and harvest were conducted twice a year. From 2009 to 2016, nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium were applied as chemical fertilizer at an average of 86 kg T-N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, 71 kg  $P_2O_5$  ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, and 104 K<sub>2</sub>O ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Except for 2010, 10 Mg FM  $ha^{-1}$  yr<sup>-1</sup> of manure was applied every year after September when the second grass was harvested, and liquid urine fertilizer was also applied in 2012.

# Fertilization Treatments and Field Management

The study period consisted of 3 years from May 14, 2017 to April 26, 2020, including May 14, 2017 to April 26, 2018 (348 d), April 27, 2018 to April 26, 2019 (365 d), April 27, 2019, to April 26, 2020 (366 d). Fertilization was conducted twice a year with a base fertilizer (spring) and supplement fertilizer (summer). Harvest was performed twice a year for the first and second grasses. In this study, five treatments of fertilization were tested: no fertilizer (N), chemical fertilizer (F), manure (M), slurry (S), and digestive fluid (D). Fifteen subplots of  $5 \times 10$  m were set up in five treatments × three replicates in a random block design. In each subplot, a  $5 \times 8$  m vegetation survey area, a  $5 \times 2$  m gas sampling area, and a  $50 \times 50$  cm bare area, excluding roots, was set up in the gas sampling area. In the bare area, a root permeable sheet (BKS9812,

TOYOBO CO. Ltd., OSAKA, Japan) was inserted at a depth of  $\sim$ 30 cm at the boundary with the planting area to prevent the entry of roots. Plants growing in the bare area during the survey period were regularly removed by hand.

### **Organic Fertilizer Used**

Manure, slurry, and digestive fluid were used as organic fertilizers. Every year, the manure used was from Shizunai, and the digestive fluid was from Sapporo Experimental Farm, Field Science Center for the Northern Biosphere of Hokkaido University (Sapporo) (43°04 41.1 N, 141°20 03.6 E). The manure was made from a mixture of cow excreta, horse excreta, and bedding litter and turned over once every 10 days during winter. The slurry used was from Shizunai in 2017. However, the Shizunai slurry had a high water content and a low nitrogen content because it was mixed with rainwater. Due to this, in 2018 and 2019, Sapporo slurry was used. The slurry in Shizunai was from cow excreta, horse excreta, and rainwater and was stored in a slurry reservoir in the barn until use. The slurry in Sapporo was made from cattle, pig, and chicken excreta, and water was added as appropriate to increase fluidity. The digestive fluid used was from Sapporo, which was made from methane fermentation of the slurry in Sapporo. Each organic fertilizer was collected 1 month before application, and water content, pH, TN, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N, P, K, and TC were analyzed. The components of each organic fertilizer are shown in Table 1.

### **Design of Fertilization**

**Table 2** shows the application rates of organic and chemical fertilizers for each year. The nitrogen application rate depended on the legume rate (Hokkaido Government Agricultural Department, 2015). In 2017 and 2019, because the legume rate was 5–15%, nitrogen application rate was 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. On the other hand, in 2018, the nitrogen application rate increased to 160 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> because the legume rate decreased to < 5%. The organic fertilizer application rate was determined such that the organic fertilizer N, P, or K application rates did not exceed the recommended application rate of N, P, or K, and any shortage in N, P, or K was made up by chemical fertilizers. Chemical fertilizer was applied at the ratio of application at the base: supplement of 2:1, whereas organic fertilizer was applied only used as a base application. Both chemical and organic fertilizers were applied by top dressing.

# Measurements

### Environmental Factors

Daily air temperature and precipitation were obtained from the close Automated Meteorological Data Acquisition System (AMeDAS) station of the Japan Meteorological Agency, which are located about 14 km from the study site for air temperature and about 100 m from the study site for precipitation. Soil temperature at a 5 cm depth was measured at the same time as the gas flux measurements using a thermistor thermometer (CT-414WR, CUSTOM, Tokyo, Japan), and volumetric soil moisture content at 0–6 cm depth was measured using the frequency domain reflectometry (FDR) method (DIK-311A; Daiki, Saitama,

#### TABLE 1 | Chemical components of organic fertilizer used.

		Water content	рН	TN	NH <sub>4</sub> +N	P <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>	K <sub>2</sub> O	тс	C/N
		%		%FM	% <b>FM</b>	%FM	%FM	%FM	
2017	М	$70.0 \pm 0.49$	$8.39\pm0.06$	$0.34 \pm 0.17$	$0.02 \pm 0.00$	$1.27 \pm 0.38$	$3.81 \pm 0.47$	$9.49\pm0.50$	28.07
	S	$96.8\pm0.05$	$7.93\pm0.01$	$0.11\pm0.02$	$0.07\pm0.00$	$0.07\pm0.02$	$1.53\pm0.06$	$0.79\pm0.01$	7.15
	D	$95.7\pm0.05$	$7.85\pm0.01$	$0.19\pm0.03$	$0.13\pm0.00$	$0.27\pm0.10$	$0.43\pm0.04$	$1.56\pm0.06$	8.36
2018	Μ	$78.4\pm0.88$	$8.52\pm0.32$	$0.62\pm0.02$	$0.09\pm0.03$	$3.43\pm0.22$	$2.45\pm0.31$	$8.95\pm0.50$	14.33
	S	$92.9\pm0.10$	$7.22\pm0.03$	$0.21\pm0.01$	$0.19\pm0.00$	$0.53\pm0.00$	$0.58\pm0.01$	$2.93\pm0.09$	13.77
	D	$94.9\pm0.14$	$7.79\pm0.03$	$0.19\pm0.00$	$0.18\pm0.01$	$0.49\pm0.02$	$0.53\pm0.09$	$1.95\pm0.04$	9.88
2019	М	$73.6\pm0.88$	$7.91\pm0.07$	$0.58\pm0.04$	$0.10\pm0.00$	$1.73\pm0.39$	$3.08\pm0.39$	$11.1 \pm 0.23$	19.17
	S	$93.1\pm0.09$	$6.05\pm0.00$	$0.24\pm0.01$	$0.12\pm0.00$	$0.37\pm0.12$	$0.36\pm0.04$	$2.98\pm0.17$	12.22
	D	$95.1 \pm 0.08$	$7.56 \pm 0.05$	$0.24 \pm 0.00$	$0.13 \pm 0.00$	$0.24 \pm 0.12$	$0.36 \pm 0.12$	$2.08 \pm 0.04$	8.81

Values represent mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. FM is the fresh weight, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot. n = 3.

TABLE 2 | Annual organic fertilizer application rate each year, chemical fertilizer application to chemical fertilizer plots, and chemical fertilizer supply to organic fertilizer plots.

			C	rganic fertili	zer				Chemical ferti	lizer
		Application rate	тс	TN	P <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>	K <sub>2</sub> O	C/N	TN	P <sub>2</sub> O <sub>5</sub>	K <sub>2</sub> O
		Mg FM ha <sup>-1</sup>		kg	na <sup>−1</sup>				kg ha <sup>-1</sup>	
2017	Ν	0	0	0	0	0	_	0	0	0
	F	0	0	0	0	0	-	100	80	180
	М	8.4	797	28	106	320	28.1	95	59	0
	S	19	152	21	14	293	7.2	93	64	0
	D	58	914	109	154	247	8.4	65	38	0
2018	Ν	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0
	F	0	0	0	0	0	-	160	80	180
	М	9.0	806	56	309	221	14.3	139	5.2	0
	S	38	1,115	81	204	221	13.8	127	0	0
	D	26	508	51	130	140	9.9	123	27	60
2019	Ν	0	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0
	F	0	0	0	0	0	-	100	80	180
	М	7.4	828	43	128	228	19.2	90	23	0
	S	62	1,849	151	232	227	12.2	69	0	0
	D	42	874	99	101	153	8.8	66	40	58

FM is the fresh weight, N is the no fertilizer plot, F is the chemical fertilizer plot, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot.

Japan). The water-filled pore space (WFPS,%) was calculated as:

$$WFPS = \left(\frac{\theta}{p}\right) \times 100 \tag{1}$$

where  $\theta$  is volumetric soil water content (m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) and p is soil porosity (m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>); p was measured by a three-phase meter (DIK-1150; Daiki, Saitama, Japan).

Soil sampling was conducted at the same time as the gas flux measurement during from April to November when the soil was not frozen. The collected soil was sieved at 2 mm. Soil  $NO_3^-$  N content was determined by water extraction with the ratio of soil: deionized water = 1:5, and the  $NO_3^-$ -N concentration in the water extraction was measured by ion chromatography (DIONEX ICS-1100; Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA, USA). Soil

 $NH_4^+$ -N content was determined by KCl extraction with the ratio of soil:KCl (2 mol L<sup>-1</sup>) = 1:10, and the  $NH_4^+$ -N concentration in the KCl extraction was measured by the indophenol blue method.

#### Gas Fluxes

Soil CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes were measured by the static closed chamber method (Toma and Hatano, 2007). In the gas sampling area of each treatment, chambers made of stainless steel were installed. Chambers with a diameter of 40 cm and a height of 30 cm were used to measure CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes in the planting area, and those with a diameter of 20 cm and a height of 25 cm were used to measure the CO<sub>2</sub> flux in the bare plot, which was assumed to correspond to microbial heterotrophic respiration (RH). The chambers were placed onto bases, which

were permanently installed during the measurement period. The chamber bases were inserted into the soil to a depth of 5 cm for at least 12 h before the first gas sampling. During the snowfall period, chamber bases were set up directly onto the snow (Katayanagi and Hatano, 2012). Gas flux measurements were performed between 8:00 and 13:00 for seven consecutive days after the application of the fertilizer, once a week during the plant growing season and once a month during winter. Changes in the concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O in the headspace of the chambers with time was measured according to a previously reported procedure (Nakano et al., 2004; Toma and Hatano, 2007; Shimizu et al., 2013), that is, gas samples in the chamber headspace were taken at 0 and 6 min for CO2 and 0, 15, and 30 min for CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O after closing chambers by using a 25 mL gas tight syringe. A gas sample of 250 mL was injected into a 500 mL Tedlar bag for CO<sub>2</sub>. For CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, each gas sample (20 mL) was placed into an evacuated glass vial (10 mL). The CO<sub>2</sub> concentration was determined using an infrared CO<sub>2</sub> analyzer (Model ZEP9GC11; Fuji Electric, Tokyo, Japan), and the CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations were determined using gas chromatography equipped with a flame ionization detector (GC-8A; Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) and an electron capture detector (GC-14B; Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan), respectively.

The gas flux from the soil was calculated using the following linear regression equation (Toma et al., 2011):

$$F = \rho \times \left(\frac{V}{A}\right) \times \left(\frac{\Delta c}{\Delta t}\right) \times \left(\frac{273}{T}\right) \times \alpha \tag{2}$$

where F is the gas flux (mg C m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> for CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>, mg N  $m^{-2} h^{-1}$  for N<sub>2</sub>O);  $\rho$  is the density of each gas under standard conditions (CO<sub>2</sub> =  $1.997 \times 10^{6}$  mg m<sup>-3</sup>, CH<sub>4</sub> =  $0.717 \times 10^{6}$ mg m<sup>-3</sup>, N<sub>2</sub>O =  $1.978 \times 10^6$  mg m<sup>-3</sup>), V is the volume of the chamber  $(m^3)$ , A is the surface area of the chamber  $(m^2)$ ,  $\Delta c/\Delta t$  is the rate of change in gas concentration in the head space of the chamber during the sampling time  $(10^{-6} \text{ m}^3 \text{ m}^{-3})$ h<sup>-1</sup>); T is the air temperature inside the chamber (°C); and  $\alpha$ is the ratio of molar mass of carbon to the molecular weight of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>, or of nitrogen to N<sub>2</sub>O. For N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub>, the $\Delta c/\Delta t$  of R more than 0.95 was used for the flux calculation. The flux of CO<sub>2</sub> was calculated at two points of 0 and 6 min based on the theoretical consideration that the increase in the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the chamber loses linearity after about 8 min (Nakano et al., 2004). However, the relationship between the multiple-times sampling and the two-points sampling is linear of 1:1 (Mukumbuta et al., 2017b).

Cumulative gas emissions were calculated by linear interpolation between sampling events and numerical integration of the underlying area using the trapezoid rule as follows (Jin et al., 2010):

Cumulative gas emission = 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} (Ri \times 24 \times Di)$$
 (3)

where Ri is the mean gas flux (mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) of the two successive sampling dates, Di is the number of days in the sampling interval and n is the number of sampling times.

#### **Plant Production and Harvest**

Aboveground biomass, belowground biomass were measured four times a year including two times of harvest, mid-April (beginning of crop growing season), late June (the first crop harvest), early September (the second crop harvest), and early November (end of crop growing season), that is, total 13 times from April 2017 to April 2020. Grass samples were taken from the vegetation survey areas of each treatment plot. All the aboveground biomass, including green and dead biomass were collected from the  $0.5 \times 0.5$  m quadrate in April and November. Aboveground biomass at the time of harvest was obtained as the sum of harvest and residue. The harvest was measured by clipping at 5 cm above the ground in the  $1 \times 1$  m quadrate. The residue was measured by collecting the stubbles and dead biomass in a  $0.5 \times 0.5$  m quadrate. Regarding the belowground biomass, the root samples were collected from the  $0.5 \times 0.5$  m area  $\times$  0.3 m deep by collecting soil and passing through an 8 mm sieve in the field. Roots were washed in a 2 mm sieve in the laboratory. All the samples were oven-dried at 70°C for 72 h and weighed. Each dried sample was analyzed for total carbon content.

Net primary production (NPP) was estimated as the increments of aboveground and belowground biomass (Mu et al., 2006), that is, annual aboveground NPP (ANPP) and belowground NPP (BNPP) were estimated as follows:

$$ANPP = H(1) + R(1) - ABb + H(2) + R(2) - R(1) + ABe - R(2) + ABb' - ABe$$
(4)

where H and R are the harvest and the residue at crop harvest, respectively (1 and 2 in the parentheses mean the first and second crop harvest, respectively); ABb, Abe, and ABb' are the aboveground biomass at the beginning and the end of crop growing season and the beginning of crop growing season in next year, respectively.

Equation 4 can be shortened as follows:

$$ANPP = ABb' - ABb + H(2) + H(1)$$
(5)

As belowground biomass is not harvested, BNPP can be obtained as follows:

$$BNPP = BBb' - BBb \tag{6}$$

where BBb and BBb' are the belowground biomass at the beginning of crop growing season and in the next year, respectively.

#### Calculations N<sub>2</sub>O Emission Factor

The  $N_2O$  emission factor indicates the cumulative  $N_2O$  emissions per unit applied nitrogen. According to the calculation method proposed by Shimizu et al. (2013), the  $N_2O$  emission factors derived from chemical fertilizers and organic fertilizers were calculated as follows:

$$EF_{CF} = \frac{E_{CF} - E_{NF}}{N_{CF} in \ CF \ plot} \times 100 \tag{7}$$

$$EF_{OF} = \frac{\left\{E_{OF} - \left(N_{CF}in \ OF \ plot \times EF_{CF}\right) - E_{NF}\right\}}{N_{OF}in \ OF \ plot} \times 100 \ (8)$$

where  $EF_{CF}$  is the N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor for chemical fertilizer (%), EF<sub>OF</sub> is the N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor for organic fertilizer (%); E<sub>CF</sub>, E<sub>NF</sub>, and E<sub>OF</sub> are the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in the chemical fertilizer plot, no fertilizer plot, and organic fertilizer plot, respectively (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>); N<sub>CF</sub> in CF plot and N<sub>CF</sub> in OF plot were the chemical fertilizer N application rates in the chemical fertilizer plot and organic fertilizer plot (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), respectively, and N<sub>OF</sub> in the OF plot was the organic fertilizer N application rate (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>).

#### Net Ecosystem Carbon Balance

Net ecosystem carbon balance (NECB) was obtained as net biome production (Schulze et al., 2000). The NECB in agricultural land was obtained by adding carbon input from the application of organic fertilizer ( $C_{input}$ ) and carbon export via harvest ( $C_{output}$ ) for net ecosystem production (NEP). The NEP is estimated as the difference between net primary production (NPP) by photosynthesis of plants and heterotrophic respiration (RH) by decomposition of soil organic matter. Concerning carbon emission with CH<sub>4</sub> flux, in uplands, CH<sub>4</sub> flux is known to be very small compared to CO<sub>2</sub> (Toma et al., 2011), therefore it was not included in the NECB calculation. Therefore, NECB (Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) is calculated as follows:

$$NECB = C_{input} + ANPP + BNPP - C_{output} - RH$$
(9)

#### GWP and GHG Balance

The NECB and cumulative emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O were converted to GWP<sub>CO2</sub>, GWP<sub>CH4</sub>, and GWP<sub>N2O</sub>, respectively, using the CO<sub>2</sub> conversion coefficient [CO<sub>2</sub>:1, CH<sub>4</sub>:28, N<sub>2</sub>O: 265 (IPCC, 2014)]. The GHG balance (Mg CO<sub>2</sub> eq ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) was obtained as GWP, which are the sum of GWP<sub>CO2</sub>, GWP<sub>CH4</sub>, and GWP<sub>N2O</sub> as follows:

$$GWP_{CO2} = -NEBC \times \frac{44}{12} \tag{10}$$

$$GWP_{CH4} = CH_4 \times \frac{16}{12} \times 28 \tag{11}$$

$$GWP_{N2O} = N_2O \times \frac{44}{28} \times 265 \tag{12}$$

$$GWP = GWP_{CO2} + GWP_{CH4} + GWP_{N2O}$$
(13)

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The Shapiro-Wilk test was performed on each GHG flux, environmental factors, cumulative GHG emissions, carbon balance, and GHG balance to confirm normality. If normality was not found, logarithmic conversion was performed and the test was performed again to confirm normality. Differences in GHG emissions among years and among treatments were tested using a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Differences in 3-year total GHG emissions, net ecosystem carbon balance and GHG balance among treatments were tested using a one-way ANOVA. If a significant difference (p < 0.05) occurred in the test, multiple comparisons were performed using the Tukey HSD method. In order to explain the relationship between the C/N and

N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors of organic fertilizers, the normality of each was confirmed by the Shapiro-Wilk test, and a simple regression analysis was performed. The analysis was performed using R (R Development Core Team, 2018; version 3.5.1).

## RESULTS

### **Environmental Factors**

Air temperature was highest in August and lowest in February (**Figure 1A**). The average annual temperatures during the study period in each year were 8.0, 8.4, and 8.9°C in 2017, 2018, and 2019, respectively, which were lower, similar, and higher than the average values for the last 10 years (8.4°C), respectively. Annual precipitation during the study period of each year was 1,227, 1,254, and 1,227 mm in 2017, 2018, and 2019, respectively, and the average annual precipitation for the past 10 years was 1,273 mm (**Figure 1A**).

Soil temperature tended to be similar to air temperature during the no-freeze period and ranged from 1.6 to  $25.6^{\circ}$ C, which was significantly lower in 2018 than in 2017 and 2019, although there was no significant difference among the treatments (**Figure 1B**).

WFPS ranged from 38 to 100%, tended to increase after heavy rainfall, and to decline when there was high temperature and no rainfall (**Figure 1C**). The WFPS was significantly lower in the no-fertilizer plot and the slurry plot in 2019, and there was no significant difference among the other treatment plots.

Soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N content showed almost no peak in 2017, but several peaks after fertilization in 2018 and 2019 (**Figure 1D**). The highest mean NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N was 82.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in the slurry plot. Conversely, the lowest average NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N was 75.3 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in the non-fertilized plot.

Soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> -N content showed high peak in the slurry plot (39.7 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) after topdressing in 2017 (**Figure 1E**). In 2018, peaks were observed in the chemical fertilizer plot (36.1 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), manure plot (54.8 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), and slurry plot (52.3 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) immediately after the first fertilizer application. In 2019, no significant peak was observed in any treatment plot. The highest mean NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> -N content was in the slurry plot at 10.8 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>. Conversely, the lowest mean of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> -N content was 9.0 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in the non-fertilized plot.

### **GHG Fluxes**

The CO<sub>2</sub> (RH) flux ranged from -49 (3 March, 2020) to 262 mg C m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (22 August, 2017) and increased with increasing temperature (**Figure 2A**). Additionally, a decrease in CO<sub>2</sub> (RH) flux was observed when WFPS was 100%.

The CH<sub>4</sub> flux ranged from -401 to 357 µg C m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> and fluctuated highly (**Figure 2B**). The peaks of CH<sub>4</sub> flux were observed after the application of organic fertilizers in 2017 and 2018, especially in the slurry plot in the winter of 2018. In 2019, there was a large daily fluctuation with high CH<sub>4</sub> uptake by the soil.

The N<sub>2</sub>O flux ranged from -115 to 839 µg N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> just after the application of organic fertilizer (**Figure 2C**). A peak of N<sub>2</sub>O flux occurred in the digestive fluid plot in 2017 (347.82 µg N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). On the other hand, in 2018 and 2019, no peak in N<sub>2</sub>O



flux was observed just after the application of organic fertilizer. The peak of  $N_2O$  flux was smaller throughout the year in 2018 than in 2017 and 2019.

There was no significant correlation between N<sub>2</sub>O flux and soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N contents (**Figures 3A,B**). However, the emission peaks of N<sub>2</sub>O flux larger than 191 µg N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of top 5% were clearly observed and tended to increase when the soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N content was 2–12 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> (except for one at the time of just after supplement fertilizer application for second crop in digestive fluid treatment in 2019). Concerning soil NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> -N content, almost all N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes including the high peaks were found in 5–18 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>.

There was no difference in the relationship between gas flux and environmental factors caused by fertilization treatment (**Figure 4**). The CO<sub>2</sub> flux increased with increasing soil temperature and decreasing WFPS (**Figures 4A,B**). There was no significant correlation between CH<sub>4</sub> flux and soil temperature and WFPS (**Figures 4C,D**). The emission peak of N<sub>2</sub>O flux larger than 191  $\mu$ g N m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> of top 5% was observed when the soil temperature was 12–23°C and the WFPS was 80–100%. However, at just after the harvest of first crop, all treatments showed high peaks in the range of 60–70% WFPS (**Figures 4E,F**).

## **GHG Emissions**

The result of two-way ANOVA shows that  $CO_2(RH)$  emissions exhibited significant difference among years but no significant difference among the treatments (**Table 3**). It was maximum in the chemical fertilizer treatment in 2017, in no fertilizer treatment in 2018, and in the slurry treatment in 2019.

The result of ANOVA showed that  $CH_4$  emissions exhibited no significant differences among years and treatments (**Table 3**). However,  $CH_4$  uptake was observed with the no fertilizer or chemical fertilizer treatments in 2017, manure treatment in 2018, and all treatments in 2019 with lower precipitation.



**FIGURE 2** | Change in  $CO_2(RH)$  flux (A),  $CH_4$  flux (B), and  $N_2O$  flux (C). Error bars represent standard deviations, solid and broken arrows represent fertilization and harvest, respectively. n = 3.



**FIGURE 3** | Relationship between  $N_2O$  flux and soil  $NO_3^-$ -N content (A) and  $NH_4^+$ -N content (B). N is the no fertilizer plot, F is the chemical fertilizer plot, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot.

The result of ANOVA showed that  $N_2O$  emissions exhibited significant differences among years and treatments (**Table 3**).  $N_2O$  emission was significantly higher in fertilizer treatments than in no fertilizer treatment, but there was no significant difference among the fertilizer treatments. However, the slurry treatment tended to be the highest  $N_2O$  emission for all years.

The result of ANOVA showed no significant difference in the 3-year total  $CO_2(RH)$  among the treatments (**Table 4**). However, it tended to be the highest in the chemical fertilizer treatment

(13.79 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>), and among the organic fertilizer treatments, slurry > digestive fluid > manure.

There was no significant difference in the 3-year total CH<sub>4</sub> emission among the treatments (**Table 4**). However, 3-year total CH<sub>4</sub> emission tended to be highest in the slurry treatment (0.90 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) and lowest in the manure treatment (-1.19 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) among the organic fertilizer.

There was significant difference in 3-year total  $N_2O$  emission among the treatments (Table 4). Three-year total  $N_2O$  emission





was highest in the slurry treatments  $(10.8 \text{ kg N ha}^{-1})$  and lowest in the manure treatment (6.21 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), although there was no significant difference among the fertilizer treatments. relationship between the C/N ratio and  $\mathrm{N_2O}$  emission factor (Figure 5).

## N<sub>2</sub>O Emission Factor

There was not a substantial variability on the  $N_2O$  emission factor among years and treatments (**Table 3**). The 3-year average of the  $N_2O$  emission factor was in the order chemical fertilizer > slurry > digestive fluid > manure (**Table 4**). However, among the organic fertilizer treatments, there was a significant negative

## **Grass Yield**

The 3-year cumulative grass yield was not significantly different among fertilizer treatments and was significantly higher than that of the no fertilizer treatment (**Figure 6**). This was achieved despite of the reduction of chemical fertilizer for nitrogen by 10.0–29.4%, phosphorus by 56.3–73.3%, and potassium by 78.2–100% in 3 years as the concentrations of phosphorus

		CO <sub>2</sub>	2(RH)		С	H <sub>4</sub>		N	2 <b>0</b>		EF	N2O	
		Mg C	ha <sup>-1</sup>		kg C	<b>ha</b> -1		kg N	ha <sup>-1</sup>		Q	%	
2017	N	4.91 :	± 0.52	А	-0.16	± 0.99	AB	1.10 :	± 0.99	DE	_	_	_
(348 days)	F	6.05 :	± 2.44	А	-0.06	± 1.12	AB	5.06	± 1.12	AB	3.96 :	± 1.57	А
	Μ	4.08 :	± 1.14	А	1.22 :	± 1.06	AB	3.70 :	± 1.06	ABCD	-4.09	± 11.3	А
	S	4.24 :	± 0.70	А	1.23 :	± 2.26	AB	6.29 :	± 2.26	А	7.07 :	± 13.8	А
	D	3.61 :	± 0.75	А	0.60 :	± 1.21	AB	4.79 -	± 1.21	ABC	1.02 :	± 1.76	А
2018	Ν	3.72 :	± 1.73	А	1.10	$\pm 0.99$	AB	0.13 :	± 0.99	Е	-	-	-
(365 days)	F	3.18 :	± 0.54	А	0.89 :	± 0.35	AB	1.03 :	± 0.35	DE	0.56 :	± 0.51	А
	Μ	2.30 :	± 0.20	А	-1.36	± 0.64	AB	-0.02	± 0.64	Е	-1.65	± 0.61	А
	S	2.99 :	± 0.55	А	4.66	± 0.87	А	1.82 :	± 0.87	CDE	1.21 :	± 0.57	А
	D	2.30 :	± 0.56	А	1.90 :	± 0.57	AB	1.25 :	± 0.57	DE	0.84 :	± 0.56	А
2019	Ν	4.40 :	± 2.74	А	-2.03	± 0.64	AB	1.27 :	± 0.64	Е	-	-	-
(366 days)	F	4.56 :	± 1.28	А	-2.78	± 1.27	В	2.09 :	± 1.27	BCDE	0.82 :	± 1.67	А
	Μ	3.25 :	± 2.06	А	-1.05	$\pm 2.38$	AB	2.53 :	± 2.38	BCDE	1.22 :	± 3.09	А
	S	6.05 :	± 1.10	А	-4.99	$\pm 0.34$	В	2.70 :	± 0.34	BCDE	0.57 :	± 0.31	А
	D	4.19 :	± 1.47	А	-1.71	$\pm 0.94$	AB	1.96 :	± 0.94	CDE	0.16 :	± 1.53	А
ANOVA	d.f.	F-value	<i>p</i> -value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value	
year	2	6.85	0.004		12.3	< 0.001		30.3	< 0.001		0.49	0.62	
Treatment	4	1.93	0.13		0.31	0.87		6.66	0.001		1.60	0.22	
Treatment $\times$ year	8	0.78	0.62		1.97	0.09		1.70	0.09		1.01	0.44	

#### TABLE 3 | Cumulative CO<sub>2</sub>(RH), CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and the N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor (EF<sub>N2O</sub>) for each year.

Values represent mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Values with the same letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05). N is the no fertilizer plot, F is the chemical fertilizer plot, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot. ANOVA is analysis of variance, and d.f. is degrees of freedom. n = 3.

**TABLE 4** Cumulative  $CO_2(RH)$ ,  $CH_4$ , and  $N_2O$  emissions and the  $N_2O$  emission factor (EF<sub>N2O</sub>) for 3-year total.

		CO <sub>2</sub>	(RH)		C	H <sub>4</sub>		N	2 <b>0</b>		EF	N2O	
		Mg C	<b>ha</b> <sup>-1</sup>		kg C	ha <sup>-1</sup>		kg N	ha <sup>-1</sup>		Q	%	
3 years	N	13.0 :	± 0.50	А	-1.09	± 2.33	А	2.50 :	± 1.67	В	_	-	_
(1,079 days)	F	13.8 :	± 3.27	А	-1.94	$\pm 4.48$	А	8.17 :	± 1.79	AB	1.58 :	± 0.16	А
	Μ	9.63 :	± 1.18	А	-1.19	± 4.00	А	6.21 :	± 1.82	AB	-1.09	± 1.40	А
	S	13.3 :	± 0.61	А	0.90 =	± 3.32	А	10.8 :	± 3.32	А	1.48 :	± 1.08	А
	D	10.1 :	± 2.63	А	0.79 -	± 2.09	А	8.00 :	± 2.27	AB	0.58 :	± 1.46	А
ANOVA	d.f.	F-value	p-value		F-value	p-value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value	
Treatment	4	2.89	0.08		0.43	0.78		5.55	0.01		3.45	0.07	

Values represent mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Values with the same letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05). N is the no fertilizer plot, F is the chemical fertilizer plot, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot. ANOVA is analysis of variance, and d.f. is degrees of freedom. n = 3.

and potassium in organic fertilizers were high (Table 2). Thus, the fertilizer application design for each fertilizer area was appropriate.

## **Net Ecosystem Carbon Balance**

NECB in all treatments was negative, that is, the ecosystem lost carbon (**Table 5**). NECB was significantly lower in no fertilizer and chemical fertilizer treatments than the manure treatment. Although there was no significant difference among the fertilizer treatments, NECB tended to be larger in organic fertilizer treatments than in the chemical fertilizer treatment. ANPP was significantly lower in the no fertilizer treatment than the fertilizer treatment, and there was no significant difference among the

chemical and organic fertilizer treatments. On the other hand, BNPP was negative, although there was no significant difference. Although ANPP + BNPP was positive, NEP was negative because of a larger RH than ANPP+BNPP. Therefore, a larger NECB in the organic fertilizer plot was caused by the contribution of  $C_{input}$ with organic fertilizer application, that is, carbon input by organic fertilizer enhances soil carbon sequestration. NECB in organic fertilizer plots tended to be in the order manure > digested fluid > slurry.

## **GHG** Balance

The contribution of  $CH_4$  emission to the GWP for 3 years was very small, which was < 0.1%. On the other hand, the



Organic Fertilizer Effects on GHG

have a larger NECB, although there was no significant difference compared to that of the chemical fertilizer treatment. This indicates that organic fertilizers have larger carbon storage than do chemical fertilizers. Previous studies conducted on grasslands also showed higher NECB in manure treatment than in chemical fertilizer treatment (Matsuura et al., 2014; Shimizu et al., 2015; Mukumbuta et al., 2017a). In this study, NECB was negative for 3 years and all treatment plots became carbon sources. On the other hand, in previous studies by Matsuura et al. (2014) and Shimizu et al. (2015), NECB was positive in the manure treatment. The manure application rate in the previous study was 2.1–7.7 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>, whereas that in this study was 0.15–1.9 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup>. This depended on the raw material of the manure. The manure used in the previous study was a bark manure with a lower C/N ratio and lower potassium content.

Therefore, to increase soil organic carbon using organic fertilizer, the quality of organic fertilizer, especially the ratio of carbon to nutrients, should be taken into consideration.

# organic fertilizers. M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot. Solid line reveals the result of simple regression analysis.



contribution of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions to the GWP was larger than 5% (**Table 6**). The 3-year GWP was significantly smaller in the manure plot (43.1  $\pm$  2.8 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> eq ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) than that in the no fertilizer (65.4  $\pm$  3.7 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> eq ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and chemical fertilizer plots (67.4  $\pm$  13.6 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> eq ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), but there was no significant difference among the organic fertilizer treatments. The cumulative values for organic fertilizer treatments were slurry > digestive fluid > manure, and the GWP was 16.5, 27.0, and 36.2% smaller than those in the chemical fertilizer treatment, respectively.

## DISCUSSION

# Effect of Different Fertilizers on the Net Ecosystem Carbon Balance

In this study, the no-fertilizer treatment exhibited a significantly smaller NECB than did the fertilizer treatments. All organic fertilizers from manure, slurry, and digestive fluid tended to

# Effect of Different Fertilizer on the $CH_4$ and $N_2O$ Emissions

In this study, the slurry treatment showed the highest  $CH_4$  emission in 3-year total, although  $CH_4$  emissions were not significantly different (**Table 4**). However,  $CH_4$  emission showed a large variation among the years. Additionally, a previous study showed that direct  $CH_4$  emission from organic fertilizer often occurred just after the application of organic fertilizer to the soil (Mori and Hojito, 2015). It was also expected that the anaerobic conditions produced by the liquid fertilizer in the slurry and digestive fluid would promote  $CH_4$  emission immediately after fertilization (da Silva Cardoso et al., 2020). However, in this study, no peak of  $CH_4$  flux was observed immediately after fertilization. This was probably because the temperature was relatively low immediately after fertilization and no microbial degradation occurred (Ryals and Silver, 2013).

The relationship between  $N_2O$  flux and environmental factors was not significantly different among fertilizer treatments. That is,  $N_2O$  flux peaks were observed when the soil  $NO_3^-$ -N content was 2 to 12 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> (except for one plot of just after supplement fertilizer application for second crop in digestive fluid treatment in 2019) (**Figure 3A**), and the WFPS was 80– 100% (**Figure 4F**). These suggest that the  $N_2O$  emission occurred through denitrification in all fertilizer treatments (Takakai et al., 2006). However, at just after the first crop harvest in 2019, the large  $N_2O$  peaks in the lower WFPS than 80%. This was probably because the stronger effect of the disturbance by harvest on  $N_2O$ emission than the effect of WFPS, which was shown by Li et al. (2015).

The application of organic fertilizers increases nitrogen mineralization in the soil and, from a physical point of view, increased the water retention of the soil, which increase  $N_2O$ emissions (Ryals and Silver, 2013). In particular, the application of slurry tends to promote denitrification to increase  $N_2O$ production (Rochette et al., 2004). On the other hand, it has also been reported that there was no significant difference in annual  $N_2O$  emission in a grassland in Hokkaido between chemical

#### TABLE 5 | Net ecosystem carbon balance.

	Cinput	ANPP		BNPP		Coutput		RH		NEP		NECB	
						Mg C ha	-1						
N	0	$8.65\pm0.82$	В	$-4.17\pm0.66$	А	$9.00\pm0.92$	В	$13.0\pm0.50$	А	$-8.55 \pm 1.13$	В	$-17.6 \pm 1.13$	В
F	0	$12.9\pm0.79$	А	$-3.31 \pm 1.87$	А	$13.3\pm0.92$	А	$13.8\pm3.27$	А	$-4.17\pm3.73$	В	$-17.5 \pm 3.73$	В
Μ	2.43	$12.5\pm1.93$	А	$-3.51\pm0.42$	А	$12.9\pm2.01$	А	$9.63 \pm 1.18$	А	$-0.63\pm0.98$	А	$-11.1 \pm 0.98$	А
S	3.12	$12.6\pm0.27$	А	$-3.60\pm0.33$	А	$12.9\pm0.35$	А	$13.3\pm0.61$	А	$-4.30\pm0.81$	AB	$-14.1 \pm 0.81$	AB
D	2.30	$13.0\pm1.32$	А	$-4.46\pm0.45$	А	$13.2\pm1.25$	А	$10.1\pm2.63$	А	$-1.57\pm2.68$	AB	$-12.5\pm2.68$	AB
ANOVA	d.f.	F-value p-value		F-value p-value		F-value p-value		F-value p-value	e	F-value p-value		F-value p-value	
Treatment	4	7.53 0.005		0.79 0.56		6.80 0.007		2.89 0.08		5.66 0.01		5.34 0.01	

Values represent mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Values with the same letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05). N is the no fertilizer plot, F is the chemical fertilizer plot, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot. C<sub>input</sub> is the carbon input from the application of organic fertilizer, ANPP is the aboveground net primary production, BNPP is the belowground net primary production, C<sub>output</sub> is the carbon output from the harvest, RH is organic matter decomposition, NEP is net ecosystem production, NECB is the net ecosystem carbon balance. ANOVA is analysis of variance, and d.f. is degrees of freedom. n = 3.

#### TABLE 6 | GHG balance (CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent).

		С	02		C	H <sub>4</sub>		N	2 <b>0</b>		G	VP	
					Mç	g CO₂ eq ha⁻	<sup>1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>	1					
Ν		64.4	± 4.1	А	-0.04	± 0.1	А	1.04	$\pm 0.7$	В	65.4	± 3.7	А
F		64.1 :	± 13.7	А	-0.07	$2 \pm 0.2$	А	3.40	$\pm 0.7$	AB	67.4 :	± 13.6	А
М		40.5	± 3.6	В	-0.04	+± 0.1	А	2.59	$\pm 0.8$	AB	43.1	± 2.8	В
S		51.8	± 3.0	AB	0.03	± 0.1	А	4.50	± 1.4	А	56.3	± 3.6	AB
D		45.9	± 9.8	AB	0.03	± 0.1	А	3.33	± 0.9	AB	49.2 -	± 10.1	AB
ANOVA	d.f.	F-value	p-value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value		F-value	p-value		F-value	<i>p</i> -value	
Treatment	4	5.34	0.01		0.43	0.78		5.55	0.01		5.01	0.02	

Values represent mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Values with the same letters are not significantly different (P < 0.05). N is the no fertilizer plot, F is the chemical fertilizer plot, M is the manure plot, S is the slurry plot, and D is the digestive fluid plot. GWP<sub>CO2</sub> is the CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent NECB (the net ecosystem carbon balance), GWP<sub>CH4</sub> is the CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent CH<sub>4</sub> emission, GWP<sub>N20</sub> is the CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent N<sub>2</sub>O emission, GWP is the CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent GHG balance. ANOVA is analysis of variance, and d.f. is degrees of freedom. n = 3.

fertilizer treatment (0.6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) and digestive fluid treatment (0.7 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) (Sawamoto et al., 2010). In this study, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from organic fertilizer treatments were higher than that of no fertilizer treatment (**Tables 3**, **4**). The slurry treatment exhibited the highest N<sub>2</sub>O emission, and the manure treatment had the lowest N<sub>2</sub>O emissions among the fertilizer treatments. However, there was no significant difference among the organic fertilizer treatments and between organic and chemical fertilizer treatments. Similarly, in a previous study conducted in the same Andosols, no significant difference was found between the manure treatment and the chemical fertilizer treatment, although it tended to be higher in the manure treatment (Shimizu et al., 2010; Mukumbuta et al., 2017a). These results suggest that the high soil organic matter content of the Andosols reduce the effect of organic matter application.

# Importance of Fertilization Design on Crop Yield

The fact that there was no significant difference in the grass yield between the chemical fertilizer treatment and the organic fertilizer treatments (**Figure 6**) was that the fertilizer application design was correctly performed using a combination of chemical and organic fertilizers without significantly increasing nitrogen loss of the organic fertilizer compared to that of the chemical

fertilizer (Sawamoto et al., 2010; Mori and Hojito, 2015). It has been reported that field surplus nitrogen, which is calculated as the difference between nitrogen input by fertilizer application and nitrogen output by plant uptake is a good indicator of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Shimizu et al., 2010). Field surplus nitrogen did not correlate with plant nitrogen uptake but correlated with N<sub>2</sub>O emission and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N leaching (Nagatake et al., 2018).

# Comparison of the N<sub>2</sub>O Emission Factors of Organic Fertilizer

The N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors in this study were 0.6-4.0%, -4.1-1.2%, 0.6-7.1%, and 0.2-1.0% for chemical fertilizer, manure, slurry, and digestive fluid, respectively. There was no significant difference among years or fertilizer treatments (**Table 3**), although chemical fertilizer treatment tended to have higher emission factor than organic fertilizer treatments. However, on average, there was a significant negative correlation with the C/N ratio of organic fertilizers (**Figure 5**). This result was consistent with the results on farmland where N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were measured using organic matter containing manure and plant residues (Akiyama and Tsuruta, 2003; Huang et al., 2004; Toma and Hatano, 2007; He et al., 2019). The C/N ratio of the microbes in soil is 5–10; that is, the synthesis of the cell requires nitrogen in an amount of 1/5-1/10 that of the carbon,

and some of the nitrogen mineralized through organic matter decomposition will be taken up by the microbes. The lower the C/N ratio of organic matter applied to the soil, the greater the amount of mineralized nitrogen released into the soil because there is more mineralized nitrogen than the microbes can uptake. On the contrary, the higher the C/N ratio of organic matter into the soil, the lower the release of mineral nitrogen into the soil because more mineralized nitrogen is taken up by the cells (Ruser et al., 2001). Soil mineral nitrogen ( $NO_3^-$ -N and  $NH_4^+$ -N) and easily decomposable organic carbon are substrates for nitrification and denitrification that cause soil N2O emissions. In this study, soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N content tended to be larger in slurry with a low C/N ratio than in manure with a high C/N ratio (Figures 1E,F). Therefore, it is considered that the slurry releases more mineralized nitrogen into the soil, which enhances nitrification and denitrification, and promotes N2O emission.

In this study,  $N_2O$  emission factor is obtained by subtracting  $N_2O$  emissions from chemical fertilizers and soil-derived emissions (Equations 7 and 8). Negative  $N_2O$  emission factor of organic fertilizer shown in **Table 3** suggests that the application of organic fertilizer denitrifies  $N_2O$  derived from chemical fertilizer. Several reports show the lower  $N_2O$  emission factor of organic matter than that of chemical fertilizer only (Toma and Hatano, 2007; Toma et al., 2007; Jin et al., 2010; Mori and Hojito, 2012; Shimizu et al., 2013; De Rosa et al., 2018).

## Comparison of Global Warming Potential Among Fertilizers

The cumulative GWP for 1,079 days tended to be smaller for the organic fertilizer treatments than in the no fertilizer and chemical fertilizer treatments, especially the manure treatment, which had a significantly smaller GWP (Table 6). As suggested by Mukumbuta and Hatano (2020), estimates of the NECB showed that organic fertilizers tended to have a higher soil carbon sequestration effect than chemical fertilizers (Table 5), which is thought to reduce the GWP of organic fertilizers. Comparing organic fertilizer treatments, the cumulative GWP was the largest in the slurry, which showed the highest N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor because of the lowest C/N ratio (Figure 5). Although manure application requires relatively higher chemical fertilizer nitrogen application rate among the organic fertilizer treatments (Table 2), manure application increased soil carbon sequestration and reduced N2O emissions, resulted in the highest reduction of GWP. Digestive fluid application reduced chemical fertilizer nitrogen application most, and reduced N2O emission next of manure.

## REFERENCES

- Akiyama, H., and Tsuruta, H. (2003). Effect of organic matter application on  $N_2O$ , NO, and  $NO_2$  fluxes from an andisol field. *Global Biogeochem. Cycles* 17, 1–16. doi: 10.1029/2002gb002016
- Blandford, D., and Hassapoyannes, K. (2018). The Role of Agriculture in Global GHG Mitigation. OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers, No. 112. Paris: OECD Publishing.

## CONCLUSION

The effects of application of manure, slurry, and digestive fluid on GHG emissions from a grassland on Andosol in a cold temperate climate were evaluated under fertilization management in accordance with regional recommendations. In the plots where organic fertilizer was applied, the amount of chemical fertilizer input could be reduced while maintaining yield. The relationships between CO2, CH4, and N2O emissions and the soil environmental factors (soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N contents, temperature, and WFPS) were not influenced by the type of fertilizer. The N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor was highest in the slurry treatment and lowest in the manure treatment, showing a negative correlation with the C/N ratio of organic fertilizers. Additionally, the application of these organic fertilizers has been shown to improve ecosystem carbon balance and reduce the GHG balance. When the GWP for each fertilizer was evaluated based on the results of this 3-year study, it was suggested that manure is the best way to increase soil carbon and to decrease GHG emissions, followed by digestive fluid.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RH planned this study, compiled all the data, and edited the manuscript. RK, CS, and KY measured greenhouse gas emissions and environmental factors and wrote the results and discussion. AN designed the experimental field, measurement procedures, and sampling schedule. YY and JD measured greenhouse gases and soil environmental factors. NY and KT produced slurries and methane fermentation digestive fluid at the Sapporo Farm. MK produced manure used at the Shizunai livestock farm and managed the field work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of Japan, via the Commissioned project study, named Development of the climate change mitigation technology in livestock sector.

da Silva Cardoso, A., Junqueira, J. B., Reis, R. A., and Ruggieri, A. C. (2020). How do greenhouse gas emissions vary with biofertilizer type and soil temperature and moisture in a tropical grassland? *Pedosphere* 30, 607–617. doi: 10.1016/S1002-0160(20)60025-X

Ciais, P., Sabine, C., Bala, G., Bopp, L., Brovkin, V., Canadell, J., et al. (2013). "The physical science basis," in *Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (IPCC), 465–570. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.015

- De Rosa, D., Rowlings, D. W., Biala, J., Scheer, C., Basso, B., and Grace, P. R. (2018). N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub>emissions following repeated application of organic and mineral N fertiliser from a vegetable crop rotation. *Sci. Total Environ.* 637–638, 813–824. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.046
- Harada, Y., Haga, K., Osada, T., and Koshino, M. (1993). Quality of compost produced from animal wastes. *JARQ* 26, 238–246.
- He, T., Yuan, J., Luo, J., Wang, W., Fan, J., Liu, D., et al. (2019). Organic fertilizers have divergent effects on soil N2O emissions. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 55, 685–699. doi: 10.1007/s00374-019-01385-4
- Hokkaido Government Agricultural Department (2015). Chapter V Grasses and Forage crops. In Hokkaido fertilizer recommendations 2015. Hokkaido.
- Holly, M. A., Larson, R. A., Powell, J. M., Ruark, M. D., and Aguirre-Villegas, H. (2017). Greenhouse gas and ammonia emissions from digested and separated dairy manure during storage and after land application. *Agricult. Ecosyst. Environ.* 239, 410–419. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.02.007
- Holm-Nielsen, J. B., Al Seadi, T., and Oleskowicz-Popiel, P. (2009). The future of anaerobic digestion and biogas utilization. *Bioresour. Technol.* 100, 5478–5484. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2008.12.046
- Hu, R., Hatano, R., Kusa, K., and Sawamoto, T. (2002). Effect of nitrogen fertilization on methane flux in a structured clay soil cultivated with onion in central hokkaido, japan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 48, 797–804. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2002.10408705
- Huang, Y., Zou, J., Zheng, X., Wang, Y., and Xu, X. (2004). Nitrous oxide emissions as influenced by amendment of plant residues with different C:N ratios. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 973–981. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.02.009
- Immovilli, A., Fabbri, C., and Valli, L. (2008). Odour and ammonia emissions from cattle slurry treated with anaerobic digestion. *Chem. Eng. Trans.* 15, 247–254.
- IPCC (2006). "2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories," in Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. eds H. S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara, and K. Tanabe K (Hayama: IGES).
- IPCC (2014). "Climate change 2014: synthesis report," in Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. eds Core Writing Team, R. K. Pachauri, and L. A. Meyer (Geneva: IPCC).
- Jin, T., Shimizu, M., Marutani, S., Desyatkin, A. R., Iizuka, N., Hata, H., et al. (2010). Effect of chemical fertilizer and manure application on N<sub>2</sub>O emission from reed canary grassland in Hokkaido, Japan. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 56, 53–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2010.00447.x
- Katayanagi, N., and Hatano, R. (2012). N<sub>2</sub>O emissions during the freezing and thawing periods from six fields in a livestock farm, southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 58, 261–271. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2012.670810
- Katayanagi, N., Sawamoto, T., Hayakawa, A., and Hatano, R. (2008). Nitrous oxide and nitric oxide fluxes from cornfield, grassland, pasture and forest in a watershed in Southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 54, 662–680. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2008.00284.x
- Lal, R. (2020). Managing soils for negative feedback to climate change and positive impact on food and nutritional security. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 66, 1–9. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2020.1718548
- Li, M., Shimizu, M., and Hatano, R. (2015). Evaluation of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> hot moments in managed grassland and cornfield, southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Catena* 133, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.catena.2015.04.014
- Linn, D. M., and Doran, J. W. (1984). Effect of water filled pore space on carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide production in tilled and non-tilled soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 48, 1267–1272. doi: 10.2136/sssaj1984.03615995004800060013x
- Matsunaka, T., Kumai, M., and Senntoku, A. (2003). Evaluation of anaerobically digested cattle slurry as a nitrogen source for orchard grass. *Japan. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 74, 31–38. doi: 10.20710/dojo.74.1\_31
- Matsuura, S., Miyata, A., Mano, M., Hojito, M., Mori, A., Kano, S., et al. (2014). Seasonal carbon dynamics and the effects of manure application on carbon budget of a managed grassland in a temperate, humid region in Japan. *Grassland Sci.* 60, 76–91. doi: 10.1111/grs.12042
- Mori, A., and Hojito, M. (2012). Effect of combined application of manure and fertilizer on N2O fluxes from a grassland soil in Nasu, Japan. Agricult. Ecosyst. Environ. 160, 40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011.07.018
- Mori, A., and Hojito, M. (2015). Effect of dairy manure type and supplemental synthetic fertilizer on methane and nitrous oxide emissions from a grassland in Nasu, Japan. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 61, 347–358. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2014.981676

- Mu, Z., Kimura, S. D., and Hatano, R. (2006). Estimation of global warming potential from upland cropping systems in central Hokkaido, Japan. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 52, 371–377. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2006.00046.x
- Mukumbuta, I., and Hatano, R. (2020). Do tillage and conversion of grassland to cropland always deplete soil organic carbon? *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 66, 76–83. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2019.1676135
- Mukumbuta, I., Shimizu, M., and Hatano, R. (2017a). Mitigating global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensities by applying composted manure in cornfield: a 3-year field study in an Andosol soil. *Agriculture* 7, 1–20. doi: 10.3390/agriculture7020013
- Mukumbuta, I., Shimizu, M., Jin, T., Nagatake, A., Hata, H., Kondo, S., et al. (2017b). Nitrous and nitric oxide emissions from a cornfield and managed grassland: 11 years of continuous measurement with manure and fertilizer applications, and land-use change. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 63, 185–199. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2017.1291265
- Mukumbuta, I., Uchida, Y., and Hatano, R. (2018). Evaluating the effect of liming on N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from denitrification in an Andosol using the acetylene inhibition and N-15 isotope tracer methods. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 54, 71–81. doi: 10.1007/s00374-017-1239-4
- Nagatake, A., Mukumbuta, I., Yasuda, K., Shimizu, M., Kawai, M., and Hatano, R. (2018). Temporal dynamics of nitrous oxide emission and nitrate leaching in renovated grassland with repeated application of manure and/or chemical fertilizer. *Atmosphere* 9:485. doi: 10.3390/atmos9120485
- Nakamura, M., Yuyama, Y., Fujikawa, T., Yamaoka, M., and Shimizu, N. (2008). GHG emission mitigation effect by methane fermentation system with digested liquid to utilize as fertilizer. J. Japan. Soc. Irrigat. Drainage Rural Eng. 76, 981–985. doi: 10.11408/jjsidre2007.76.11\_981
- Nakano, T., Sawamoto, T., Morishita, T., Inoue, G., and Hatano, R. (2004). A comparison of regression methods for estimating soil-atmosphere diffusion gas fluxes by a closed-chamber technique. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 107–113. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2003.07.005
- Paustian, K., Andrén, O., Janzen, H. H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., et al. (1997). Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO2 emissions. Soil Use Manag.13, 230–244. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.1997.tb00594.x
- Rochette, P., Angers, D. A., Chantigny, M. H., Bertrand, N., and Côt,é, D. (2004). Carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide emissions following fall and spring applications of pig slurry to an agricultural soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 68, 1410–1420. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2004.1410
- Ruser, R., Flessa, H., Schilling, R., Beese, F., and Munch, J. C. (2001). Effect of crop-specific field management and N fertilization on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from a fine-loamy soil. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.* 59, 177–191. doi: 10.1023/A:1017512205888
- Ryals, R., Kaiser, M., Torn, M. S., Berhe, A. A., and Silver, W. L. (2014). Impacts of organic matter amendments on carbon and nitrogen dynamics in grassland soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 68, 52–61. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2013. 09.011
- Ryals, R., and Silver, W. L. (2013). Effects of organic matter amendments on net primary productivity and greenhouse gas emissions in annual grasslands. *Ecol. Appl.* 23, 46–59. doi: 10.1890/12-0620.1
- Sawamoto, T., Yoshida, R., Abe, K., and Matsunaka, T. (2010). No significant difference in N<sub>2</sub>O emission, fertilizer-induced N<sub>2</sub>O emission factor and CH<sub>4</sub> absorption between anaerobically digested cattle slurry and chemical fertilizer applied timothy (*Phleum pratense* L.) sward in central Hokkaido, Japan. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 56, 492–502. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2010.00465.x
- Schlesinger, W. H., and Jeffrey, A. A. (2000). Soil respiration and the global carbon cycle. *Entomol. Exp. Appl.* 103, 239–248. doi: 10.1023/A
- Schulze, E. D., Wirth, C., and Heimann, M. (2000). Managing forests after Kyoto. *Science* 289, 2058–2059. doi: 10.1126/science.289.5487.2058
- Shimizu, M., Hatano, R., Arita, T., Kouda, Y., Mori, A., Matsuura, S., et al. (2013). The effect of fertilizer and manure application on CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from managed grasslands in Japan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 59, 69–86. doi: 10.1080/00380768.2012.733926
- Shimizu, M., Limin, A., Desyatkin, A. R., Jin, T., Mano, M., Ono, K., et al. (2015). Effect of manure application on seasonal carbon fluxes in a temperate managed grassland in Southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Catena* 133, 474–485. doi: 10.1016/j.catena.2015.05.011
- Shimizu, M., Marutani, S., Desyatkin, A. R., Jin, T., Hata, H., and Hatano, R. (2009). The effect of manure application on carbon

dynamics and budgets in a managed grassland of Southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Agricult. Ecosyst. Environ.* 130, 31–40. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2008. 11.013

- Shimizu, M., Marutani, S., Desyatkin, A. R., Jin, T., Nakano, K., Hata, H., et al. (2010). Nitrous oxide emissions and nitrogen cycling in managed grassland in Southern Hokkaido, Japan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 56, 676–688. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2010.00496.x
- Soussana, J. F., Allard, V., Pilegaard, K., Ambus, P., Amman, C., Campbell, C., et al. (2007). Full accounting of the greenhouse gas (CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>4</sub>) budget of nine European grassland sites. *Agricult. Ecosyst. Environ.* 121, 121–134. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2006.12.022
- Takakai, F., Morishita, T., Hashidoko, Y., Darung, U., Kuramochi, K., Dohong, S., et al. (2006). Effects of agricultural land-use change and forest fire on N2O emission from tropical peatlands, Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 52, 662–674. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2006. 00084.x
- The Fifth Committee for Soil Classification and Nomenclature of the Japanese Society of Pedology (2017). *Soil Classification System of Japan. Japanese Society of Pedology*. Available online at: http://pedology.jp/img/Soil%20Classification %20System%20of%20Japan.pdf (accessed December 25, 2020).
- Toma, Y., Fernandez, F. G., Sato, S., Izumi, M., Hatano, R., Yamadam, T., et al. (2011). Carbon budget and methane and nitrous oxide emissions over the growing season in a Miscanthus sinensis grassland in Tomakomai, Hokkaido, Japan. *Glob. Change Biol. Bioenergy* 3, 116–134. doi: 10.1111/j.1757-1707.2010. 01070.x

- Toma, Y., and Hatano, R. (2007). Effect of crop residue C:N ratio on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from gray lowland soil in Mikasa, Hokkaido, Japan: Original article. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 53, 198–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2007.00125.x
- Toma, Y., Kimura, S. D., Hirose, Y., Kusa, K., and Hatano, R. (2007). Variation in the emission factor of N<sub>2</sub>O derived from chemical nitrogen fertilizer and organic matter: a case study of onion fields in Mikasa, Hokkaido, Japan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 53, 692–703. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-0765.2007.00184.x
- UNEP (2019). *Emissions Gap Report, 2019*. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP).
- Yuyama, Y., Nakamura, M., and Yamaoka, M. (2007). Technologies to use the digested liquid produced by methane fermentation. Transactions of Japanese society of irrigation. *Drainage Rural Eng.* 247, 119–129. doi: 10.11408/jsidre1965.2007.119

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Kitamura, Sugiyama, Yasuda, Nagatake, Yuan, Du, Yamaki, Taira, Kawai and Hatano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Effect of Nutritional Variation and LCA Methodology on the Carbon Footprint of Milk Production From Holstein Friesian Dairy Cows

Margaret D. March\*, Paul R. Hargreaves, Alasdair J. Sykes and Robert M. Rees

The UK livestock industry urgently needs to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions

Scotland's Rural College (SRUC), Edinburgh, United Kingdom

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Nikolaos Katsoulas, University of Thessaly, Greece

#### Reviewed by:

Vasileios Anestis, Agricultural University of Athens, Greece Anna Vatsanidou, Benaki Phytopathological Institute, Greece

\*Correspondence: Margaret D. March maggie.march@sruc.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> **Received:** 28 July 2020 **Accepted:** 24 March 2021 **Published:** 30 April 2021

#### Citation:

March MD, Hargreaves PR, Sykes AJ and Rees RM (2021) Effect of Nutritional Variation and LCA Methodology on the Carbon Footprint of Milk Production From Holstein Friesian Dairy Cows. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5:588158. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2021.588158

to contribute to ambitious climate change policy commitments. Achieving this requires an improved understanding of emission sources across a range of production systems to lower the burden associated with livestock products. Life cycle assessment (LCA) methods are used in this study to model milk production from two genetic merits of Holstein Friesian cows managed in two novel and two conventional UK dairy systems. Select merit cows sired by bulls with high predicted transmission for fat plus protein yield are compared with Control merit animals sired from UK average merit bulls. Cows were managed in conventional housed and grazed dairy systems with novel Byproduct and Homegrown feeding regimes. A LCA was used to quantify the effect of allocation and management of feed components on the carbon footprint of milk production. Natural variation in nutritional quality of dairy system rations was investigated to quantify uncertainty in the carbon footprint results. Novel production system data are used to assess the effect of introducing home grown legumes and co-product feeds. Control merit footprints across each of the management regimes were significantly higher (p < 0.001) in comparison with a high production Select merit, on average by 15%. Livestock emissions (enteric, manure management and deposition) and embedded emissions (purchased feeds, fertiliser, and pesticides) were also significantly higher from control merit cows (p<0.01). Mass and economic allocation methods, and land use functional units, resulted in differences in performance ranking of the dairy systems, with larger footprints resulting from mass allocation. Pairwise comparisons showed GHG's from the systems to be significantly different in total and source category emissions, with significant differences in mean embedded emissions found between most management systems (p<0.05). Monte Carlo simulated system footprints considering the effect of variation in feed digestibility and crude protein also differed significantly from system footprints using standard methods (p < 0.001). Dairy system carbon footprint results should be expressed using multiple units and where possible calculations should incorporate variation in diet digestibility and crude protein content.

Keywords: carbon footprint, allocation, nutrition, dairy cattle, functional unit, LCA

# INTRODUCTION

The UK government is committed to reducing GHG emissions to net zero by 2050 with an even more ambitious target date of 2045 in Scotland (Committe on Climate Change, 2019). Agriculture is estimated to be responsible for 10-12% of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Smith et al., 2014). Emissions stemming from milk production in developed dairy regions such as the UK are estimated at between 1.2 and 1.4 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg, respectively, which is lower than the global average of 2.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg of fat and protein corrected milk (FPCM) (FAO, 2019). Dairy products have been processed and consumed in Britain since the Neolithic era and grassland, including rough grazing, covers  $\sim 80\%$  of the land area in Scotland (Charlton et al., 2019). However, agriculture is now the second largest source of GHG emissions in Scotland and there is an urgent need for this sector to contribute to national GHG emission reductions (SG, 2018). GHG emissions from livestock need to be reduced at a time when global demand for these commodities is increasing (Opio et al., 2013; FAO, 2019). UK GHG emissions from agriculture have declined by  $\sim 14\%$  since 1990, and reductions have largely arisen from a change to the Common Agriculture Policy (CAP), which ended a link between subsidy amounts and animal numbers (DBEIS, 2019, AHDB, 2014). Fewer total livestock numbers have led to lower stocking densities, less manure, and thus lower emissions (Rotz, 2004; del Prado et al., 2010; DBEIS, 2015). Formulating policies to enable further emission reductions on dairy farms will require an understanding of mitigation measures appropriate for specific production systems.

Models used to quantify GHG's are important tools to aid the understanding of mitigation pathways that lie within the intricate footprints of livestock systems (Opio et al., 2013). Estimates of GHG emissions from livestock systems contain uncertainties from model boundaries and allocation, variation in input values, or epistemic uncertainty arising from modelled biological processes, all of which present challenges for researchers and decision makers (IPCC, 2006; Flysjö et al., 2011; Opio et al., 2013; Röös and Nylinder, 2013). Epistemic uncertainty analyses of modelled dairy and beef livestock systems have shown that, overall, nitrous oxide (N2O) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions from manure, fertiliser N input, and enteric CH4 contribute most to variability and can inflate GHG emissions in livestock footprints (Ross et al., 2014; Zehetmeier et al., 2014; Sykes et al., 2019). Variation of N2O emissions in dairy system footprints was found to mainly stem from the IPCC emission factor for volatilisation and atmospheric deposition of N (Ross et al., 2014). Sensitivity analysis provides a deeper technical understanding of complex systems and is recommended to clarify potential impacts, however Baldini et al. (2017) show that only 20% of 44 reviewed LCA studies of milk production published between 2009 and 2015 carried out sensitivity analysis.

Gradual improvements in methodology have allowed more precise estimates of emissions arising from agricultural systems. However, simultaneously annual global GHG emissions have continued to increase and the interval available to implement reduction strategies narrows (Boden et al., 2017). Numerous examples can be found in the literature comparing carbon footprints arising from various dairy production methods in Scotland (Ross et al., 2014) and across the world (Cederberg and Mattsson, 2000; Basset-mens et al., 2005; Flysjö et al., 2011; O'Brien et al., 2014) including suggestions for establishing a system emitting less CO<sub>2</sub> per unit product or management type (O'Brien et al., 2012). However, differences in LCA methodology, allocation methods (for milk and meat) or functional unit hinder comparability (Baldini et al., 2017) and a meta-analysis of 30 published LCA's with 87 carbon footprints from pasture, mixed, and confinement dairy systems found no average footprint differences per kg of FPCM (Lorenz et al., 2019). Choice of functional unit is also important when expressing results from LCA studies assessing environmental impacts arising from differing dairy systems and when considering effects of intensification (Ross et al., 2017, Salou et al., 2017). As far as the authors are aware, allocation methods assessing feed components and their effect on dairy system carbon footprints are not available in literature.

Studies quantifying uncertainty and assessing sensitivity of milk production LCA's have investigated management changes, C sequestration (O'Brien et al., 2012), manure storage (O'Brien et al., 2012; Battini et al., 2014) and changes in energy consumption (Roer et al., 2013). Methodologies to model CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure, and enteric CH<sub>4</sub>, require measurements of diet digestibility and crude protein (CP) (Dong et al., 2006). The consequences of dietary and other variabilities should be considered, and uncertainties communicated when quantifying dairy farm carbon footprints (Zehetmeier et al., 2014; Milne et al., 2015). Of the nine LCA studies reviewed by Baldini et al. (2017) that incorporated sensitivity analysis an assessment of variability of crude protein and digestibility was not reported, this information is not available in literature for multiple dairy systems as far as the authors are aware.

The digestibility of a dairy cow diet relates to the chemical composition of feed components and also the ration as a whole. Digestibility can be described as the fraction of a food that is absorbed, and this is affected by fibre content of feeds, of which the forage components tend to exhibit wider variation (McDonald et al., 2011). Predictions of enteric CH4 emissions are lower from diets with high digestibility (Röös and Nylinder, 2013) and diet digestibility has been shown to influence uncertainty in beef production footprints (Sykes et al., 2019). Rations containing optimum digestibility and balanced CP can lead to lower GHG emissions because a cow would require less feed to meet nutritional requirements. Conversely, too much CP leads to higher N excretions, which can cause nutrient surpluses that contribute to air and water pollution, as well as climate change. Edouard et al. (2019) showed that IPCC GHG estimates were not as accurate for high levels of dietary N because of increased NH<sub>3</sub> emissions. When compared with soybean meal, the addition of legumes such as faba beans and peas in a ruminant ration were shown to have higher digestibility, CP and energy, which can be beneficial for dairy cow nutrition (Volpelli et al.,

2012), as long as rations are balanced to ensure higher levels of CP do not reduce nitrogen use efficiency (NUE).

Legumes are found in a wide range of ecosystems and the majority are genetically distinct form other plant species due to a symbiotic relationship with rhizobia. These are soil bacteria located within root nodules with the ability to fix nitrogen from the atmosphere (Kenicer, 2005). Within crop rotations, legumes can displace the need for imported nitrogen fertilisers, as well as nurture and condition the soil, which can have positive environmental and resource security consequences along with disease suppressing qualities (Lüscher et al., 2014; Stagnari et al., 2017). Home-grown protein feeds for animal production are increasingly being encouraged in the EU to reduce the protein deficit that relies upon soya imports which can fluctuate in price and can be associated with rainforest loss (European Parliament, 2018; Taherzadeh and Caro, 2019). Introducing legumes such as spring beans into crop rotations has the potential to reduce emissions through displacement of fertilisers, which in Scotland would translate to 100 to 180 kg/ha less N per year for spring and winter cereals, respectively (Iannetta et al., 2019). Legumes are estimated to generate <20% of the emissions associated with synthetic fertilisers, however N2O emissions can still occur from leguminous crop residues (Senbayram et al., 2015; Stagnari et al., 2017). Increasing the ratio of corn to alfalfa silage on large and small dairy farms in northern US has been shown to raise farm gate GHG emissions per kg of FPCM (Kim et al., 2019). An increase in the use of forage legumes within dairy systems should therefore be considered to improve outcomes for livestock and the wider environment.

This study adds to literature on Scottish dairy farm carbon footprinting carried out by Ross et al. (2014) by presenting novel Homegrown and By-product feeding systems in comparison with more conventional management techniques. This paper seeks to clarify the impact of dairy systems on the environment using a modelling approach to address specific questions; (i) what effect does the method of allocation of emissions from animal feeds in dairy systems have on the carbon footprint of milk produced, (ii) what effect does alternative system inputs, such as legumes and co-products have on the composition of carbon footprints and (iii) what is the effect of variation in feed digestibility and CP content on the global warming potential of milk produced in dairy systems under a range of management scenarios. Carbon footprints from Holstein Friesian cows managed in novel and conventional UK dairy feeding regimes are presented using life cycle assessment (LCA) methods. Monte Carlo simulations were applied to describe uncertainty brought about by variation in nutritional quality of the diets. Carbon footprint results using mass and economic allocation of feed components, land use functional units and considering variation in CP and digestibility were compared by ranking performance. Knowledge surrounding effects of UK farm grown forage legumes on dairy carbon footprints and insight into the influence of variation of feed digestibility and CP content in LCA uncertainty are novel aspects of this study. Additional impact categories are not presented in this manuscript, in order to focus on GHG emissions and climate change.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Dairy Systems Description**

Data in this study originates from the Langhill herd of Holstein Friesian cows which form one of the worlds' longest running genetic line × feeding systems experiments (Pollott and Coffey, 2008). Data were used from all cows belonging to the herds based at the SRUC's Crichton Royal Farm, Dumfries, Scotland between 2006 to 2010 and 2012 to 2015. A Select (S) group of cows sired by bulls with high predicted transmitting abilities (PTA) for fat plus protein yield are compared with a Control (C) group sired from UK average merit bulls (Pryce et al., 2001). System experiments were managed according to the same rules and each regime was designed to allow animals to express their potential for milk production, within the limitations based on the feed rations offered. All experimental cows were milked three times per day and if not grazing were housed in the same building, with cubicles and concrete passageways that were cleaned with automatic scrapers. A complete diet was offered as a total mixed ration (TMR), irrespective of milk yield and stage of lactation. The four dietary treatments compared in this analysis were,

- i. a high forage (HF) composite system which can be defined as a conventional regime; grazing cows when availability of grass is adequate and housing during inclement winter months when animals are fed conserved forage and concentrate through a total mixed ration (TMR),
- ii. a novel home grown (HG) partially housed system, defined here as a regime where all feed is grown on farm using legume-based protein sources with no purchased feeds except minerals, and where animals are housed for one period each day and fed a conserved forage TMR,
- iii. a low forage (LF) conventional housed system with animals confined all year round and being fed a diet of conserved forage and concentrate through a TMR,
- iv. a novel by-product (BP) fully housed system that required no on-farm land by feeding mainly non-human edible coproducts from the food industry with no forages except straw.

Data were collected over 5 years from January 2006 to December 2010 for LF and HF systems and over 4 years for HG and BP systems from January 2012 to December 2015 providing eight systems in total defined as Low Forage Control (LFC), Low Forage Select (LFS), High Forage Control (HFC), High Forage Select (HFS), Byproduct Control (BPC), Byproduct Select (BPS), Homegrown Control (HGC) and Homegrown Select (HGS). During 2011, cows consuming an LF diet transitioned to BP diet and HF to a HG diet. Herd size for each sub-group was maintained at  $\sim$ 50 cows during the experiments. Herds were managed in feed groups which contained cows of both genetic merits and animals remained in the same system for three lactations or until there was a suitable replacement. Cows within each herd calved all year round (AYR) and were dried off 8 weeks prior to estimated calving date. Calving intervals for the LF and HF herds are presented in March et al. (2017). Youngstock were managed as one group, with rations attributed by age, for heifer calves 0-12 months, and from 12 to 24 months.

## **Data Collection**

Each sub-group was treated as a whole farm in the life cycle inventory. Four dietary treatments and two genetic merits of cow allowed a comparison of eight diverse dairy production systems summarised annually. Milking and dry cow populations were evaluated for each sub-group and replacement animal populations were categorised by age for calves and heifers as 0-12, 12-24, >24 months. Milk yield was measured for individual animals at each milking with a sample taken once per week and analysed for fat and protein content by infrared spectroscopy. Samples were analysed using a Milkoscan minor spectrophotometer (Foss Ltd., Denmark) and calibrated by methods of AOAC (2000). Outputs of milk were summed for the systems annually and weekly fat and protein constituents were averaged. Liveweights were recorded three times per day after milking and weekly liveweights were recorded for dry cows and replacements.

In each dietary regime Select and Control merits were housed together on one side of the building in two management groups which rotated every 3 days either being fed using automatic gates or behind a strap. A formulated TMR was offered daily, and average rations for each diet are presented in Table 1. Individual feed intakes for milking cows were measured using HOKO gates (Insentec BV, Marknesse, The Netherlands). LF and HF cows were fed 0.75 kg/day fresh weight of a standard 16% CP complementary parlour concentrate whilst milking. Dairy system inputs and outputs were determined annually using data extracted directly from SRUC's Langhill herd database and averages of production indicators are presented in Table 2 for Select and Table 3 for Control systems. Intakes of grass were not measured, however, periods of time spent grazing were recorded and samples of fresh grass were taken and analysed. Dry cows consumed a straw based diet and were then fed a transition diet 3 weeks before calving which consisted of 33% of the average daily dry matter intake of the appropriate milking cow ration plus 5 kg straw. Housed youngstock were managed as a group and offered a ration that included straw, distillers grains, and molasses.

Forage components of the LF, HF and HG system diets were grown on the farm. Maize, wheat, and spring beans were sown annually, lucerne every 2 years and grassland for pasture and silage every 5 years. Up to three cuts of ryegrass silage were harvested each year and any instances of double cropping of fields were noted with the lengths of time attributed to each crop allocated accordingly. For example, a field to be sown for maize may have been cut for silage before ploughing and there were instances where a grass silage cut was taken from a field sown for red clover bales. Harvested crops were stored on farm in covered clamps. Land required annually for those systems consuming crops grown on the farm was determined from amounts and DM's of each crop component fed to the herds and the crop DM and yield at harvest. Dry matter losses occurred at harvest, during ensiling or baling with estimated losses from grass silage, wheat alkalage, red clover bales and maize silage applied when considering land requirements for sub-groups because crops were not grown or ensiled separately for each of the dairy systems. An estimate of surface and effluent DM losses in the ensiling clamp were added to an estimate of wilting, leaching, TABLE 1 | Ration constituent proportions in fresh weight and dry weight<sup>a</sup>.

Diet	Component	Fresh weight (kg/day)	Dry weight (kg/day)	Fresh weight proportion
Low forage	Wheat grain	4.3	3.83	0.096
-	Sugar beet pulp molasses	3.5	3.14	0.078
	Soya bean meal	3.1	2.81	0.068
	Distillers grains (wheat)	1.5	1.34	0.033
	Soya hulls	0.6	0.57	0.014
	Rumen-protected fat	0.3	0.33	0.008
	Bicarbonate & vegetable protein	0.4	0.3	0.009
	Grass silage	19.8	6.6	0.436
	Maize silage	8.2	2.2	0.181
	Alkalage	3.3	2.2	0.073
	Minerals/vitamins	0.25	0.25	0.006
	Total	45.4	23.6	
By-product	Barley straw	6.5	5.30	0.200
	Molassed sugar beet pulp	5.5	4.90	0.169
	Breakfast cereal (maize gluten)	3.3	3.00	0.102
	Distillers grains (wheat)	8.0	2.20	0.246
	Biscuit meal	2.2	2.00	0.068
	Wheat distillers dark grains	2.2	2.00	0.068
	Soya bean meal	2.2	2.00	0.068
	Cane molasses	2.0	1.30	0.062
	Minerals (high P)	0.2	0.20	0.006
	Rumen-protected fat	0.4	0.38	0.012
	Total	32.5	23.3	
High Forage	Grass silage	17.5	9.6	0.426
	Maize silage	12.9	3.2	0.314
	Alkalage	4.9	3.2	0.119
	Rapeseed meal	1.7	1.5	0.041
	Barley distillers grains	2.5	2.3	0.061
	Wheat distillers grains	1.4	1.2	0.034
	Minerals/vitamins	0.2	0.2	0.005
	Total	41.1	21.2	
Homegrown	Grass silage	35.1	9.0	0.587
(Winter ration)	Spring beans	5.5	4.7	0.092
	Wheat grain	4.0	3.4	0.067
	Red clover silage	10.0	2.0	0.167
	Maize silage	4.0	1.0	0.067
	Lucerne silage	2.0	0.6	0.017
	Minerals/vitamins	0.2	0.2	0.003
		60.8	20.9	0.000

 $^a{\rm Ration}$  formulation for predicted intakes to satisfy a dairy cow of 650 kg and yielding 30 kg/day.

respiration and mechanical field losses of crop to determine total land requirement by crop (Bastiman and Altman, 1985; Xiccato et al., 1994). Total land for each system year was calculated by

TABLE 2   Average annual production characteristics for high production select
merit cows.

	Low f	orage	By-pr	By-product		orage	Home	grown
	Mean	sd	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.
Herd size	45	3.5	50	2.1	51	3.8	55	2.2
Body weight, kg/cow	647	11.4	663	21.7	626	8.6	651	33.3
Daily DMI, kg/cow	19.0	3.93	22.1	4.42	17.3	3.72	17.2	3.31
Daily yield, kg/cow	35.6	1.36	34.6	1.41	26.8	0.82	24.6	0.67
Fat, %	3.9	0.74	3.5	0.25	4.0	0.06	3.9	0.31
Protein, %	3.3	0.40	3.2	0.07	3.3	0.05	3.4	0.07

DMI, Dry matter intake; sd, standard deviation.

 TABLE 3 | Average annual dairy system production characteristics for control merit cows.

	Low f	orage	By-pr	oduct	High f	orage	Home	grown
	Mean	sd	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.	Mean	s.d.
Herd size	50	0.6	52	1.8	54	1.0	55	2.4
Body weight, kg/cow	625	11.3	632	5.8	599	12.0	611	18.5
Daily DMI, kg/cow	18.1	4.02	20.3	5.53	16.35	1.16	15.52	2.28
Daily yield, kg/cow	31.1	1.54	28.8	1.55	24.1	0.83	22.8	0.61
Butterfat, %	3.6	0.13	3.3	0.17	3.8	0.07	3.6	0.25
Protein, %	3.1	0.06	3.0	0.04	3.2	0.03	3.2	0.1

DMI, Dry matter intake; sd, standard deviation.

adding on-farm land required to an estimate of off-farm land. Off-farm land was approximated using economic allocation of feed components within each of the diets, national data for crops SAC Consulting (2016) and Feedprint (Vellinga et al., 2013) for processed feeds. Table 4 presents estimated feed component land use requirements and GHG emissions associated with mass and economic allocation methods for purchased feed inputs. TMR's were sampled monthly and wet chemistry analysis provided measurements of metabolisable energy (ME) content, dry matter (DM), digestibility and crude protein (CP) content of the ration (AOAC, 2000). Within the BP system only non-human edible purchased concentrates and straw were consumed (Table 1). Leguminous by-products, soya bean meal and soya hulls were included in the LF and BP housed system TMR's at proportions of 14 and 9%, respectively. Legumes grown on the farm for the HG system represented 25% of the winter TMR and there were no legumes or leguminous by-product components fed within the HF regime (Table 1).

Applications of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) fertilisers and organic fertiliser to crops grown on the farm were determined by the farm manager using a long-term nutrient management plan. Fertiliser use data recorded for each crop area with application rate and fertiliser type was compiled annually and apportioned to each system by crop land requirement for that system. Organic fertiliser was applied as solid manure or as liquid slurry using a splash plate, trailing shoe, or by shallow injection. Manure was managed as solid or liquid storage or deposited **TABLE 4** | GHG emissions and land use factors applied to dairy system purchased feed components.

Low forage Wheat grain 434 349 Sugar beet pulp 120 245 molasses Soya bean meal 575 750 Distillers grains 285 5,428 (wheat) Soya hulls 333 754 Rumen-protected fat 501 2,941 By-product Barley straw 196 306 Sugar beet pulp 120 245 molasses Breakfast cereal 296 1,015 (maize gluten) Distillers grains 285 5,428 (wheat)	Land use m <sup>2</sup> /kg
molasses Soya bean meal 575 750 Distillers grains 285 5,428 (wheat) Soya hulls 333 754 Rumen-protected fat 501 2,941 Barley straw 196 306 Sugar beet pulp 120 245 molasses Breakfast cereal 296 1,015 (maize gluten) Distillers grains 285 5,428	1.43 <sup>a</sup>
Distillers grains (wheat)2855,428Soya hulls333754By-productBarley straw196306Sugar beet pulp molasses120245Breakfast cereal (maize gluten)2961,015Distillers grains2855,428	0.22
(wheat)333754Soya hulls333754Rumen-protected fat5012,941By-productBarley straw196306Sugar beet pulp120245molassesBreakfast cereal2961,015(maize gluten)Distillers grains2855,428	2.42
Rumen-protected fat5012,941By-productBarley straw196306Sugar beet pulp120245molassesBreakfast cereal2961,015(maize gluten)Distillers grains2855,428	0.98 <sup>a</sup>
By-product Barley straw 196 306 Sugar beet pulp 120 245 molasses Breakfast cereal 296 1,015 (maize gluten) Distillers grains 285 5,428	0.33
Sugar beet pulp120245molassesBreakfast cereal2961,015(maize gluten)Distillers grains2855,428	0.33
molasses Breakfast cereal 296 1,015 (maize gluten) Distillers grains 285 5,428	0.61
(maize gluten) Distillers grains 285 5,428	0.22
5	1.11
(	0.98 <sup>a</sup>
Biscuit meal 118 126	1.25
Wheat distillers dark 285 5,795 grains	0.98 <sup>a</sup>
Soya bean meal 575 750	2.42
Molasses cane 262 681	0.15
Minerals (high P) 180 180	0.33
Rumen-protected fat 501 2,941	0.33
High forage Rapeseed meal 529 1,221	1.50
Barley distillers grains 285 5,428	1.15 <sup>a</sup>
Wheat distillers dark 285 5,795 grains	0.98 <sup>a</sup>

Source unless otherwise stated: Feedprint (Vellinga et al., 2013), <sup>a</sup>SAC Consulting (2016).

at pasture. Liquid manure was pumped from the building and stored in uncovered slurry tanks and solid manure was stored uncovered outdoors. All youngstock and dry cow manure was managed as solid storage. All manure from housed milking cows was stored in liquid storage. Types, amounts and application rates of insecticide, fungicide and herbicide sprays applied to each crop were obtained from the Langhill herd database and directly from the supplier (pers. comm. Richard Bray). Forestry and other land managed within the farm boundary such as broadleaf woodland and biodiversity strips were apportioned using annual data prepared by the farm manager for farm subsidy applications (Pers. Comm. H. McClymont, SRUC) depending on the age and type of woodland.

Use of petrol and diesel, including the fuel needs of contractors, for each required activity was recorded in the Langhill database and then attributed to a feeding system by task, such as fertiliser application, and then by genetic group. Activities on the farm that required fuel related to crop management included fertiliser applications and herd management, such as feeding. Electricity use (kWh) was estimated from average milk yield per cow in each system using the method of Sheane et al. (2010) which applies 0.051 kWh/kg milk for yields of

6,500–8,500 litres per cow and 0.045 kWh/kg milk for yield >8,500 litres. Electricity was estimated from milk yield because power consumed was not recorded separately for each of the systems. Average annual energy use data is provided in the **Supplementary Material**. Annual diet digestibility and CP for each of the systems were determined from proportional intakes from monthly TMR and feed component sample analysis.

# Life Cycle Assessment

### Goal and Scope

Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is a key approach to determine environmental or other impacts along a product chain and is carried out according to ISO 10440 and ISO 10444 standards. This research applies an attributional "cradle to farm gate" LCA method as defined by the British Standards Institute (BSI) PAS2050 (BSI, 2011) for the assessment of the life cycle GHG emissions of goods and services. Boundaries applied in this study were "cradle to farm gate" which included all stages from production of farm inputs and raw materials until the milk or animals left the farm. This boundary included supply chain input resources and emissions that are generated off farm, such as those associated with growing and manufacturing purchased feeds, transport, fertiliser manufacture as well as fuel and electricity production. On farm system components included applications of fertilisers, sprays, fuel, crops and field activities, animal feed, livestock of all ages and the management of their manure. Minor emission sources excluded on the basis of materiality PAS2050 (BSI, 2011) in this study were indirect emissions such as staff travel, maintenance of farm buildings, disposal of dead animals and ancillary purchases such as medicine and disinfectants used to clean infrastructure.

A standard functional unit (FU) related to dairy LCA's of fat and protein corrected milk was applied using the following equation (IDF, 2015),

 $\begin{aligned} \text{FPCM} &= \text{Production} \left( \text{kg/year} \right) \times \left[ 0.1226 \times \text{Fat} \left( \% \right) + \ 0.0776 \\ & \times \text{Protein} \left( \% \right) \ + \ 0.2534 \right] \end{aligned}$ 

FU's applied in this study are one kilogramme of FPCM milk leaving the farm gate, total hectares of land required and FPCM production per hectare of total land required. When considering intensification land use is important, because globally land availability is a limiting factor for agriculture (Salou et al., 2017). Area based emissions are used in policy setting and results presented in this research allow comparisons with other studies that consider land such as O'Brien et al. (2012), Ross et al. (2017), Salou et al. (2017).

Allocation describes how GHG's are attributed to the products, and possible co-products that leave the farm and the methods applied affect the estimation of emissions. In this case, as no crops were sold, co-products included animals culled and manure exported from the system. Methods of allocation available in LCA studies include biological causality, system expansion, economic allocation, mass allocation and no allocation (Audsley et al., 1997). In this study a whole farm approach is taken and emissions are allocated between milk and meat using no allocation to meat and 100% to milk.

Emissions from co-product feeds were allocated proportionally by component as described by Vellinga et al. (2013). Greenhouse gas emissions attributed to feeds purchased for the LF, HF and BP systems followed an economic allocation method by feed component in the first instance and a mass allocation method as a comparison, shown in **Table 4**. This comparison is reported for Select merit herds in the BP, LF, HF and HG feed systems. Additional impact categories are not presented in this study to focus on types and sources of GHG emissions from a range of dairy systems.

#### **Inventory Analysis**

A life cycle inventory of annual data from five system years 2006-2010 for HF and LF diets and four system years 2012-2015 for HG and BP treatments was compiled for both genetic merits. Emissions from livestock were calculated using monthly herd dynamic data that was prepared for each of the systems for all years to determine livestock within each of the age categories, those culled, died, or sold, as well as dry and transition cows. Manure management emissions for each of the systems were allocated by the length of time cattle spent at either liquid storage, solid storage or depositing at pasture. Data showing proportions of time that cattle spent in each manure management category are provided in the Supplementary Material. Liquid slurry stems from the housed milking cows and the proportions of time spent grazing were determined and used to allocate deposition directly at pasture. Dry, transition cows and young stock generated solid manure. Manure generated by the dairy systems that was not applied to the crops was exported.

Livestock emissions from dairy cattle included those stemming from manure and enteric CH<sub>4</sub>, direct and indirect N<sub>2</sub>O from manure management, and additionally leaching of N from the soil, and ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) volatilisation arising from the application and deposition of manure. Amounts of N excreted were estimated from N consumed minus N utilised for production, growth and maintenance, which were derived from dry matter intake and CP content of the diets (Dong et al., 2006). Tier II emission factors (EF's) were applied for livestock and manure management and Tier I for fertiliser and crop residue N<sub>2</sub>O (de Klein et al., 2006; Dong et al., 2006). GHG emissions from production, processing, and distribution are embedded in purchased feeds brought onto the farm. Embedded emissions from fertiliser included those associated with manufacture and distribution, which, in the case of the Haber process for N, can be energy intensive. The global warming potentials associated with each feed component within the TMR's of the four diets are presented in Table 4. The LF and HF diets included a proportion of distillery products and the BP system comprised of purchased co-products from the bakery, distillery, brewing and confectionary industries. Estimated GHG emissions per kg for crops in the HG diet are presented in the Supplementary Material and the GWP of minerals in the LF, HF and HG diets was 261 kg CO2e/kg using mass and economic allocation (Vellinga et al., 2013). The CT (2010) database was used to source emission factors applied to the production of fertilisers and pesticides (Table 5). Land category emissions arising from fertiliser application include N<sub>2</sub>O from

Category	Description	Units	Factor	Source
Land	Direct from application of N to soils (EF1)	kg N₂O-N kg N <sup>−1</sup>	0.01	IPCC, 2006 Ch11 11.11
	Indirect volatilisation, atmospheric deposition of N (EF <sub>4</sub> )	kg N2O-N kg N <sup>-1</sup>	0.01	IPCC, 2006 Ch11 11.24
	Leaching and runoff of N (EF <sub>5</sub> )	kg N2O-N kg N <sup>-1</sup>	0.0075	IPCC, 2006 Ch11 11.24
	% N losses from leaching/runoff (Frac <sub>LEACH</sub> )	kg N	30%	IPCC, 2006 Ch11 11.24
Livestock	Direct urine and dung N deposition at pasture (EF3PRP)	kg N2O-N kg N <sup>-1</sup>	0.02	IPCC, 2006 Ch11 11.11
	Indirect N volatilisation from urine and dung at pasture ( $Frac_{GASM}$ )	kg N	0.2	IPCC, 2006 Ch11 11.24
	Direct volatilisation of solid storage manure (EF <sub>3SS</sub> )	kg N2O-N kg N <sup>-1</sup>	0.005	IPCC, 2006 Ch10 10.62
	Feed system and age specific enteric CH <sub>4</sub> equation 10.21	kg CH <sub>4</sub> head <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>		IPCC, 2006 Ch10 10.31
	Enteric (CH <sub>4</sub> conversion factor)	% of gross feed energy	6.5%	IPCC, 2006 Ch10 10.30
Embedded	Production of fertiliser N	kg CO2e/kg	7.11	CT Footprint Expert 3.1
	Production of fertiliser P	kg CO <sub>2</sub> e/kg	1.85	CT Footprint Expert 3.1
	Production of fertiliser K	kg CO <sub>2</sub> e/kg	1.76	CT Footprint Expert 3.1
	Herbicides	kg CO2e/kg ai	29.5	Audsley et al., 2009
	Insecticides	kg CO2e/kg ai	28.5	Audsley et al., 2009
	Fungicides	kg CO2e/kg ai	37.6	Audsley et al., 2009
Energy	Diesel	kg CO2e/l	3.17	DEFRA/DECC, 2015
	Petrol	kg CO2e/l	2.66	DEFRA/DECC, 2015
	Electricity	kg CO <sub>2</sub> e/kWh	0.48	DEFRA/DECC, 2015
Sequestration	Broadleaf woodland $> 20$ yrs	C fraction DM growth	0.48	IPCC, 2006 Ch4

TABLE 5 | Selected emission factors and calculations applied within the model.

VS, volatile solids; DM, dry matter.

soil, volatilisation, leaching and run-off as well as  $N_2O$  emissions from crop residues. Carbon sequestration of farm woodland (by age and type) is modelled using Tier 1 IPCC (2006) methodology and reported separately as a reduction of net emissions. Selected emission factors and equations applied within this study are shown in **Table 5**.

## **LCA - Impact Assessment**

The impact category of interest in this study is climate change, which was assessed by estimating total GHG emissions expressed in kg CO<sub>2</sub>e stemming from the annual inventories of the dairy systems. The inventory prepared for each of the eight systems provided annual farm inputs and outputs from 36 distinct annual inventories which refer to nine calendar years in total for subsequent analysis using SRUC's Agricultural Resource Efficiency Calculator (Agrecalc) v1.4 (SRUC, 2014). Agrecalc (SRUC, 2014) is a carbon foot-printing and resource efficiency tool designed to model emissions at farm level using IPCC methodology (Dong et al., 2006). A PAS2050 (BSI, 2011) accredited model is available online and the tool is used by consultants, farmers, and livestock researchers (Toma et al., 2013; Sykes et al., 2017). Factors applied in Agrecalc (SRUC, 2014) to convert GHG emission flows to CO2e were 25 and 298, for emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, respectively.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were carried out in R version 3.5.2 (R Core Team, 2013) using lme4, car, and lattice packages (Bates et al., 2015), to determine the effect of dairy production system upon product GHG emissions. Footprints applied in the statistical analysis were estimated using economic allocation of feeds and a

FPCM FU for comparability with other studies. A linear mixed model was fitted and included fixed effects of feeding regime, genetic merit, and a random effect of year. An ANOVA, and a Tukey pairwise comparison test was carried out to determine significance of the production systems using the following model,

$$Y_{ijk} = \mu + F_i + M_j + T_k + F_i M_j + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$

Where,

$$y_{ijk} GHG ext{ emissions using economic allocation} \\ and expressed per kg FPCM \\ \mu = grand mean \\ F_i = feed type (i = 1 to 4) fixed effect \\ M_j = genetic merit (j = 1 to 2) fixed effect \\ T_k = year (k = 1 to 9) random effect \\ ext{$\epsilon_{ijk}$} = residual error} \\ \end{cases}$$

## Sensitivity and Uncertainty Analysis

Stochastic simulations were carried out using ModelRisk5 (Vose Software) to assess the effect of annual variation in neutral cellulase gammanase digestibility (NCGD) and CP content of the rations on dairy system GHG emissions. Agrecalc (SRUC, 2014) was used to estimate baseline carbon footprints from all feed systems and both genetic merits using economic allocation of feeds and average annual values for NCGD and CP content. A FPCM FU is used for consistency and ease of comparability. Variation applying mass allocation of purchased feed emissions is not assessed in this study. Monte Carlo simulation using repeated random sampling was used to generate distributions of footprints for the dairy systems that accounted for uncertainty stemming from variability in NCGD and CP content for each treatment group. Descriptive statistics for the NCGD and CP distributions are shown in **Table 6**. Exponential and Log Laplace distributions were fitted to NCGD and CP analysis results, respectively, and Monte Carlo simulations with 10,000 iterations (seed = 2,605) were carried out. To determine if there was a significant difference in sensitivity the footprint outputs from the linear mixed model detailed in the previous section were refitted and modelled and an Anova was carried out to test for a significant difference between the models.

## RESULTS

## **Statistical Analysis**

An ANOVA was conducted to compare GHG's and test for significant differences between the four feeding regimes and two genetic merits using an economic allocation of feed emissions

	NCC	3D (g kg	DM <sup>-1</sup> )	Crude protein (g kg DM <sup>-</sup>				
	Mean	sd	Range	Mean	sd	Range		
Low forage	83.9	4.32	12.8	18.0	0.97	2.5		
By-product	74.9	2.83	6.0	20.3	0.27	0.8		
High forage	72.8	2.64	8.5	17.1	0.44	1.1		
Home grown	75.0	3.04	6.7	18.1	1.62	3.9		

sd, standard deviation; NCGD, neutral cellulase gammanase digestibility.

TABLE 7	Least square means	(Ism) of dairy syste	m GHG's by emission type.
---------	--------------------	----------------------	---------------------------

and results (**Table** 7). Normality checks and Levene's test were carried out and the assumptions were met. The effect of the interaction was significant (p < 0.01). There was a significant difference in mean GHG's per kg FPCM between the feed groups [ $F_{(3, 28)} = 15.6, p < 0.001$ ] and the genetic merits [ $F_{(1, 28)} = 46.5, p < 0.001$ ]. *Post hoc* comparisons using the Tukey test showed mean Select and Control merit GHG totals to be significantly different (p < 0.05) in LF, BP and HF feed types but no significant difference was found between the HG and HF diet. Tukey test results showed that the LF diet was significantly different from BP (p < 0.05), the HF and the HG (p < 0.001) diets for GHG totals. Significant differences in mean embedded emissions were found between all management systems (p < 0.05) and livestock emissions were all significantly different (p < 0.05) apart from HFS and HGS regimes (**Table 7**).

## **Effect of Allocation Method**

For Select merit herds the average annual carbon footprint for milk produced in each of the dairy systems was calculated using both economic and mass allocation of feed components which resulted in large differences in the ranking of the different systems (**Figure 1**). In the housed systems, with economic allocation, the BP diet is associated with higher emissions per kg product at 1.07 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM compared with the LF system, which averaged 0.95 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e (**Table 7**). Economic allocation of feed components in the HF and HG grazed system footprints led to similar product emissions per kg of FPCM at 1.15 and 1.16 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e, respectively, as a result of lower embedded emissions in the HG system (**Table 7**) that were outweighed by higher emissions from energy and fuels. The HG system is connected with higher fuel use associated with crop production on farm. Economic allocation of emissions for the HF and HG TMR's were

		Land	Livestock	Embedded	Energy	Sequestration	Total			
Variable	Level	CO <sub>2</sub> e/kg FPCM								
Management system	LFS	0.06ª	0.49 <sup>a</sup>	0.34ª	0.08	-0.01ª	0.96ª			
	BPS	0.00	0.61 <sup>b</sup>	0.39 <sup>b</sup>	0.07	0.00	1.07 <sup>b</sup>			
	HFS	0.09 <sup>b</sup>	0.73	0.28 <sup>c</sup>	0.08	-0.03 <sup>b</sup>	1.15 <sup>c</sup>			
	HGS	0.11 <sup>c</sup>	0.73	0.22 <sup>d</sup>	0.15 <sup>a</sup>	-0.05 <sup>c</sup>	1.16 <sup>c</sup>			
	LFC	0.07 <sup>d</sup>	0.59 <sup>c</sup>	0.40 <sup>e</sup>	0.09	-0.02 <sup>d</sup>	1.13 <sup>d</sup>			
	BPC	0.00	0.71 <sup>d</sup>	0.46 <sup>f</sup>	0.07 <sup>b</sup>	0.00	1.24 <sup>e</sup>			
	HFC	0.10 <sup>e</sup>	0.84 <sup>e</sup>	0.33 <sup>g</sup>	0.08	-0.03 <sup>e</sup>	1.33 <sup>f</sup>			
	HGC	0.12 <sup>f</sup>	0.81 <sup>f</sup>	0.25 <sup>h</sup>	0.16 <sup>c</sup>	-0.06 <sup>f</sup>	1.28 <sup>e</sup>			
Diet	LF	0.06 <sup>a</sup>	0.54 <sup>a</sup>	0.37 <sup>a</sup>	0.08 <sup>a</sup>	-0.02 <sup>a</sup>	1.04 <sup>a</sup>			
	BP	0.00	0.66 <sup>b</sup>	0.43 <sup>b</sup>	0.07 <sup>a</sup>	0.00	1.16 <sup>b</sup>			
	HF	0.09 <sup>b</sup>	0.79 <sup>c</sup>	0.31°	0.08 <sup>a</sup>	-0.03 <sup>b</sup>	1.24°			
	HG	0.11 <sup>c</sup>	0.77 <sup>d</sup>	0.23 <sup>d</sup>	0.16 <sup>b</sup>	-0.05 <sup>c</sup>	1.22°			
Genetic Line	Control	0.07	0.74 <sup>a</sup>	0.36 <sup>a</sup>	0.10	-0.03	1.24ª			
	Select	0.06	0.64 <sup>b</sup>	0.31 <sup>b</sup>	0.09	-0.02	1.08 <sup>b</sup>			
$R^2$		0.97	0.71	0.79	0.92	0.97	0.87			

Different superscripts within a column denote significant differences between levels of the same variables (p < 0.05). LF, low forage; BP, by-product; HF, high forage; HG, home grown; S, select; C, control.



206 and 252 kg of CO<sub>2</sub>e, respectively. Mass allocation of feed components led to increases in system footprints per kg FPCM because emissions were higher for all diet TMR's, except HG. TMR emissions were 473, 2,072, 757 and 252 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/tonne, for the LF, BP, HF and HG systems, respectively. On average, in the housed systems, BP diet emissions increased per kg product from 1.07 to 3.79 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM using economic and mass allocation, respectively. LF system product emissions averaged 0.95 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM using economic allocation and 1.3 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM using mass allocation (**Figure 1**). Control merit results followed the same rank order and are reported in the **Supplementary Material**.

## **Sensitivity and Uncertainty Analysis**

Simulated footprints were generated using economic allocation of feeds to obtain distributions of dairy management system results if variation in NCGD and CP levels were considered. Mean dairy system footprint simulations considering the effect of NCGD and CP variation differed significantly from mean system footprints estimated using average annual NCGD and CP values (p < 0.001). Mean milk footprints were increased in the BP and HF systems and decreased in the LF and HG systems, in comparison with applying an average annual figure for digestibility and CP. Accounting for nutritional variation of the rations throughout the year had widened footprint ranges and altered comparative dairy system performance ranking. Select merit cows in the BP regime incurred greater average emissions per kg FPCM, at 1.21 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e, when compared to the LFS, HGS and HFS systems which averaged 0.92, 1.15, and 1.17 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM, respectively (Figure 2). Average Control merit footprints followed the same rank and were higher than the Select merit in the same system at 1.09, 1.26, 1.35, and 1.42 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM for LFC, HGC, HFC and BPC systems, respectively (**Figure 2**). Higher average diet digestibility combined with a lower average CP content in the LF system (**Table 6**) led to lower mean emissions, in comparison with BP, HF and HG diets in both genetic merits (**Table 7**) and the standard method applying an average annual figure for digestibility and CP. When compared to the LF, BP and HF regimes Select merit cows managed in the HG system attracted a wider range of potential carbon footprints (**Figure 2**).

Sources of GHG's within the carbon footprints varied by dairy management regime, therefore farm mitigation strategies may prove more effective if applied by system type. Land and crop GHG emissions stem from crop residues, manure and fertiliser application and these ranged from zero in the BPS system to  $0.11 \text{ kg } \text{CO}_2\text{e}$  in the HGS system (**Table 8**). Embedded emissions are generated by energy consumed in the manufacture of feeds, fertilisers and pesticides and also in the use of bedding. Embedded emissions were greatest in the BPS housed system, at  $0.46 \text{ kg } \text{CO}_2\text{e}$  /kg FPCM, because all feed and bedding were imported. The HGS grazed system attracted higher embedded emissions than the HFS system, as a larger area of on farm crop land replaced purchased feeds (**Table 8**).

Livestock emissions that arise from enteric fermentation and manure management were greater in the HF and BP systems, at 0.79 and 0.68 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM, compared with 0.57 and 0.66 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM in the LF and HG systems, respectively (**Figure 3**). Higher emissions arose from greater amounts of manure stored in the BP system and from depositions while at pasture in the HF system. Emissions related to energy use were greater in the HG system, as this stemmed from the fuel used for crop related activities. Sequestered carbon estimated to occur within the woodland in the LF, HF and HG systems, lowered



TABLE 8 | Dairy system GHG emissions (kg CO2e/kg FPCM) by category using economic allocation of feeds and considering nutritional variation of both CP and NCGD.

		Land		Livestock Embedded Energy		Seque	stration	Tot	al				
		Mean	sd	Mean	sd	Mean	sd	Mean	sd	Mean	sd	Mean	sd
Low Forage	S	0.05	0.003	0.57	0.013	0.24	0.014	0.08	0.007	-0.01	0.002	0.92	0.04
By-product	S	0.00	0.000	0.68	0.014	0.46	0.016	0.07	0.004	0.00	0.000	1.21	0.03
High Forage	S	0.08	0.003	0.79	0.036	0.24	0.013	0.08	0.007	-0.03	0.002	1.17	0.06
Home Grown	S	0.11	0.011	0.66	0.036	0.28	0.055	0.15	0.010	-0.05	0.003	1.15	0.11
Low Forage	С	0.06	0.006	0.68	0.020	0.29	0.009	0.09	0.012	-0.02	0.001	1.09	0.05
By-product	С	0.00	0.000	0.80	0.051	0.55	0.045	0.07	0.005	0.00	0.000	1.42	0.10
High Forage	С	0.09	0.008	0.91	0.028	0.30	0.020	0.08	0.013	-0.03	0.002	1.35	0.07
Home Grown	С	0.11	0.012	0.73	0.051	0.32	0.028	0.16	0.008	-0.06	0.003	1.26	0.10

S, select merit; C, control merit; sd, standard deviation; CP, crude protein; NCGD, neutral cellulase gammanase digestibility.

Select merit footprints by 0.01, 0.03, and 0.05 kg  $CO_2e/kg$  FPCM, respectively (**Table 8**). Control merit footprints were reduced by 0.02, 0.03, and 0.06 kg  $CO_2e/kg$  FPCM, for the LF, HF and HG, systems, respectively (**Table 8**).

## **Effect of Increased Legume Forages**

Economic allocation of feed components generated similar average product emissions for HF and HG systems at 1.15 and 1.16 kg, respectively (**Table 7**). Mass allocation increased the HF milk footprint to  $1.67 \text{ kg} \text{ CO}_2 \text{e/kg}$  due to the proportion of distillers' grains in the ration. Accounting for nutritional variation slightly reduced the HG average to  $1.15 \text{ kg} \text{ CO}_2 \text{e}$ 

per kg FPCM and increased the HF to  $1.17 \text{ kg CO}_2\text{e/kg}$ FPCM (**Table 8**). If C sequestration was not included, the footprints were, on average, equivalent at  $1.19 \text{ kg CO}_2\text{e/kg}$ FPCM (**Table 8**). Trade-offs between livestock manure emissions and energy use to grow crops has led to similar milk total emissions being returned from the HG and HF systems (**Table 7**). Total on-farm land use per milking cow increased from an average of 0.86 ha to 1.23 ha when comparing the HF and HG systems. The HG system attracted greater embedded emissions than the HF system, these stemmed from the use of fungicide and herbicide applications to the wheat and spring beans.



## **Effect of Genetic Merit**

Control merit total product footprints across each of the management regimes were significantly higher (p < 0.001) in comparison with high production Select merit cows, on average by 15% (Table 7). Livestock and embedded emissions were also significantly higher from control merit cows (p < p0.01). On average, comparing raw milk quality across each of the management regimes, Control merit cows yielded less milk volume and produced lower percentage fat and protein content (Table 3) than Select merit animals consuming the same diet (Table 2). When encompassing nutritional variation lowest to highest mean system ranking for Control merit was LF, HG, HF, BP and this rank order was preserved for Select mean footprints (Figure 2). Control merit carbon footprints were higher than the Select merit animals apart from in the LF system, where the Control merit resulted in slightly lower emissions than Select merits in the BP, HG and HF management. The housed LF regime incurred less GHG's / kg FPCM than the BP system irrespective of merit or allocation method mainly because of emissions embedded in the production of feeds. Raw milk at the farm gate produced by Control merit cows, within the BP system, were associated with greater product emissions at 1.42 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM, than other systems and merits.

## Effect of Land Use as a Functional Unit

On average, considering both on and off-farm land requirements for Select merit cows (**Table 9**), the BP system required the least amount of land in total, due to the high proportion of human inedible crop products and industry co-products. Land as a

 TABLE 9 | Select merit dairy system land use (ha) on and off farm (mean and standard deviation).

Dairy system	On-far	m land	Off-fai	m land	Total land
	Mean	sd	Mean	sd	
Low forage	29.4	4.99	45.1	2.23	74.5
By-product	0.6	0.0	58.9	4.07	59.5
High forage	41.6	8.23	21.8	2.53	63.4
Home grown	67.6	2.82	11.2	2.18	78.8

functional unit showed the HG system as least GHG intensive. When output of product is included with total land, it was the BP dairy system that emitted fewer GHG per hectare (**Table 10**).

# DISCUSSION

Using an LCA approach, this study demonstrates the importance of allocation method used to attribute GHG emissions of animal feeds and, in addition, the effect of nutritional variation on the carbon footprint of novel and conventional UK dairy systems. The ranked performance of dairy management types depends on the approach used to calculate impact and whether or not uncertainty is included (**Table 11**). Economic allocation resulted in mean dairy system emissions that ranged from 0.95 to 1.16 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM and 1.13 to 1.28 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e/kg FPCM for S and C merit, respectively (**Table 7**). Mean system emissions were lower than the UK average of 1.25 kg CO<sub>2</sub>e (AHDB, 2014), except for C

TABLE 10   Dairy system mean	n GHG emissions (kg CO <sub>2</sub> e) per functional unit.
------------------------------	---

Unit	Method	Merit	Low forage	By-product	High forage	Home grown
kg FPCM	Economic allocation	Select	0.95	1.07	1.15	1.16
FPCM	Mass allocation	Select	1.30	3.79	1.67	1.18
На	Economic allocation	Select	6,939	9,512	8,164	6,309
FPCM/ha	Economic allocation	Select	71.1	63.9	72.8	91.7
FPCM	NCGD & CP sensitivity	Select	0.92	1.21	1.17	1.15
FPCM	NCGD & CP sensitivity	Control	1.09	1.42	1.35	1.26

**TABLE 11** | Ranked dairy system mean total GHG emissions (kg CO<sub>2</sub>e).

Method	Unit	Merit	LF	BP	HF	HG
Economic allocation	FPCM	Select	1	2	3	4
Mass allocation	FPCM	Select	2	4	З	1
Economic allocation	Ha	Select	2	4	3	1
Economic allocation	FPCM/ha	Select	2	1	3	4
NCGD & CP sensitivity	FPCM	Select	1	3	4	2
NCGD & CP sensitivity	FPCM	Control	1	3	4	2

merit cows in HG and HF regimes (**Table 7**). Results expressing emissions totals per kg FPCM and per hectare produced in this study are in line with similar research such as Salou et al. (2017) and O'Brien et al. (2014). Carbon footprint results presented for the housed and composite systems are also in line with confinement and mixed systems reported in a review of 30 LCA studies from 15 different countries (Lorenz et al., 2019).

## Effect of Allocation Method and Uncertainty Analysis

Carbon footprints were, on average, higher using mass allocation EF's, and accounting for uncertainty, stemming from changes in diet CP and digestibility, altered the dairy system ranking. Mass allocation of feed component emissions raised product emissions on average by 41%, for the LF and HF rations, which comprised of a mixture of grown crops and purchased concentrates. The BP ration was formulated from mainly nonhuman edible food and drink industry co-products and the TMR produced only marginally less GHG's than the LF diet. With economic allocation, ration EF's per tonne in the LF diet was 256 kg CO2e and 249 kg CO2e in the BP diet. Milk quality in the BP diet was, on average, lower in fat and protein content in comparison with the LF system. In the grazed HF system, mass allocation of feed components increased product footprints because distillers' grains and rapeseed meal elevated emissions. The effect of the elevation in TMR emissions using mass allocation in the HF system is not as pronounced as in the BP system due to the time spent grazing by HF cows. The HG grazed system footprints were least effected by allocation method as purchased feed was limited to minerals and diet component EF's were all equivalent apart from wheat grain. Ration EF's increased using mass allocation because feed components such as industry co-products tend to be associated with higher emissions when additional processing into animal feed is required.

Nutritional quality of animal feed varies, and in this study feed analyses showed a higher mean CP and lower mean digestibility in the BP ration when compared to the LF system. The BP system had the lowest ranges in digestibility and CP content, possibly because there was no effect of local climate on farm grown crops in this ration. Reducing the CP intake of the dairy cow diet would help in reducing GHG emissions (particularly  $N_2O$ ) and UK research has shown that loss of production can be lower than expected (Reynolds et al., 2016). Other environmental and financial strategies to improve nitrogen use efficiency, such as home-grown legumes, should have positive consequences for GHG emissions through increased protein supply and the reduced need for N application from imported inorganic fertilisers.

## **Effect of Increased Legume Forages**

The HF system ration included feeds requiring crop rotations of grass silage, maize and wheat, which required N fertilisers and were ensiled on farm. Crop products were combined with purchased concentrates and on average the HF diet consisted of  $\sim$ 75% forage on a DM basis and 1.3 tonnes of concentrate per cow (March et al., 2017). In comparison with the HF diet, the HG ration required less maize crop, as the purchased distillers' grains and rapeseed meal were replaced with farm grown proteins, such as, spring beans and lucerne. The HG herds were grazed for an average of 26% of the year, whereas the HF cows were grazed for an average of 30% annually and attracted greater emissions from dung and urine deposition at pasture. For Select merit cows, however, feed intakes on a DM basis were similar in both the HF and HG systems (Table 2). Average milk yield reduced slightly, by 98 kg per cow from 7,575 kg in the HFS system to 7,477 kg in the HGS system, although, milk quality was similar in both the systems (Table 2).

The HG system is a comparatively high emitter using economic allocation however, Table 11 shows this regime outranked all the other systems using mass allocation because no additional emissions are generated by imported products. In this case mass allocation methods and sensitivity analysis of nutritional variability highlight the benefits of a self-sufficient agricultural system, which may contain positive consequences when incorporating mitigation measures or when moving to more circular economic methods of farming. The HG system also had the lowest area-based emissions, a consequence of the replacement of synthetic N fertilisers by N inputs through biological fixation in comparison with the HF system. Legumes altered the composition of the footprints however the longterm effects of soil conditioning or crop disease prevention were not quantified by carbon footprinting and carbon sequestration modelling needs to be improved (Sykes et al., 2017) to reflect these and other desirable consequences. Mitigation of emissions

related to inputs could be achieved in the HG system by reducing pesticide use and using renewable energies on farm.

## **Effect of Genetic Merit**

On average across all diets, product emissions from Control merit cows using an economic allocation were 15% higher, indicating that improving genetic merit offers an immediate emissions reduction strategy, mainly through increased milk yields. In addition, GHG emissions can be reduced by selecting for feed efficiency (Bell et al., 2011). This could be accelerated using techniques such as genomics in the herd to enhance overall feed efficiency and in vitro fertilisation (Gifford and Gifford, 2013; Pryce and Bell, 2017; Hailu, 2018). Financial analysis of the LF and HF regimes found a Control merit cow in a housed regime to be least profitable because milk yields were not sufficiently high to justify the feed costs (March et al., 2017). Considering the diets, the total emissions differed significantly (p < 0.05), apart from the HF and HG rations, however, livestock, energy and embedded emission types did differ significantly between these systems. This highlights that dairy systems mitigation potentials, and measures implemented, should be quantified and designed by considering the production method and the emission source.

## Effect of Land Use as a Functional Unit

Novel rations such as those used in the BP system required less land, however, incorporating high percentages of co-product based animal feeds can lead to greater GHG emissions as a consequence of upstream processing, such as drying or milling, which can be energy intensive (Vellinga et al., 2013). Ruminant diets for high yielding cows can be formulated to achieve lower emissions, and to make more efficient use of human inedible co-products (Wilkinson and Garnsworthy, 2017), however, not all co-product feeds are low carbon, and feeding TMR's all year round usually requires cows to be housed in adequate modern animal housing facilities with slurry storage systems. In Scotland, industry co-products have traditionally been used as animal feeds, however, feeds such as distillers' grains contain added water, which stems from the mashing stage of the whisky making process. This can hugely inflate mass balance emissions, and for some products drying grains requires a substantial input of energy, as the water content has to be reduced from  ${\sim}75\%$ to under 10% (Bell et al., 2012). Product quality in the BP system was also reduced (Tables 2, 3), this was reflected through lower milk fat and protein which have financial consequences for farm income.

Comparisons of low input grass based, mixed, and fully housed intensive dairy systems are valuable to explore uncertainty and mitigation pathways, rather than to justify efficacy of a particular method of farming. Between and within countries agricultural practises vary and livestock farming is to some extent governed by history, culture, and tradition (Boogaard et al., 2011). Overall focus should be turned to mitigation of emissions, adaptation to changing climates, improving comparability of LCA's, and communicating uncertainty. GHG emissions from dairy farming can be mitigated through multiple pathways such as increasing the longevity of cows within a herd, improving fertility, lowering initial calving age and by reducing enteric methane and improving digestibility of cow rations (Garnsworthy, 2004; Wilkinson and Garnsworthy, 2017). Reduced enteric CH<sub>4</sub> and increased digestibility could be achieved through the reformulation of the diet or through feeding additives and supplements (Knapp et al., 2011, 2014). In less intensive dairy systems, enteric CH<sub>4</sub> emissions can be reduced by increasing yields (Yan et al., 2010). Renewable energies and technologies such as anaerobic digestion can be effective in reducing emissions from manure storage, with one study reporting reductions of up to 36% (Weiske et al., 2006; Battini et al., 2014).

# CONCLUSIONS

Mass and economic allocation methods, and land use functional units, are shown to generate alternatively ranked footprint results. Monte Carlo simulated system footprints considering the effect of variation in feed digestibility and crude protein differed significantly from system footprints using standard methods. Implications are that dairy farm footprint calculations should incorporate the variation in diet digestibility and crude protein content where possible. Using an economic allocation, a localised home-grown feeding regime had the highest C footprint, however, this more self-sufficient system was associated with the lowest footprint using mass allocation and attracted the lowest area-based emissions, when not considering milk output. This result suggests the need for dairy system footprint results to be expressed in multiple units and to be mindful that methods used to allocate inputs can affect carbon footprint results. It is expected that in developing economy-wide reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, mass and area-based assessments of mitigation are most likely to guide the delivery of policy objectives.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because raw data is not publicly available. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Margaret D. March, maggie.march@sruc.ac.uk.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by SRUC Animal Experiments Committee (AEC).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MM, RR, and AS contributed to the concept and methodology. MM and AS carried out the analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This research was funded by the TRUE project, under the EU Horizon2020 Research and Innovation Programme (Grant

Agreement number 727973) and the Scottish Government's Strategic Research Development Programme.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to staff and technicians at SRUC's Crichton Royal Farm, to Ian Archibald (SRUC, Database Manager) and to Prof. Richard Dewhurst for his comments. The authors

## REFERENCES

- AHDB (2014). Greenhouse Gas Emissions on British Dairy Farms: DairyCo Carbon Foot Printing Study: Year 3. Stoneleigh Park, Kenilworth, Warwickshire: Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board. Available online at: https:// dairy.ahdb.org.uk/media/988076/411045\_carbon\_footprint\_report\_year\_3\_ final.pdf (accessed November 30, 2019).
- AOAC (2000). Official Methods of Analysis, 17th Edn. Gaithersburg, MD: The Association of Official Analytical Chemists.
- Audsley, E., Alber, S., Clift, R., Cowell, S., Crettaz, P., Gaillard, G., et al. (1997). Harmonisation of Environmental Life Cycle Assessment for Agriculture. Final Report, Concerted Action AIR3-CT94-2028, European Commission, DG VI Agriculture, Brussels. Available online at: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/258966401\_EU\_Concerted\_Action\_ report\_HARMONISATION\_OF\_ENVIRONMENTAL\_LIFE\_CYCLE\_ ASSESSMENT\_FOR\_AGRICULTURE\_Final\_Report\_Concerted\_Action\_ AIR3-CT94-2028 (accessed July 15, 2020).
- Audsley, E., Stacey, K., Parsons, D. J., and Williams, A. G. (2009). Estimation of the Greenhouse Gas Emissions From Agricultural Pesticide Manufacture and Use. Cranfield, Bedford: Cranfield University. Available online at: https://dspace.lib. cranfield.ac.uk/bitstream/handle/1826/3913/Estimation\_of\_the\_greenhouse\_ gas\_emissions\_from\_agricultural\_pesticide\_manufacture\_and\_use2009.pdf; jsessionid=CFBFA3B3D5626A0579878C68E5D5FEFC?sequence=1 (accessed July 15, 2020).
- Baldini, C., Gardoni, D., and Guarino, M. (2017). A critical review of the recent evolution of Life Cycle Assessment applied to milk production. J. Clean. Prod. 140, 421–435. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.06.078
- Basset-mens, C., Ledgard, S. F., and Carran, A. (2005). First life cycle assessment of milk production from New Zealand dairy farm systems. *Conf. Palmerst. North New Zeal.* 2003, 258–265. Available online at: www.anzsee.org/ anzsee2005papers/Basset-Mens\_LCA\_NZ\_milk\_production
- Bastiman, B., and Altman, J. F. B. (1985). Losses at various stages in silage making. *Res. Dev. Agric.* 2, 19–25.
- Bates, D., M\u00e4chler, M., Bolker, B. M., and Walker, S. C. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Battini, F., Agostini, A., Boulamanti, A. K., Giuntoli, J., and Amaducci, S. (2014). Mitigating the environmental impacts of milk production via anaerobic digestion of manure: case study of a dairy farm in the Po Valley. *Sci. Total Environ.* 481, 196–208. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.02.038
- Bell, J., Morgan, C., Dick, G., and Reid, G. (2012). Distillery Feed Byproducts Briefing. Edinburgh: SAC Consulting. Available online at: https://www.sruc. ac.uk/info/20005/sac\_consulting/812/distillery\_feed\_by-products\_briefing (accessed February 16, 2021).
- Bell, M. J., Wall, E., Russell, G., Simm, G., and Stott, A. W. (2011). The effect of improving cow productivity, fertility, and longevity on the global warming potential of dairy systems. *J. Dairy Sci.* 94, 3662–3678. doi: 10.3168/jds.2010-4023
- Boden, T. A., Marland, G., and Andres, R. J. (2017). Global, Regional, and National Fossil-Fuel CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions. Oak Ridge, TN: Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy.
- Boogaard, B. K., Oosting, S. J., Bock, B. B., and Wiskerke, J. S. C. (2011). The sociocultural sustainability of livestock farming: An inquiry into social perceptions of dairy farming. *Animal* 5, 1458–1466. doi: 10.1017/S1751731111000371

would like to thank two anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs. 2021.588158/full#supplementary-material

- BSI (2011). PAS 2050:2011 Specification for the Assessment of the Life Cycle Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Goods and Services. London: British Standards Institute.
- Cederberg, C., and Mattsson, B. (2000). Life cycle assessment of milk production - a comparison of conventional and organic farming. *J. Clean. Prod.* 8, 49–60. doi: 10.1016/S0959-6526(99)00311-X
- Charlton, S., Ramsøe, A., Collins, M., Craig, O. E., Fischer, R., Alexander, M., et al. (2019). New insights into Neolithic milk consumption through proteomic analysis of dental calculus. *Archaeol. Anthropol. Sci.* 11, 6183–6196. doi: 10.1007/s12520-019-00911-7
- Committe on Climate Change (2019). Net Zero: The UK's Contribution to Stopping Global Warming. Committe on Climate Change. Available online at: https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-tostopping-global-warming/ (accessed November 30, 2019).
- CT (2010). Footprint Expert Database Version 3.1. London: Carbon Trust.
- DBEIS (2015). UK Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Final Figures. Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. Available online at: https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_ data/file/604350/2015\_Final\_Emissions\_statistics.pdf (accessed November 30, 2019).
- DBEIS (2019). UK Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy. Available online at: https://assets.publishing.service. gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/829336/ 2019\_Green-house-gas-reporting-methodology.pdf (accessed November 30, 2019).
- de Klein, C., Novoa, R. S. A., Ogle, S., Smith, K. A., Rochette, P., Wirth, T. C., et al. (2006). "N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from managed soils, and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from lime and urea application," in 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, v 4 chapter 11, eds S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara, and K. Tanabe (Kanagawa: Institute for Global Environmental Strategies).
- DEFRA/DECC (2015). GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting. London. Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhousegas-reporting-conversion-factors-2015 (accessed November 30, 2019).
- del Prado, A., Chadwick, D., Cardenas, L., Misselbrook, T., Scholefield, D., and Merino, P. (2010). Exploring systems responses to mitigation of GHG in UK dairy farms. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 136, 318–332. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.09.015
- Dong, H., Mangino, J., and McAllister, T. A. (2006). "Volume 4, Chapter 10 emissions from livestock and manure management," in *IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories*, eds S. Eggleston, L. Buendia, K. Miwa, T. Ngara, and K. Tanabe (Hayama: IPCC).
- Edouard, N., Charpiot, A., Robin, P., Lorinquer, E., Doll,é, J. B., and Faverdin, P. (2019). Influence of diet and manure management on ammonia and greenhouse gas emissions from dairy barns. *Animal* 13, 2903–2912. doi: 10.1017/S1751731119001368
- European Parliament (2018). European Strategy for the Promotion of Protein Crops – Encouraging the Production of Protein and Leguminous Plants in the European Agriculture Sector. Available online at: http://www.europarl.europa. eu/doceo/document/A-8-2018-0121\_EN.pdf?redirect (accessed November 30, 2019).
- FAO (2019). Climate Change and the Global Dairy Cattle Sector The Role of the Dairy Sector in a Low-Carbon Future. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA- 3.0 IGO. Food and Agriculture Organization. Available online at: https:// dairysustainabilityframework.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Climate-

Change-and-the-Global-Dairy-Cattle-Sector.pdf (accessed November 30, 2019).

- Flysjö, A., Cederberg, C., Henriksson, M., and Ledgard, S. (2011). How does co-product handling affect the carbon footprint of milk? Case study of milk production in New Zealand and Sweden. *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* 16, 420–430. doi: 10.1007/s11367-011-0283-9
- Garnsworthy, P. C. (2004). The environmental impact of fertility in dairy cows: a modelling approach to predict methane and ammonia emissions. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 112, 211–223. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2003.10.011
- Gifford, J. A. H., and Gifford, C. A. (2013). Role of reproductive biotechnologies in enhancing food security and sustainability. *Anim. Front.* 3, 14–19. doi: 10.2527/af.2013-0019
- Hailu, G. (2018). The Role of Animal Genomics in Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions Paper Prepared for CAPI. Department of Food, Agricultural and Resource Economics, Ontario Agricultural College, University of Guelph. Available online at: https://capi-icpa.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/CAPI\_ Genomic-Technology-GHG-Emissions-Reduction\_Hailu.pdf (accessed July 15, 2020).
- Iannetta, P. P. M., Rees, R. M., and Squire, G. R. (2019). The Practical Effectiveness of Nitrogen-Fixing Crops: Policy Briefing. Published by the James Hutton Institute on behalf of Climatexchange. Available online at: https://www. climatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcclimatexchange.org.uk/media/4086/nitrogen-fixing-crops-in-scotland\_cxcfixing-cxcfixing-cxcfixing-cxcfixing-cxc
- summary-final.pdf (accessed July 15, 2020). doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.18813.61927
  IDF (2015). A Common Carbon Footprint Approach for the Dairy Sector, the IDF Guide to Life Cycle Assessment Methodology, Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation 479/2015. International Dairy Federation. Available online at: https://store.fil-idf.org/product/a-common-carbon-footprint-approachfor-the-dairy-sector-the-idf-guide-to-standard-life-cycle-assessmentmethodology/ (accessed February 15, 2021).
- IPCC (2006). IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Volume 4 Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use Chapter 4 Forest Land 2006. Hayama: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Kenicer, G. (2005). Legumes of the World. Edited by G. Lewis, B. Schrire, B. MacKinder & M. Lock. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew. 2005. xiv + 577pp., colour photographs & line drawings. *Edinburgh J. Bot.* 62, 195–196. doi: 10.1017/S0960428606190198
- Kim, D., Stoddart, N., Rotz, C. A., Veltman, K., Chase, L., Cooper, J., et al. (2019). Analysis of beneficial management practices to mitigate environmental impacts in dairy production systems around the Great Lakes. *Agric. Syst.* 176, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2019.102660
- Knapp, J. R., Firkins, J. L., Aldrich, J. M., Cady, R., Hristov, A. N., and Weiss, W. P., et al. (2011). *Cow of the Future Research Priorities for Mitigating Enteric Methane Emissions from Dairy*. Innov. Cent. U.S. Dairy, 1–43. Available online at: http://qa03.usdairy.com/Sustainability/Documents/ CowoftheFutureResearchPrioritiesWhitePaper.pdf (accessed November 30, 2019).
- Knapp, J. R., Laur, G. L., Vadas, P. A., Weiss, W. P., and Tricarico, J. M. (2014). Invited review: Enteric methane in dairy cattle production: quantifying the opportunities and impact of reducing emissions. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 3231–3261. doi: 10.3168/jds.2013-7234
- Lorenz, H., Reinsch, T., Hess, S., and Taube, F. (2019). Is low-input dairy farming more climate friendly? A meta-analysis of the carbon footprints of different production systems. J. Clean. Prod. 211, 161–170. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.11.113
- Lüscher, A., Mueller-Harvey, I., Soussana, J. F., Rees, R. M., and Peyraud, J. L. (2014). Potential of legume-based grassland-livestock systems in Europe: a review. *Grass Forage Sci.* 69, 206–228. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12124
- March, M. D., Shalloo, L., Roberts, D. J., and Ryan, W. (2017). Financial evaluation of Holstein Friesian strains within composite and housed UK dairy systems. *Livest. Sci.* 200, 14–22. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2017. 03.018
- McDonald, P., Edwards, R. A., Greenhalgh, J. F. D., Morgan, C. A., Sinclair, L. A., and Wilkinson, R. G. (2011). "Animal nutrition," in *Animal Nutrition*, 7th Edn. ed P. McDonald (Harlow: Prentice Hall/Pearson), 377.
- Milne, A. E., Glendining, M. J., Lark, R. M., Perryman, S. A. M., Gordon, T., and Whitmore, A. P. (2015). Communicating the uncertainty in estimated greenhouse gas emissions from agriculture. *J. Environm. Manage* 160, 139–153. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.05.034

- O'Brien, D., Brennan, P., Humphreys, J., Ruane, E., and Shalloo, L. (2014). An appraisal of carbon footprint of milk from commercial grass-based dairy farms in Ireland according to a certified life cycle assessment methodology. *Int. J. Life Cycle Assess.* 19, 1469–1481. doi: 10.1007/s11367-014-0755-9
- O'Brien, D., Shalloo, L., Patton, J., Buckley, F., Grainger, C., and Wallace, M. (2012). Evaluation of the effect of accounting method, IPCC v. LCA, on grassbased and confinement dairy systems' greenhouse gas emissions. *Animal* 6, 1512–1527. doi: 10.1017/S1751731112000316
- Opio, C., Gerber, P., Mottet, A., Falcucci, A., Tempio, G., MacLeod, M., et al. (2013). Greenhouse Gas Emissions From Ruminant Supply Chains – A Global Life Cycle Assessment. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Available online at: http://www.fao.org/3/i3461e/i3461e.pdf (accessed July 15, 2020).
- Pollott, G. E., and Coffey, M. P. (2008). The effect of genetic merit and production system on dairy cow fertility, measured using progesterone profiles and onfarm recording. J. Dairy Sci. 91, 3649–3660. doi: 10.3168/jds.2007-0913
- Pryce, J. E., and Bell, M. J. (2017). The impact of genetic selection on greenhousegas emissions in Australian dairy cattle. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 57, 1451–1456. doi: 10.1071/AN16510
- Pryce, J. E., Coffey, M. P., and Simm, G. (2001). The relationship between body condition score and reproductive performance. J. Dairy Sci. 84, 1508–1515. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)70184-1
- R Core Team (2013). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available online at: http:// www.R-project.org/ (accessed July 15, 2020).
- Reynolds, C. K., Crompton, L. A., Humphries, D. J., and Jones, A. K. (2016). "Long term implications of feeding low protein diets to first lactation dairy cows," in *Proceedings of the 5th EAAP International Symposium on Energy* and Protein Metabolism and Nutrition (Wageningen Academic Publishers). Available online at: https://www.reading.ac.uk/web/files/apd/apd\_resfpqnue\_ poster3.pdf
- Roer, A. G., Johansen, A., Bakken, A. K., Daugstad, K., Fystro, G., and Strømman, A. H. (2013). Environmental impacts of combined milk and meat production in Norway according to a life cycle assessment with expanded system boundaries. *Livest. Sci.* 155, 384–396. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2013.05.004
- Röös, E., and Nylinder, J. (2013). Uncertainties and Variations in the Carbon Footprint of Livestock Products. Report 063. Uppsala: Department of Energy and Technology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Available online at: https://pub.epsilon.slu.se/10766/7/roos\_e\_nylinder\_j\_130828.pdf (accessed July 15, 2020).
- Ross, S. A., Chagunda, M. G. G., Topp, C. F. E., and Ennos, R. (2014). Effect of cattle genotype and feeding regime on greenhouse gas emissions intensity in high producing dairy cows. *Livest. Sci.* 170, 158–171. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2014.09.011
- Ross, S. A., Topp, C. F. E., Ennos, R. A., and Chagunda, M. G. G. (2017). Relative emissions intensity of dairy production systems: employing different functional units in life-cycle assessment. *Animal* 11, 1381–1388. doi: 10.1017/S1751731117000052
- Rotz, C. A. (2004). Management to reduce nitrogen losses in animal production. J. Anim. Sci. 82(E-Suppl.), 119–137.
- SAC Consulting (2016). The Farm Management Handbook, 37th Edn., ed K. Craig, Edinburgh: Technopole Centre. Available online at: https://www.fas. scot/publication/farm-management-handbook-20162017/
- Salou, T., Le Mouël, C., and van der Werf, H. M. G. (2017). Environmental impacts of dairy system intensification: the functional unit matters! J. Clean. Prod. 140, 445–454. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016. 05.019
- Senbayram, M., Wenthe, C., Lingner, A., Isselstein, J., Steinmann, H., Kaya, C., et al. (2015). Legume-based mixed intercropping systems may lower agricultural born N2O emissions. *Energy. Sustain. Soc.* 6, 1–9. doi: 10.1186/s13705-015-0067-3
- SG (2018). Climate Change (Emissions Reduction Targets) (Scotland) Bill. Scottish Government. Available online at: https://www.parliament.scot/S5\_Bills/ Climate%20Change%20(Emissions%20Reduction%20Targets)%20(Scotland) %20Bill/SPBill30S052018.pdf (accessed November 30, 2019).
- Sheane, R., Lewis, K., Hall, P., Holmes-Ling, P., Kerr, A., Stewart, K., et al. (2010). Scottish Dairy Supply Chain Greenhouse, Methodology Report. Available online at: https://digital.nls.uk/pubs/scotgov/2011/methodologyreport.pdf (accessed July 15, 2020).

- Smith, P., Bustamante, M., Ahammad, H., Clark, H., Dong, H., Elsiddig, E., et al. (2014). "Forestry and other land use (AFOLU)," in Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth (Cambridge; New York, NY: Cambridge University Press).
- SRUC (2014). AgRE Calc. Scotlands Rural College. Available online at: http://www. sruc.ac.uk/info/120355/carbon\_and\_climate/1333/agricultural\_resource\_ efficiency\_calculator\_agre\_calc(accessed July 15, 2020).
- Stagnari, F., Maggio, A., Galieni, A., and Pisante, M. (2017). Multiple benefits of legumes for agriculture sustainability: an overview. *Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric.* 4, 1–13. doi: 10.1186/s40538-016-0085-1
- Sykes, A. J., Topp, C. F. E., and Rees, R. M. (2019). Understanding uncertainty in the carbon footprint of beef production. J. Clean. Prod. 234, 423–435. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.06.171
- Sykes, A. J., Topp, C. F. E., Wilson, R. M., Reid, G., and Rees, R. M. (2017). A comparison of farm-level greenhouse gas calculators in their application on beef production systems. *J. Clean. Prod.* 164, 398–409. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.06.197
- Taherzadeh, O., and Caro, D. (2019). Drivers of water and land use embodied in international soybean trade. *J. Clean. Prod.* 223, 83–93. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.068
- Toma, L., March, M., Stott, A. W., and Roberts, D. J. (2013). Environmental efficiency of alternative dairy systems: A productive efficiency approach. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 7014–7031. doi: 10.3168/jds.20 13-6911
- Vellinga, T. V., Blonk, H., Marinussen, M., van Zeist, W. J., de Boer, I. J. M., and Starmans, D. (2013). Methodology used in feedprint: a tool quantifying greenhouse gas emissions of feed production and utilization. *Livest. Res. Rep.* 674:121.
- Volpelli, L. A., Comellini, M., Gozzi, M., Masoero, F., and Moschini, M. (2012). Pea (Pisum Sativum) and faba beans (Vicia faba) in dairy cow

diet: Effect on milk production and quality. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 11, 217-222. doi: 10.4081/ijas.2012.e40

- Weiske, A., Vabitsch, A., Olesen, J. E., Schelde, K., Michel, J., Friedrich, R., et al. (2006). Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions in European conventional and organic dairy farming. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 112, 221–232. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2005.08.023
- Wilkinson, J. M., and Garnsworthy, P. C. (2017). Dietary options to reduce the environmental impact of milk production. J. Agric. Sci. 155, 334–347. doi: 10.1017/S0021859616000757
- Xiccato, G., Cinetto, M., Carazzolo, A., and Cossu, M. E. (1994). The effect of silo type and dry matter content on the maize silage fermentation process and ensiling loss. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 49, 311–323. doi: 10.1016/0377-8401(94)90055-8
- Yan, T., Mayne, C. S., Gordon, F. G., Porter, M. G., Agnew, R. E., Patterson, D. C., et al. (2010). Mitigation of enteric methane emissions through improving efficiency of energy utilization and productivity in lactating dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* 93, 2630–2638. doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2929
- Zehetmeier, M., Gandorfer, M., Hoffmann, H., Müller, U. K., De Boer, I. J. M., and Heißenhuber, A. (2014). The impact of uncertainties on predicted greenhouse gas emissions of dairy cow production systems. *J. Clean. Prod.* 73, 116–124. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.09.054

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 March, Hargreaves, Sykes and Rees. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Seasonal Nitrous Oxide Emissions From Hydroponic Tomato and Cucumber Cultivation in a Commercial Greenhouse Company

Stefan Karlowsky<sup>1\*</sup>, Markus Gläser<sup>2</sup>, Klaus Henschel<sup>2</sup> and Dietmar Schwarz<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops (IGZ), Großbeeren, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Fontana Gartenbau GmbH, Küstriner Vorland, Germany

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ngonidzashe Chirinda, Mohammed VI Polytechnic University, Morocco

#### Reviewed by:

Rakesh S, National Academy of Agricultural Research Management (ICAR), India Luca Vitale, National Research Council of Italy (CNR), Italy

> \*Correspondence: Stefan Karlowsky

karlowsky@igzev.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 04 November 2020 Accepted: 20 July 2021 Published: 24 August 2021

#### Citation:

Karlowsky S, Gläser M, Henschel K and Schwarz D (2021) Seasonal Nitrous Oxide Emissions From Hydroponic Tomato and Cucumber Cultivation in a Commercial Greenhouse Company. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5:626053. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2021.626053 Nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) is considered as the most critical greenhouse gas (GHG) emitted by agricultural and horticultural food production. Hydroponic vegetable cultivation in greenhouse systems has a high potential for N2O emissions due to the intense application of nitrogen-containing fertilizers. Previous studies on model hydroponic systems indicate that N<sub>2</sub>O emissions per unit area can be several times higher than typically found during field cultivation. However, reliable data from production-scale hydroponic systems is missing. Here we report our findings from monitoring the  $N_2O$ emissions in a commercial production greenhouse, located in the east of Germany, over a period of 1 year. We used the static chamber method to estimate N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes in the root zones of hydroponic tomato and cucumber cultures on rock wool growing bags with drip fertigation. Regular sampling intervals (weekly-biweekly) were used to calculate whole season cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors (EFs) based on the amount of nitrogen fertilizer applied. Our results indicate that the seasonal N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from hydroponic greenhouse cultivation are considerably smaller than expected from previous studies. In total, we estimated average cumulative N2O emissions of 2.3 and 1.5 kg N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for tomato and cucumber cultures, respectively. Average EFs were 0.31% for tomato cultivation with drain re-use (closed hydroponic system), and 0.13% for cucumber cultivation without drain re-use (open hydroponic system). These values lie below the general EF for  $N_2O$  from agricultural soils, noted with 1% by the intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC). In conclusion, considering the high yield of greenhouse cultivation, hydroponic systems provide a way of producing vegetables climate-friendly, in terms of direct GHG emissions. Further attention should be given to reducing energy inputs, e.g., by using regenerative sources or thermal discharge from industrial processes, and to increasing circularity, e.g., by using recycling fertilizers derived from waste streams. Especially in urban and peri-urban areas, the use of hydroponics is promising to increase local and sustainable food production.

Keywords: horticulture, food systems, soilless cultivation, greenhouse gas emissions, Solanum lycopersicum, Cucumis sativus,  $N_2O$  (nitrous oxide)

## INTRODUCTION

The global food sector is responsible for about 26% of total anthropogenic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Poore and Nemecek, 2018), of which roughly 12% can be attributed to the use of manure and synthetic fertilizers on agricultural soils (Smith et al., 2014). The excessive use of fertilizers also leads to eutrophication of aquatic systems, losses in biodiversity and comprised drinking water (Robertson and Vitousek, 2009; Steffen et al., 2015). Additionally, the current industrial agriculture is very resource intensive in terms of land and water consumption (Campbell et al., 2017; Springmann et al., 2018). Therefore, more sustainable ways for providing the growing world population with food are searched for (Jurgilevich et al., 2016; FAO, 2019; Gerten et al., 2020), including the reduction of GHG emissions from plant cultivation and fertilizer losses to the environment. As one recommendation is to shift human nutrition to a more plant-based diet (Poore and Nemecek, 2018; Springmann et al., 2020), minimizing environmental impacts from vegetable cultivation might become crucial in future. Greenhouse cultivation, especially in hydroponic systems, has the potential to grow vegetables in a very resource-efficient way (Gruda, 2009; Savvas et al., 2013), by maximizing yield per area and by minimizing water consumption and nutrient losses. However, there is little knowledge about fertilizer-derived GHG emissions from greenhouse vegetable cultivation (Gruda et al., 2019). Direct GHG emissions from fertilized plant cultivation mainly consist of the release of nitrous oxide (N2O) and methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) from soils or other growing substrates, while carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions from the root zone are considered to be in balance with photosynthetic CO<sub>2</sub> fixation by the aboveground biomass (Smith et al., 2014). While CH<sub>4</sub> emissions mainly occur in flooded soils under anaerobic conditions, N2O emissions also occur under well-aerated conditions. N-fertilizers (e.g., ammonium and nitrate) that are not immediately taken up by plants are available to microbial N-transformation processes, such as nitrification and denitrification, which are associated with the release of N<sub>2</sub>O (Firestone and Davidson, 1989; Baggs, 2011). N<sub>2</sub>O has a global warming potential about 300 times higher than CO<sub>2</sub> on a 100-year scale and, in addition, depletes the vital stratospheric ozone layer (Myhre et al., 2013). Due to the high amounts and dosage rates of N fertilizers as well as favorable climate conditions, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from greenhouse systems might be generally high (Gruda et al., 2019). Indeed, the few existing studies on hydroponically grown cucumbers (Daum and Schenk, 1996b; e.g., Daum and Schenk, 1996a, 1998) and tomatoes (e.g., Hashida et al., 2014; Yoshihara et al., 2014, 2016) revealed substantial N2O emission rates, with average values of up to 70 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>. These studies from only two teams, however, were selective and conducted under laboratory experimental greenhouse conditions and may not properly reflect N2O emissions from commercial tomato and cucumber production. A more recent study on cucumbers cultivated in a large phytotron with cabins of 30 m<sup>2</sup>, which was specifically constructed to measure gas fluxes in the root zones of multiple plants, found relatively low N2O emission rates of  $\sim$ 17 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> during plant cultivation (Nett et al., 2019). Nevertheless, the same study also showed that under certain conditions, like the enhanced degradation of roots after fruit removal and shoot-cutting, N2O emission rates can rise to high levels in the range of  $180-390 \text{ g N}_2\text{O}-\text{N}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>. In general, the N<sub>2</sub>O release from growing media is known to depend on complex interactions of different variables (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013) and has been extensively studied for soils (Stehfest and Bouwman, 2006). The redox potential and oxygen status are of major importance for the microbial processes related to N<sub>2</sub>O production (Davidson et al., 2000; Baggs, 2011). Suboxic hot-spots together with the supply of organic carbon (C), e.g., as root exudates or from decaying roots, typically increase denitrification rates (Morley and Baggs, 2010; Giles et al., 2017), yielding N2O emissions from the reduction of nitrate or nitrite. In contrast, nitrifying microorganisms, which convert ammonium to nitrate with N<sub>2</sub>O as a side product, typically favor aerobic conditions and are mostly independent of organic C supply (Firestone and Davidson, 1989). Further variables known to affect microbial N cycling are temperature and pH in the growing medium (Farguharson and Baldock, 2007). Because the influence of the different variables on N2O emission rates can strongly vary over time and with plant growth stage (Daum and Schenk, 1996a), it is important to monitor the emissions regularly during the growing season. In this study we report for the first time seasonal data on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the root zones of tomato and cucumber plants cultivated in a commercial production greenhouse using rock wool hydroponic systems. Our objectives were to (i) estimate whole-season N2O emissions and N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors from the amount of applied fertilizers, (ii) relate the N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates to various influencing variables, including climate conditions inside the greenhouse and plant growth stage, (iii) assess how organic growing substrates alter N2O and CO2 emission rates from tomato cultivation compared to rock wool substrate, and (iv) determine how the re-use of rock wool substrate affects N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates from cucumber cultivation compared to the use of factory-fresh rock wool. We hypothesized that (a) N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from hydroponic vegetable cultivation vary widely over the growing season and are higher on a per unit area basis than for comparable soilbased crops, (b) organic growing substrates increase N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates from the root zone of tomato plants, and (c) re-used rock wool with root residues from previous cultivation increases N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from cucumber cultivation.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Study Location

The study site at Fontana Gartenbau GmbH, a small to mid-sized enterprise, is located in the east of Germany in the Oderbruch valley (52°33'06.5"N, 14°33'23.0"E). The company mainly produces tomatoes, cucumbers and ornamental plants on a total greenhouse area of 2.15 ha. Tomatoes and cucumbers are gown hydroponically on growing bags, mostly plastic-coated rock wool mats, in heated glasshouses (**Supplementary Figure 1**). Tomato cultivation is done in a modern Venlo type glasshouse with a height of 4.8 m, inclined roof openings and adjustable thermal screens above the plant canopy. Cucumber cultivation is done
in a ridge and furrow type glasshouse with a height of  $\sim$ 2.4 m and inclined roof openings. Tomatoes are typically cultivated in a year-round culture from January to November. Cucumbers are cultivated in two distinct cultures, an early season culture from March to May/June and a late season culture from June/July to October. In both, tomato and cucumber cultures, the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is enriched in the greenhouse air in order to enhance plant productivity and fruit yield. For this purpose, the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is monitored in the center of each greenhouse at a height of 1.7 m using an NDIR CO<sub>2</sub> sensor (EE820, E+E Elektronik Ges.m.b.H, Engerwitzdorf, Austria) connected to a climate computer system with software from Priva Building Intelligence GmbH (Tönisvorst, Germany). When CO2 concentrations < 800 ppm are measured, technical CO<sub>2</sub> (>99.7%) CO<sub>2</sub>, AIR LIQUIDE Deutschland GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany) is supplied from a storage tank, resulting in average CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations between 400 and 600 ppm during the day. The CO<sub>2</sub> supply is regulated by solenoid valves and distribution in the greenhouse is via perforated PE pipes (19 mm inner diameter, opening slots every 15 cm) at the bottom of every second plant row. Climate variables are measured with sensors provided by Priva Building Intelligence GmbH (Tönisvorst, Germany) and processed by the Priva climate software. In each greenhouse, temperature, and relative humidity are measured on top of the plant stand (3/2 m height in the tomato/cucumber greenhouse) at two locations, one in the south block and one in the north block. The average values from the two locations in each greenhouse are used by the climate software to control heating and ventilation. Solar radiation, wind direction, wind speed, outdoor temperature, and precipitation are measured at a weather station outside the greenhouses and used to control ventilation and shading/energy shielding (only in the tomato greenhouse: up to 50% shading at solar radiation values  $>500 \text{ W/m}^2$  and energy shielding during the night). The radiation values inside the greenhouse are calculated by correcting the measured values of solar radiation from outside with the light transmittance of the greenhouses and the proportion of shading used. Irrigation amounts and frequencies are automatically adjusted according to greenhouse temperatures and solar radiation.

#### **Tomato Cultivation**

GHG emissions from year-round tomato cultivation were monitored mainly in the 2019 culture and partly in the 2020 culture, because the measurements were not possible before 14 March 2019. Tomato (Solanum lycopersicum) seedlings, grafted with two shoots on one scion of the cultivar Pureza (Enza Zaden, Enkhuizen, The Netherlands) on a rootstock cv. Maxifort (De Ruiter Seeds, Bleiswijk, The Netherlands) and pre-cultivated on rock wool cubes (10  $\times$  10  $\times$  6.5 cm), were planted on 14 January 2019 in the greenhouse and continuously grown until 21 November 2019. The rock wool cubes with seedlings were put in a distance of 0.5 m on growing bags (filled with nutrient solution on 9 January 2019), yielding a shoot density of 2.4 m<sup>-2</sup>. For gas flux measurements, growing bags of three different substrates, with four replicates each, were used: (1) rock wool mats (100  $\times$  20  $\times$  7.5 cm; Grotop master, Grodan B.V., Roermond, The Netherlands), (2) coir mats (100  $\times$  15.5

 $\times$  8.5 cm; Coir Project GbR, Segnitz, Germany), and (3) perlite granules mixed with wood fibers (henceforth referred to as "perlite/wood fiber;"  $100 \times 19.5 \times 6.5$  cm; Kleeschulte Erden GmbH & Co. KG, Rüthen, Germany). The growing bags for sampling were distributed in the middle of the plant stand of a 4,300 m<sup>2</sup> greenhouse section, always in distance of 6 m to the central gangway (Supplementary Figure 2). The growing bags were installed on elevated, hanging panels with gutters at both sides allowing the collection of drain solution. Water and nutrients were supplied via drip fertigation in a closed-cycle system, where the collected drain solution is reutilized after biofiltration (aerated slow filtration through rock wool with a flow rate of 2.4 m<sup>3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>). Mineral fertilizers (Supplementary Table 1) were added to obtain EC values of  $3-4 \text{ mS cm}^{-1}$  and the pH of the supplied nutrient solution was adjusted to 5.6 using nitric acid. The volumes and EC values of added nutrient solution were adjusted according to plant demand/seasonal timing. No nutrient solution was added after 2 November 2019 in order to drying out the growing bags by plant water uptake. In total, nitrogen fertilizers corresponding to 612 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> were added to the tomato culture from March to November 2019. Tomato shoots were trained on a wire, and were successively lowered and hanged around the gutters when reaching the top of the wire. Old leaves and lateral shoots were regularly pruned, always leaving 12-14 leaves at one shoot. Harvesting of red tomato fruits was done once or twice per week from April to November. Total yield of marketable tomatoes was around 361 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for the tomato culture of 2019. The tomato cultivation in 2020 followed the above described protocol. Growing bags were filled with nutrient solution on 14 January 2020 and tomato seedlings were planted on 20 January 2020. For gas flux measurements, only rock wool growing bags were used and six sampling points were distributed analogously to 2019 in the greenhouse section (Supplementary Figure 2). In total, nitrogen fertilizers corresponding to 127 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> were added to the tomato culture from January to February 2020.

#### **Cucumber Cultivation**

GHG emissions from cucumber cultivation were monitored in the late season culture of 2019 and in the early season culture of 2020. Cucumber (Cucumis sativus) seedlings of the cultivar Sencere (Nunhems B.V., Nunhem, The Netherlands), pre-cultivated on rock wool cubes  $(10 \times 10 \times 6.5 \text{ cm})$ , were planted on 6 June 2019 in the south block and on 9 July 2019 (due to late delivery of seedlings) in the north block of the greenhouse. The rock wool cubes with seedlings were put in a distance of 0.5 m on growing bags with rock wool mats  $(100 \times 20 \times 7.5 \text{ cm}; \text{Grotop expert, Grodan B.V., Roermond,})$ The Netherlands), yielding a shoot density of 1.4  $m^{-2}$ . For gas flux measurements, four new growing bags and four growing bags, which were already used in the early season culture of 2019 (re-used), were distributed within the cucumber greenhouse (Supplementary Figure 2). The growing bags for sampling were located in the middle of the plant stand of the 6,000 m<sup>2</sup> greenhouse, always in distance of 6 m to the central gangway. Normally, the growing bags were placed on a 5 cm polystyrene layer on the ground. For measurement purposes, the growing bags were additionally put on panels, as they are used for tomato cultivation. Water and nutrients were supplied via drip fertigation in an open system, where the drain solution is discarded. Mineral fertilizers (Supplementary Table 1) were added to obtain EC values of  $2.5-3 \text{ mS cm}^{-1}$  and the pH of the supplied nutrient solution was adjusted to 5.6 using nitric acid. The volumes and EC values of added nutrient solution were adjusted according to plant demand/seasonal timing, and in order to obtain a surplus volume of about 30% as drain solution. No nutrient solution was added after 19 October 2019 in order to drying out the growing bags by plant water uptake. In total, nitrogen fertilizers corresponding to 725 and 516 kg N  $ha^{-1}$  (excluding the surplus of 30%) were added to the south and north blocks, respectively, during the late season cucumber culture in 2019. Cucumber shoots were trained on a wire and lateral shoots were removed before the main shoot reached the top of the wire. Thereafter, the main shoot was cut off and the uppermost two-three lateral shoots were allowed to grow downwards. Harvesting of cucumber fruits started on 21 June 2019 in the south block and on 29 July in the north block, and was from then on done six times per week until the end of the culture on 23 October 2019. Total yield of marketable cucumbers was around  $359 \text{ t} \text{ ha}^{-1}$  for the late season culture of 2019. The early season culture in 2020 was similar to 2019. Both, the south and north block, were planted on 27 February 2020. For gas flux measurements, only new rock wool growing bags were used and six sampling points were distributed analogously to 2019 in the greenhouse (Supplementary Figure 2). Cultivation was done until 19 May for the first half of the greenhouse (problems with powdery mildew) and until 2 June for the second half of the greenhouse.

#### Measurement of Greenhouse Gas Emissions

To measure the fluxes of greenhouse gases (CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O) in the root zone of tomato and cucumber plants the closed chamber method described for soil by Parkin and Venterea (2010) was used and modified for hydroponics. Acrylic glass chambers, previously described by Halbert-Howard et al. (2020), were installed around the growing bags separating root zone air space from shoot air space (Supplementary Figure 3). To make this possible, the chambers consisted of two halves and had two openings on top for the plant stems. Air exchange was prevented by rubber gaskets (foam rubber and silicone) on the bottom of the chambers, between the two chamber halves and around the plant stems. Pressure imbalances and temperature effects inside the chamber were avoided by a vent tube and reflective aluminum foil on the chamber outside. The chamber air space differed depending on the type of studied growing bag and was 15.6, 18.3, and 19.0 dm<sup>3</sup> for rock wool, coir and perlite with wood fiber, respectively. Gas samples were drawn through a butyl septum on the camber top using a 50 ml polypropylene syringe with a stainless steel needle. For each gas flux determination, four gas samples were taken at 20 min intervals over 1 h (0, 20, 40, and 60 min after closing the chamber). For transport, 30 cm<sup>3</sup> of gas sample was deposited into

previously vacuumed 20 ml glass vials with magnetic screw caps and silicone/PTFE septa (model N 18, Macherey-Nagel GmbH and Co KG, Düren, Germany), yielding a slight overpressure to avoid contaminations from ambient air. To ensure tightness of glass vials, the vacuum was checked prior to sampling and only vials with a pressure <100 mbar were utilized. Gas analyses were carried out directly on the day of sampling using a gas chromatograph (GC 2,010 Plus, Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan) with an electron capture detector (ECD) for N<sub>2</sub>O, a thermal conductivity detector (TCD) for CO<sub>2</sub>, and a flame ionization detector (FID) for CH4. External standards (AIR LIQUIDE Deutschland GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany) were used to calibrate the GC system for each measuring sequence. Standard concentrations were 0.285, 0.380, 0.592, 1.97, 5.12, and 9.4 ppm ( $\pm 10\%$ ) for N<sub>2</sub>O; 310, 604, and 1011 ppm ( $\pm 2\%$ ) for  $CO_2$ ; and 1.04, 5.02, and 10.1 ppm ( $\pm 2\%$ ) for  $CH_4$ . Depending on sample N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations, a low calibration curve (0.285-0.592 ppm) and a high calibration curve (0.592-5.12/9.4 ppm) were used, as background effects were more pronounced for small  $N_2O$  concentrations (<0.592 ppm).

#### DATA EVALUATION

Gas fluxes were calculated using the R software [version 3.6.3; R core team (2020)] and the R package "gasfluxes" [version 0.4-4; Fuss (2020)], with the latter automatically selecting for the best fit model from either linear, robust linear, and nonlinear (HMR model) regressions. For flux calculation, the measured concentrations (in ppm) were transformed to µmol m<sup>-3</sup> according to the ideal gas law under the assumption of SATP conditions ( $T = 25^{\circ}$ C and p = 101.3 kPa). Because each chamber measurement always included two plants, the area (A) to which the fluxes referred was calculated as:  $A = 2 \times Dp^{-1}$ , with Dp being the plant density (in m<sup>-2</sup>). Further input variables for flux calculation were the chamber air volume (in m<sup>3</sup>) and the time after closing the chamber (in h). The use of nonlinear regression was restricted, as suggested by the gasfluxes package authors, by using the margin of uncertainty from the external standards ( $\pm 10\%$  for N<sub>2</sub>O and  $\pm 2\%$  for CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>) as surrogate for the measurement precision of the GC system. The resulting gas fluxes (in  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) were further converted to g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>, g CH<sub>4</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> and kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha-1 d-1 based on molar masses. Cumulative emissions (kg  $N_2O-N$  ha<sup>-1</sup> and Mg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>) were calculated on the basis of daily N2O and CO2 emission rates by linear interpolation between sampling days and summing up daily emission rates over the study periods (trapezoidal method). N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors (in %) were calculated through dividing cumulative N2O emissions by the total amount of N (in kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) supplied in the nutrient solution during the study period. Yield-scaled  $N_2O$  emissions (in mg  $N_2O\text{-}N\ kg_{fruit}^{-1})$  were calculated through dividing cumulative N2O emissions by marketable yield (in kg ha<sup>-1</sup>). CO<sub>2</sub> equivalents (in Mg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>) were calculated from cumulative N2O emissions (in kg N2O ha<sup>-1</sup>) through multiplying by the 100-yr global warming potential of 298 for N<sub>2</sub>O (Myhre et al., 2013).

#### STATISTICAL ANALYSES

All statistical analyses were performed in the R software (version 3.6.3). Linear mixed-effects models (LMMs) were done using the R package "lme4" [version 1.1-21; Bates et al. (2015)]. LMMs on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates from tomato cultivation in 2019 included sampling date and location inside the greenhouse (north or south block) as fixed factors, and growing bag identity as random intercept. LMMs on N2O and CO2 emission rates from cucumber cultivation in the late season of 2019 included sampling date, location inside the greenhouse (north or south block) and substrate (new or re-used rock wool) as fixed factors, and growing bag identity as random intercept. LMMs on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO2 emission rates from tomato cultivation on different substrates in spring 2019 included sampling date and substrate (rock wool, coir or perlite with wood fiber) as fixed factors, and growing bag identity as random intercept. Prior to LMM analyses, data were log(x + 1)- or sqrt-transformed to fulfill the requirements of LMMs (i.e., normality and homogeneity of variances). Regression analyses between mean gas (N2O and CO<sub>2</sub>) emission rates and climate parameters were done for tomato and cucumber cultivation in 2019 using the "lm" function from the R base package. Prior to analysis, N2O fluxes were log-transformed to fulfill the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances, and all flux and climate data were studentized for better comparability between different units and scales. The sampling dates when no nutrient solutions were supplied to plants were excluded from regression analyses to avoid potential bias because gas emissions were strongly reduced, likely due to dry conditions strongly limiting microbial activity. Permutational ANOVAs were done to determine exact *P*-values for block and substrate effects on cumulative emissions from cucumber cultivation in the late season of 2019 (substrate and block effects) and tomato cultivation in spring 2019 (only substrate effects) using the R package "ImPerm" [version 2.1.0; Wheeler and Torchiano (2016)]. If a significant substrate or block effect was found (Pexact < 0.05), a Tukey HSD posthoc test was done on the results from ordinary ANOVA on (1/x)-or sqrt-transformed data using a level of significance of  $\alpha$ = 0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### Greenhouse Gas Emissions From Hydroponic Tomato Cultivation

The N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates showed a strong variation over the growing season in 2019 (**Figure 1A; Table 1**), with average values ranging from 1.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in April to 18.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in July. After a first peak (11.3 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) at the start of tomato harvest on 4 April, the emission rates balanced at a low level (~4 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) until 19 June. Consistently high average emission rates (16.3–18.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) were measured during July and August, when temperature and solar radiation were relatively high (**Supplementary Figure 4A**). However, there was no correlation between emission rates and greenhouse climate variables (**Table 2**), as high solar radiation during April and June, together with the highest temperatures

in June, did not relate to increased N2O emissions. In addition, there was a very high variability of N2O emission rates between the four replicates in July and August. The emission rates then continuously declined from end of August to end of September (7.8 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> on 25 September) but increased again during October (13.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N  $ha^{-1}$  d<sup>-1</sup> on 22 October), coinciding with an increased occurrence of excessive root growth due to Agrobacterium rhizogenes infection. Following the cessation of irrigation and nutrient supply, the average N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates dropped below 1.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in November. The measurements in 2020 showed very low N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates (<0.4 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) during the first 7 weeks (15 January to 4 March) of tomato cultivation (Figure 2A). These fluxes were in the range of the measurement uncertainty and even a negative flux value was found in one replicate, which was hence excluded from the calculation of cumulative N2O emissions. After a 2-month sampling break due to the COVID-19 pandemic, missing the onset of harvest, N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates in May 2020 (1.1–2.6 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N  $ha^{-1} d^{-1}$ ) were slightly lower compared to May 2019 (2.5–3.5 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>). Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were calculated from 14 March to 13 November 2019 and 15 January to 04 March 2020 (Table 3). Assuming that the N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates in the first 2 months of cultivation in 2019 were similar to the ones from 2020, the total N2O emissions for one tomato cultivation season were on average 2.3 kg N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup>. This corresponds to about 1.100 kg  $CO_2$  $ha^{-1}$  based on the 100-year global warming potential of N<sub>2</sub>O. The CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates from tomato cultivation also exhibited a distinct seasonal dynamic during 2019 (Figure 1B; Table 1), with highest values during the warm summer months. In contrast to N<sub>2</sub>O, the CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates strongly correlated with greenhouse temperature and less pronounced with solar radiation (Table 2). The highest average emission rate of 88.7 kg  $CO_2$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> was measured on 5 June, when the temperature inside the greenhouse was also highest (Supplementary Figure 4A). The lowest emission rates were found on 29 March (10.0 kg CO2 ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), prior to the harvest, and in November (13.0-14.8 kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), after cutting off the nutrient solution supply. Regarding the measurements in 2020, the CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates continuously increased from 1.9 kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> on 15 January to 13.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> on 4 March (**Figure 2B**). The values measured in May 2020  $(33.7-47.2 \text{ kg CO}_2 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1})$ were comparable to May 2019 (29.8–54.7 kg  $CO_2$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>). In total, the cumulative CO2 emissions from 14 March 2019 to 3 March 2020 were about  $11.8 \text{ Mg CO}_2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$  (Table 3). Over the whole study period no significant CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes were detected (calculated fluxes ranged from -0.6 to 0.3 g CH<sub>4</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> and were all below the minimum detection limit; Supplementary Figure 5).

#### Greenhouse Gas Emissions From Hydroponic Cucumber Cultivation

In the late season 2019, the N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates strongly varied over time and between the north and south block of the greenhouse (**Figure 3A**; **Table 1**). The emission rates were generally low (on average 3.1 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N  $ha^{-1} d^{-1}$ ) until 11



September and increased to high values at 25 September and 9 October in the north block (on average 25.2 g  $N_2O-N$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), while in the south block moderately increased emission rates (on average 14.6 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) were found at 25 September only. Independent of the block, the N2O emission rates declined to very low values (on average 0.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) on 22 October, following the cessation of irrigation and nutrient supply. In addition to the temporal and block effects, the emission rates were also affected by the utilized substrate (Table 1), with slightly higher values from re-used rock wool than from new rock wool growing bags at most sampling time points (Figure 3A). This was also reflected in the linear mixed-effects model by a significant interaction effect of substrate, block and sampling date on N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates (Table 1). Overall, the N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates from late season cucumber cultivation negatively correlated with solar radiation and humidity deficit (Table 2). However, the increase of N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates in September and October was also coinciding with a substantial spread of mildew, especially in the north block of the greenhouse. Only a few data points could be collected during the early season cucumber cultivation in 2020 (Supplementary Figure 6A), because for most of the time sampling was not possible due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The existing data from new rock wool growing bags showed very low N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates (on average 0.5 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) at the beginning of the cultivation period on 4 March, and low emission rates (on average 1.6 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) at the end of the cultivation period in May (still with fertigation). Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from the late season cultivation in 2019 were on average  $0.74 \text{ kg N}_2\text{O}-\text{N} \text{ ha}^{-1}$  (Table 3). Despite the shorter cultivation period, the N2O emissions were about 50% higher in the north block (on average 0.89 kg  $N_2O-N$  ha<sup>-1</sup>) compared to the south block (on average  $0.60 \text{ kg } \text{N}_2\text{O}-\text{N} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ ). Compared to the new rock wool growing bags, the re-used rock wool growing bags had on average 9 and 25% higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in the north and south block, respectively. Permutational twoway ANOVA showed that the block effect ( $P_{exact} = 0.0254$ ) was significant, while the substrate effect was not significant. The N2O emissions from cucumber cultivation for the whole year (new

Parameter	Factor	Tomato (2019/03/14-11/13)			Cucumber (2019/06/19-10/22)		
		χ²	df	<b>Ρ</b> <sub>χ<sup>2</sup></sub>	χ²	df	<b>Ρ</b> <sub>χ<sup>2</sup></sub>
N <sub>2</sub> O emissions	Date	97.2	19	<0.001	68.7	9	<0.001
(g N <sub>2</sub> O–N ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Block	0.03	1	0.857	0.08	1	0.775
	Substrate	-	-	-	6.61	1	0.010
	Block × Date	24.6	19	0.176	30.1	7	<0.001
	Substrate × Date	-	-	-	29.5	9	<0.001
	Block × Substrate	-	-	-	0.01	1	0.944
	Substrate $\times$ Block $\times$ Date	-	-	-	18.4	7	0.010
CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	Date	147	19	<0.001	117	9	<0.001
(kg CO <sub>2</sub> ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Block	0.09	1	0.770	2.68	1	0.101
	Substrate	-	-	-	0.58	1	0.448
	Block × Date	18.1	19	0.514	67.6	7	< 0.001
	Substrate × Date	-	-	-	3.43	9	0.945
	Block × Substrate	-	-	-	2.91	1	0.088
	Substrate $\times$ Block $\times$ Date	_	_	-	9.48	7	0.220

**TABLE 1** | Results of linear mixed-effects models analyzing the fixed effects of location inside the greenhouse (Block) and the utilization of new or re-used rock wool growing bags (Substrate, for cucumber cultivation only), and the random effects of individual growing bags on  $N_2O$  and  $CO_2$  emission rates from 2019.

**TABLE 2** | Results of linear regression analyses between average  $N_2O$  or  $CO_2$  emission rates (without time points at the end of the growing season when no nutrient solution was applied) and greenhouse climate variables at the corresponding sampling dates in 2019.

Cultivar	Gas flux	Climate variable	r	R <sup>2</sup>	F <sup>a</sup> <sub>1,16/1,7</sub>	P <sub>F</sub>
Tomato	N <sub>2</sub> O	Temperature	0.10	0.011	0.17	0.686
		Relative humidity	-0.03	<0.001	0.01	0.908
		Humidity deficit	0.08	0.007	0.12	0.739
		Radiation	-0.02	<0.001	0.01	0.943
	CO <sub>2</sub>	Temperature	0.81	0.652	30.0	< 0.001
		Relative humidity	-0.12	0.015	0.25	0.624
		Humidity deficit	0.41	0.164	3.14	0.095
		Radiation	0.50	0.254	5.44	0.033
Cucumber	N <sub>2</sub> O	Temperature	-0.59	0.344	3.66	0.097
		Relative humidity	0.58	0.332	3.48	0.104
		Humidity deficit	-0.67	0.453	5.81	0.047
		Radiation	-0.75	0.561	8.94	0.020
	CO <sub>2</sub>	Temperature	0.91	0.826	33.2	< 0.001
		Relative humidity	-0.32	0.104	0.81	0.398
		Humidity deficit	0.53	0.278	2.69	0.145
		Radiation	0.75	0.570	9.28	0.019

For the climate variables temperature (°C), relative humidity (%) and humidity deficit (g m<sup>-3</sup>), daily averages were used for the analysis. For radiation (J cm<sup>-2</sup>), the daily sum was used. <sup>a</sup>Degrees of freedom depending on the number of sampling time points (18/9 for tomato/cucumber).

Prior to analysis, N2O data were log-transformed and all data (gas fluxes and climate variables) were studentized for better comparability.

rock wool growing bags are used in early season and re-used in late season) could only be roughly estimated as the double of the emissions from the late season, i.e.,  $1.48 \text{ kg N}_2\text{O}-\text{N} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ , as the data collected from the early cultivation season in 2020 was insufficient. The CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates from the late season cucumber cultivation in 2019 showed a trend to decreasing values from June to October (**Figure 3B**), which strongly correlated with temperature and to a lesser extend with solar radiation inside the greenhouse (**Table 2**). Highest values were found in the south block in June and July (on average 60.4 kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>). The

 $CO_2$  emission rates were lower in the north block during July (on average 39.8 kg  $CO_2$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) but increased in August to their maximum (on average 49.6 kg  $CO_2$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) and were then higher during September than in the south block. The seasonal difference between the two blocks was expressed as a significant interactive effect of block and date in the linear mixed model (**Table 1**). The lowest emission rates (on average 9.8 kg  $CO_2$  ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) were measured on 22 October, when the nutrient solution supply was already cut off. The little available data from the early cultivation season in 2020 (**Supplementary Figure 6B**) showed



**FIGURE 2** |  $N_2O$  (**A**) and  $CO_2$  (**B**) emission rates from the root zone of tomatoes grown on rock wool growing bags in a closed-loop hydroponic system in early 2020. Circles show mean values of n = 6 replicates and shaded areas the corresponding 95% confidence intervals. Sampling was restricted in March and April due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

**TABLE 3** Cumulative  $N_2O$  emissions (cumul.  $N_2O$ ),  $N_2O$  emission factors (EF  $N_2O$ ) from applied nitrogen fertilizers, yield scaled  $N_2O$  emissions,  $CO_2$  equivalents of cumulative  $N_2O$  emissions ( $CO_2$  eq.), and cumulative  $CO_2$  emissions (cumul.  $CO_2$ ) from the root zones of tomato and cucumber plants.

Cultivar	Substrate, block	Time frame	cumul. N <sub>2</sub> O (kg N <sub>2</sub> O–N ha <sup>-1</sup> )	EF N <sub>2</sub> O (%)	Yield-scaled N <sub>2</sub> O (mg N <sub>2</sub> O–N kg $_{fruit}^{-1}$ )	CO <sub>2</sub> eq. (kg CO <sub>2</sub> ha <sup>-1</sup> )	cumul. CO <sub>2</sub> (Mg CO <sub>2</sub> ha <sup>-1</sup> )
Tomato	Rock wool	2019/03/14- 2019/11/13	$2.29\pm0.64$	0.37	-	1,071	11.5 ± 1.78
		2020/01/15- 2020/03/04	$0.007 \pm 0.001$	0.01	-	3.37	$0.34\pm0.01$
		2019/03/14- 2020/03/04	2.30	0.31	6.36	1,074	11.9
Cucumber	New, South	2019/06/19- 2019/10/22	$0.53\pm0.08^{\rm a}$	0.07	1.49	250	$4.90\pm0.21^{\rm a}$
	Re-used, South	2019/06/19- 2019/10/22	$0.66\pm0.08^{\text{a}}$	0.09	1.85	310	$4.89\pm0.65^{\text{a}}$
	New, North	2019/07/11- 2019/10/22	$0.85\pm0.25^{\rm a}$	0.16	2.36	396	$4.41\pm0.15^{a}$
	Re-used, North	2019/07/11- 2019/10/22	$0.93\pm0.06^{\text{a}}$	0.18	2.60	436	$3.79\pm0.06^a$

<sup>a</sup>No significant differences were found between groups ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

For cumulative  $N_2O$  and  $CO_2$  emissions, mean values of n = 5 (tomato, 2020), n = 4 (tomato, 2019) or n = 2 (cucumber)  $\pm$  the SEM are shown.

that the CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates were very low at the beginning of cultivation on 4 March (on average 3.4 kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), and then reached values in May 2020 (on average 39.1 kg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) comparable to July 2019. The cumulative CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the late season cucumber cultivation in 2019 were on average 4.5 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>. The CO<sub>2</sub> emissions were, in contrast to cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, higher in the south block (on average 4.9 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>) than in the north block (on average 4.1 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>). The utilization of new or re-used rock wool growing bags had no consistent effect on cumulative CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. This was supported by permutational two-way ANOVA showing a significant block effect ( $P_{exact} = 0.0095$ ), while the substrate effect was insignificant. Assuming similar CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from early and late season, whole year CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from cucumber

cultivation were estimated approximately as 9.0 Mg CO<sub>2</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup>. Over the whole study period no significant CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes were detected (calculated fluxes ranged from -0.1 to 0.2 g CH<sub>4</sub> ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> and were all below the minimum detection limit; **Supplementary Figure 7**).

# Effects of Organic Growing Substrates on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions

The N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates from well-drained rock wool, coir and perlite/wood fiber substrates were similar from 14 March to 9 April (**Figure 4A**), with average values ranging from 2.7 to 12.0 g N<sub>2</sub>O-N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> and varying over time. However, the emission rates from the two waterlogged coir growing bags were substantially higher during this time



**FIGURE 3** | Time series of N<sub>2</sub>O (**A**) and CO<sub>2</sub> (**B**) emission rates from the root zone of cucumbers grown on rock wool growing bags in an open-loop hydroponic system in the second half of 2019. Half of the studied rock wool growing bags were new (solid lines), while the other half was previously used in the first half of 2019 (Re-used, dotted lines). Due to a delayed delivery of seedlings, cultivation in the north block (circles) started 3 weeks later than in the south block (triangles) of the greenhouse. Symbols show mean values of n = 2 replicates and shaded areas the corresponding 95% confidence intervals.



**FIGURE 4** |  $N_2O$  (**A**) and  $CO_2$  (**B**) emission rates from the root zone of tomatoes grown in perlite/wood fiber growing bags (Perlite+WF, triangles and dashed lines) and coir growing bags (squares and dotted lines) compared to rock wool growing bags (circles and solid lines) in spring 2019. Symbols show mean values of n = 4 replicates (n = 2 for the first four points of Coir, and for the last point of Coir and Perlite+WF) and shaded areas the corresponding 95% confidence intervals.

(Supplementary Figure 8A), yielding average values of 51 to 316 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>. After the waterlogging was eradicated, N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates from the previously waterlogged growing bags declined and were similar to the ones from well-drained growing bags on 15 April (Figure 4A). From 24 April to 5 June both, coir and perlite/wood fiber growing bags, had about twice as high emission rates (on average 7.6 and 6.7 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> for coir and perlite/wood fiber, respectively) than rock wool growing bags (on average 3.3 g N<sub>2</sub>O–N ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>). On contrast, all substrates had similar emission rates at the last sampling on 19 June. The varying substrate effect over time was reflected by the linear mixed-effects model as a significant interaction

effect of substrate and sampling date on N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates (**Table 4**). The cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were calculated from 14 March to 5 June, because only two replicates each were measured on 19 June for coir and perlite/wood fiber. The cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from coir and perlite/wood fiber were on average about 50% higher compared to rock wool, while the waterlogged coir growing bags had even 10 times higher emissions (**Table 5**). In both cases, with and without water-logged coir growing bags, a significant substrate effect on cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (*P*<sub>exact</sub> < 0.01) was found in permutational one-way ANOVA. The CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates from coir and perlite/wood fiber growing bags mostly reflected the

**TABLE 4** | Results of linear mixed-effects models analyzing the fixed effects of utilized substrate (rock wool, perlite/wood fiber or coir), and the random effects of individual growing bags on  $N_2O$  and  $CO_2$  emission rates from tomato cultivation in spring 2019.

Parameter	Factor	Tomato (2019/03/14-2019/06/05)			
	_	χ²	df	<b>Ρ</b> <sub>χ<sup>2</sup></sub>	
N <sub>2</sub> O emissions	Date	70.8	8	<0.001	
(g N <sub>2</sub> O–N ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Substrate	6.68	2	0.035	
	$Substrate \times Date$	34.8	16	0.004	
CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	Date	137	8	< 0.001	
(kg CO <sub>2</sub> ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Substrate	3.08	2	0.214	
	Substrate × Date	20.9	16	0.183	

Data from two coir replicates with waterlogging during the first four sampling time points were excluded (according to **Figure 4**).

**TABLE 5** | Cumulative N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (cumul. N<sub>2</sub>O) and cumulative CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (cumul. CO<sub>2</sub>) from the root zones of tomato plants grown on rock wool, perlite/wood fiber and coir, with and without waterlogging during the first sampling time points.

Substrate	cumul. N <sub>2</sub> O	cumul. CO <sub>2</sub>	
	(kg N₂O–N ha <sup>−1</sup> )	(Mg CO <sub>2</sub> ha <sup>-1</sup> )	
Rock wool	$0.37 \pm 0.03^{a}$	$3.24\pm0.39$	
Perlite/wood fiber	$0.55\pm0.08^{a,b}$	$3.36\pm0.06$	
Coir, no waterlogging	$0.55 \pm 0.01^{a,b}$	$3.47\pm0.16$	
Coir, with waterlogging	$3.86\pm3.04^{b}$	$4.16\pm0.28$	

<sup>*a,b*</sup>Letters denote significant differences between groups ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ).

Shown are mean values of n = 4 (rock wool and perite with wood fiber) or n = 2 (coir with/without waterlogging)  $\pm$  the SEM.

dynamics found in rock wool (**Figure 4B**), and no significant substrate effects were found in the linear mixed-effects model (**Table 4**). In consequence, also the cumulative  $CO_2$  emissions were comparable between all substrates (**Table 5**). Only slightly higher  $CO_2$  emissions were found from the waterlogged coir growing bags (**Supplementary Figure 8B**). However, there was no significant substrate effect found in permutational one-way ANOVA, regardless of whether the waterlogged coir growing bags were included or excluded.

#### DISCUSSION

Increasing the sustainability of food production is indispensable regarding current global changes in climate and population. One way of approaching this goal is to increase irrigation and fertilizer efficiency (Gerten et al., 2020). Greenhouse cultivation is known to be very resource-efficient, however, for its expansion potential trade-offs, such as GHG emissions from fertilizer application, need to be assessed (Gruda et al., 2019). In this study, we focused on determining the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from hydroponic tomato and cucumber cultivation under real production conditions. Although the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the root zone were about 10 times higher than the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions converted to CO<sub>2</sub>

equivalents (Table 3), the measured CO<sub>2</sub> emissions do not affect the greenhouse gas budget of plant cultivation because of the preceding photosynthetic CO<sub>2</sub> fixation (Smith et al., 2014). In contrast, CH<sub>4</sub> emissions would also affect the GHG budget of plant cultivation but were not traceable in this study. Possibly, CH<sub>4</sub> production was suppressed by rather aerobic conditions in the growing bags and by the high abundance of nitrate fertilizer (Le Mer and Roger, 2001). Despite a few gaps, the data collected during 2019 and 2020 was sufficient for estimating seasonal N2O emissions from rock wool substrates, since the combined dataset from both years covers all different growth stages of the two vegetable plants. Remarkably, the N<sub>2</sub>O emissions reported here are about 10 times smaller compared to findings from previous studies on rock wool-based hydroponic systems. Daum and Schenk (1996a) found that on average 1.2% of the applied N-fertilizer was emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O during cucumber cultivation, and Hashida et al. (2014) reported that 4-8% of applied the N-fertilizer was emitted as N<sub>2</sub>O during tomato cultivation. In contrast, in our study we found N2O emission factors of 0.1-0.2% and 0.31% (Table 3) for the N supplied during the cultivation of cucumbers and tomatoes, respectively. These values are clearly below the general N2O emission factor of 1% utilized by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change for estimating N2O emissions from crop cultivation on soils (IPCC, 2019).

The lower N<sub>2</sub>O emissions compared to previous studies could be due to various factors depending on the hydroponic setup. Especially the irrigation rate (Abalos et al., 2014; Yoshihara et al., 2014) and the draining of the substrate could have decreased the emissions by providing more aerobic conditions, thereby decreasing N<sub>2</sub>O production from denitrification. The irrigation technique has been found to be a major influencing factor on N2O emissions from field-based tomato cultivation (Kennedy et al., 2013; Ye et al., 2019). Indeed, we also found strongly increased N2O emissions from accidentally waterlogged growing bags (Table 5; Supplementary Figure 8A), with up to 40 times higher average N2O emission rates, underpinning the critical role of precise irrigation and oxygen supply to the root zone in minimizing N<sub>2</sub>O production. Another factor limiting N<sub>2</sub>O emissions might have been the slightly acidic nutrient solution (pH  $\sim$  5.6) that was supplied to the plants. The activity of nitrifying and denitrifying bacteria is typically highest under neutral and slightly alkaline conditions and decreases with lower pH values (Farguharson and Baldock, 2007). Furthermore, it cannot be excluded that the measurement chambers used here are relatively prone to gas leaking, because the installation and tightening of the chambers in the production greenhouses is very difficult and smaller leaks might have been missed. Nevertheless, mostly linear increases of N2O and CO2 concentrations in the chambers over the measurement period of 1 h and extremely high N2O emission rates found in water-logged substrates (Supplementary Figure 8) indicate that the chamber measurements generally worked well. On the other side, it is possible that we rather over-estimated the N2O emission rates, because the shown gas fluxes were measured during daytime and extrapolated to 24 h. Additional measurements at different daytimes exhibit that the gas emission rates decrease during nighttime (Supplementary Figure 9), when no nutrient solution was supplied and when the temperature inside the greenhouse is lower. Remarkably, comparable N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates and N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors were reported by Kennedy et al. (2013) for field tomato cultivation, amounting to 0.5 and 0.8% of the applied Nfertilizer from drip-fertigated and conventionally fertilized crops, respectively. Llorach-Massana et al. (2017) found that lettuce crops on perlite bags emitted 0.7-0.9% of the applied N-fertilizer as N<sub>2</sub>O. Similarly, low N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates were found by (Nett et al., 2019) for cucumber cultivation on substrate-filled pots.

The study of Nett et al. (2019) also showed that N2O emission rates can strongly increase if sufficient organic C is available in the substrate, as demonstrated by a peak of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions following the degradation of roots after cutting shoots. The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from hydroponic systems are probably mainly due to denitrification, as nitrate is typically used as primary N-fertilizer in such systems (de Kreij et al., 2003). Because microbial denitrification is a predominantly heterotrophic process depending on the supply of organic C (Baggs, 2011), the degradation of plant residues can increase the N<sub>2</sub>O production by denitrifying microorganisms (Chen et al., 2013), likely also by limiting oxygen availability due to increased C mineralization (Morley and Baggs, 2010). Previous studies (Hashida et al., 2014; Kazuhiro Shoji, 2014) found a strong increase of N2O emissions from the long-term use of rock wool substrate. However, in this study the N2O emissions were only slightly increased in re-used rock wool compared to fresh rock wool growing bags used for cucumber cultivation (Figure 3A; Table 1). Nevertheless, root biomass remained from the previous cultivation in the re-used rock wool growing bags (Supplementary Table 2). Possibly, the effect of re-used substrate was overlaid by the strong block effect, which was due to the delayed planting of the north greenhouse block. Because of technical restrictions, the smaller cucumber plants in the north block received the same amount and composition of nutrient solution as the larger plants in the south block. Consequently, the lower water and nutrient demand of cucumber plants in the north block might have resulted in higher moisture and nitrate contents in the growing bags, yielding increased N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates compared to the south block (Figure 3A). In contrast, we could find a clear effect of the presence of organic material in the growing substrate of tomato plants (Figure 4A; Table 4), showing that the use of coir and perlite with wood fiber growing bags increased N<sub>2</sub>O emissions almost by 50% compared to rock wool growing bags after 5 months of cultivation in June (Table 5). This effect might even be higher at the end of the growing season, as emissions from rock wool growing bags increased in July and remained at a relatively high level until the end of October (Figure 1A).

In general, we could hardly find a correlation between the greenhouse climatic conditions and the  $N_2O$  emission rates (**Table 2**). On the contrary, the  $CO_2$  emissions clearly reflected the changes in temperature over the growing season, as expected for the general microbial activity involved in the decomposition of labile organic C (Davidson and Janssens, 2006). Despite the known temperature sensitivity of  $N_2O$  emissions (Grant and Pattey, 2008) the lowest daily mean temperatures found in the greenhouse may have already been at the optimum for

denitrification (Farquharson and Baldock, 2007) or a higher share of N<sub>2</sub>O was further reduced to molecular nitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) with increasing temperature (Maag and Vinther, 1996). Similarly to temperature, no clear effect of the supplied amount of nutrient solution was visible in our study. The irrigation frequency was adjusted during the cultivation period according to temperature and solar radiation (Supplementary Figure 10), whereby strong fluctuations in moisture contents inside the growing bags should have been avoided. In hydroponic systems, the N<sub>2</sub>O emission rate was found to strongly depend on plant growth stage (Daum and Schenk, 1996a; Hashida et al., 2014). In line with this, we found that the onset of harvest can temporarily increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from tomato cultivation, potentially by altering plant C allocation with more C substrates translocated to roots. The increase of N<sub>2</sub>O emission rates at the end of the growing season from both, tomato and cucumber cultivation, can be explained by the accumulation of senescent roots delivering C substrates needed for denitrification. In this way, the higher N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors from tomato cultivation compared to cucumber cultivation (Table 3) might be explained by the higher root biomass of tomato plants (Supplementary Table 2), with a potential further increase in organic C due to the re-use of collected drain solution. However, the higher emission rates in September and October might also be related to a lower plant N uptake, considering the negative relation of photosynthetically active radiation and N2O emission rates found by Yoshihara et al. (2016). In addition, observed plant diseases at the end of the growing season, like the Agrobacterium rhizogenes ("Crazy Roots") infection of tomato plants or the mildew on cucumber plants, could also have affected microbial N2O production by increasing C allocation to roots.

In conclusion, our study demonstrated that hydroponic systems offer a possibility to cultivate vegetable crops with low N<sub>2</sub>O emissions if optimal conditions are provided. In particular, high moisture contents together with high C availability in the root zone should be avoided to minimize N2O production from denitrification. In addition, other reduction possibilities for GHG emissions from greenhouse cultivation should be considered as well. The production of rock wool is associated with high CO2 emissions, which could be avoided by using alternative (biodegradable) substrates (Dannehl et al., 2015; Kennard et al., 2020). However, there is more research needed on the interaction of different substrates and GHG emissions as well as yield and quality. Considering the moderate increase in N2O emissions when using organic-based substrates in our study, there might still be a high reduction potential compared to GHG emissions from rock wool production. Similarly, the GHG emissions from fertilizer production might be reduced by utilizing fertilizers recycled from waste streams. First investigations show that recycling fertilizers are suitable for hydroponic tomato production without increasing N2O emissions (Halbert-Howard et al., 2020). Other measures that can contribute to reducing GHG emissions from greenhouse cultivation include avoiding heat losses by improved greenhouse insolation, using alternative heating and electricity sources, installing energyefficient lamps, and using renewable sources for CO2 enrichment in the canopy (Gruda et al., 2019). Taken all these measures together, hydroponic greenhouse cultivation could help to ensure sustainable vegetable production by reducing the distance between producers and consumers. Because of the high yield to area ratio and the possibility to control most environmental conditions, hydroponic or even aquaponic systems seem to be very promising for food production in urban areas or regions with otherwise adverse climatic conditions.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DS and KH initiated the study. MG and KH managed greenhouse technics and plant cultivation during the study period. SK and MG conducted the GHG measurements. SK analyzed the gas samples, evaluated the gas flux data, and prepared the manuscript. All authors were involved in the planning, critically read the manuscript, and provided their feedback.

#### FUNDING

The measurement and evaluation of GHG emissions were facilitated by the  $HydroN_2O$  project (Verringerung der Distickstoffoxidemissionen beim hydroponischen Anbau von Pflanzen im Gewächshaus; ptBLE-FKz 28-1-B2.041-16 and

#### REFERENCES

- Abalos, D., Sanchez-Martin, L., Garcia-Torres, L., van Groenigen, J. W., and Vallejo, A. (2014). Management of irrigation frequency and nitrogen fertilization to mitigate GHG and NO emissions from drip-fertigated crops. *Sci. Total Environ.* 490, 880–888. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014. 05.065
- Baggs, E. M. (2011). Soil microbial sources of nitrous oxide: recent advances in knowledge, emerging challenges and future direction. *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 3, 321–327. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2011.08.011
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v 067.i01
- Butterbach-Bahl, K., Baggs, E. M., Dannenmann, M., Kiese, R., and Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. (2013). Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls? *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci.* 368, 1–13. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0122
- Campbell, B. M., Beare, D. J., Bennett, E. M., Hall-Spencer, J. M., Ingram, J. S. I., Jaramillo, F., et al. (2017). Agriculture production as a major driver of the Earth system exceeding planetary boundaries. *Ecol. Soc.* 22. doi: 10.5751/ES-09595-220408
- Chen, H., Li, X., Hu, F., and Shi, W. (2013). Soil nitrous oxide emissions following crop residue addition: a meta-analysis. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 19, 2956–2964. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12274
- Dannehl, D., Suhl, J., Ulrichs, C., and Schmidt, U. (2015). Evaluation of substitutes for rock wool as growing substrate for hydroponic tomato production. J. Appl. Bot. Food Qual. 88, 68–77. doi: 10.5073/JABFQ.2015.088.010
- Daum, D., and Schenk, M. K. (1996a). Gaseous nitrogen losses from a soilless culture system in the greenhouse. *Plant Soil* 183, 69–78. doi: 10.1007/BF02185566

ptBLE-FKz 28-1-B2.042-16), which was supported by funds of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany *via* the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support program. In addition, the study received co-funding from the company Fontana Gartenbau GmbH. The company had following involvement with the study: operation of the production greenhouses, plant cultivation, collection of climate data, and assistance during the measurement.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors want to thank Dr. Hans-Peter Kläring, a former member of the Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops (IGZ) e.V., for initiating the contact with the Fontana Gartenbau GmbH as well as for conceiving the first project ideas. The IGZ student assistants Oscar Monzon, Uwe Bolduan and Alexander Tako are acknowledged for their help during gas sampling. Further thanks go to the gardeners of the Fontana Gartenbau GmbH for plant care. The authors also thank Dr. Kirsten Weiß and Gabriele Sommer from the Humboldt University of Berlin for enabling and supporting the GC analyses.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fsufs. 2021.626053/full#supplementary-material

- Daum, D., and Schenk, M. K. (1996b). Influence of nitrogen concentration and form in the nutrient solution on  $N_2O$  and  $N_2$  emissions from a soilless culture system. *Plant Soil* 203, 279–288. doi: 10.1023/a:1004350628266
- Daum, D., and Schenk, M. K. (1998). Influence of nutrient solution pH on N<sub>2</sub>O and N-2 emissions from a soilless culture system. *Plant Soil* 203, 279–287. doi: 10.1023/A:1004350628266
- Davidson, E. A., and Janssens, I. A. (2006). Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. *Nature* 440, 165–173. doi: 10.1038/nature04514
- Davidson, E. A., Keller, M., Erickson, H. E., Verchot, L. V., and Veldkamp, E. (2000). Testing a conceptual model of soil emissions of nitrous and nitric oxides. *Bioscience* 50:667. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0667:TACMOS]2. 0.CO;2
- de Kreij, C., Voogt, W., and Baas, R. (2003). Nutrient Solutions and Water Quality for Soilless Cultures. Naaldwijk: Applied Plant Research, Division Glasshouse.
- FAO (2019). Sustainable Food and Agriculture: An Integrated Approach. New York, NY: Academic Press).
- Farquharson, R., and Baldock, J. (2007). Concepts in modelling N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from land use. *Plant Soil* 309, 147–167. doi: 10.1007/s11104-007-9485-0
- Firestone, M. K., and Davidson, E. A. (1989). "Microbiological basis of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O production and consumption in soil," in *Exchange of Trace Gases Between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere: Report of the Dahlem Workshop on Exchange of Trace Gases Between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere*, eds M. O. Andreae and D. S. Schimel (New York, NY: Wiley), 7–21.
- Fuss, R. (2020). gasfluxes: Greenhouse Gas Flux Calculation from Chamber Measurements. Version 0.4-4 ed.
- Gerten, D., Heck, V., Jägermeyr, J., Bodirsky, B. L., Fetzer, I., Jalava, M., et al. (2020). Feeding ten billion people is possible within four terrestrial planetary boundaries. *Nat. Sustain.* 3, 200–208. doi: 10.1038/s41893-019-0465-1

- Giles, M. E., Daniell, T. J., and Baggs, E. M. (2017). Compound driven differences in  $N_2$  and  $N_2O$  emission from soil; the role of substrate use efficiency and the microbial community. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 106, 90–98. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.11.028
- Grant, R. F., and Pattey, E. (2008). Temperature sensitivity of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from fertilized agricultural soils: Mathematical modeling in ecosys. *Glob. Biogeochem. Cycl.* 22:3273. doi: 10.1029/2008GB003273
- Gruda, N. (2009). Do soilless culture systems have an influence on product quality of vegetables? J. Appl. Bot. Food Qual. 82, 141–147. doi: 10.18452/9433
- Gruda, N., Bisbis, M., and Tanny, J. (2019). Impacts of protected vegetable cultivation on climate change and adaptation strategies for cleaner production—a review. J. Clean. Prod. 225, 324–339. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.295
- Halbert-Howard, A., Hafner, F., Karlowsky, S., Schwarz, D., and Krause, A. (2020). Evaluating recycling fertilizers for tomato cultivation in hydroponics, and their impact on greenhouse gas emissions. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int.* 10461. doi: 10.1007/s11356-020-10461-4
- Hashida, S.-n., Johkan, M., Kitazaki, K., Shoji, K., Goto, F., and Yoshihara, T. (2014). Management of nitrogen fertilizer application, rather than functional gene abundance, governs nitrous oxide fluxes in hydroponics with rockwool. *Plant Soil* 374, 715–725. doi: 10.1007/s11104-013-1917-4
- IPCC (2019). "2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories," in *Ambio* eds.E. Calvo Buendia, Tanabe, K., Kranjc, A., Baasansuren, J., Fukuda, M., Ngarize, S., Osako, A., Pyrozhenko, Y., Shermanau, P. and Federici, S. (Switzerland: The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 1581–1586.
- Jurgilevich, A., Birge, T., Kentala-Lehtonen, J., Korhonen-Kurki, K., Pietikäinen, J., Saikku, L., et al. (2016). Transition towards circular economy in the food system. Sustainability 8:69. doi: 10.3390/su8010069
- Kazuhiro Shoji, K. K. (2014). Influence of nitrogen limitation and long-term use of rockwool on nitrous oxide emissions in hydroponic systems. J. Horticult. 01:113. doi: 10.4172/2376-0354.1000113
- Kennard, N., Stirling, R., Prashar, A., and Lopez-Capel, E. (2020). Evaluation of recycled materials as hydroponic growing media. *Agronomy* 10:1092. doi: 10.3390/agronomy10081092
- Kennedy, T. L., Suddick, E. C., and Six, J. (2013). Reduced nitrous oxide emissions and increased yields in California tomato cropping systems under drip irrigation and fertigation. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 170, 16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.02.002
- Le Mer, J., and Roger, P. (2001). Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: a review. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.* 37, 25–50. doi: 10.1016/S1164-5563(01)01067-6
- Llorach-Massana, P., Muñoz, P., Riera, M. R., Gabarrell, X., Rieradevall, J., Montero, J. I., et al. (2017). N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from protected soilless crops for more precise food and urban agriculture life cycle assessments. *J. Clean. Prod.* 149, 1118–1126. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.191
- Maag, M., and Vinther, F. P. (1996). Nitrous oxide emission by nitrification and denitrification in different soil types and at different soil moisture contents and temperatures. *Appl. Soil Ecol.* 4, 5–14. doi: 10.1016/0929-1393 (96)00106-0
- Morley, N., and Baggs, E. M. (2010). Carbon and oxygen controls on N<sub>2</sub>O and N<sub>2</sub> production during nitrate reduction. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 42, 1864–1871. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.07.008
- Myhre, G., Shindell, D., Bréon, F.-M., Collins, W., Fuglestvedt, J., Huang, J., et al. (2013). "Anthropogenic and Natural Radiative Forcing," in Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia et al. (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 163–174.
- Nett, L., Hauschild, I., and Kläring, H. P. (2019). Carbon sink reduction by fruit removal triggers respiration but not nitrous oxide emissions from the root zone of cucumber. *Ann. Appl. Biol.* 175, 111–118. doi: 10.1111/ aab.12516
- Parkin, T. B., and Venterea, R. T. (2010). "Chapter 3. Chamber-Based Trace Gas Flux Measurements," in *Sampling Protocols*. eds R.F. Follett. (Maryland: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service), 39.

- Poore, J., and Nemecek, T. (2018). Reducing food's environmental impacts through producers and consumers. *Science* 360, 987–992. doi: 10.1126/science. aaq0216
- R core team (2020). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Robertson, G. P., and Vitousek, P. M. (2009). Nitrogen in agriculture: balancing the cost of an essential resource. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 34, 97–125. doi: 10.1146/annurev.environ.032108.105046
- Savvas, D., Gianquinto, G., Tuzel, Y., and Gruda, N. (2013). "Good agricultural practices for greenhouse vegetable crops—principles for mediterranean climate areas, 12: soilless culture," in *FAO Plant Production and Protection Paper*. (Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations).
- Smith, P., Bustamante, M., Ahammad, H., Clark, H., Dong, H., Elsiddig, E. A., et al. (2014). "Agriculture, forestry and other land use (AFOLU)," in Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds. O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, et al. (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press), 112.
- Springmann, M., Clark, M., Mason-D'Croz, D., Wiebe, K., Bodirsky, B. L., Lassaletta, L., et al. (2018). Options for keeping the food system within environmental limits. *Nature* 562, 519–525. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0594-0
- Springmann, M., Spajic, L., Clark, M. A., Poore, J., Herforth, A., Webb, P., et al. (2020). The healthiness and sustainability of national and global food based dietary guidelines: modelling study. *BMJ* 370. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m2322
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockstrom, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., et al. (2015). Planetary boundaries: guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science* 347, 1259855–1259855. doi: 10.1126/science.1259855
- Stehfest, E., and Bouwman, L. (2006). N2O and NO emission from agricultural fields and soils under natural vegetation: summarizing available measurement data and modeling of global annual emissions. *Nutri. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 74, 207–228. doi: 10.1007/s10705-006-9000-7
- Wheeler, B., and Torchiano, M. (2016)." *ImPerm: Permutation Tests for Linear Models.*" 2.1.0 ed.).
- Ye, X., Liu, H., Zhang, X., Ma, J., Han, B., Li, W., et al. (2019). Impacts of irrigation methods on greenhouse gas emissions/absorptions from vegetable soils. J. Soils Sediments 20, 723–733. doi: 10.1007/s11368-019-02422-3
- Yoshihara, T., Tokura, A., Hashida, S.-n., Kitazaki, K., Asobe, M., Enbutsu, K., et al. (2014). A precise/short-interval measurement of nitrous oxide emission from a rockwool tomato culture. *Environ. Control Biol.* 52, 137–147. doi: 10.2525/ecb.52.137
- Yoshihara, T., Tokura, A., Hashida, S.-n., Kitazaki, K., Asobe, M., Enbutsu, K., et al. (2016). N<sub>2</sub>O emission from a tomato rockwool culture is highly responsive to photoirradiation conditions. *Sci. Hortic.* 201, 318–328. doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2016.02.014

**Conflict of Interest:** KH is the managing director of the company "Fontana Gartenbau GmbH" and MG is employed by this company.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Karlowsky, Gläser, Henschel and Schwarz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From Cattle Excreta: A Review of Main Drivers and Mitigation Strategies in Grazing Systems

Julián Esteban Rivera\* and Julian Chará

Centro para la Investigación en Sistemas Sostenibles de Producción Agropecuaria - CIPAV, Cali, Colombia

Cattle production systems are an important source of greenhouse gases (GHG) emitted to the atmosphere. Animal manure and managed soils are the most important sources of emissions from livestock after enteric methane. It is estimated that the N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> produced in grasslands and manure management systems can contribute up to 25% of the emissions generated at the farm level, and therefore it is important to identify strategies to reduce the fluxes of these gases, especially in grazing systems where mitigation strategies have received less attention. This review describes the main factors that affect the emission of GHG from manure in bovine systems and the main strategies for their mitigation with emphasis on grazing production systems. The emissions of  $N_2O$ and CH<sub>4</sub> are highly variable and depend on multiple factors, which makes it difficult to use strategies that mitigate both gases simultaneously. We found that strategies such as the optimization of the diet, the implementation of silvopastoral systems and other practices with the capacity to improve soil quality and cover, and the use of nitrogen fixing plants are among the practices with more potential to reduce emissions from manure and at the same time contribute to increase carbon capture and improve food production. These strategies can be implemented to reduce the emissions of both gases and, depending on the method used and the production system, the reductions can reach up to 50% of CH<sub>4</sub> or N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure according to different studies. However, many research gaps should be addressed in order to obtain such reductions at a larger scale.

### OPEN ACCESS Edited by:

Dietmar Schwarz, Leibniz Institute of Vegetable and Ornamental Crops, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Marta Andrea Alfaro, Instituto de Investigaciones Agropecuarias, Chile Andrew VanderZaag, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), Canada

> \*Correspondence: Julián Esteban Rivera jerivera@fun.cipav.org.co

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Climate-Smart Food Systems, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems

> Received: 24 January 2021 Accepted: 16 September 2021 Published: 14 October 2021

#### Citation:

Rivera JE and Chará J (2021) CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O Emissions From Cattle Excreta: A Review of Main Drivers and Mitigation Strategies in Grazing Systems. Front. Sustain. Food Syst. 5:657936. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2021.657936 Keywords: global warming, climate change, nutrient excretion, nitrification, mitigation, nitrogen losses

#### INTRODUCTION

Greenhouse gas (GHG) concentrations in the world have increased rapidly since pre-industrial times due to human activities, with negative effects on the climate(IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2013). Methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) concentrations have doubled while nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) concentrations in the atmosphere are 20% higher than pre-industrial levels (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2013). Agriculture is considered one of the main sources of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, two high warming potential gases. Within the agricultural sector, animal production contributes 14.5% of human-induced emissions (Gerber et al., 2013) and produces ~37 and 65% of global emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, respectively (Steinfeld and Wassenaar, 2007).

Within livestock, cattle production systems can be broadly classified into confined, mixed -in which cattle can be inhouse during part of the day or the year, and grassland-based systems (Seré and Steinfeld, 1995). In confined and semiconfined systems, manure can be stored and processed to be disposed in the field, whereas in grazing systems, manure is deposited directly on pastures and is degraded under environmental and grazing conditions (Uchida et al., 2011). Manure (feces and urine) managed and deposited on grasslands and pastures is the second largest source of GHG emissions after enteric methane and is responsible for  $\sim$ 7% of agricultural emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O worldwide (Aguirre-Villegas and Larson, 2017).

Nitrous oxide is the third most abundant GHG and accounts for 6% of all radiative forcing (Myhre et al., 2013). Despite its low concentration in the atmosphere compared to  $CH_4$ and  $CO_2$ ,  $N_2O$  has a significant effect on global warming, as it has a lifespan of ~120 years and 265 times higher radiative potential than  $CO_2$  (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2014; U. S. E. P. A and United States Environmental Protection U. S. E. P. A. United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2021). In addition, it contributes significantly to the depletion of stratospheric ozone (Myhre et al., 2013).

Grasslands around the world emit about 2.2 Tg of N2O-N, 74% of which comes from anthropogenic sources (Dangal et al., 2019). Deposition of animal feces and urine is the biggest source of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions per year in grasslands (54%), followed by manure application (13%), and nitrogen fertilizers (7%) (Dangal et al., 2019). Nitrification and denitrification are the main responsible mechanisms for the production of N2O in soils, although nitrification-denitrification, codenitrification and chemodenitrification can also lead to the formation of N<sub>2</sub>O given a microbial community and suitable environmental conditions (Hallin et al., 2018). Regarding methane, ruminant manure is responsible for the emissions of 109 million tons of this GHG to the atmosphere per year, of which 86% comes from cattle. Three main factors affect the amount of CH<sub>4</sub> emitted by manure: the type of storage, the climate, and the composition of manure (Opio et al., 2013). While most of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from manure occur during storage under anaerobic conditions, in tropical regions manure can also be a generator of a considerable amount of emissions of this gas at the grassland level (Montes et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2017).

However, it is important to mention that although these gases play an important role in global warming, as they are predominantly flow pollutant gasses, they differ in their impact from  $CO_2$  that is a stock pollutant with a very long-term persistence in the atmosphere and consequently with a greater cumulative effect on the climate (Lynch et al., 2021). In addition, grasslands around the world also hold a large mitigation potential for building and conserving soil carbon and could capture as much as 0.5 Pg C per year to 1 m depth, as they cover ~52.5 million km<sup>2</sup> equivalent to 40.5% of the land area (Gerber et al., 2013; Lorenz and Lal, 2018).

This article reviews the magnitude of typical  $N_2O$  and  $CH_4$  emissions from manure, analyses the factors affecting them, and discuss potential mitigation strategies in bovine production systems, with an emphasis on tropical and subtropical regions where grazing systems are predominant.

#### NITROUS OXIDE AND METHANE EMISSIONS IN GRAZIN SYSTEMS

#### **Nitrous Oxide Emissions**

Ruminants are poor nitrogen converters, because only 5-30% of ingested nitrogen are up taken by the animal and the remaining 70-95% are excreted via feces and urine (Luo et al., 2010). Therefore, nitrogen loads in animal excreta, often exceed plant demands and are vulnerable to losses via gaseous emissions and leaching (Selbie et al., 2015). This is more critical as the proportion of nitrogen in animal urine has increased with increasing nitrogen intake; although it has remained relatively constant in feces (Jarvis et al., 1995). According to Jaimes and Correa (2016) the efficiency in the use of N by lactating cows varies between 8.96 and 27.82% in Colombia, which, according to the number of animals per unit area can generate the application of up to 374 kg of N/ha/yr from manure (Correa et al., 2012). Likewise, Rivera et al. (2018) found that cows excreted 72% of ingested nitrogen in tropical dairy systems, generating the deposition of 46.8 kg N/animal/yr from manure and 42.9 kg from urine when the diet had on average 14% crude protein (CP). For this reason, improving the efficiency in the use of this nutrient by ruminants may be a viable alternative not only to increase animal productivity but also to reduce GHG emissions by reducing N excretion. It must be noted however that in extensive grazing and pastoralist systems cattle can be undernourished, and the scarce nutrients can be used more effectively by animals (Manzano and White, 2019).

Grazed pastures are systems with a wide range of environmental and management conditions that can result in the emission of N<sub>2</sub>O (Wecking, 2021). A large proportion of total farm N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in grazing systems often occurs from relatively small areas (Luo et al., 2017). These sites can be located where animals congregate (feeding bins, water troughs and gateways), occur after additional irrigation or result from soil compaction due to trampling and in the soil underneath excreta patches (Roesch et al., 2019). The magnitude of N2O emissions depends on the interplay between prevailing soil microclimate, microbial activity, plant composition, biomass, and excreta composition, that in turn is defined by animal type and feed intake (Wecking, 2021). All these factors can alter the spatial heterogeneity of soil respiration and, hence, cause impact also on resulting N2O emissions (Shi et al., 2019). Nitrous oxide emissions from a single application of cattle urine and feces can be as high as 16.8 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N/ha/yr and 5.57 kg N<sub>2</sub>O-N/ha/yr, respectively (Luo et al., 2018). A meta-analysis by López-Aizpún et al. (2019) showed that, when reporting urine derived N2O emissions, it was important to account for differences in animal



FIGURE 1 | Pathways of microbial driven nitrogen transformations in excreta patches in grassland ecosystems (Cai et al., 2017). The N<sub>2</sub>O can also be produced by nitrifier denitrification, chemodenitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium. The SOM and LON are soil organic matter and labile organic nitrogen, respectively.

diet, sex and breed, in addition to urine composition and nitrogen loads.

#### Factors Conditioning Nitrous Oxide Emissions From Manure

The two main processes that generate  $N_2O$ : nitrification and denitrification, are strongly influenced by climate and soil factors (Chen et al., 2008). The production of  $N_2O$ depends on the availability of substrates for both processes, i.e.,  $NH_4^+$  for nitrification and  $NO_3^-$  for denitrification (Zaman et al., 2007). The most important factors are the presence of oxygen, temperature, pH, humidity, salinity, and soil management; in the case of denitrification, it also depends on the carbon available for heterotrophic processes (Dalal et al., 2003). In addition, these factors are regulated by climate, vegetation, chemical, and physical properties of soil (apparent density, organic C, pH, and clay content), and agricultural management practices (Uchida et al., 2011). Each of these factors is discussed in more detail below.

The process of nitrification was first described by Schloesing and Muentz in 1877. Nine years later, Gayon and Dupetit discovered denitrification (Elmerich and Newton, 2007). An overarching framework capturing the production and consumption of N2O and NO by nitrification and denitrification within a conceptual model was published by Firestone and Davidson (1989) and has been acknowledged as the "hole in the pipe model" (Wecking, 2021). However, recent research suggests that a range of other biotic and abiotic pathways might also lead to the emission of N<sub>2</sub>O e.g., heterotrophic nitrification, nitrifier denitrification, chemodenitrification, coupled nitrificationdenitrification, co-denitrification, and anaerobic NH3 oxidationapart from potential other yet still undiscovered processes in the nitrogen-cycling network (Kuypers et al., 2018). Figure 1 shows the pathways of microbial driven nitrogen transformations in excreta patches in grassland ecosystems.

Irrespective of the underlying process, most nitrification and denitrification pathways in soil lead to the net emission of  $N_2O$  (Myrold, 2005). Only under certain conditions denitrifier activity, and to some extent that of nitrifiers, stimulate the uptake of atmospheric  $N_2O$ . Soils are more likely to act as a sink for  $N_2O$  when the soil mineral nitrogen is low and when high soil moisture or other factors prevent microbial access to alternative oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) sources (Philippot et al., 2009).

Among the factors affecting  $N_2O$  emissions, the availability of C and N is critical, particularly when these elements are in labile organic form (van Groenigen et al., 2005). There is a linear relationship between the N input, either by fertilizer or by manure, and the emission of  $N_2O$  in agricultural areas (Dobbie et al., 1999); although, according to Zebarth et al. (2008), this relationship can also be exponential. In relation to soil properties, the moisture content is perhaps the variable with greatest influence on  $N_2O$  emissions (Saggar et al., 2004). Saturation values of 60–70% moisture promote the generation of  $N_2O$  since they limit the  $O_2$  diffusion, resulting in denitrification processes (Saggar et al., 2004). Nitrous oxide emissions are therefore higher in wet soils and after dry conditions,  $N_2O$ production begins immediately after applying water to the soils (Chirinda et al., 2019).

Temperature is another factor influencing the level of emissions. When soil water content is close to the maximum retention capacity, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions respond to temperature changes (Machefert et al., 2002). However, some studies have shown no significant relationships between emission and temperature variations mainly due to the higher influence of moisture content in the flow of gases (Singurindy et al., 2009). Soil type can also influence N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, mainly through their effect on drainage level and moisture content (Luo et al., 2010). Poorly drained soils have higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions than well-drained soils (Oenema et al., 2007). Poor drainage and changes in the physical properties of soil such as compaction can affect transformations from N to N<sub>2</sub>O because they affect the soil oxygen diffusion (Oenema et al., 1997) and can increase N gaseous losses (van der Meer, 2008).

Animal grazing with its trampling can favor this condition compared with grasslands without animal occupation. Compaction can also be increased when grazing takes place during winter and/or when there is inadequate management of animal stocking rates as this causes loss of structure and drastic decrease of porous space (Luo et al., 2010). pH can also affect the mechanisms that control N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. A study of denitrifying enzymes found a link between soil pH and soil emission rate (van der Weerden et al., 1999), as denitrification processes decrease as soil pH tends to acidity. According to Dalal et al. (2003), the optimal pH for nitrification activity is 7, while for denitrification the optimal pH is 7.0–8.0.

## Nitrous Oxide Emissions in Feces and Urine

Most studies comparing N<sub>2</sub>O–N emission factors of feces and urine under grazing conditions suggest higher values for urine (van Groenigen et al., 2005; López-Aizpún et al., 2020). However, authors such as Sherlock et al. (2003) have reported similar values for both components, while Wachendorf et al. (2008) found higher emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O–N in livestock feces, suggesting the need of disaggregating emission factors based on the type of excreta (Luo et al., 2010; López-Aizpún et al., 2020). According to Meng et al. (2014) and Sordi et al. (2014), the fraction of N lost as N<sub>2</sub>O–N in the urine is greater than that of feces because only a relatively small fraction of N in manure is in an unstable condition and this depends on the diet of the animals.

According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) guidelines, it is estimated that the generation of N<sub>2</sub>O by manure deposited in the grasslands corresponds to 2% of the total excreted N (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2006). However, some studies have found that this value may be considerably lower, to such a point that by 2019 this same body changed that value to 0.4% to estimate direct emissions and another 0.27% for indirect emissions by leaching and volatilization (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)., 2019). In a study carried out in New Zealand, Luo et al. (2008) reported emission factors (EF) for urine applications between 0.2 and 1.59%, depending on the season. This variability in EF highlights the importance of determining country-specific or climate region emissions. This variability can be caused by multiple factors such as: (i) moisture, carbon content, pH and soil structure; (ii) environmental conditions such as temperature and rain (due to its influence on soil moisture); (iii) quantity and availability of nutrients in soil and excreta; (iv) plant species present; and (v) soil management (Oertel et al., 2016; López-Aizpún et al., 2020).

Countries like New Zealand have advanced in disaggregating EF by type of livestock (bovines and sheep), type of excreta (feces and urine) and climate (wet and dry). In this country, EF for urine and feces are 1 and 0.25% respectively, and both have been implemented in the national inventory of agricultural greenhouse gases (van der Weerden et al., 2020). New Zealand values, applied to all major classes of livestock (sheep, cattle, and deer), are similar to those found by Chadwick et al. (2018) in studies in the United Kingdom (average urine and feces of 0.69 and 0.19%, respectively) and Ireland where EF of 1.18 and 0.31% have been found for these two emission sources, respectively (Krol et al., 2016). Similarly, Rivera et al. (2018) found EF between 1.37 and 1.77% for feces, and between 0.3 and 3.47% for urine in tropical conditions of Colombia, which are higher than those reported by Sordi et al. (2014) in Brazil who found values from 0.19 to 0.33% and 0.12 to 0.19% for urine and feces, respectively. Figure 2 represents the final distribution of N in urine and feces, showing higher amounts of N leached and higher amounts of NH<sub>3</sub> in urine than in feces, which could lead to higher emissions in urine patches.

#### **Methane Emissions**

The production of  $CH_4$  occurs *via* the microbial degradation of the proteins, organic acids, carbohydrates, and soluble lipids present in excreta (Khan et al., 1997). According to the IPCC-Tier 1 (2006), 1 kg of  $CH_4$  is emitted from dung annually per adult head of cattle in grazing systems, but according to others reports these values may be lower (0.45–0.67 kg/animal/day), and can be highly variable (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)., 2019).

In the soil,  $CH_4$  is produced under anaerobic conditions by methanogens and is converted to  $CO_2$  by methanotrophs under



both aerobic and anaerobic conditions, and the net  $CH_4$  flux in the soil-atmosphere system represents the balance between these two microbial processes (Le Mer and Roger, 2001). The impact of excreta deposition on  $CH_4$  emission thus mainly depends on its relative impact on  $CH_4$  production and  $CH_4$  oxidation activities in the patch (Cai et al., 2017).

Around 15–30% of total global CH<sub>4</sub> emissions could be derived from soil source (Yanan et al., 2018). Ruminant manure is responsible for the emissions of 109 million tons of this GHG to the atmosphere per year, of which 86% comes from cattle. Three main factors affect the amount of CH<sub>4</sub> emitted by manure: the type of treatment, the climate, and the composition of manure (Opio et al., 2013). While most of CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from manure occur during storage under anaerobic conditions, in tropical regions manure can also be a generator of a considerable amount of emissions of this gas at the grassland level (Montes et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2017).

Even though pastures can emit CH<sub>4</sub>, under certain conditions, upland soils including those covered by grasslands are also an important sink for atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> as they can oxidize it at a faster rate than croplands (between 3 and 6 kg of CH<sub>4</sub>/ha/yr), although at a slower rate than uncultivated soils (Boeckx and Van Cleemput, 2001). This is caused by the oxidative activity of methanotrophs and ammonium oxidizing bacteria (Shukla et al., 2013). The oxidative capacity is nevertheless affected, among other factors, by water content and inorganic N in the soil, by the use of inorganic fertilizers and by the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> released during urine urea hydrolysis (Le Mer and Roger, 2001; Saari et al., 2004). During the rainy season CH<sub>4</sub> emissions rise due to increased anaerobic conditions caused by water saturation but, when soil moisture is reduced due to decreased rainfall, these are replaced by oxidative processes with predominance of aerobic bacteria that generate negative methane flows and act as  $CH_4$  sinks (Visscher et al., 2007).

#### **Factors Conditioning Methane Emissions**

As for N<sub>2</sub>O, microbial processes that determine methane emissions into the atmosphere in grazing systems are conditioned by soil factors such as redox potential, pH, temperature, organic carbon and nitrogen content (Towprayoon et al., 2005). These factors can affect the proliferation of some soil microorganisms and, in turn, promote or limit bacterial metabolism through its impact on synthesis and enzymatic activity. The process of methanogenesis is regulated by the concentration of O<sub>2</sub>, the content of organic matter as a substrate, and the factors that determine its redox potential (Conrad, 1996). Organic matter is the main input for triggering methane production processes. The increase of available organic matter, and its subsequent decomposition in soils under anaerobic conditions, stimulates methanogenesis by providing a substrate for the production of acetate and hydrogen and causing soil reducing conditions (Sass et al., 1991).

In pastures, most of the organic matter comes from plants through leaves senescence and root decomposition, and the transformation and deposit by animal excreta (Waschütza et al., 1992). For this reason, forage species and their physiological status can also influence methane emissions (Kerdchoechuen, 2005). The strictly anaerobic methanogens, mainly *Methanobacteria, Methanococci* and *Methanopyri*, are sensitive to changes in soil water content (Malyan et al., 2016). Methanogenic activity may be stimulated by urine deposition that create anaerobic conditions. Furthermore, increased soil pH resulting from hydrolysis of urine urea and decreased redox potential may also favor methanogenic activities (Le Mer and Roger, 2001). Emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> from excreta deposited by animals on pastures range from 7 to 27% of total emissions by ruminants (Kreuzer and Hindrichsen, 2006). However, these emissions may become less significant depending on environmental conditions and manure management (Oenema et al., 2007). When anaerobic conditions occur, ruminant manure in pastures release significant amounts of CH<sub>4</sub> (Misselbrook et al., 2001).

#### Methane Emissions in Feces and Urine

In an evaluation of methane fluxes of an intensive silvopastoral system (iSPS) with high density of Leucaena, an intensive pasture monoculture system and a secondary dry forest, Rivera et al. (2018) found that both the forest and the iSPS had negative CH<sub>4</sub> flows of -0.56 and -0.02 kg of CH<sub>4</sub>/ha/yr respectively, probably due to the biodiversity of microorganisms found in their soils (Vallejo et al., 2010). Negative flows of CH<sub>4</sub> were also found during the dry season in three pasture systems in the north of Colombia (Espinosa-Carvajal et al., 2020). Methane flows are also influenced by the grass species and fertilization level. Pastrana et al. (2011) in a study evaluating three accessions of Brachiaria humidicola (Rendle) Schweickerdt found that methane emissions were increased from sink (-23.6  $\mu g m^2/h$ ) when nitrogen fertilization was zero, to emit 107.9  $\mu$ g m<sup>2</sup>/h with application of 150 kg of N/ha/yr and 59.7  $\mu$ g m<sup>2</sup>/h with 300 kg of N/ha/yr. CH<sub>4</sub> emissions were also affected by the *B. humidicola* accession.

CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from excreta deposited by animals on pastures range from 7 to 27% of total emissions by ruminants (Kreuzer and Hindrichsen, 2006). However, these emissions may become less significant depending on environmental conditions and manure management (Oenema et al., 2007). According to recent IPCC estimates, 0.49  $\pm$  0.43 g of CH<sub>4</sub> per kg of dry matter (DM) of manure can be generated on average (IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)., 2019). In addition, urine deposited directly in the grasslands increases emissions of this gas by up to 100 times compared to grasslands without urine patches (Oertel et al., 2016). The diversity of conditions that change CH<sub>4</sub> emissions has generated great dispersion in the results (Andueza et al., 2017), as there are reports of up to 1 g of CH<sub>4</sub> per kg of DM of manure generated, value that can be up to five times higher when manure is incorrectly stored under anaerobic conditions (Sneath et al., 2006). According to Chadwick (2005) manure emissions can range from 0.4 to 9.7% of the total C content deposited by manure.

Finally, Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) studies have identified that manure emissions (CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O) can be considerable under different production conditions. For example, Rivera et al. (2014), who evaluated the LCA in two dairy systems in Colombia, found that manure emissions accounted for 30% as CO<sub>2</sub>-eq of the total emitted on the farm and 22% of the total emitted throughout the LCA. In another study in dairy production systems, Rivera et al. (2016) found that manure emissions accounted for 6.5% of all farm-level emissions. According to this study, emission levels from manure depend mainly on the amount of excreted N given by the consumption of this nutrient in the diet, by the type of manure management, and by the rainfall regimen and use (or not) of irrigation in the grasslands.

#### NITROUS OXIDE AND METHANE EMISSION MITIGATION STRATEGIES

#### **Opportunities and Tradeoffs**

Opportunities to reduce  $N_2O$  and  $CH_4$  emissions from livestock manure are diverse and can be addressed to different parts of the animal production cycle to control the production and emission of these two gases (Montes et al., 2013). Given the different environmental and metabolic conditions that influence  $N_2O$  and  $CH_4$  flows from soil and manure, it is difficult to implement efficient mitigation alternatives that target both gases simultaneously (Montes et al., 2013). However, as presented in **Table 1**; **Figure 3**, measures related to improving production efficiency and improving soil protection with adequate cover and introduction of trees can contribute simultaneously to reduce emissions of both gases and, in addition, improve carbon sequestration.

The success of mitigation measures can be estimated based on the optimal conditions under which nitrification and denitrification processes occur, in the case of  $N_2O$ and from the dry matter degradation processes of manure for CH<sub>4</sub>. Since CH<sub>4</sub> is produced under anaerobic conditions, while  $N_2O$  production requires sufficient oxygen levels, some practices that reduce CH<sub>4</sub> production tend to increase  $N_2O$  emissions. **Table 1** presents a list of mitigation alternatives with their potential impact and limitations.

According to de Klein and Eckard (2008) and Wecking (2021), strategies to mitigate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from grazing systems should include two complementary approaches: (1) to manage the sources of nitrogen uptake at the animal level, and (2) to control N<sub>2</sub>O production *in situ* through soil and pastoral management. Beukes et al. (2010) determined that measures such as improved animal genetics, reduction of nitrogen fertilization, and improved grazing management had the potential to decrease GHG emissions from pasture-based systems by 27–32%. Future mitigation should ideally be focused on finding combined strategies that avoid any offsetting effect of the desired mitigation benefits and also, help to improve the efficiency of nitrogen cycling through the soil-plant-animal system while, at the same time, reducing emissions (Cai et al., 2017).

The first approach includes improving management and feeding practices, supplying nutrients, in particular protein sources, according to animal requirements, and increasing animal productivity and nitrogen efficiency per kilogram of animal product through breeding and genetic manipulation (de Klein and Eckard, 2008; Wecking, 2021). For the second approach, mitigation strategies addressed

Strategy	Mitigation potential	Possible negative/Limiting aspect	GHG mitigated	References
Urease and nitrification inhibitors	15–45%	Labor cost, economic cost, difficult to use, and production of other GHGs.	N <sub>2</sub> O	de Klein and Monaghan, 2011; Di and Cameron, 2012
Time of application of manure in the field	17%	Labor cost, economic cost.	N <sub>2</sub> O	VanderZaag et al., 2011
Use of plant species that can inhibit nitrification	60%	Labor cost, economic cost.	N <sub>2</sub> O	Byrnes et al., 2017
Use of SPS as a strategy to improve soil conditions in terms of cover and biodiversity	57%	Labor cost, economic cost.	N <sub>2</sub> O	Chirinda et al., 2019
Integrate manure with fertilizer and crop rotation	60%	Labor cost, productivity decline.	N <sub>2</sub> O	Nguyen et al., 2017
Dietary manipulation	35–55%	Economic cost, productivity decline, and difficult to use in non-intensive systems.	$CH_4$ and $N_2O$	Klausner et al., 1998 Hristov et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012; Lombardi et al., 2021
Legumes as an alternative to N fertilizer	15–45%	Productivity decline, Limited forage species in some places or climates.	N <sub>2</sub> O	Li et al., 2013
Improved soil cover and biological integrity	25-65%	Economic cost, labor cost.	$CH_4$ and $N_2O$	Chirinda et al., 2019
Application of biochar and liming material	54%	Economic cost, labor cost, economic cost, and difficult to use in non-intensive systems.	N <sub>2</sub> O	Cayuela et al., 2014

at soil and grazing management are manifold and include managing the intensity and timing of grazing events (van der Weerden et al., 2018), increasing pasture productivity and soil carbon storage (Whitehead et al., 2018), and improving nutrient, fertilizer, and manure management (Kim and Giltrap, 2017). Removing animals from pasture areas can reduce treading damage, prevent leaching and gaseous losses of N, and thus preserve soil conditions (Luo et al., 2017). However, negative side effects of stand-off pads can be the accumulation of manure and reduced production that might outweigh the mitigation benefits. van der Weerden et al. (2018) showed that controlled grazing was beneficial on poorly drained soils where it contributed to reducing N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, whereas the approach was not suitable on imperfectly-drained pasture.

Nitrous oxide and  $CH_4$  emissions differ between intensive and non-intensive systems. Intensive systems can emit more GHG because they have a higher stocking rate, offer commercial feed, use fertilizers and irrigation. However, under tropical and subtropical conditions extensive systems are predominant; non-intensively managed pastures occupy 66% of the total grassland area around the world (Klein Goldewijk et al., 2017). Mitigation strategies must be in accordance with the type of system to achieve cost-effective reductions under grazing conditions. The main mitigation strategies are presented in more detail below:

#### **Dietary Manipulation**

The most promising options for reducing GHG emissions at the livestock management level include improving animal production through dietary changes. Nitrogen (N) excretion rates, which affect N2O emissions from manure, are based on dry matter consumption (DMC) and its N content (Vergé et al., 2012). Therefore, dietary manipulation to optimize protein consumption, and thus improve the efficiency of N utilization, is one of the most effective measures to reduce emissions from manure (Novak and Fiorelli, 2010). The more nitrogen used by an animal, the less will be excreted; it is recommended that an adjusted amount of nutrients be offered in the diet to meet the animal's requirements, thus, avoiding increased excretion (Schils et al., 2008). This condition can occur in both high-supply N systems such as dairy production, as well as in tropical systems where the N supply in the feed is reduced. According to Klausner et al. (1998), in dairy systems, feeding of lactating cows with rations based on their production decreases the excretion of N by up to 34%. According to these authors, the reduction occurs by optimizing microbial fermentation in rumen which significantly improves the use of N.

Since urine is the main source of volatile N emissions, manipulating the N excretion pathway becomes an important  $N_2O$  and  $NH_3$  mitigation tool. Urea is the main nitrogenous component of ruminant urine reaching 60–80% of total urinary



N in high-production dairy cows (Montes et al., 2013) and decreasing proportionally as dietary CP decreases (Colmenero and Broderick, 2006). In low-protein diets, ureic N may drop to 46–53% of total urinary N (Hristov et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012). For this reason, decreasing the concentration of CP in the diet is an effective method to mitigate N emissions from manure (Hristov et al., 2013). Similarly, emissions of manure deposited in the soil are reduced because low CP diets generate manure with a slower N mineralization rate (Powell et al., 2011). Optimizing N supply to animals can achieve between 12 and 21% less N excretion and 15–33% less N volatilization losses in livestock fed according to the physiological status of the animals (Erickson and Klopfenstein, 2010).

de Klein and Eckard (2008) concluded that  $N_2O$  reduction should be part of an integrated approach to improving efficiency in the use of N in animal production systems. According to these authors, current technologies could offer up to 50% reduction in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from a confinement system, but only up to 15% of a grazing system. In intensively operated pastoral systems, supplementation of cattle with N-low foods such as maize or silage, which generally reduce the concentration of N in the diet, can reduce urinary N losses and, consequently, NH<sub>3</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in manure and soil by 8–36% (de Klein and Monaghan, 2011).

Also, plants species such as *Lolium perenne, Trifolium repens,* and *Plantago lanceolata,* that may exhibit diuretic properties have the potential to reduce the urinary-N loading in individual urine patches by increasing the urination frequency of grazing animals (de Klein et al., 2019; des Roseaux et al., 2020). Although the increased urination frequency results in greater coverage of urine-affected soil, total paddock-scale N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from urine patches are not likely to be higher if the total amount of

urinary-N excreted remains the same. In fact, they could be lower if the  $N_2O$  emission factor reduces with N loading rate (de Klein et al., 2019).

Diet manipulation can also reduce CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from manure. In a study by Lombardi et al. (2021) the supplementation of grazing beef steers with maize grain lowered CH<sub>4</sub> emissions of dung from 4.0 to 1.7 g CH<sub>4</sub>-C/m<sup>2</sup>. Dung from supplemented animals had higher N, starch, and DM content, which resulted in lower CH<sub>4</sub> emissions compared with dung from nonsupplemented animals. Results from this study indicated that the initial water content may control the CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, since rainfall events after dung crusting did not increase the CH4 fluxes from dung patches (Zhu et al., 2018). On the other hand, these authors state that supplementation with maize grain can thus have dual benefits in cattle production, through maximizing body weight gain in grazing steers (18% more) by improving the efficiency of utilization of nutrients (dietary N in particular) and through decreasing the total amount and/or the intensity of GHG emissions. In addition, the improvement in N utilization efficiency may reduce N2O emissions from urine deposition (Cai et al., 2017).

This mitigation route can be used especially in grazing systems with daily rotation, where there is a greater control in feeding. In these systems animals are usually supplemented during milking or at certain times of the year (for example in summer or winter, according to the area). Also, the manipulation of the diet can be done to certain groups of animals that may demand more nutrients or simply by using pastures with various forage species that can be supplemented or whose nutrient supply is in accordance with the physiological state of the animal. This could be applied to both intensive and non-intensive systems (use of species that favor an adequate energy:protein balance).

Although diet supplementation might be difficult under very extensive systems, it is possible in more managed systems such as those under rotational grazing.

# Improved Soil Cover and Biological Integrity

Maintaining a more diverse environment with healthy soils and good pasture cover is another strategy that can help reduce emissions. Chirinda et al. (2019) found lower urine patch emission factors in seven locations in South America (0.42 vs. 0.18%) when the grasslands had greater plant cover compared to areas with poor cover or degraded pastures. The results indicate that, under rainy conditions, adequate plant cover, through good pasture management, helps reduce urine-induced N2O emissions. According to these authors, higher emissions in lowcovered soils are due to grass degradation that can stimulate or restrict N losses. For example, low plant cover can reduce N sinks for deposited excreta and therefore increase N vulnerability and loss through microbial soil and leaching processes (Chirinda et al., 2019). However, low plant cover may also be associated with fewer exuded plant roots that decrease microbial activity and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Henry et al., 2008).

Improved soil cover and pasture management also contributes to maintain or increase soil organic matter (SOM) (Aryal et al.,

2018), which plays a critical role in determining the N<sub>2</sub>O emission response to urea deposition (Clough et al., 2020). Increasing SOM increases cation exchange capacity, reducing the soil solution  $NH_4^+$  concentration that in turn, reduces soil solution  $NH_3$  and associated inhibition of  $NO_2^-$  oxidation, thus reducing urea-derived N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Breuillin-Sessoms et al., 2017). Soil buffer capacity increases with increasing soil organic matter alleviating increases in soil pH following urea deposition and associated solubilization of organic matter, and the formation of dissolved organic C and N (Breuillin-Sessoms et al., 2017).

On the other hand, excessive grazing without time for grass recovery increases the risk of soil compaction, an indicator of grass degradation. Compaction reduces soil porosity and pore continuity, decreases aeration, restricts plant growth, and increases soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in urine patches (van Groenigen et al., 2005). In addition, soil acidification, which could also be an indicator of pasture degradation, has been shown to increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions as acidic conditions generally reduce plant growth and inhibit the activity of the enzyme N<sub>2</sub>O reductase, which is responsible for transforming N<sub>2</sub>O into dinitrogen (N<sub>2</sub>) (Robinson et al., 2014).

#### Implementation of Silvopastoral Systems

The incorporation of shrubs and trees in pastures in the called silvopastoral systems (SPS) can also contribute to reduce emissions by improving soil cover and health and by increasing the quality of the diet (Chará et al. 2019). These systems have demonstrated effects on the physical, chemical and microbiological properties of the soil both by the provision of shade and higher amount of heterogeneous biomass that is deposited on the soil in the form of leaves, branches, fruits, and exudates and by improving the root microbiome allowing the modification of microorganism populations in the soil that can regulate nitrification and oxidation processes (Vallejo et al., 2010, 2012). Silvopastoral systems can also contribute to increase SOM (Aryal et al., 2018) which contributes to reduce GHG flows as mentioned previously. Cubillos et al. (2016) found in a study including SPS of different ages, that these arrangements have significantly lower potential for ammonia nitrification compared to monoculture systems (between 15 and 20%), similar to those observed in forest patches, which is why N2O flows are expected to be reduced under these systems. According to these authors, in SPSs ammonia oxidizing bacteria and archaea limit the rate in nitrification and the resulting N<sub>2</sub>O emissions could be reduced.

On the other hand, such systems can modify emissions in feces by the presence of dung beetles that limit the interactions of manure with mineral soil, restricting substrates for nitrification and denitrification processes (Slade et al., 2016). Studies in different regions of Colombia have shown that SPSs have greater abundance, diversity, and activity of beetles than treeless pastures (Giraldo et al., 2011; Montoya-Molina et al., 2016). According to Slade et al. (2016) the presence of beetles in livestock systems reduces  $N_2O$  emissions by 14.7% and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions by 17%.

Another effect of these systems is the increased N partitioning into dung relative to urine as this has shown to reduce  $N_2O$  emissions from pastures, since the emission factor for dung is lower than that for urine (Luo et al. 2018). Feeding animals condensed tannin (CT)-rich diets can also increase N partitioning into dung (Carulla et al., 2005). The inclusion of CT either as a dietary supplement or in forages fed to ruminants reduced urinary-N excretion, increased the amount of N excreted in the dung and improved N retention in the animal (Misselbrook et al., 2005). Since N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are traditionally higher in urine, this may be a mitigation pathway. Silvopastoral systems use forage species such as *Leucaena leucocephala, Tithonia diversifolia*, and *Gliricidia sepium*, which contain significant amounts of tannins in their leaves and stems (Barahona et al., 2006; Rivera et al., 2021). Rivera et al. (2018) compared an iSPS and a traditional system and found reductions in emission factors (N<sub>2</sub>O) of 23% and 10 times less for feces and urine, respectively.

Finally, plant morphological factors that can affect soil N cycling and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions include the effect of the root system on a plant's ability to access water and nutrients, and plant canopy-effects on the dispersion of urine voided by grazing animals (de Klein et al., 2019). When roots are present, root morphology can affect soil structure and hydrology, both of which influence conditions that govern the reduction of N2O to N<sub>2</sub> and diffusion of gases to the soil surface (Chapuis-lardy et al., 2007). Root morphology can also affect plant N uptake and thus availability for soil nitrification and denitrification processes (Abalos et al., 2014). These authors found that combining two grasses, L. perenne and Poa trivialis, which is a high fertility responsive grass like L. perenne, produced the greatest amount of biomass and the lowest N2O emissions. They suggested this was due to the complementarity of the root foraging strategies of these two species, where P. trivialis may access N hotspots not previously emptied by L. perenne. This combination, together with its very high total root biomass, is thought to increase mineral N uptake, thereby lowering soil nitrate content and subsequent N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Abalos et al., 2014).

Plant species diversity and interactions can also influence N uptake and  $N_2O$  emissions (Niklaus et al. 2016). Increasing plant species richness from 1 to 16 grassland species has been found to reduce  $N_2O$  emissions in the absence of N fertilizer (Niklaus et al., 2016), due to more efficient soil inorganic N uptake. However, this pattern was not observed when the diversity included a large proportion of legumes (de Klein et al., 2019).

Although pasture species with increasing root mass or rooting depth have greater ability to take up N, the winter-activity of pasture species such as *Lolium multiflorum* Lam.—i.e., the ability of roots to take up N under cooler conditions—appeared to be more important than specific root architecture (e.g., deep roots) for reducing N leaching losses (Woods et al., 2016). Woods et al. (2016) found that winter-active Italian ryegrass had the greatest N uptake and lowest N leaching, whereas the opposite was found for the tap-rooted *L. perenne*. The high N leaching losses from *M. sativa* in this study were attributed to poor winter herbage growth and the limited depth of the lysimeters (0.7 m) used for this deep rooting species.

#### Legumes as an Alternative to N Fertilizer

Biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) in association with forage legumes provides an alternative N source for grazing systems (Li et al., 2013). In tropical and subtropical conditions, legumes such

as Desmodium ovalifolium, Leucaena leucocephala, Centrosema pubescens, Stylosanthes guianensis, Cajanus cajan, among others, can fix between 120 and 150 kg N/ha/yr. For SPS with Leucaena leucocephala planted in rows in Australia, nitrogen fixation rates range between 36 and 61.9 kg/ha/y (Radrizzani et al., 2011; Conrad et al., 2018) while for an iSPS with high density of L. leucocephala in Mexico ranged between 77.1 and 80 kg N/ha over a period of 100 days (Sarabia-Salgado et al., 2020). This fixed N becomes available slowly over time to the grass in pastures after its release into soil via exudates from living legume roots, by mineralization of senesced legume tissues and in excreta after consumption by grazing animals (Ledgard et al., 2009), generating lower losses of N that can be converted into N2O (Schmeer et al., 2014). Rising costs of fertilizer N and environmental regulations governing stocking densities and fertilizer N use on farms is increasing interest in the use of legumes in pastures. A review by Andrews et al. (2007) concluded that herbage and milk production from legumes-based pastures (perennial ryegrass with 20% white clover (Trifolium pratense) in herbage DM on an annual basis) are likely to be similar to that from a perennial ryegrass pasture receiving annual input of 200 kg/ha of N fertilizer and around 70% of that obtained with perennial ryegrass receiving an annual input of 350-400 kg/ha of fertilizer.

The N<sub>2</sub>O emissions induced by the growth of legume crops/forages may be estimated solely as a function of the above-ground and below-ground N inputs from crop residues (Li et al., 2013). Accordingly, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from legume-based grasslands are much lower than fertilized grasslands. For example, Ruzjerez et al. (1994) reported up to five-fold more N<sub>2</sub>O emission from heavily N fertilized grasslands than from their legume-based counterparts in New Zealand. A data synthesis indicates that the average soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from field-grown legumes, N fertilized grass pastures and crops, and unfertilized soils are 1.29, 3.22, and 1.20 kg N/ha/yr, respectively (Li et al., 2013).

#### Use of Forage Species With Potential for Biological Inhibition of Nitrification

Within soil GHG emission mitigation strategies, especially for  $N_2O$  flows, the use of nitrification inhibition grass species (BNI) is an option to reduce gas production (Byrnes et al., 2017; Teutscherova et al., 2019). According to Byrnes et al. (2017) and Beeckman et al. (2018) the use of nitrification inhibitors, whether synthetic or plant-based (biological nitrification inhibitors -BNI) reduce soil nitrification rates and therefore  $NO_3^-$  leachate and  $N_2O$  emissions. In addition, this reduction in the nitrification rate contributes to increase the efficiency in the use of N in the system (Yang et al., 2016).

Species such as *Brachiaria humidicola* (Byrnes et al., 2017), *Sorghum bicolor, Oryza sativa* and *Triticum aestivum* have demonstrated their ability to decrease N<sub>2</sub>O flows (Subbarao et al., 2009; Zhu et al., 2012). Byrnes et al. (2017) reported that in urine patches with *B. humidicola* cv. Tully, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were 60% lower than in *B. hybrid* cv. Mulato (32 vs. 80 mg N<sub>2</sub>O–N m<sup>2</sup>, respectively). These authors also found that the high content of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> had a positive relationship (p < 0.05) with the number of copies of the *amo*A gene of ammonia oxidizing archaea and bacteria at sites with higher emissions. Studies regulating soil N dynamics associated with plant and microorganism interaction such as BNI and, more recently, inhibition of biological denitrification (BDI), have increased, as they represent an ecological, sustainable, and cost-effective strategy compared to the use of synthetic inhibitors (Subbarao et al., 2017).

On the other hand, root exudates can also affect the availability of soil mineral N, as C in these exudates may temporarily increase microbial immobilization of N (Fisk et al., 2015). Carbon from root exudates may thus reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions derived from urine deposition due to immobilization of urine-N. Indeed, a number of studies have demonstrated that excess N in urine patches does not immediately become available for nitrification and denitrification (Bol et al., 2004). Instead, it can be immobilized into organic matter or fixed on clay particles.

#### Application of Biochar and Liming Material

Biochar is a carbonaceous material produced during the thermal decomposition of different materials (wood, plant litter, crop residues, animal manure or waste products) under low-oxygen conditions (Cai et al., 2017). Biochar may inhibit nitrification by compounds such as  $\alpha$ -pinene and ethylene and constrain denitrification through physical and biochemical regulations, including improved soil aeration, increased sorption of substrates for denitrification to N<sub>2</sub> (Cayuela et al., 2014). A meta-analysis reports a 54% reduction of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (with a confidence interval from -60 to -48%) following biochar addition to agricultural soils (Cayuela et al., 2014).

Biochar can also decrease  $CH_4$  emission or increase  $CH_4$  oxidation *via* increasing soil aeration and reducing soil bulk density, but some compounds contained in biochar may also inhibit the activity of methanotrophs and increase  $CH_4$  emission (van Zwieten et al., 2010).

Since increased pH can enhance the activity of N<sub>2</sub>O reductase, lime application should be able to reduce N2O emissions. Liming has also been shown to enhance nitrification (Khan et al., 2011). Therefore, the effect of liming on N2O emission depends on its net effect on N<sub>2</sub>O reductase and nitrification. Generally, liming can increase N<sub>2</sub> emission and reduce the ratio of N<sub>2</sub>O to N<sub>2</sub> for emission from urine patches, but there are contradictory results about its effect on N2O emission (McMillan et al., 2016). In addition, owing to the decreased Al<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> toxicity as pH increases, liming has shown to increase soil CH4 oxidation and reduce CH4 emission; this effect might be more pronounced in acid soils (Kunhikrishnan et al., 2016). However, it should be noted that even though liming has merit for lowering N<sub>2</sub>O emissions, the increased nitrification after lime application may also potentially enhance a risk of N<sub>2</sub>O production from denitrification when the soils become anaerobic, due to the possible accumulation of the resultant  $NO_3^-$  from nitrification (Barton et al., 2013).

Given the many uncertainties of the effect of liming on  $N_2O$ emission, caution should be exercised in using liming as an option for mitigating  $N_2O$  from excreta patches, and the effect of liming on the emission of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and NH<sub>3</sub> from excreta patches should also be considered (Cai et al., 2017).

## Application of Nitrification and Urease Inhibitors

Since N<sub>2</sub>O emission from excreta patches mainly results from nitrification and denitrification, thus any inhibitor that can suppress these two processes could be used to mitigate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from excreta patches Cai et al. (2017). Nitrification inhibitors (NIs) such as dicvandiamide (DCD), 3, 4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP), nitrapyrin, and pyrazole derivatives (PD), can inhibit the conversion of  $NH_4^+$  to  $NO_2^-$ , decrease NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> production and the subsequent denitrification (Barneze et al., 2015). Additionally, Urease inhibitors (UIs) can slow down the conversion of urea to NH<sup>+</sup><sub>4</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub> and decrease the availability of  $NH_4^+$  for nitrification (Cai et al., 2017). The efficacy of NIs in reducing N2O emission varies widely depending on the application rate, timing and method (Cai et al., 2017). Application of DCD significantly decreases N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from cattle urine (by  $4.24 \pm 1.10 \text{ kg N/ha}$ ) and cattle feces (by 0.66  $\pm$  0.61 kg N/ha) patches (Cai et al., 2017). However, NIs may decrease CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation (or increase CH<sub>4</sub> emission) by the inhibitory effect of accumulating NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and possibly directly affect methane monooxygenase (MMO), presumably due to the close structural relationship between ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) and MMO activities (Le Mer and Roger, 2001; Hatch et al., 2005). Therefore, the effect of NIs on CH<sub>4</sub> emission from both urine and feces patches needs to be further studied under a wide range of conditions, since uncertainties about the differential effect of urine and feces deposition on CH4 emission are large (Cai et al., 2017).

Although this mitigation pathway is effective, its applicability is difficult under grazing conditions, since these are systems where the excretion of urine and feces is dispersed; also, the costs could be high and may not outweigh the benefits.

According to Adhikari et al. (2021) in intensively managed dairy pastures, urine deposited by cattle during grazing covers relatively small proportion of the total grazed area. Maire et al. (2018) reported that urine patches represent only about 6-12% of the grazed area in a single dairy cow grazing event. Therefore, there is a large potential for limiting the risk of NIs entry into these systems if these compounds can be targeted directly to urine patches, avoiding the need for their application across often large areas of pasture unaffected by urine deposition during grazing. Most N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from a urine patch occur within the first few days to weeks of its deposition, depending on soil and climatic conditions (Selbie et al., 2015). Technologies are therefore needed that can identify and treat urine patches shortly after deposition to inform optimum mitigation options for emission reductions (Marsden et al., 2017). Approaches to identifying urine patches include visually monitoring cows in the field, automated monitoring using electromagnetic induction, electrical conductivity measurements and optical sensing (Misselbrook et al., 2016), ground-based sensing and airborne technologies, such as remotely piloted areal systems (RPAS), LiDAR and satellites using hyperspectral and

near infra-red imaging, and temperature sensors (Dennis et al., 2013). The application rates for DCD, DMPP and nitrapyrin in previous field experiments involving urine ranged from 5 to 80, 1 to 5, and 1 to 10 kg/ha, respectively (Adhikari et al., 2021).

### MANAGEMENT AND STORAGE OF MANURE AS A MEANS OF DECREASING CH<sub>4</sub> AND N<sub>2</sub>O EMISSIONS

According to IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (2019), in bovine systems in tropical and subtropical areas only 4 to 15% of manure receives some type of management. Considering the manure handling chain, mitigation options involve adequate handling, storage, and application, especially in those systems where animals are kept in confinement permanently or during part of the day or the year. According to Montes et al. (2013) there are many options for mitigating emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> during storage. For CH<sub>4</sub> mitigation, during solid manure storage, composting can be an efficient mitigation option, if it is properly managed. Samer (2015) found that adding straw to solid manure reduces CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, but under certain conditions, it could increase N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

In general, the most effective methods are anaerobic digestion and composting, which in turn have the advantage of generating products that replace fossil fuels and chemical fertilizers. Generally speaking, to mitigate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from manure deposits, the following are the best methods: (i) maintain anaerobic deposits (e.g., compact and covered); (ii) adopt a liquid manure system compared to a deep-bed system (although it has the drawback of increased water use); and (iii) add straw to immobilize ammonium. On the other hand, to mitigate CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, the following are the best methods: (i) anaerobic digestion (Chadwick et al., 2011); (ii) water removal in manure (opposite to  $N_2O$  mitigation); (iii) minimize the volume of liquid manure stored during the summer months; (iv) cooling; and (v) aeration of solid manure and composting heaps. According to these recommendations, apart from anaerobic digestion, there are no options to tackle both gases simultaneously, but there are some general strategies to reduce GHG emissions by manure management. Although some of the strategies proposed are efficient in reducing emissions, their actual mitigation potential must be evaluated against possible tradeoffs as they may rely on high use of electricity, fossil fuels, labor or water, or reduce productivity. For example, cooling, constant washing of excreta or the use of specialized structures, could increase costs or increase emissions of other gases such as CO2, or generate other negative environmental impacts such as eutrophication and acidification.

#### FINAL REMARKS

Integrated production systems such as silvopastoral systems are strategic to reduce emissions of both  $CH_4$  and  $N_2O$  through the

reduction in the use of external inputs (i.e., fertilizer and feed supplements), soil protection and improvement of its structure and aeration, and efficient use of nutrients in the production process. An efficient production system that provides nutrients to animals according to their requirements not only contributes to reducing emissions but also allows for more efficient production. Although the reduction of emissions for integrated systems can be as high as 50%, the uptake of these alternatives is still very low and many research gaps remain to make these reductions more generalized.

With regard to mitigation practices, it is important to note that these may result in an "emission exchange" or increase in the flows of some GHGs. Therefore, due to numerous interactions, mitigation practices should not be evaluated in isolation but as a component of the bovine production system (Montes et al., 2013). Optimizing the animal diet to improve the efficiency of N use, balance N input with production level and maintaining fiber digestibility while reducing enteric fermentation of  $CH_4$ , are important steps to reduce  $N_2O$  and  $CH_4$  emissions from manure. In addition, the use of BNI fodder, as well as providing adequate soil cover offered in wellmanaged systems, are strategies alternatives to reducing  $N_2O$ emissions (**Figure 3**).

Finally, it is important to mention that some strategies, if applied separately, have different limitations and drawbacks as mentioned in **Table 1**. For this reason, it is important to advance in studies focused on evaluating the economic impact of mitigation strategies, and to determine their impact on animal and food production. It is also important to work on the estimation of  $CH_4$  emission factors and to evaluate mitigation strategies for this gas that has received less attention compared to N<sub>2</sub>O.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JR and JC were involved in the conceptual development of the article. JR led the general construction of the texts and the literature review. JC contributed to manuscript revision and proposed some mitigation strategies. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

Project 18\_III\_106\_COL\_A\_sustainable production strategies. This project is part of the International Climate Initiative (IKI). The Federal Ministry of Environment, Nature Protection and Nuclear Safety (BMU) of Germany supports this initiative based on a decision of the German Bundestag.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge the support of Minciencias and the Fund for Science, Technology and innovation Francisco José de Caldas to CIPAV (Contract 80740-006-2020).

### REFERENCES

- Abalos, D., De Deyn, G. B., Kuyper, T. W., and van Groenigen, J. W. (2014). Plant species identity surpasses species richness as a key driver of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from grassland. *Glob. Change Biol.* 20, 265–275. doi: 10.1111/gcb.12350
- Adhikari, K. P., Chibuike, G., Saggar, S., Simon, P. L., Luo, J., and de Klein, C. A. M. (2021). Management and implications of using nitrification inhibitors to reduce nitrous oxide emissions from urine patches on grazed pasture soils—a review. *Sci. Total Environ.* 791:148099. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148099
- Aguirre-Villegas, H. A., and Larson, R. A. (2017). Evaluating greenhouse gas emissions from dairy manure management practices using survey data and lifecycle tools. J. Clean. Prod. 143, 169–179. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.133
- Andrews, M., Scholefield, D., Abberton, M. T., McKenzie, B. A., Hodge, S., and Raven, J. A. (2007). Use of white clover as an alternative to nitrogen fertiliser for dairy pastures in nitrate vulnerable zones in the UK: productivity, environmental impact and economic considerations. *Ann. Appl. Biol.* 151, 11–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-7348.2007.00137.x
- Andueza, D., Picard, F., Dozias, D., and Aufrère, J. (2017). Fecal near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy prediction of the feed value of temperate forages for ruminants and some parameters of the chemical composition of feces: efficiency of four calibration strategies. *Appl. Spectrosc.* 71, 2164–2176. doi: 10.1177/0003702817712740
- Aryal, D. R., Gómez-González, R. R., Hernández-Nuriasmú, R., and Morales-Ruíz. R. (2018). Carbon stocks and tree diversity in scattered tree silvopastoral systems in Chiapas, Mexico. *Agroforest Syst.* 93, 213–227. doi: 10.1007/s10457-018-0310-y
- Barahona, R., Sánchez, S., Lascano, C. E., Owen, E., Morris, P., and Theodorou, M. K. (2006). Effect of condensed tannins from tropical legumes on the activity of fibrolytic enzymes from the rumen fungus Neocallimastyx hurleyensis. *Enzyme Microb. Tech.* 39, 281–288. doi: 10.1016/j.enzmictec.2005.10.011
- Barneze, A. S., Minet, E. P., Cerri, C. C., and Misselbrook, T. (2015). The effect of nitrification inhibitors on nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine depositions to grassland under summer conditions in the UK. *Chemosphere* 119, 122–129. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.06.002
- Barton, L., Gleeson, D. B., Maccarone, L. D., Zuniga, L. P., and Murphy, D. V. (2013). Is liming soil a strategy for mitigating nitrous oxide emissions from semi-arid soils? *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 62, 28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.02.014
- Beeckman, F., Motte, H., and Beeckman, T. (2018). Nitrification in agricultural soils: impacts, actors and mitigation. *Curr. Opin. Biotech.* 50, 166–173. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2018.01.014
- Beukes, P. C., Gregorini, P., Romera, A. J., Levy, G., and Waghorn, G. C. (2010). Improving production efficiency as a strategy to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions on pastoral dairy farms in New Zealand. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 136, 358–365. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.08.008
- Boeckx, P., and Van Cleemput, O. (2001). Estimates of N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes from agricultural lands in various regions in Europe. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.* 60, 35–47. doi: 10.1023/A:1012604032377
- Bol, R., Petersen, S., Christofides, C., Dittert, K., and Hansen, M. N. (2004). Shortterm N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub> fluxes, and N/C transfers in a Danish grass-clover pasture after simulated urine deposition in autumn. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 167, 568–576. doi: 10.1002/jpln.200321334
- Breuillin-Sessoms, F., Venterea, R. T., Sadowsky, M. J., Coulter, J. A., Clough, T. J., and Wang, P. (2017). Nitrification gene ratio and free ammonia explain nitrite and nitrous oxide production in urea-amended soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 111, 143–153. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.04.007
- Byrnes, R. C., Núñez, J., Arenas, L., Rao, I., Trujillo, C., Alvarez, C., et al. (2017). Biological nitrification inhibition by Brachiaria grasses mitigates soil nitrous oxide emissions from bovine urine patches. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 107, 156–163. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.12.029
- Cai, Y., and Akiyama, H. (2016). Nitrogen loss factors of nitrogen trace gas emissions and leaching from excreta patches in grassland ecosystems: a summary of available data. *Sci. Total Environ.* 572, 185–195. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.222
- Cai, Y. J., Chang, S. X., and Cheng, Y. (2017). Greenhouse gas emissions from excreta patches of grazing animals and their mitigation strategies. *Earth-Sci. Rev.* 171, 44–57. doi: 10.1016/j.earscirev.2017.05.013
- Carulla, J. E., Kreuzer, M., Machmüller, A., and Hess, H. D. (2005). Supplementation of *Acacia mearnsii* tannins decreases methanogenesis and

urinary nitrogen in forage-fed sheep. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 56, 961–970. doi: 10.1071/AR05022

- Cayuela, M. L., van Zwieten, L., Singh, B. P., Jeffery, S., Roig, A., and Sanchez-Monedero, M. A. (2014). Biochar's role in mitigating soil nitrous oxide emissions, a review and metaanalysis. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 191, 5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.009
- Chadwick, D. (2005). Emissions of ammonia, nitrous oxide and methane from cattle manure heaps: effect of compaction and covering. *Atmos. Environ.* 39, 787–799. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2004.10.012
- Chadwick, D., Sommer, S., Thorman, R., Fangueiro, D., Cardenas, L., Amon, B., et al. (2011). Manure management: implications for greenhouse gas emissions. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 166, 514–531. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.04.036
- Chadwick, D. R., Cardenas, L. M., Dhanoa, M. S., Donovan, N., Misselbrook, T., Williams, J. R., et al. (2018). The contribution of cattle urine and dung to nitrous oxide emissions: quantification of country specific emission factors and implications for national inventories. *Sci. Total Environ.* 635, 607–617. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.152
- Chapuis-lardy, L., Wrage, N., Metay, A., Chotte, J. L., and Bernoux, M. (2007). Soils, a sink for N<sub>2</sub>O? a review. *Glob. Change Biol.* 13, 1–17. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01280.x
- Chen, D., Li, Y., Grace, P., and Mosier, A. R. (2008). N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from agricultural lands: a synthesis of simulation approaches. *Plant Soil* 309, 169–189. doi: 10.1007/s11104-008-9634-0
- Chirinda, N., Loaiza, S., Arenas, L., Ruiz, V., Faverín, C., Alvarez, C., et al. (2019). Adequate vegetative cover decreases nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine deposited in grazed pastures under rainy season conditions. *Sci. Rep.* 9:908. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-37453-2
- Clough, T. J., Rochette, P., Thomas, S. M., Pihlatie, M., Christiansen, J. R., and Thorman, R. (2020). Global Research Alliance N<sub>2</sub>O chamber methodology guidelines: Design considerations. *J. Environ. Qual.* 49, 1081– 1091. doi: 10.1002/jeq2.20117
- Colmenero, J. J., and Broderick, G. A. (2006). Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on milk production and nitrogen utilization in lactating dairy cows. Int. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 1704–1712. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72238-X
- Conrad, K., Dalal, R. C., Fujinuma, R., and Menzies, N. W. (2018). Soil organic carbon and nitrogen sequestration and turnover in aggregates under subtropical Leucaena-grass pastures. *Soil Res.* 56, 632–647. doi: 10.1071/SR18016
- Conrad, R. (1996). Soil microorganisms as controllers of atmospheric trace gases (H<sub>2</sub>, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>, OCS, N<sub>2</sub>O, and NO). *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 60, 609–640. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.60.4.609-640.1996
- Correa, H. J., Rodríguez, Y. G., Pabón, Y. G., and Carulla, J. E. (2012). Efecto de la oferta de pasto kikuyo (Pennisetum clandestinum) sobre la producción, la calidad de la leche y el balance de nitrógeno en vacas Holstein. Livestock Research for Rural Development. Available online at: http://www.lrrd.org/lrrd24/11/ corr24204.htm. (accessed January 11, 2021].
- Cubillos, A. M., Vallejo, V. E., Arbeli, Z., Terán, W., Dick, R. P., Molina, C. H., et al. (2016). Effect of the conversion of conventional pasture to intensive silvopastoral systems on edaphic bacterial and ammonia oxidizer communities in Colombia. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.* 72, 42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.ejsobi.2015.12.003
- Dalal, R. C., Wang, W., Robertson, G. P., and Parton, W. J. (2003). Nitrous oxide emission from Australian agricultural lands and mitigation options: a review. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 41, 165–195. doi: 10.1071/SR02064
- Dangal, S. R. S., Tian, H., Xu, R., Chang, J., Canadell, J. G., Ciais, P., et al. (2019). Global nitrous oxide emissions from pasturelands and rangelands: magnitude, spatiotemporal patterns, and attribution. *Glob. Biogeochem Cy.* 33, 200–222. doi: 10.1029/2018GB006091
- de Klein, C. A. M., and Eckard, R. J. (2008). Targeted technologies for nitrous oxide abatement from animal agriculture. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 48,14–20. doi: 10.1071/EA07217
- de Klein, C. A. M., and Monaghan, R. M. (2011). The effect of farm and catchment management on nitrogen transformations and N<sub>2</sub>O losses from pastoral systems—can we offset the effects of future intensification? *Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain.* 3, 396–406. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2011.08.002
- de Klein, C. A. M., van der Weerden, T. J., Luo, J., Cameron, K. C., and Di, H. J. (2019). A review of plant options for mitigating nitrous oxide emissions from pasture-based systems. J. Agric. Res. 63, 29–43. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2019.1614073

- Dennis, S. J., Moir, J. L., Cameron, K. C., Edwards, G. R., and Di, H. J. (2013). Measuring excreta patch distribution in grazed pasture through low-cost image analysis. *Grass Forage Sci.* 68, 378–385. doi: 10.1111/gfs.12000
- des Roseaux, M. D., Shi, S., Duff, A. M., Brennan, F. P., Condron, L., Finn, J. A., et al. (2020). Impacts of pasture species and ruminant urine on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and nitrogen transforming microbial communities in soil mesocosms. *New Zealand J. Agric. Res.* 18:880. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2020. 1848880
- Di, H. J., and Cameron, K. C. (2012). How does the application of different nitrification inhibitors affect nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching from cow urine in grazed pastures? *Soil Use Manage*. 28, 54–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2011.00373.x
- Dobbie, K. E., McTaggart, I. P., and Smith, K. A. (1999). Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: variations between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. *J. Geophys. Res. Atmos.* 104, 26891–26899. doi: 10.1029/1999JD9 00378
- Elmerich, C., and Newton, W. E. (2007). Associative and Endophytic Nitrogenfixing Bacteria and Cyanobacterial Associations, Heidelberg: Springers.
- Erickson, G., and Klopfenstein, T. (2010). Nutritional and management methods to decrease nitrogen losses from beef feedlots. J. Anim. Sci. 88, E172–E180. doi: 10.2527/jas.2009-2358
- Espinosa-Carvajal, M., Contreras-Santos, J. L., Cadena-Torres, J., Martínez-Atencia, J., Jaramillo-Barrios, C. I., and Hurtado, M. (2020). Flujos de metano en suelos con coberturas de pastos en el norte de Colombia. Agronomía Mesoamericana 31, 291–309. doi: 10.15517/am.v31i2.38387
- Firestone, M. K., and Davidson, E. A. (1989). "Microbiological basis of NO and N<sub>2</sub>O production and consumption in soil," in *Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and the Atmosphere*, eds M. O. Andreae and D. S. Schmimmel (Chichester: John Wiley and Sons Ltd), 7–21.
- Fisk, L. M., Barton, L., Jones, D. L., Glanville, H. C., and Murphy, D. V. (2015). Root exudate carbon mitigates nitrogen loss in a semi-arid soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 88, 380–389. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.06.011
- Gerber, P. J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., et al. (2013). Hacer frente al cambio climático a través de la ganadería—Evaluación global de las emisiones y las oportunidades de mitigación. FAO: Roma. http:// www.fao.org/3/i3437s/i3437s.pdf. (accessed January 11, 2021).
- Giraldo, C., Escobar, F., Char,á, J., and Calle, Z. (2011). The adoption of silvopastoral systems promotes the recovery of ecological processes regulated by dung beetles in the Colombian Andes. *Insect. Conserv. Diver.* 4, 115–122. doi: 10.1111/j.1752-4598.2010.00112.x
- Hallin, S., Philippot, L., Löffler, F. E., Sanford, R. A., and Jones, C. M. (2018). Genomics and ecology of novel N<sub>2</sub>O-reducing microorganisms. *Trends. Microbiol.* 26, 43–55. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2017.07.003
- Hatch, D., Trindade, H., Cardenas, L., Carneiro, J., Hawkins, J., Scholefield, D., et al. (2005). Laboratory study of the effects of two nitrification inhibitors on greenhouse gas emissions from a slurry-treated arable soil, impact of diurnal temperature cycle. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 41, 225–232. doi: 10.1007/s00374-005-0836-9
- Henry, S., Texier, S., and Hallet, S. (2008). Disentangling the rhizosphere effect on nitrate reducers and denitrifiers: insight into the role of root exudates. *Environ. Microbiol.* 10, 3082–3092. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01599.x
- Hristov, A. N., Domitrovich, C., Wachter, A., Cassidy, T., Lee, C., Shingfield, K. J., et al. (2011). Effect of replacing solvent-extracted canola meal with high-oil traditional canola, high-oleic acid canola, or high-erucic acid rapeseed meals on rumen fermentation, digestibility, milk production, and milk fatty acid composition in lactating dairy cows. *Int. J. Dairy Sci.* 94, 4057–4074. doi: 10.3168/jds.2011-4283
- Hristov, A. N., Oh, J., Lee, C., Meinen, R., Montes, F., Ott, T., et al. (2013).
  "Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions in livestock production—a review of technical options for non-CO<sub>2</sub> emissions," in *FAO Animal Production and Health paper no. 177*, eds P. Gerber, B. Henderson, and H. Makkar (Rome: FAO). Available online at: http://www.fao.org/3/i3288e/i3288e.pdf. (Accessed January 11, 2021).
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2006). *IPCC Guideline for National Greenhouse Inventories. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change IPCC.* France, Paris (IPCC/OECD/IEA). Available online at: https://www.ipccnggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/index.html. (accessed January 11, 2021).

- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2013). "Summary for Policymakers," in Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds T.F., Stocker et al., (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press). Available online at:https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/ 2018/03/WG1AR5\_SummaryVolume\_FINAL.pdf. (accessed January 11, 2021).
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2014). "AR5. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation," in *Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* eds O., Edenhofer et al. (New York, NY: Cambridge University Press). Available online at: https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/wg3/ (accessed January 11, 2021).
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (2019). "Volume 4. Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Use National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme," in *Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories* 2019 Refinement to the 2006, eds D. Blain., F. Agus., M. A. Alfaro., and H. Vreuls (IGES) Available online at: https://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/ 2019rf/vol4.html. (accessed January 11, 2021).
- Jaimes, L., and Correa, H. J. (2016). Balance de nitrógeno, fósforo y potasio en vacas Holstein pastando praderas de kikuyo (*Cenchrus clandestinus*) en el norte de Antioquia. *Rev. CES Med. Zootec.* 11, 18–41. doi: 10.21615/cesmvz.11.2.2
- Jarvis, S. C., Scholefield, D., and Pain, B. F. (1995). "Nitrogen cycling in grazing systems," in *Nitrogen Fertilization in the Environment*, ed Bacon, P. (New York, NY: Dekker Inc).
- Kerdchoechuen, O. (2005). Methane emission in four rice varieties as related to sugars and organic acids of roots and root exudates and biomass yield. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 108, 155–163. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2005.01.004
- Khan, R. Z., Muller, C., and Sommer, S. G. (1997). Micrometeorological mass balance technique for measuring CH4 emission from stored cattle slurry. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 24, 442–444. doi: 10.1007/s003740050270
- Khan, S., Clough, T. J., Goh, K. M., and Sherlock, R. R. (2011). Influence of soil pH on NOx and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from bovine urine applied to soil columns. *N. Z. J. Agric. Res.* 54, 285–301. doi: 10.1080/00288233.2011.607831
- Kim, D. G., and Giltrap, D. (2017). Determining optimum nitrogen input rate and optimum yield-scaled nitrous oxide emissions: Theory, field observations, usage, and limitations. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 247, 371–378. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.07.003
- Klausner, S. D., Fox, D. G., Rasmussen, C. N., Pitt, R. E., Tylutki, T. P., Wright, P. E., et al. (1998). Improving dairy farm sustainability I: An approach to animal and crop nutrient management planning. *J. Prod. Agric.* 11, 225–233. doi: 10.2134/jpa1998.0225
- Klein Goldewijk, K., Beusen, A., Doelman, J., and Stehfest, E. (2017). Anthropogenic land use estimates for the Holocene; HYDE 3.2. Earth Syst. Sci. Data. 9, 927–953. doi: 10.5194/essd-9-927-2017
- Kreuzer, M., and Hindrichsen, I. K. (2006). Methane mitigation in ruminants by dietary means: the role of their methane emission from manure. *Int. Congr.* 1293, 199–208. doi: 10.1016/j.ics.2006.01.015
- Krol, D. J., Carolan, R., Minet, E., McGeough, K. L., Watson, C. J., Forrestal, P. J., et al. (2016). Improving and disaggregating N<sub>2</sub>O emission factors for ruminant excreta on temperate pasture soils. *Sci. Total Environ.* 568, 327–338. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.016
- Kunhikrishnan, A., Thangarajan, R., Bolan, N. S., Xu, Y., Mandal, S., Gleeson, D. B., et al. (2016). Functional relationships of soil acidification, liming, and greenhouse gas flux. Adv. Agron. 139, 1–71. doi: 10.1016/bs.agron.2016.05.001
- Kuypers, M. M., Marchant, H. K., and Kartal, B. (2018). The microbial nitrogencycling network. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 16, 263–276. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2018.9
- Le Mer, J., and Roger, P. (2001). Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: a review. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.* 37, 25–50. doi: 10.1016/S1164-5563(01)01067-6
- Ledgard, S., Schils, R., Eriksen, J., and Luo, J. (2009). Environmental impacts of grazed clover/grass pastures. Ir. J. Agric. Food Res. 48, 209–226. doi: 10.jstor.org/stable/20720369
- Lee, C., Hristov, A. N., Cassidy, T. W., and Heyler, K. (2012). Nitrogen isotope fractionation and origin of ammonia nitrogen volatilized from cattle manure in simulated storage. *Atmosphere* 2, 256–270. doi: 10.3390/atmos2030256
- Li, D., Watson, C. J., Yan, M. J., Lalor, S., Rafique, R., Hyde, B., et al. (2013). A review of nitrous oxide mitigation by farm nitrogen management in temperate grassland-based agriculture. *J. Environ. Manage* 128, 893–903. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.06.026

- Lombardi, B., Alvarado, P. I., Ricci, P., Guzmán, S. A., Gonda, H. L., and Juliarena, M. P. (2021). Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from dung patches deposited by grazing cattle supplemented with maize grain. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 279:115029. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2021.115029
- López-Aizpún, M., Horrocks, C. A., Charteris, A. F., Marsden, K. A., Ciganda, V. S., Evans, J. R., et al. (2020). Meta-analysis of global livestock urine-derived nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils. *Glob. Change Biol.* 26, 2002–2013. doi: 10.1111/gcb.15012
- Lorenz, K., and Lal, R. (2018). "Carbon sequestration in grassland soils". in *Carbon Sequestration in Agricultural Ecosystems*, ed K. Lorenz and R. Lal (Switzerland: Springer), 175–209.
- Luo, J., Balvert, S. F., Wise, B., Welten, B., Ledgard, S. F., de Klein, C. A. M., et al. (2018). Using alternative forage species to reduce emissions of the greenhouse gas nitrous oxide from cattle urine deposited onto soil. *Sci. Total Environ.* 18, 1271–1280. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.186
- Luo, J., de Klein, C. A. M., Ledgard, S. F., and Saggar, S. (2010). Management options to reduce nitrous oxide emissions from intensively grazed pastures: a review. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 136, 282–282. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.12.003
- Luo, J., Lindsey, S. B., and Ledgard, S. F. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions from animal urine application on a New Zealand pasture. *Biol. Fertil. Soils.* 44, 463–470. doi: 10.1007/s00374-007-0228-4
- Luo, J., Wyatt, J., van der Weerden, T. J., Thomas, S. M., de Klein, C. A. M., Li, Y., et al. (2017). Potential hotspot areas of nitrous oxide emissions from grazed pastoral dairy farm systems. *Adv. Agron.* 145, 205–268. doi: 10.1016/bs.agron.2017.05.006
- Lynch, J., Cain, M., Frame, D., and Pierrehumbert, R. (2021). Agriculture's contribution to climate change and role in mitigation is distinct from predominantly fossil CO<sub>2</sub>-Emitting Sectors. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 4:518039. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.518039
- Machefert, S. E., Dise, N. B., Goulding, K. W. T., and Whitehead, P. G. (2002). Nitrous oxide emission from a range of land uses across Europe. *Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss.* 6, 325–337. hal-00304665. doi: 10.5194/hess-6-325-2002
- Maire, J., Gibson-Poole, S., Cowan, N., Reay, D. S., Richards, K. G., Skiba, U., et al. (2018). Identifying urine patches on intensively managed grassland using aerial imagery captured from remotely piloted aircraft systems. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 2:10. doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2018.00010
- Malyan, S. K., Bhatia, A., Kumar, A., Gupta, D. K., Singh, R., Kumar, S. S., et al. (2016). Methane production, oxidation and mitigation: a mechanistic understanding and comprehensive evaluation of influencing factors. *Sci. Total Environ.* 572, 874–896. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.182
- Manzano, P., and White, S. (2019). Intensifying pastoralism may not reduce greenhouse gas emissions: wildlife-dominated landscape scenarios as a baseline in life-cycle analysis. *Clim. Res.* 7, 91–97. doi: 10.3354/cr01555
- Marsden, K. A., Jones, D. L., and Chadwick, D. R. (2017). DMPP is ineffective at mitigating N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from sheep urine patches in a UK grassland under summer conditions. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 246, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2017.05.017
- McMillan, A. M. S., Pal, P., Phillips, R. L., Palmada, T., Berben, P. H., Jha, N., et al. (2016). Can pH amendments in grazed pastures help reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from denitrification? the effects of liming and urine addition on the completion of denitrification in fluvial and volcanic soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 93, 90–104. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.10.013
- Meng, Q., Sun, Y., Zhao, J., Zhou, L., Ma, X., Zhou, M., et al. (2014). Distribution of carbon and nitrogen in waterstable aggregates and soil stability under longterm manure application in solonetzic soils of the Songnen plain, northeast China. J. Soils Sediments. 14, 1041–1049. doi: 10.1007/s11368-014-0859-7
- Misselbrook, T., Fleming, H., Camp, V., Umstatter, C., Duthie, C. A., Nicoll, L., et al. (2016). Automated monitoring of urination events from grazing cattle. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 230, 191–198. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2016.06.006
- Misselbrook, T. H., Powell, J. M., Broderick, G. A., and Grabber, J. H. (2005). Dietary manipulation in dairy cattle: laboratory experiments to assess the influence on ammonia emissions. *Int. J. Dairy Sci.* 88, 1765–1777. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72851-4
- Misselbrook, T. H., Webb, J., Chadwick, D. R., Ellis, S., and Pain, B. F. (2001). Gaseous emissions from outdoor concrete yards used by livestock. *Atmos. Environ.* 35, 5331–5338. doi: 10.1016/S1352-2310(01)00289-8
- Montes, F., Meinen, R., Dell, C., Rotz, A., Hristov, A. N., Oh, J., et al. (2013). Special topics-Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from animal

operations: II. a review of manure management mitigation options. J. Anim. Sci. 91, 5070–5094. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6584

- Montoya-Molina, S., Giraldo-Echeverri, C., Montoya-Lerma, J., Char,á, J., Escobar, F., and Calle, Z. (2016). Land sharing vs. land sparing in the dry Caribbean lowlands: a dung beetles' perspective. *Appl. Soil. Ecol.* 98, 204–212. doi: 10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.10.017
- Myhre, G., Shindell, D., Bréon, F. M., Collins, W., Fuglestvedt, J., Huang, J., et al. (2013). "Anthropogenic and natural radiative forcing," in *Climate Change* 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, ed T.F. Stocker et al. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 659–740.
- Myrold, D. D. (2005). "Transformations of Nitrogen," in *Principles and applications of soil microbiology*. ed D. M. Sylvia et al. (Pearson Education LTD, Singapore, Canada, Japan, Australia, North Asia, Mexico, Malaysia), 333–372.
- Nguyen, Q. V., Wu, D., Kong, X., Bol, R., Petersen, S. O., Jensen, L. S., et al. (2017). Effects of cattle slurry and nitrification inhibitor application on spatial soil O<sub>2</sub> dynamics and N<sub>2</sub>O production pathways. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 114, 200–209. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.07.012
- Niklaus, P. A., Le Roux, X., Poly, F., Buchmann, N., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Weigelt, A., et al. (2016). Plant species diversity affects soilatmosphere fluxes of methane and nitrous oxide. *Oecologia* 181, 919–930. doi: 10.1007/s00442-016-3611-8
- Novak, S. M., and Fiorelli, J. L. (2010). Greenhouse gases and ammonia emissions from organic mixed crop-dairy systems: a critical review of mitigation options. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 30, 215–236. doi: 10.1051/agro/2009031
- Oenema, O., Oudendag, D., and Velthof, G. L. (2007). Nutrient losses from manure management in the European Union. *Livest. Sci.* 112, 261–272. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2007.09.007
- Oenema, O., Velthof, G. L., Yamulki, S., and Jarvis, S. C. (1997). Nitrous oxide emissions from grazed grassland. *Soil Use Manage*. 13, 288–295. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.1997.tb00600.x
- Oertel, C., Matschullat, J., Zurba, K., Zimmermann, K., and Erasmi, S. (2016). Greenhouse gas emissions from soils—a review. *Geochem* 76, 327–352. doi: 10.1016/j.chemer.2016.04.002
- Opio, C., Gerber, P., Mottet, A., Falcucci, A., Tempio, G., MacLeod, M., et al. (2013). Greenhouse gas emissions from ruminant supply chains—A global life cycle assessment. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome: FAO.
- Pastrana, I., Reza, S., Espinosa, M., Suárez, E., and Díaz, E. (2011). Efecto de la fertilización nitrogenada en la dinámica del óxido nitroso y metano en Brachiaria humidicola (Rendle) Schweickerdt. *Cienc. Tecnol. Agropecuaria.* 12 , 134–142. doi: 10.21930/rcta.vol12\_num2\_art:223
- Philippot, L., Hallin, S., Börjesson, G., and Baggs, E. M. (2009). Biochemical cycling in the rhizosphere having an impact on global change. *Plant Soil* 321, 1-2, 61–81. doi: 10.1007/s11104-008-9796-9
- Powell, J. M., Aguerre, M. J., and Wattiaux, M. A. (2011). Dietary crude protein and tannin impact dairy manure chemistry and ammonia emissions from incubated soils. *J. Environ. Qual.* 40, 1767–1774. doi: 10.2134/jeq2011.0085
- Radrizzani, A., Shelton, H. M., Dalzell, S. A., and Kirchhof, G. (2011). Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen under Leucaena leucocephala pastures in Queensland. Crop Pasture Sci. 62, 337–345. doi: 10.1071/CP10115
- Rivera, J., Char,á, J., Arango, J., and Barahona, R. (2021). Effect of different genotypes of Tithonia diversifolia on fermentation of feed mixtures with Urochloa brizantha cv. Marandú. Crop Past. Sci. 21:1102. doi: 10.1071/CP21102
- Rivera, J., Char,á, J., and Barahona, R. (2016). Análisis de ciclo de vida para la producción de leche bovina en un sistema silvopastoril intensivo y un sistema convencional en Colombia. *Trop. Subtrop. Agroecosystems.* 19, 237–251. doi: 10.1007/redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=93949148007.
- Rivera, J. E., Char,á, J., and Barahona, R. (2018). CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from grasslands and bovine excreta in two intensive tropical dairy production systems. *Agrofor. Syst.* 93, 915–928 doi: 10.1007/s10457-018-0187-9
- Robinson, A., Di, H. J., Cameron, K. C., Podolyan, A., and He, J. Z. (2014). The effect of soil pH and dicyandiamide (DCD) on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and ammonia oxidizer abundance in a stimulated grazed pasture soil. *J. Soils Sedim.* 14, 1434–1444. doi: 10.1007/s11368-014-0888-2
- Roesch, A., Weisskopf, P., Oberholzer, H., Valsangiacomo, A., and Nemecek, T. (2019). An approach for describing the effects of grazing on soil quality in Life-Cycle assessment. *Sustainability* 11, 4870. doi: 10.3390/su11184870

- Ruzjerez, B. E., White, R. E., and Ball, P. R. (1994). Long-term measurement of denitrification in three contrasting pastures grazed by sheep. *Soil Biol Biochem* 26, 29–39. doi: 10.1016/0038-0717(94)90192-9
- Saari, A., Rinnan, R., and Martikainen, P. J. (2004). Methane oxidation in boreal forest soils: kinetics and sensitivity to pH and ammonium. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 1037–1046. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.01.018
- Saggar, S., Andrew, R. M., Tate, K. R., Hedley, C. B., Rodda, N. J., and Townsend, J. A. (2004). Modelling nitrous oxide emissions from New Zealand dairy grazed pastures. *Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst.* 68, 243–255. doi: 10.1023/B:FRES.0000019463.92440.a3
- Samer, M. (2015). "GHG Emission from Livestock Manure and Its Mitigation Strategies," in *Climate Change Impact on Livestock: Adaptation and Mitigation*, ed V. Sejian, J. Gaughan, L. Baumgard and C. Prasad. (New York, NY: Springer), 321–346. doi: 10.1007/978-81-322-2265-1\_20
- Sarabia-Salgado, L., Solorio-Sánchez, F., Ramírez-Avilés, L., Rodrigues, B. J., Ku-Vera, J., Aguilar-Pérez, C., et al. (2020). Increase in Milk Yield from Cows through Improvement of Forage Production Using the N2-Fixing Legume Leucaena leucocephala in a Silvopastoral System. Animals 10:734. doi: 10.3390/ani10040734
- Sass, R. L., Fisher, F. M., Harcombe, P. A., and Turner, F. T. (1991). Mitigation of methane emission from rice fields: Possible adverse effects of incorporated rice straw. *Global Biogeochem Cy* 5, 275–287. doi: 10.1029/91GB01304
- Schils, R. L. M., van Groenigen, J. W., Velthof, G. L., and Kuikman, P. J. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions from multiple combined applications of fertiliser and cattle slurry to grassland. *Plant Soil* 310, 89–101. doi: 10.1007/s11104-008-9632-2
- Schmeer, M., Loges, R., Dittert, R., Senbayram, M., Horn, R., and Taube, F. (2014). Legume-based forage production systems reduce nitrous oxide emissions. *Soil Tillage Res.* 143, 17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2014.05.001
- Selbie, D. R., Buckthought, L. E., and Shepherd, M. A. (2015). Chapter four—the challenge of the urine patch for managing nitrogen in grazed pasture systems. *Adv. Agron* 129, 229–292. doi: 10.1016/bs.agron.2014.09.004
- Seré, C., and Steinfeld, H. (1995). World livestock production systems: current status, issues and trends. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper 127. Rome: FAO. Available online at: http://www.fao.org/3/w0027e/w0027e.pdf. (accessed July 22, 2021).
- Sherlock, R. R., de Klein, C. A. M., and L,i, Z. (2003). Determination of the N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> emission factor from animal excreta, following a summer application in 3 regions of New Zealand. Report for MAF Policy. Available online at: https:// www.mpi.govt.nz/document-vault/2950. (accessed January 11, 2021).
- Shi, B., Xu, W., Zhu, Y. G., Wang, C., Loik, M. E., and Sun, W. (2019). Heterogeneity of grassland soil respiration: antagonistic effects of grazing and nitrogen addition. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* 268, 215–223. doi: 10.1016/j.agrformet.2019.01.028
- Shukla, P. N., Pandey, K. D., and Mishra, V. K. (2013). Environmental determinants of soil methane oxidation and methanotrophs. *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.* 43, 1945–2011. doi: 10.1080/10643389.2012.672053
- Singurindy, O., Molodovskaya, M., Richards, B. K., and Steenhuis, T. S. (2009). Nitrous oxide emission at low temperatures from manure-amended soils under corn (Zea mays L.). *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 132, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.03.001
- Slade, E., Riutta, T., Roslin, T., and Tuosismo, H. (2016). The role of dung beetles in reducing greenhouse gas emissions from cattle farming. *Sci. Rep.* 6:18140. doi: 10.1038/srep18140
- Sneath, R. W., Beline, F., Hilhorst, M. A., and Peu, P. (2006). Monitoring GHG from manure stores on organic and conventional dairy farms. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 112, 122–128. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2005.08.020
- Sordi, A., Dieckow, J., Bayer, C., Albuquerque, M. A., Piva, J. T., Zanatta, J. A., et al. (2014). Nitrous oxide emission factors for urine anddung patches in a subtropical Brazilian pastureland. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 90, 94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.09.004
- Steinfeld, H., and Wassenaar, T. (2007). The role of livestock production on carbon and nitrogen cycles. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 32, 271–294. doi: 10.1146/annurev.energy.32.041806.143508
- Subbarao, G., Arango, J., Masahiro, K., Hooper, A. M., Yoshihashi, T., Ando, Y., et al. (2017). Genetic mitigation strategies to tackle agricultural GHG emissions: the case for biological nitrification inhibition technology. *Plant Sci.* 262, 165–168. doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2017.05.004

- Subbarao, G., Nakahara, K., Hurtado, M., Ono, H., Moreta, D., Salcedo, A. F., et al. (2009). Evidence for biological nitrification inhibition in Brachiaria pastures. *PNAS* 106, 17302–17307. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903694106
- Teutscherova, N., Vazquez, E., Arango, J., Arevalo, A., Benito, M., and Pulleman, M. (2019). Native arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi increase the abundance of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria, but suppress nitrous oxide emissions shortly after urea application. *Geoderma* 338, 493–501. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.09.023
- Towprayoon, S., Smakgahn, K., and Poonkaew, S. (2005). Mitigation of methane and nitrous oxide emissions from drained irrigated rice fields. *Chemosphere* 59, 1547–1556. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.02.009
- Uchida, Y., Clough, T. J., Kelliher, F. M., Hunt, J. E., and Sherlock, R. R. (2011). Effects of bovine urine, plants and temperature on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from a sub-tropical soil. *Plant Soil* 345, 171–186. doi: 10.1007/s11104-011-0769-z,
- U. S. E. P. A. United States Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Climate Indicators Explorer. Atmospheric Concentrations of Greenhouse Gases. Available online at: https://edap.epa.gov/public/extensions/CCIDataViewer/ CCIDataViewer.html#greenhouse-gasesandatm-conc-ghg. (accessed July 7, 2021).
- Vallejo, V. E., Averly, Z., Terán, W., Lorenz, N., Dick, R. P., and Roldán, F. (2012). Effect of land management and *Prosopis juliflora* (Sw.) DC trees on soil microbial community and enzymatic activities in intensive silvopastoral systems in Colombia. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 150, 139–148. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.01.022
- Vallejo, V. E., Roldán, F., and Dick, R. P. (2010). Soil enzymatic activities and microbial biomass in an integrated agroforestry chronosequence compared to monoculture and a native forest of Colombia. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 46, 577–587. doi: 10.1007/s00374-010-0466-8
- van der Meer, H. G. (2008). Optimising manure management for GHG outcomes. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 48, 38–45. doi: 10.1071/EA07214
- van der Weerden, T., Beukes, P., de Klein, C. A. M., Hutchinson, K., Farrell, L., Stormink, T., et al. (2018). The effects of system changes in grazed dairy farmlet trials on greenhouse gas emissions. *Animals* 8:234. doi: 10.3390/ani8120234
- van der Weerden, T. J., Noble, A. N., Luo, J., de Klein, C. A. M., Saggar, S., Giltrap, D., et al. (2020). Meta-analysis of New Zealand's nitrous oxide emission factors for ruminant excreta supports disaggregation based on excreta form, livestock type and slope class. *Sci. Total Environ.* 732:139235. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139235
- van der Weerden, T. J., Sherlock, R. R., Williams, P. H., and Cameron, K. C. (1999). Nitrous oxide emissions and methane oxidation by soil following cultivation of two different leguminous pastures. *Biol. Fertil. Soils.* 30, 52–60. doi: 10.1007/s0037400 50587
- van Groenigen, J. W., Kuikman, P. J., de Groot, W. J. M., and Velthof, G. L. (2005). Nitrous oxide emissions from urine-treated soil as influenced by urine composition and soil physical conditions. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 37, 463–473. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.08.009
- van Zwieten, L., Kimber, S., Morris, S., Downie, A., Berger, E., Rust, J., et al. (2010). Influence of biochars on flux of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> from ferrosol. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 48, 555–568. doi: 10.1071/SR10004
- VanderZaag, A. C., Jayasundara, S., and Wagner-Riddle, C. (2011). Strategies to mitigate nitrous oxide emissions from land applied manure. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 167, 464–479. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.04.034
- Vergé, X. P. C., Dyer, J. A., Worth, D. E., Smith, W. N., Desjardins, R. L., and McConkey, B. G. (2012). A greenhouse gas and soil carbon model for estimating the carbon footprint of livestock production in Canada. *Animals* 2, 437–454. doi: 10.3390/ani20 30437
- Visscher, A., Boeckx, P., and Cleemput, O. (2007). "Artificial methane sinks," in Greenhouse gas sinks. eds D.S. Reay, C.N. Hewitt, K.A. Smith and J. Grace (Wallingford: CAB International), 184–200.
- Wachendorf, C., Lampe, C., Taube, F., and Dittert, K. (2008). Nitrous oxide emissions and dynamics of soil nitrogen under 15N-labeled cow urine and dung patches on a sandy grassland soil. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 171, 171–180. doi: 10.1002/jpln.2006 25217
- Waschütza, S., Hofmann, N., Niemann, E. G., and Fendrik, I. (1992). Investigations on root exudates of Korean rice. Symbiosis 13, 181–189.

- Wecking, A. R. (2021). Paddock Scale Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Intensively Grazed Pasture: Quantification and Mitigation. [dissertation/PhD's thesis]. [Auckland (New Zealand)]: The University of Waikato.
- Whitehead, D., Schipper, L. A., Pronger, J., Moinet, G. Y. K., Mudge, P. L., Calvelo Pereira, R., et al. (2018). Management practices to reduce losses or increase soil carbon stocks in temperate grazed grasslands: New Zealand as a case study. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* 265, 432–443. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2018.06.022
- Woods, R. R., Cameron, K. C., Edwards, G. R., Di, H. J., Clough, T. J., and Nicholson, F. (2016). Effects of forage type and gibberellic acid on nitrate leaching losses. *Soil Use Manag.* 32, 565–572. doi: 10.1111/sum.12297
- Yanan, X., Yang, S.-H., Xu, J., Ding, J., Sun, X., and Jiang, Z. (2018). Effect of biochar amendment on methane emissions from paddy field under water-saving irrigation. *Sustainability* 10:1371. doi: 10.3390/su100 51371
- Yang, M., Fang, Y., Sun, D., and Shi, Y. (2016). Efficiency of two nitrification inhibitors (dicyandiamide and 3, 4-dimethypyrazole phosphate) on soil nitrogen transformations and plant productivity: a meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 6:22075. doi: 10.1038/srep22075
- Zaman, M., Nguyen, M. L., Matheson, F., Blennerhassett, J. D., and Quin, B. F. (2007). Can soil amendments (zeolite or lime) shift the balance between nitrous oxide and dinitrogen emissions from pasture and wetland soils receiving urine or urea-N? *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 45, 543–553. doi: 10.1071/SR 07034
- Zebarth, B. J., Rochette, P., and Burton, D. L. (2008). N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from spring barley production as influenced by fertilizer nitrogen rate. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 88, 197–120. doi: 10.4141/CJSS 06006

- Zhu, Y., Merbold, L., Pelster, D., Diaz-Pines, E., Wanyama, G. N., and Butterbach-Bahl, K. (2018). Effect of dung quantity and quality on greenhouse gas fluxes from tropical pastures in Kenya. *Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles* 32, 1589–1604. doi: 10.1029/2018GB005949
- Zhu, Y., Zeng, H., Shen, Q., Ishikawa, T., and Subbarao, G. V. (2012). Interplay among NH<sub>4</sub> <sup>+</sup> uptake, rhizosphere pH and plasma membrane H+-ATPase determine the release of BNIs in sorghum roots—possible mechanisms and underlying hypothesis. *Plant Soil.* 358,131–141. doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1151-5

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Rivera and Chará. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

